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Annual Meeting Schedule

Incidental meeting rooms are available throughout the week and may be reserved by calling Sue Davids at the National
Council prior to the meeting or via sign-up sheets located at the registration desk. Incidental meeting rooms will be
allocated on a first-come, first-served basis.

Monday Tuesday

July 31 August 1

8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m. 8:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m., 11:30 a.m. - 5:00 p.m.
Nursing Investigators’ Program Registration

Jefferson A&B Spirit of St. Louis

8:30 a.m. - 11:30 a.m.
Executive Officers’ Networking Session
Laclede

11:30 a.m. - 1:00 p.m.
Lunch Break

1:00 p.m. - 2:30 p.m.

Concurrent Educational/Research Sessions

B Monitoring Nurses with Licensure Probation

B “And the Walls Came Tumbling Down": Moving
into Community-Based Settings

B The Ethics of Regulation

B Variations in Decision-Making Processes Based
on Education

Jefferson A&B, Lewis, Clark, Field

2:30 p.m. - 3:00 p.m.
Poster Session—Refreshment Break
Assembly Area

3:00 p.m. - 4:30 p.m.

Concurrent Educational/Research Sessions

B TheProcessof Delegation, From Concept to Practice

B Advanced Nurse Practitioners: Role and Regulatory
Issues

B You Can Teach a New Dog Old Tricks or The
Oklahoma Model for Regulation and Utilization of
Advanced Unlicensed Assistive Personnel in Acute
Health-Care Settings

B External Degree Graduates at Work: Some
Empirical Studies

Jefferson A&B, Lewis, Clark, Field

4:30 p.m. - 5:00 p.m.
Poster Session
Assembly Area

5:00 p.m. - 6:30 p.m.
Early Bird Social
Meramec
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Wednesday

August 2

7:30 a.m. - 2:00 p.m.
Registration
Spirit of St. Louis

8:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m.
Orientation
Jefferson A

9:00 a.m. - 10:30 a.m.

Networking Groups

B Executive Directors

B Board Members

B Board Staff-Education

B Board Staff-Practice/Discipline
Lewis, Clark, Laclede, Field

10:30 a.m. - 11:00 a.m.
Coffee Break
Assembly Area

11:00 a.m. - 12:00 p.m.

Special Interest Groups (SIGS)

B Chemically Impaired Nurse Programs
B Community-Based Education

B LPN/VN Issues

B Public Policy Issues

B NIS Access

Lewis, Clark, Laclede, Field, Shaw

12:00 p.m. - 1:30 p.m.

Lunch Break (Box lunches to be available for purchase)
Presenter

Gary Filerman

Pew Health Professions Commission

(Further details to be announced.)

1:30 p.m. - 3:00 p.m.

Guest Speaker

Colleen Conway-Welch, PhD, Dean

Vanderbilt University, School of Nursing

“Impact of Managed Care on State Boards of Nursing’
Missouri & Hlinois

e

3:00 p.m. - 3:15 p.m.
Refreshment Break
Assembly Area

3:15 p.m. - 4:45 p.m.

Concurrent Meetings (open attendance)

B CAT Dialogue

B NCNET Meeting

B Chemically Impaired Nurse Programs (3:00-6:00)
B NIS Access

B Meetthe Speaker (Colleen Conway-Welch, PhD)
Lewis, Clark, Laclede, Shaw

6:30 p.m. - 9:30 p.m.
Riverboat Cruise
Sponsored by the Missouri Board of Nursing
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Thursday

August 3

8:00 a.m. - 2:00 p.m. 3:15 p.m. - 3:45 p.m.
Registration Refreshment Break
Spirit of St. Louis Assembly Area
8:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m. 3:45 p.m. - 4:15 p.m.
The Psychological Corporation Breakfast Open Forum
Meramec

4:15 p.m. - 5:00 p.m.
9:00 a.m. - 12:15 p.m. Board of Directors’ Forum
Informational Forums
Missouri & Hlinois 5:00 p.m. - 6:30 p.m.

Reception for Past/Present National Council
9:00 a.m. - 9:15 a.m. Board Members

Committee on Nominations

9:15 a.m. - 9:45 a.m.
Standards of Competence

9:45 a.m. - 10:00 a.m.
Nursing Practice and Education

10:00 a.m. - 10:30 a.m.
Regulatory Reform Initiatives

10:30 a.m. - 11:00 a.m.
Coffee Break
Assembly Area

11:00 a.m. - 11:30 a.m.
Unlicensed Personnel

11:30 a.m. - 11:45 a.m.
Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual
Misconduct Cases

11:45 a.m. - 12:15 p.m.
Advanced Practice

12:15 p.m. - 1:30 p.m.
Lunch Break

1:30 p.m. - 5:00 p.m.
Business Forums
Missouri & Hlinois

1:30 p.m. - 2:30 p.m.
NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan

2:30 p.m. - 3:15 p.m.
Feasibility of NP Core Competency Exam
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Friday

August 4

8:00 a.m. - 10:00 a.m.
Registration
Spirit of St. Louis

8:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m.
Breakfast with ETS
Meramec

9:00 a.m. - 10:00 a.m.
First Delegate Assembly
Missouri & Illinois

10:00 a.m. - 10:30 a.m.
Coffee Break
Assembly Area

10:30 a.m. - 12:30 p.m.
Second Delegate Assembly
Missouri & Hlinois

12:30 p.m. - 2:00 p.m.
Area Luncheons
Field, Laclede, Lewis, Clark

2:00 p.m. - 4:00 p.m.
Candidates’ Forum
Missouri & Illinois

8:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m.
Registration
Spirit of St. Louis

8:00 a.m. - 9:00 a.m.
Elections
Shaw

9:00 a.m. - 10:15 a.m.
Business Forums
Missouri & Hlinois

9:00 a.m. - 10:00 a.m.
Resolutions Forum

10:00 a.m. -~ 10:15 a.m.
Board of Directors’ Forum

10:15 a.m. - 10:45 a.m.
Coffee Break
Assembly Area

10:45 a.m. - 12:15 p.m.
Third Delegate Assembly
Missouri & Hllinois

12:15 p.m. - 1:45 p.m.
Awards Luncheon
Meramec

2:00 p.m. - 5:00 p.m.
Fourth Delegate Assembly
Missouri & Hlinois
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Business Agenda of the 1995 Delegate Assembly

Friday, August 4
9:00 am—10:00 am

B Opening Ceremonies

« Introductions
* Announcements

Bl Opening Reports

¢ Credentials Committee

* Rules COMMULIEE ........cccevereerunreereceseerisenisstesnasssessssssesisssosssssssssssons
e Adoption of AENda ........cccovemriiiinnninininnininseii s

B Report of the Committee on Nominations

o Slate Of CaNAIAALES ........cccoveeerreirrrieeriiririieeseeesneeerresererisresssesssnsasanes

* Nominations from Floor
B President’s Address

|
Friday, August 4

10:30 am—-12:30 pm

M Officers’ Reports

* Treasurer’s Report—Audit.........c.ccccevminiinnniccciinninniineieees

M Report of Staff

» National Council Administrative Staff & Organization Charts ....
» Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CST®) Project..........
« Unlicensed Assistive Personnel—Literature Review ...................
* Literature Review Report ...........ccccevvrveniinninsiininnnnnccnnnsseececninae

M Examination Committee Report

o Draft NCLEX-PNT™ Test Plan ............uueeeeeereeceecrerercinssransnenns

M Report of Test Services

« Educational Testing Service (ETS).....ccccoceevvininenenienienvniennnenens
« The Psychological COrporation ............cc..cvevereeresensenerenscerssssassosene

M Finance Committee Report

M Nursing Practice and Education Committee Report .........cccevueeee
* Essential and Continued Competence Subcommiittee ...................
* Member Board Education Needs Subcommittee ...........cccorrurrenene
* Nursing Regulation SubCOMMILIEE ...........cceerereverenernrinenrerennnnenans
* Unlicensed Personnel SubCOMmMAILEE ..........cueereererecearneninenrevennnns

Resource Materials and Forums

Orientation/Parliamentary Review,
Wednesday, 8:00 — 9.00 am
Informational Forums,

Thursday, 9:00 am — 12:15 pm

Tab 2

Tab 2
Tab 2

Tab 3
Tab 3, page 3

Tab 4
Tab 4, page 5

Tab §

Tab 5, page 8
Tab 5, page 17
Tab 5, page 30
Tab 5, page 46

Tab 6

Tab 6, page 6

Business Forums,
Thursday, 1:30 — 5:00 pm

Tab 7
Tab 7, page 1
Tab 7, page 17

Tab 8

Tab9

Tab 9, page 8

Tab 9, page 20

Tab 9, page 21

Tab 9, page 23

Informational Forums,
Thursday, 9:00 am — 12:15 pm
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Saturday, August 5
10:45 am—12:15 pm Resource Materials and Forums

B Election of Officers & Committee on Nominations ....c.cevescneenee  Candidates’ Forum,
Friday, 2:00 - 4:00 pm
(Elections: 8:00 - 9:00 am,

Saturday, in the Regent Room)
B Board of Directors’ Report Tab 10
Including Reports of Task Forces and Focus Groups
Related to Goal I—Licensure and Credentialing
* CAT Evaluation Task FOICE .....ccuuvremmserisresnrsssiseisssssisssssmesssons Tab 10-A
» Task Force to Identify Core Competencies
for NUrse Practitioners .........c.couieeorceasenissssnssseesesssssnsrenssssnsnssnane Tab 10-B
» Task Force to Study Feasibility of a Core Competency Exam
for Nurse Prachtioners ..........ccccveeicevrecnersenrsvernsesosnsnssssesssnassens Tab 10-C
» Task Force to Study Advanced Practice Nurse Mobility ............... Tab 10-D
* Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program Task Force ............ Tab 10-E
Related to Goal II—Nursing Practice
« Task Force on Chemical Dependency ISSUES .......coueerererennsccrnienncnne Tab 10-F
« Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing
Sexual Misconduct Cases FOCUS GIOUP .......ccceerieenemccescenenrnn Tab 10-G
« Task Force to Implement Educational Programs
for Disciplinary Investigators ..........cccconvrccrnisreesenserssescneasenons Tab 10-H
Related to Goal III—Nursing Education
* Task Force to Implement Educational Programs
for Nursing Education Program Suveyors...............ccoeuerecriecnns Tab 10-1
]
Saturday, August 5
2:15 pm-5:00 pm
Related to Goal IV—Information
* Continuing Education Offerings Task Force .............. resreessanesaennses Tab 10-J
» Educational Programs Task FOrce ...........cccoceveinnierccicrerserenseneences Tab 10-K
» Executive Officers Network Task FOIce .............coeveveisreemrenssersnnes Tab 10-L
* Nurse Information System Task FOICE ...........covvevneiirienecrreresnes Tab 10-M
Related to Goal V—Organization
* Long Range Planning Task FOICE ..........cccccoimureniceninerenecsenenes Tab 10-N
* Special Services DIVISION .........covveiciiicennnrneenniresseste corsreesnesnsesens Tab 10-O
Informational Forums,
Thursday, 9:00 am - 12:15 pm
Business Forums,

Thursday, 1:30 - 5:00 pm
8 New Business
* Resolutions Committee RePOrt ........ccvecrrievinerrenrerienessnernesieansenes Tab 11
Business Forums,
Saturday, 9:00 — 10:15 am
B Adjournment
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Standing Rules of the Delegate Assembly

1. Procedures

A.

The Credentials Committee, directly after the opening ceremonies of the first business meeting, shall report
the number of delegates and alternates registered as present with proper credentials, and the number of delegate
votes present. The committee shall make a supplementary report after the opening exercises at the beginning
of each day that business continues.

Upon registration:

1. Each delegate and alternate shall receive a badge which must be wom at all meetings.

2. Eachdelegate shall receive the appropriate number of voting cards. Delegates authorized to castone vote
shall receive one voting card. Delegates authorized to cast two votes shall receive two voting cards. Any
transfer of voting cards must be made through the Credentials Commitiee.

A member registered as an altemate may, upon proper clearance of the Credentials Committee, be transferred
from altemate to delegate. The initial delegate may resume delegate status upon clearance by the Credentials
Committee.

Members shall be in their seats at least five minutes before the scheduled meeting time. Delegates shall sit
in the section reserved for them.

There shall be no smoking in the meeting rooms.
The Board of Directors will place items viewed as ready for decision making on a “consent” agenda. An item

will be removed from the consent agenda at the request of any delegate. All items remaining on the consent
agenda will be acted on by the Delegate Assembly in a single vote,

2. Motions

A. The Board of Directors, National Council Standing Committees, and delegates representing Member Boards

shall be entitled to make motions. Motions proposed by the Board of Directors or National Council Standing
Committees shall be presented by the Board or committee directly to the Delegate Assembly.

Motions and resolutions submitted prior to Friday, August4, at 2;00 p.m., shall be reviewed by the Resolutions
Committee according to its Operating Policies and Procedures. Motions and resolutions submitted after the
deadline shall be submitted directly to the Delegate Assembly during New Business. All motions and
resolutions so submitted will be presented with written analysis of consistency with National Council mission,
goals, and objectives; assessment of fiscal impact; and potential legal implications. The Resolutions
Committee will meet on Friday, August 4, at 4:00 p.n., with the maker(s) of any new motions or resolutions,
not previously disseminated in the Book of Reports or supplement.

The Resolutions Committee shall prepare suitable motions to carry into effect resolutions referred to it, and
shall submit to the Delegate Assembly, with the committee’s own recommendation as to appropriate action
accompanied by a fiscal impact statement, these and all other motions referred to the committee.

All motions and amendments shall be in writing on triplicate motion paper signed by the maker and shall be
sent to the chair prior to being placed before the Delegate Assembly.

3. Debate

A

Any representative of a Member Board wishing to speak shall go to the appropriate microphone. For this
purpose, specific microphones shall be designated to be used when speaking in the affirmative on the motion
on the floor and the others for speaking in the negative.
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Upon recognition by the chair, the speaker shall state his/her name and Member Board.

C. Debate shall be altemated between the affirmative and negative microphones.

G.

Members and employees of Member Boards may speak only after all delegates who wish to speak on the
motion have spoken. Guests may be recognized by the chair to speak after all delegates, members and
employees of Member Boards wishing to speak, have spoken.

No person may speak in debate more than twice on the same question on the same day, or longer than four
minutes per speech, without permission of the Delegate Assembly, granted by a majority vote without debate.

A red card raised at the microphone interrupts business for the purpose of a point of order, a question of
privilege, orders of the day, a parliamentary inquiry or an appeal.

A timekeeper will signal with a red card when the speaker has one minute remaining, and a buzzer will sound
when the allotted time has expired.

4. Nomlnatlons and Elections

A

A delegate making a nomination from the floor shall be permitted two minutes to give the qualifications of
the nominee and to indicate that written consent of the nominee and a written statement of qualifications have
been forwarded to the Committee on Nominations. Seconding speeches shall not be permitted.
Electioneering for candidates is prohibited in the vicinity of the polling place.

The voting strength for the election is determined by those registered by 9:00 a.m. on the day of the election.

Election for officers and members of the Committee on Nominations shall be held Saturday, August 5, 1995,
from 8:00 a.m.-9:00 a.m.

If no candidate receives the required vote for an office and repeated balloting is required, the president shall
announce the time for repeated balloting immediately after the original vote is announced.
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Summary of Recommendations
to the 1995 Delegate Assembly

To provide an overview, the recommendations to be presented to the 1995 Delegate Assembly for consideration are listed
below. These recommendations were received by May 3, 1995, the deadline for publication in the 1995 Book of Reports.
Additional recommendations may be considered during the 1995 Annual Meeting.

Committee on Nominations
1. Adoption of the 1995 Slate of Candidates.

Treasurer
1. That the auditor’s report for October 1, 1993, through September 30, 1994, be approved as presented.

Examination Committee
1. That the Delegate Assembly adopt the proposed revisions to the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan.

Board of Directors
1. That the Delegate Assembly adopt the revisions to the National Council's goals and objectives as proposed by the
Long Range Planning Task Force.

2. That the Delegate Assembly authorize the National Council to proceed with the development of a core competency
examination for Nurse Practitioners which is separate and distinct from specialty content examinations,

3. That the Delegate Assembly adopt the NCLEX™ Administration Stabilization Criteria and authorize the Board
of Directors to apply the criteria to specific geographic sites as the need arises.

Resolutions Committee

1. That when directives of the Delegate Assembly require completion of a project which significantly impacts
allocation of resources, the Board of Directors will establish a reasonable timeline for completion of such project.
Progress reports are to be given to the Delegate Assembly at identified intervals.

2. That the National Council of State Boards of Nursing identify a commonality of language regarding "assessment”
as a component of the nursing process which could be incorporated and reflected in the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan
after approval by the Delegate Assembly in the normal cycle of test plan revisions,

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995






Report of the Committee on Nominations

Committee Members

Charles Bennett, CA-VN, Area I, Chair
Iva Boardman, DE, Area IV

Amy Jabcon, GA-PN, Area III

Barbara Jean McClaskey, KS, Area Il

Staff
Christopher

T. Handzlik, Editor

Relationship to Organization Plan

Goal vV .......

Objective C

........ Implement an organizational structure that uses human and fiscal resources efficiently.
........ Maintain a system of govemance that facilitates leadership and decision making.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

W Preparation of Siate

By

the February 17, 1995, deadline, a total of 10 individuals had submitted completed nomination forms for

consideration for the 1995 Slate of Candidates. The commitiee extended the deadline to March 10, 1995, to allow
time for additional nominations to be submitted. The committee finalized the slate during its April 26, 1995,
telephone conference call. The slate was published in the May 5, 1995, Newsletter in addition to being included
within this report.

W Policles and Procedures Amendments
In answer to questions raised during the 1994 Annual Meeting, the committee amended its guidelines
regarding candidate campaigning. The new guidelines read as follows:

Functions of the Committee on Nominations relating to campaigning:

To identify campaigning procedures as follows:

A. It is permissible to mail letters of support and/or flyers, and/or make telephone calls prior to the
commencement of the annual meeting. Campaigning via videotape or similar electronic methods shall not
be permitted. The mailing addresses of the Member Boards shall be furnished to any candidate who
requests them for use in mailing letters of support or flyers.

B. Campaigning shall be limited to the information submitted with the candidate nomination form which
will be reproduced in the Book of Reports, to the candidates’ forum, and to informal opportunities for
interacting with delegates at the annual meeting. The photo of a candidate submitted to the National
Council and the candidate ribbon provided by the National Council shall be the only identifying items
permitted for display during the annual meeting by candidates or other individuals.

C. The chair or a member of the Committee on Nominations will monitor compliance with the
campaigning guidelines and will be available to address concerns.

To ensure faimess to all candidates by guaranteeing that a candidate unable to attend the Delegate
Assembly shall, at his or her request, be granted the right to have his or her personal statement read during
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the candidates’ forum by a selected representative or a member of the Committee on Nominations. To
further ensure faimess to all candidates, videotaped personal statements shall not be permitted. [ Excerpted
Jrom the Procedures of the Committee on Nominations. Revised October 1994.]

B Self-evaluation Process
The committee decided to continue the 1993-1994 Committee on Nominations' practice of preparing a self-
evaluation for the purpose of assisting future Committee on Nominations members in more rapidly understanding
their role of preparing a slate of qualified candidates. All four current committee members will prepare a document
delineating their perspectives on the committee process and its actions throughout the committee’s term. The
documents will be offered to the 1995-1996 Committee on Nominations members as adjuncts to orientation
materials.

Meeting Dates

October 20-21, 1994

March 1, 1995, telephone conference call
March 21-22, 1995

April 11, 1995, telephone conference call
April 24, 1995, relephone conference call
April 26, 1995, relephone conference call

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.
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Slate of Candidates

The following is an overview of the slate developed and adopted by the Committee on Nominations. More-
detailed information on each candidate is provided in the subsequent pages of this report. This detailed information is
taken directly from candidates’ nomination forms. Each candidate will have an opportunity to expand on this
information during the Candidates’ Forum, scheduled to be held Friday, August 4, 1995, from 2:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m.

Area | Director
Teresa Bello-Jones
Jo Elizabeth Ridenour

...................

Area 1l Director
Charlet Grooms

.....................

Area lll Director
Nancy K. Durrett
JuiaE.Gould . ......................

....................

Area IV Director
Marie T. Hilliard
A Joycelohnston....................

....................

Director-at-Large (two positions)

JudyL.Colligan.....................
Roselyn Holloway
Patricia L. McKillip
MaryAnn B. Reichenbach
Janet Wood-Yafiez...................

...................

------------------

.....................

...................

Califomia-VN.................c.cc... Areal
Arizona..............cciiiiiiiinnn Areal
Obio ...t i e Areall
Minnesota................c..co0uunn. Area Il
Virginia. ............ ... o0 i, Area III
Georgia-RN .. ...................... Area ITI
Conmecticut. . ............ccvvvvunnn. Area IV
Pennsylvania. ....................... ArealV
Oregon ...........cccciiiiiiennnenn. Areal
Texas-RN ...........c.coiviiiiin... Area Il
Kansas ...........coiiiiiiiinnnnnns Areall
SouthCarolina ...................... Area II1
Texas-VN . ..., Area III
California-VN...........coviviinnnnn Areal
Washington. ........................ Area |
IHENOIS. . ...oo v ee i it Areall
Kansas ................cccvnninnn.. Areall
Georgia-PN......................... Area II1
Texas-VN . .......oooiiiiiininn .. Arealll
Newlersey ..........coovviiinnnnnn. Area IV
Maryland .......................... ArealV
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Detailed information, as taken directly from nomination forms and organized as follows:
Name, Jurisdiction, Area

Present board position, board name

Present employer

Educational preparation

Offices held or committee membership, including National Council activity

Professional organizations

Date of term expiration and eligibility for reappointment

Personal statement

L R ol o e

Area | Director
1. Teresa Bello-Jones, California-VN, Area I

D

Executive Officer, California Board of Vocational Nurse and Psychiatric Technician Examiners
3. California Board of Vocational Nurse and Psychiatric Technician Examiners

4. Golden Gate University, Law, JD, 1980
University of California-San Francisco, Community Health Nursing, MS, 1971
San Jose State College, Nursing, BS, 1967

5. National Council
Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee, 1994-1995
Committee on Nominations, 1994
Disciplinary Case Analysis Focus Group, 1993-1994
Council on Licensure, Enforcement and Regulation (CLEAR)
Management and Administration Subcommittee, 1994
Site Selection Committee, 1994

6. National Hispanic Nurses’ Association
Sigma Theta Tau

7. Date of expiraton of term: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)

8. My academic and current professional experience, including those as a National Council delegate and committee
member, have provided me with countless opportunities to develop and utilize my leadership, interpersonal,
conflict-resolution and problem-solving skills. Additionally, as I wish to excel, I realize that I must continue tc
face and take on challenges. Therefore, I am ready to accept the challenge of Area I Director. I will utilize my skills
for the achievement of the National Council’s goals and to actively represent Area I. As such, my priorities will
arise from Area I Member Boards. In addition, I believe priorities of our organization must include assessment
of our goals and mission to determine necessary changes and continued responsiveness to Member Boards. Our
vision has kept us in the vanguard of licensure examination technology. I want to contribute my energy and skills
toward sustaining our respected position.

Area | Director
1. Jo Elizabeth Ridenour, Arizona, Area I

2. President, Arizona State Board of Nursing
3. Maricopa Health System, Phoenix, AZ

4. University of Phoenix, Nursing Administration, MNA, 1993
Arizona State University, Nursing, BSN, 1969
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National Council
Finance Committee, 1994-1995
Arizona Nurses’ Association
Member, 1993-present
Arizona State Board of Nursing
President, 1985-1988, 1993-present
Sigma Theta Tau
Member, 1990-present

Nursing Vision Roundtable-Phoenix Metropolitan Area, 1994-present
American Organization of Nurse Executives, 1993-present
Wharton Fellow, 1986-present

Date of expiration of term: 6/97
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

The era of rapid changes in the health care delivery system is creating opportunities for regulatory boards to
“reform the licensing process in a manner that encourages new practitioners to be competent.”

The Pew Health Professions Commission 1995 has challenged licensure boards to focus on three critical questions:
Are regulatory bodies truly accountable to the public? Does regulation respect consumers’ rights to choose their
own health care providers from a range of safe options? Does regulation encourage a flexible, rational and cost
effective care system?

National Council views the initiatives as a positive challenge. As a candidate for Area I Director, I want to work
with you to promote public policy related to designing the “ideal regulatory system for 2001 which demonstrates
irrefutable quality in protecting the public.”

I look forward to the transformation of the licensing and relicensing processes, and to continue to emphasize
competency-based measures.

Area Il Director

1.

2.

3.

Charlet Grooms, Ohio, Area II
Nursing Education Consultant, Ohio Board of Nursing
Ohio Board of Nursing, Columbus, OH

Ohio State University, Nursing, MS, 1971
Ohio State University, Nursing, BSN, 1961
Mt. Sinai Hospital School of Nursing, Nursing, Diploma, 1959

National Council
Area II Regulatory Day of Dialogue Planning Committee, 1994-1995
Alternate Delegate, 1994

Nursing Education Mobility Action Group (NEMAG)
Liaison to NEMAG, 1990-present

National League for Nursing
Ohio League for Nursing

Date of expiration of term: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)
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8. Throughout my career in nursing, I have held leadership positions in practice, education and various professional
organizations. These experiences have given me an opportunity to develop effective skills in problem solving,
organization, communication, and interpersonal relationships.

As aNursing Education Consultant for the Ohio Board of Nursing, I have gained an appreciation for and a broader
perspective of the regulatory issues related to nursing, especially that of promoting public safety.

One central focus of the National Council is to respond to the needs of its Member Boards and assist them in their
efforts to ensure public safety. A major role of the Area Director is to assure that the issues and concems arising
from its constituent Member Boards are appropriately expressed and represented to the National Council. If
elected, this would become my primary goal. It would be an honor and a privilege to serve as Area II Director.

Area Il Director
1. Linda Peterson Seppanen, Minnesota, Area I1

2. Member, Minnesota Board of Nursing
3. Winona State University, Winona, MN

4, University of Alabama, Administration of Higher Education, PhD, 1981
Catholic University of America, Maternal-Infant Health Nursing, MSN, 1969
St. Olaf College, Nursing, BSN, 1966

5. National Council
Board of Directors, Area II Director, 1994-present
Kappa Mu, Sigma Theta Tau
Treasurer, 1992-present
Minnesota Board of Nursing
Practice Committee, 1994-present
Education Committee, 1994-present
Minnesota League for Nursing
Board of Directors, 1986-1993
National League for Nursing Council of Baccalaureate and Higher Degree Programs
Accreditation Site Visitor, 1984-1988; 1991-present
Winona Arms, Inc.
Board of Directors, President, 1987-1995
WSU Inter-Faculty Organization
Faculty Senate, 1992-1994
Government Relations, 1991-present

6. Association of Women’s Health, Obstetric, and Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN)
Minnesota Inter-Faculty Organization
National League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau International

7. Date of expiration of term: 1/97
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

8. I bring to this position service on the Board of Directors of the National Council and the Minnesota Board of
Nursing and its committee. I have a desire to continue to contribute to the organization as a consensus builder.
Priorities that I see for the National Council are: 1) articulating the regulatory perspective in the policy-making
process, especially at the national level and in North American agreements; 2) articulating the regulatory
perspective in the rapidly changing health care delivery system; 3) contributing to meaningful
resolution of safe practice concems in the multiple levels of nursing care—advanced professional practice to
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unlicensed; 4) protecting the integrity of the examination processes for the various levels of nursing; and 5) serving
as a major source of accurate information about nurses, nursing programs, regulation, and practice problems in
order to facilitate good decision-making for quality improvements.

Area lll Director
1. Nancy K. Durrett, Virginia, Area II1

2. Assistant Executive Director, Virginia Board of Nursing

3. Virginia Board of Nursing, Richmond, VA

4. Virginia Commonwealth University, Nursing, MS, 1972

Medical College of Virginia, Nursing, BS, 1958

5. National Council
Area III Director, 1993-present
Long Range Planning Committee, 1989-1993
Virginia Nurses’ Association

Consumer Advocacy Committee, Chair, 1985-1988

6. American Nurses’ Association
Sigma Theta Tau
Virginia Nurses’ Association

7. Date of expiration of term: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)

8. Eleven years of experience as staff to the Virginia Board of Nursing with a variety of assignments, a background
in both nursing education and practice, and four years as a member of the Long Range Planning Committee are
the strengths I will rely on if re-elected as Area III Director. It takes time to understand and appreciate the myriad
issues involved in the operation of National Council. The experience I have gained during my first term will enable
me to be an even more effective and accountable board member. I would like the opportunity to again represent
Area III and serve National Council as the organization evaluates the effectiveness of CAT, explores the issues
of advanced practice and unlicensed assistive personnel, studies the regulatory implication of new methods of
delivering health care, and implements the Special Services Division.

Area lll Director
1. Julia E. Gould, Georgia-RN, Area ITI

2.  Nursing Education Consultant, Georgia Board of Nursing

3. Georgia Board of Nursing, Atlanta, GA

4. University of Michigan, Nursing, MS, 1970
University of British Columbia, Nursing, BSN, 1964

5. National Council

Nursing Practice and Education Committee, Chair, 1992-1993
Nursing Practice and Education Committee, Member, 1989-1993

Resolutions Committee, 1988

Task Force to Implement Education Programs for Nursing Education Program Surveyors, 1993-1995
Commission on Graduates of Foreign Nursing Schools (CGFNS)
Trilateral Initiative-Workforce on Approval and Accreditation, 1995-present
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Georgia League for Nursing
Board Member, 1993-present

6. Georgia League for Nursing
National League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau

7. Date of expiration of term: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)

8.  As the Nursing Education Consultant for the last sixteen years, my responsibilities include communicating with,
regulating, and consulting with Georgia’'s 39 nursing programs. Over the last five years, the Board has adopted
education rules and processes which have departed the prescriptive behaviorist paradigm for ones which enable
user-friendly flexibility while still requiring evidence of quality. My qualifications include credibility, polished
verbal and nonverbal communication skills, open-mindedness, organization, and caring.

Since my employment almost spans National Council’s lifetime, I have had the privilege of watching and
participating in the organization’s growth. Over the years, I have developed comprehensive regulatory expertise,
particularly as it relates to nursing education.

Over the next two years, National Council's issues/priorities should address policies concerning health care reform
and their impact on nursing, advanced practice, the interface between nurses in education and practice settings,
and the disciplinary process.

Area IV Director
1. Marie T. Hilliard, Connecticut, Area IV

2. Executive Officer, Connecticut Board of Examiners for Nursing
3. Connecticut Board of Examiners for Nursing, Hartford, CT

4. University of Connecticut, School of Education, Professional Higher Education Administration, PhD, 1986
Boston University, School of Nursing, Maternal Child Nursing, MS, 1973
Catholic University of America, Nursing, BSN, 1972

5. National Council
Board of Directors, Area IV Director, 1994-present
Nurse Information System Committee, Chair, 1991-1994
Nurse Information System Committee, Member, 1988-1994
CAT Readiness Criteria Panel, 1992-1993
Executive Directors’ Conference Group, Area IV Representative, 1986-1988
Executive Directors’ Conference Group, Coordinator, 1987-1988
Resolutions Committee, 1986

6. American Nurses’ Association
Connecticut Nurses’ Association
National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses
National League for Nursing
Connecticut League for Nursing
Phi Delta Kappa
Sigma Theta Tau

7. Date of expiration of term: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)
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Through over ten years of active participation in the National Council, I have had tremendous opportunity to
develop skills fostering one primary goal, public safety. As an executive without nursing staff, I am responsible
for regulatory oversight of nursing in Connecticut. I have utilized, and contributed to, the extensive support
network of the National Council. It is this foundation of public service, and demonstrated networking ability and
collegial goal-attainment which I bring to a National Council office. As health care continues to be redesigned with
its potential for enhancing or threatening quality of care, National Council has tremendous opportunity to foster
a regulatory framework, providing quality care for all. At all levels of practice, from unlicensed to advanced,
National Council should be guiding policy development and assisting jurisdictions to foster public safety as health
care is redesigned. I can be a positive contributor to this effort.

Area IV Director

1.

2,

3.

A. Joyce Johnston, Pennsylvania, Area IV
Vice Chair, Pennsylvania State Board of Nursing
Sewickley Valley Hospital, Sewickley, PA

University of Illinois, Executive Development Prograrn, 1983
University of Pitisburgh, Nursing Education, MLNEd, 1958
University of Pittsburgh, Nursing, BSN, 1952

Pennsylvania League for Nursing
Bylaws Committee, 1994

Hospital Association of Pennsylvania
Bylaws Committee, 1987

Pennsylvania Organization of Nurse Executives
Committees (various), 1983-1989
President-elect, 1988-1989

National League for Nursing
National League for Nursing Council of Diploma Programs
Sigma Theta Tau

Date of expiration of term: 12/97
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

Ifelected as ArealV Director of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc., I would be able to contribute
to the deliberations on the matters that assist in accomplishing its mission and goals. My forty years of nursing
experiences are varied in administration of acute care nursing services, education and participation in professional
organizations.

I have been on the Pennsylvania State Board of Nursing since June 1991, serving as Vice Chair for the past two
years.

National Council’s priority issues for the next two years have already been identified and are being addressed
appropriately. Their change in focus cannot be further clarified until the outcome of health care reform is known.

Director-at-Large

1.

2.

3

Judy L. Colligan, Oregon, Area I
Member, Oregon State Board of Nursing

Good Samaritan Hospital and Medical Center, Portland, OR
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4. Portand State University, Health Administration, MPA, 1991
: Oregon Health Sciences University, Nursing, MN, 1984
Oregon Health Sciences University, Nursing, BSN, 1972
St. Luke’s Hospital, Fargo, ND, Nursing, Diploma, 1969

5. National Council

Literature Review Focus Group, 1994

Committee on Nominations, 1992-1994

Delegate, 1991, 1992, 1994

Subcommittee to Study the Regulation of Advanced Practice Nursing, 1990-1993
Oregon Nurses’ Association

Cabinet on Human Rights and Ethics, Chair, 1989-1991
Oregon State Board of Nursing

Advanced Practice Task Force, Chair, present

OSBN Review Committee, Chair, present

NP Prescriptive Council, Chair, 1991-1993

Past President, 1991-1993
Sigma Theta Tau

Nominations Committee, Chair, 1992-1994

6. Sigma Theta Tau

7. Date of expiration of term: 12/95
Eligible for reappointment: No (I will be requesting and expect support for a six-month extension from our
govemnor, if elected to the National Council Board of Directors.)

8. Itis with enthusiasm that I submit my name as a candidate for the Director-at-Large position. As a clinician and
board member, I am acutely aware of the obligations each Member Board has to its citizens. Similarly, National
Council elected officers have obligations to their Member Board constituency.

During the past five years, I have participated as board member and past president of the Oregon State Board in
the complex issues surrounding safe nursing care delivery, nurse monitoring programs, and evolution of the
independent nurse practitioner role. At the national level, I have been an active participant in National Council
Area | meetings and Delegate Assemblies, Committee on Nominations, Subcommittee to Study the Regulation
of Advanced Practice Nursing and Literature Review Focus Group.

If elected, I promised to contribute to rich, thick, discussions of issues, offer ideas of innovation and encourage
good humor!

Director-at-Large
1. Roselyn Holloway, Texas-RN, Area II1

2. Member, Texas Board of Nurse Examiners
3. Methodist Hospital School of Nursing, Lubbock, TX

4. University of Texas-El Paso, Nursing, MSN, 1984
Methodist Hospital School of Nursing, Lubbock, TX, Basic Nursing Diploma, 1980
Huntingdon College, Montgomery, AL, Biology/Teaching, BA, 1962

5. National Council
Board of Directors, Director-at-Large, 1994-present
Arthritis Board of Lubbock
Medical Committee, 1992-1994
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Jim Burkehbolder Foundation, Lubbock
Board of Directors
Methodist Hospital
Curriculum Committee, 1992-1994
School of Nursing Faculty Organization, Secretary, 1990-1991
Texas Nurses’ Association
Education Council, 1992-1994
Nominations Committee, District 18, 1991-1992
Budget Committee, District 18, 1989
Transcultural Nursing Society
Madeleine Leininger Award Committee, 1992
National Treasurer, 1992-1994

American Nurses’ Association
Sigma Theta Tau

Texas Nurses’ Association
Transcultural Nursing Society

Date of expiration of term: 1/99
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

The Director-at-Large presents challenges and opportunities to accomplish the mission of the National Council. Our
mission charges us to ensure all state regulatory boards have a voice at the table. I will strive to be that voice, to empower
all areas in the National Council and promote collaboration-building in my liaison capacity. As Director-at-Large, I will
bring the skills of innovative idea-building or ‘thinking from the outside in.” As a regulatory agency, we have acommon
goal of protection of the public while also making accountability our concern. My contributions to the achievement of
the National Council’s goals are experience on a state board and concern to protect the public.

As I envision it, the emerging issues are: 1) the public policy arena and its effect on nursing; 2) the changing
demographic trends of expanding culturally diverse populations in the U.S. and their access to health care delivery;
and 3) a changing practice environment.

Director-at-Large

1.

2.

3.

Patricia L. McKillip, Kansas, Area II
Education Specialist-Continuing Education, Kansas State Board of Nursing
Kansas State Board of Nursing, Topeka, KS

Kansas State University, Adult and Continuing Education, PhD, 1992
Kansas University, Nursing, MN, 1983
University of Missouri-Kansas City, Psychology, BA, 1977

National Council
Communications Committee, Member, 1992-1994
Task Force to Study Advanced Practice Nurse Mobility, Member, 1994
Adult Role Models for Youth
Board Member, 1992-1994
Kansas Opera Theater
Board Member, 1993-present
St. Mary’s College
Nursing Advisory Board Member, 1984-1990
University of Kansas Nurse Alumni Association
Board Member, 1987-1989
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6. American Association of Adult Educators
Kansas Association of Nursing Continuing Education Providers
Sigma Theta Tau
Women's Professional Resource Network

7. Date of expiration of term: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)

8. Iam pursuing a Director-at-Large position with the National Council. My participation at the National Council
meetings, committees/taskforce has motivated my interest to contribute my abilities and experience to further
promote achievement of National Council’s mission and goals.

Throughout my career I have exhibited leadership skills in nursing administration and education, and aptitude for
critical analysis, communication and innovation. These personal characteristics are sparked by a spirit for
challenge and progress. My KSBN responsibilities have provided regulatory knowledge transferable to regional
and national levels.

Nursing practice parallels national health care trends in expansion and restructuring. Member Boards are
challenged to continually respond to subsequent nursing issues with regulatory directives. I have the capability
to assist National Council with public policy-making at the national level that will further safe and effective
nursing practice and, ultimately, the advancement of public health and safety.

Director-at-Large
1. MaryAnn B. Reichenbach, South Carolina, Area II

2. Member, South Carolina Board of Nursing
3. Clemson University, College of Nursing, Clemson, SC

4. University of Pittsburgh, Nursing of Children, PhD, 1985
University of Pittsburgh, Nursing of Children, MSN, 1981
West Virginia University, Child Development/Family Relations, MS, 1979
Simmons College, Nursing, SB, 1960

5. Gamma My, Sigma Theta Tau,

Research Day Committee, President, 1985-1986

National Association of Practical Nurse Education and Service
Evaluator, 1977-1979

National League for Nursing
Site Evaluator, 1993-1997

South Carolina Board of Nursing
President, 1992-1994
Negotiating Committee for Prescriptive Authority, 1990-1991

6. American Nurses' Association
National League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau

7. Dale of expiration of term; 12/95
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

8. The National Council is rightfully a major force in nurse licensure and in anticipating and addressing emerging
forces which impact the discipline and public health care safety. Still, many nurses are not aware of this
organization and the functions which it sustains. I believe that the National Council must maintain autonomy and
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clear authority butimprove interactions with other nursing organizations to better coordinate goals and approaches
as we face major issues of advanced practice and delegation to unlicensed personnel.

I entered nursing from a diploma program and have eamned a baccalaureate, two masters, and a PhD in nursing.
I have been employed in home health, critical care, general staff and pediatrics, and in five different jurisdictions.
I have been a staff nurse, a nurse executive and a nursing faculty member. In addition to my knowledge and
experience, I bring personal qualities of commitment, thoroughness, sensitivity to multiple perspectives and
humor.

Director-at-Large

1.

2.

3.

Janet Wood-Yaiiez, Texas-VN, Area III
Member, Texas Board of Vocational Nurse Examiners
O’Sana Home Health Agency, Weslaco, TX

University of Texas-PAU, Edinburg, ADN Program, Incomplete
Knapp Memorial Methodist Hospital, School of Vocational Nursing, Certificate, 1974

American Cancer Society
Member, 1991
Boys and Girls Club
Building Committee, 1995
Mercedes Housing Authority
Board Member, 1994-1996
School Board-Mercedes ISD
Board Member, 1989-1992
Taylor PTO Organization
President, 1992
Valley AIDS Council
Member, 1993

Licensed Vocational Nurses’ Association of Texas #4611, Division 45

Date of expiration of term: 9/99
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

Iam presently a LVN practicing in the state of Texas. [ have 21 years’ experience in multiple types of nursing such
as home health nursing, public health, hospital auditing, public school nursing, office nursing in OB/GYN office,
surgeon'’s office and general practitioner’s office. Along with these areas, I' ve worked in hospital nursing. I started
as afloater, then worked pediatrics wing and medical wing. I believe very strongly in public safety. I have reviewed
the National Council’s goals and feel comfortable in working to achieve these goals throughout the nation.

Ifeelmy differentbackgrounds in nursing and years of experience bring something special to the National Council.
I have leadership experience due to the many different Boards I have represented and look forward in
demonstrating these skills while serving the National Council.

Committee on Nominations

Areal

1. Charles Bennett, California-VN, Area I

2. President, California Board of Vocational Nurse and Psychiatric Technical Examiners
3. California State Department of Corrections, Sacramento, CA
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4. Pineville School for Practical Nurses, Vocational Nursing, 1964

5. National Council

Committee on Nominations, Chair, 1994-present

California Board of Vocational Nurse and Psychiatric Technician Examiners
President, 1993-present
Enforcement Committee, Chair, 1994-present
Enforcement Committee, Member, 1991 -present
Budget Committee, Chair, 1992-present
Executive Commitiee, Chair, 1992-present

California Correctional Peace Officers’ Association
Medical Technical Assistant Statewide Chapter, President, 1989-1991
Medical Technical Assistant Statewide Chapter, Vice-President, 1988-1989

6. California Correctional Peace Officers’ Association

7. Date of expiration of term: 6/95
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

8. Ihad the privilege to serve as chair of the Committee on Nominations this past year and am also honored to serve
as president of my board for the third consecutive year. The opportunity to serve in these roles has enhanced my
leadership, knowledge and skills. I discovered this year that my diversity of experience in the nursing profession
enabled me to make a valuable contribution to the Committee on Nominations. I truly understand the importance
of selecting well qualified, knowledgeable candidates who will support and promote National Council’s goals. I
am seeking re-election because I am committed to meeting the responsibilities assigned to the committee.

Areal
1. Pat Brown, Washington, Area I

2. Executive Director, Washington State Nursing Care Quality Assurance Commission
3. Washington State Nursing Care Quality Assurance Commission, Olympia, WA

4. University of Texas, Nursing, MSN, 1975
University of Maryland, Nursing, BSN, 1969

5. National Council
Executive Officer Network, Vice-Chair, 1994-1995
Nurse Information System Committee, Member, 1992-1995
Local School District
Strategic Planning Committee, 1994-1995

6. (None)

7. Date of expiration of term: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)

8. The individuals who serve Member Boards by holding office on the National Council Board of Directors are key
determinants in the continued success of this organization. Recruitment of these individuals is a challenge, one
which I would like to step up to at this time. I see greater complexity in this challenge in that the task is not only
to identify individuals to present to delegates as candidates, but to also analyze the ideal complement of individuals
that will lead to achievement of the organization’s goals and objectives. This must include diverse professional
backgrounds and expertise, as well as be a reflection of the cultural diversity of our organization.
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Areall
1. Marilou Wasseluk, Illinois, Area Il

2. Board Member, Illinois Department of Professional Regulation
3. Oakton Community College, Des Plaines, IL

4. Loyola University, Educational Leadership and Policy Studies, PhD, Candidate
DePaul University, Nursing Education and Nursing Administration, MS, 1982
University of the Philippines, Public Administration, Organization and Management, MPA, 1972
University of the Philippines, Nursing-Teaching and Supervision, BSN, 1967

5. National Council
Area II Day of Dialogue Planning Committee, 1994-1995
Directors of Associate Degree Nursing
Nominating Committee Member, 1994
Illinois Council of Deans and Directors of Associate Degree Nursing
Vice Chair, 1992-1994
Nominating Committee Member, 1994
Illinois Department of Professional Regulation
Impaired Nurse Task Force Committee, 1994-present
Illinois Organization of Associate Degree Nursing
Corresponding Secretary, 1992-present
National Organization of Associate Degree Nursing
Educational Committee, 1993-1994

6. Illinois Council of Deans and Directors of Associate Degree Nursing
National League for Nursing
National Organization of Associate Degree Nursing/Illinois Organization of Associate Degree Nursing
Transcultural Nursing Society

7. Date of expiration of term: 10/96
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

8. Ithas taken years to develop standards/criteria for professional nursing care. We, in the nursing community, need
to uphold these standards. With restricting budget cuts and the creation of unlicensed assistive personnel, we need
to be careful that we are not moving backwards and endangering the standards of professional nursing care. Being
able to choose candidates that will push forward nursing’s position and the goals of the National Council—
promoting public health, safety and welfare—will be a priority.

Areall
1. Dorothy Zook, Kansas, Area II

2. Member, Kansas State Board of Nursing

3. Halstead Hospital, Halstead, KS

4. McPherson School of Practical Nursing, 1969

5. Kansas State Board of Nursing
Practice Committee, Vice-Chair, 1993-1995
Continued Education Committee, Chair, 1989-1995

Kansas Federation of Licensed Practical Nursing
Hearing Panel, Chair, 1993-1995
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Kansas Federation of Licensed Practical Nursing
First Vice-President, 1993-1995
Member, 1969-1993

National Federation of Licensed Practical Nursing
Delegate, 1994
Member, 1969-1995

Tri-County Licensed Practical Nurses’ Association
President, 1993-1995
Member, 1969-1995

6. Kansas Federation of Licensed Practical Nursing
National Federation of Licensed Practical Nursing

7. Date of expiration of term: 6/97
Eligible for reappointment: No

8. Ihave experience working in the field of nursing 2-1/2 years in a doctor’s office and 23-1/2 years working as a
staff nurse in a hospital. I have been on the Kansas State Board of Nursing for six years. There I have served on
the Investigating Panel, Practice Committee, Continued Education Committee and also worked on the task force
which paved the way for passing the IV therapy for LPNs in Kansas. I see the importance and need for boards of
nursing to make rules and regulations and to get laws passed to protect the public. I have attended National
Council’s Area II meetings and also National Council’s annual meeting. There I listened to the issues and trends
and feel I have a broad view of information. The issues and priorities—health care reform, both legislatively and
institutionally, delegation to unlicensed personnel and our role as RNs and LPNs in the health care setting.

Area III
1. Bobbie Deloach, Georgia-PN, Area III

2. Member, Georgia State Board of Licensed Practical Nurses
3. Athens Dialysis Facility, Inc., Athens, GA
4. MDTA Practical Nursing School, Certificate, 1973

5. Georgia Licensed Practical Nurses
Program Chairman, 1983
Second Vice-President, 1981
Licensed Practical Nurses’ Association of Georgia (formerly Georgia Licensed Practical Nurses), 11th District
Membership Chairman, 1995

6. American Nephrology Nurses' Association (ANNA)
Board of Nephrology Examiners-Nursing and Technology (BONENT)
National Association for Practical Nurse Education and Service (NAPNES)
National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP)

7. Date of expiration of term: 4/97
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

8. I have practiced as a licensed practical nurse for 20 years with varied experiences in all aspects of nursing with
inclusion of educating, communicating and proficient nursing skills. I am committed to rendering nursing service
with dignity, respect and foremost, individualized care. I regard all nursing personnel with the utmost respect,
regardless of nursing level. All licensed nurses have an obligation to the public and themselves to render and strive
for higher standards in nursing practice. We must ensure these standards through this council by addressing the
many issues surrounding unlicensed personnel.
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Area III
1. Melba Lee-Hosey, Texas-VN, Area III

2. Member, Texas Board of Vocational Nurse Examiners
3. Private Duty Nurse, Pediatric Special Care, Bellaire, TX.

4. Alvin Community College, Mental Health, Certificate, Incomplete
Houston Community College, Nursing (LVN), 1972

5. National Council

Elections Committee, 1994

Licensed Vocational Nurses' Association of Texas
Second Vice President, 1990-1992
Legislative Chair, 1990-1992

National Black Nurses’ Association
Board Member, 1990-1993
Nominating Committee, present-1997

Texas Association for Impaired Nurse
Board Representative, 1992-present

6. Executive Women In Texas Government
National Black Nurses’ Association
National Women of Achievers
National Association for Practical Nurse Education and Service (NAPNES)

7. Date of expiration of term: 9/97
Eligible for reappointment: Yes

8. Ipresently serve as a member of the Nominating Committee of a national nursing association. I want to continue
to be a voice for nursing through education of licensed nurses as well as nursing students.

I believe top priorities should be given to the utilization of unlicensed personnel.

ArealV
1. Harriet L. Johnson, New Jersey, Area IV

2. Assistant Executive Director, New Jersey Board of Nursing
3. New Jersey Board of Nursing, Newark, New Jersey

4. Hunter College of the University of New York, Medical-Surgical Nursing, MS, 1970
Seton Hall University, Nursing, BS, 1958
Jersey City Medical Center-School of Nursing, Nursing, Diploma, 1954

5. National Council
Member Board Education Needs Subcommittee, Chair, 1994-1995
Disciplinary Case Analysis Focus Group, Chair, 1993-1994
Examination Committee, Alternate, 1992-present
Committee on Nominations, 1990-1991
Examination Committee, Chair, 1985-1988
Examination Committee, Member, 1982-1988
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Seton Hall University
Alumni Committee, Board of Directors, Member, 1991-1995
Advisory Committee for Continuing Education, Member, 1991-1995

Jersey City Alumnae
National League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau

Date of expiration: (NA)
Eligible for reappointment: (NA)

If I'm elected to the Committee on Nominations, I will bring to the committee a background of 17 years as a
professional staff member on the Board of Nursing in the state of New Jersey and one year of experience serving
on a nominating committee. As chair of the Examination Committee, I had the opportunity to work with the Board
of Directors on many occasions. This afforded me the advantage of gaining insight into those very special
characteristics needed for those candidates who will be elected to run for an office. It's important that those
candidates chosen bring a plethora of talents to assist in implementing the goals of the National Council. The issue
that should continue to be addressed is the correlation of the roles of the licensed practical nurse and the registered
nurse in practice and testing the beginning competencies of each.

ArealV

Cheryl K. Tom-Nelson, Maryland, Area IV
Member, Maryland Board of Nursing
Doctors’ Community Hospital, Lanham, MD

University of Illinois, Nursing, MSN, 1972
University of Michigan, Nursing, BSN, 1967

National Council
Panel of Experts to Determine Criticality Levels for the Nurse Aide Job Analysis, April 1995
American Nurses’ Association
Congressional District Liaison, 1992-present
Council on Advanced Practice, 1982-1994
N-PAC, 1990-1994
Maryland Nurses’ Association
M-PAC, 1990-1995
Prince George's County Hospice
Professional Advisory Committee, 1994-present

American Nurses’ Association
Maryland Nurses’ Association

Date of expiration term: 7/96
Eligible for reappointnent: Yes

I have been an active member and leader in my profession for over 26 years, holding multiple practice and
educational positions during that time. I have also worked in many volunteer positions for the benefit of the
community and my profession, most recently choosing the political arena as an avenue to influence what bappens
in nursing. I have always believed that one gets benefit from an organization only if one is willing to put one’s own
effort and time into the purposes and objectives of that organization, It is with these beliefs and commitments that
I would work on the Committee on Nominations to find and select those candidates who will provide vision,
leadership and hard work for the National Council in this critical time of change for our profession.
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Report of the President

Marcia M. Rachel, PhD, RN, President
Executive Director, Mississippi Board of Nursing

It is my privilege to welcome you to the Seventeenth Annual Meeting of the National Council of State Boards of
Nursing, Inc. On behalf of the Board of Directors, I invite and encourage you to attend, participate in, and contribute
to the various activities and decision-making opportunities which will take place during this year’s meeting.

As evidenced by the reports contained in this volume and the agenda outlined for the week, volunteers and staff
members of the National Council have had a busy and productive year. Most of the revised Bylaws adopted by the 1994
Delegate Assembly were implemented this year and some of the results can be seen when reviewing the number and
types of standing and special committees of the National Council. With the ability to appoint various types of special
committees as needed, we bave been able to respond to identified needs in a timely and efficient manner, using the
volunteers best matched to the specific task at hand. In addition, we have been able to tap into and take advantage of
a larger pool of resources; therefore, providing additional opportunities for volunteer participation. About 23
committees and special committees, involving over 120 volunteers, have accomplished the work outlined in this Book
of Reports. They are all due a special word of appreciation and gratitude.

Members of the Board of Directors have spent countless hours preparing for and participating in Board meetings
and have represented the National Council at meetings and activities of other organizations. I encourage you to review
their reports and to ask questions about those items which are of particular interest to you.

Although I bad been told of the major time commitment involved in being President of the National Council, I guess
nothing beats being there. Along with Executive Director, Dr. Jennifer Bosma, I have conducted liaison meetings with
major organizations such as the Commission on Graduates of Foreign Nursing Schools, the Division of Nursing of the
Department of Health and Human Services, the National League for Nursing, the American Nurses’ Credentialing
Center, the National Organization for Associate Degree Nursing, the American Association of Colleges of Nursing, the
Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations, the National Federation of Licensed Practical
Nurses, the National Association for Practical Nurse Education and Service, and the American Nurses’ Association.
Dr. Bosma and I were able to communicate the National Council’s mission, goals and objectives, to clarify erroneous
information, to identify areas of common concern and interest, and to build on many positive foundations which had
already been established. I firmly believe that we must maintain open lines of communication with the various nursing
and health care groups. The National Council’s special knowledge and expertise places us in the position of being their
primary source of information about nursing regulation.

I have also participated in several meetings as an invited guest—the Nursing Organization Liaison Forum, Tri-
Council, the National Nursing Research Roundtable, the Federation of State Medical Boards and, by the time this is
in print, the International Conference on the Regulation of Nursing and Midwifery.

Several projects and opportunities for decision-making have occupied the Board’s attention during and between
Board meetings. Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT) implementation passed its first anniversary. Related to this,
the CAT Evaluation Task Force has been working on evaluation criteria which will be applied to the program. In
addition, the Examination Committee has worked diligently throughout the year as they implemented the Bylaws
change which combined the previous two exam-related committees while continuing to make sure the exam program
functioned well. Some of the other major issues this year involved Advanced Practice Registered Nurses, access to the
Disciplinary Data Bank, the development of a Research Agenda for the National Council, the pilot program for
disciplinary investigators, non-U.S. test centers, NCLEX™ Program Reports, and the newly created Special Services
Division. Reports related to these and other issues are contained in this Book of Reports. We request that you read these
reports carefully and that you bring your questions and comments to the Annual Meeting forums as we approach some
very far-reaching decisions.
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All-in-all, this has been a very busy, productive year for the National Council, the Board of Directors, the
committees, the staff and for me personally. I am proud of the accomplishments realized and of the progress which has
been made. I've known many groups which I felt were either off the track, or on the track but beaded in the wrong
direction, or on track and headed in the right direction but still sitting in the terminal. Iam convinced that the National
Council is not only on track and headed in the right direction, but also moving full steam ahead toward a clearly defined
mission related to public protection. 1 am comforted by this fact, and am, therefore, fully supportive of our goals and
objectives. I hope you will join me in focusing on the National Council’s mission “to promote public policy related
to the safe and effective practice of nursing in the interest of public welfare” as we conduct the business of this year’s
Delegate Assembly. Ilook forward to seeing you in St. Louis.
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Report of the Vice-President

Tom Neumann, MSN, RN, Vice-President
Administrative Officer, Wisconsin Board of Nursing

As Vice-President of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, I participated in all Board of Directors
meetings and conference calls during this past year. I represented the National Council at the American Association
of Colleges of Nursing Spring Meeting in Washington, District of Columbia, and at the CLEAR Annual Meeting in
Boston, Massachusetts. I also served as a panelist at the National Student Nurses’ Association Mid-Y ear Conference
in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, responding from aregulatory perspective to questions related to the theme, “New Directions
in Nursing.”

During National Council Board meetings, I participated in discussions addressing continued monitoring of CAT
implementation, progress regarding CST and NIS, use of disciplinary data bank information, regulatory concems
expressed by the Pew Health Professions Commission, and reports from the variety of committees, subcommittees, task
forces, and focus groups. I am most gratified to see that the National Council of State Boards of Nursing is at the
forefront, providing leadership in the regulation of nursing through its Member Boards, the Board of Directors and
National Council staff. It is crucial during the time ahead that we speak with a unified voice about our mission, purpose
and organization plan, as we are called upon to respond to challenges regarding the need for the regulation of nursing
as it is currently done in the interest of public protection.

I' wish to sincerely thank all of the board members, staff, and others from the National Council jurisdictions who
have participated in National Council activities this year, whether on committees, subcommittees, task forces, focus
groups, panels, or in other meetings addressing National Council issues. Your interest and commitment contribute to
the integrity and leadership of the organization.

Thank you for the opportunity to serve you during the past year as Vice-President on the Board of Directors. I1look
forward to the second year of my term with anticipation as well as with the greatest respect for my colleagues and friends
in regulation.
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Report of the Secretary

Cynthia VanWingerden, RN, MS, Secretary
Board Member, Virgin Isiands Board of Nurse Licensure

The activities of the Secretary this year included attending all Board meetings and participating in all conference
calls. Along with the Executive Director, I kept and reviewed for final approval the minutes of all meetings. I
participated in the Minutes Committee and the Rules Committee for the 1994 Annual Meeting. Iwill chairthe Minutes
Committee and participate in the Rules Committee for the 1995 Annual Meeting.

I was a member of the Research Focus Group for the Board of Directors, during which we discussed future
directions for the National Council’s participation in research.

I was pleased to represent the National Council at the annual meeting of the National League for Nursing in June
1995, in Chicago, Illinois, to follow up my participation in the Practical Nurse Educators’ Council Meeting from 1994.

I have appreciated the opportunity to serve on this Board with each elected officer. In addition, I continue to be
greatly blessed and impressed by the dedication, commitment, and hard work of the National Council staff. I commend
them, and thank them for all their efforts in keeping us well informed and well prepared to discuss the issues at hand.

It has been a pleasure to have been a part of this organization during my tenure on the Virgin Islands Board of Nurse
Licensure, and as I enter my final year on that Board, I look back on my association with the National Council both
through committee work and serving on the Board of Directors, as a time of wonderful challenge professionally and
personally, and dynamic growth in my understanding of the whole issue of regulation.

My best to you all. May God Bless you, each one.
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Report of the Treasurer

Charlene Kelly, PhD, RN, Treasurer and Chair, Finance Committee
Executive Secretary, Nebraska Board of Nursing

Relationship to the Organization Plan

Goal Vv ............ Implement an organizational structure that uses human resources efficiently.
Objective B. ....... Maintain a fiscal resource management system.
Recommendation(s)

1. That the auditor’s report for October 1, 1993, through September 30, 1994, be approved as presented.

Rationale
The audit was completed in December 1994, and reviewed by the Finance Committee in January 1995. The
auditors found no irregularities in the financial statements and expressed an unqualified opinion.

The National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc., continues to maintain a strong financial position. Revenue
to date has exceeded expenditures; however, the financial forecast projects that a decline in the number of candidates
over the next years will result in revenues that may not meet expenditures. In order to protect the organization’s financial
position, careful assessment and consideration need to be given to the immediate and long-term effects of proposed
projects.

During the past year, I attended all meetings and conference calls of the Board of Directors. I also chaired the
Finance Committee. Throughout the year, I communicated regularly with Thomas Vicek, Director of Operations, on
all financial matters. His guidance and knowledge in the area of finance is a valuable resource for the Treasurer and
the Finance Committee.

I would like to thank Jennifer Bosma, Thomas Vicek, and each member of the Finance Committee for the support
they have given me.
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Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. as of
September 30, 1994 and 1993, and the related statements of revenue and expenses, changes in fund balances, and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of management of National Council
of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. at September 30, 1994 and 1993, the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Emst & Young
December 6, 1994
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Balance Sheets

September 30
1994 1993
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 979,443 $ 809,322
Accounts receivable 831,058 92,016
Examination fees due from Member Boards 341,160 192,333
Accrued interest, prepaid expenses, and other 240,894 309,361
Total current assets 2,392,555 1,416,446
Investments, at cost 10,146,747 9,512,367
Property and equipment:
Fumniture, fixtures, and leasehold improvements 185,378 207,740
Equipment and computer software 840,072 900,929
1,025,450 1,108,669
Less: Accumulated depreciation 581,641 518,220
443,809 590,449
12,983,111 $11,519,262
September 30
1994 1993
Liabilities and fund balances
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,436,238 $ 2,670,751
Examination fees due to Member Boards 182,016 236,281
Accrued salaries and payroll taxes 223,097 257,492
Total current liabilities 3,841,351 3,164,524
Deferred revenue:
Examination fees collected in advance
(net of prepaid processing
fees of $128,745 in 1993 and $137,914 in 1992) 831,720 1,257,405
Fund balances:
Unrestricted:
Undesignated 6,500,506 2,801,952
Designated 1,790,128 4,119,263
8,290,634 6,921,215
Restricted 19,406 176,118
Total fund balances 8,310,040 7,097,333
$12,983,111 $11,519,262

See notes to financial statements.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Statements of Revenue and Expenses

Year ended September 30
1994 1993
Revenue—Unrestricted funds
Examination fees $14,484,046 $8,086,107
Less: Cost of development, application, and processing 0,807,274 4,570,087
Net examination fees 4,676,772 3,516,020
Member Board contracts 183,000 187,500
Publications 134,459 219,039
Annual Meeting 63,530 69,626
Honoraria and other 37,391 60,215
Computerized adaptive testing (CAT) income 12,429 102,993
Nurse aide competency evaluation program (NACEP) 428,447 414,129
Investment income 470,120 452,924
Total revenue—Unrestricted funds 6,006,148 5,022,446
Program and organizational expenses—Unrestricted funds
Member Board contracts 9,755 38,811
Publications 92,949 78,908
Annual Meeting 85,153 111,496
Nurse aide competency evaluation program (NACEP) 18,226 19,513
Job analysis studies 65,430 59,369
Computerized adaptive testing (CAT) 759,947 1,630,082
Role delineation study 4,151 39,618
Computerized clinical simulation testing (CST) 260,428 104,936
Nurse Information System (NIS) 27,998 —_
Board meetings and travel 93,651 104,684
Public relations and communications 58,572 53,531
Other committee expenses 232,243 243,354
Total program and organizational expenses—
Unrestricted funds 1,708,503 2,484,302
Administrative expenses—Unrestricted funds
Staff salaries and benefits 2,015,413 1,627,935
Professional fees 85,766 58,962
Office supplies 198,266 173,586
Insurance 32,363 35,151
Rent and utilities 256,801 304,805
Equipment maintenance and rental 85,058 46,133
Depreciation 240,394 113,949
Miscellaneous 14,165 11,153
Total administrative expenses—Unrestricted funds 2,928,226 2,371,674
Total expenses—Unrestricted funds 4,636,729 4,855,976
Revenue in excess of expenses—Unrestricted funds 1,369,419 166,470
Restricted grant revenue
Computerized clinical simulation testing (CST) — 100,000
Nurse information system (NIS) 62,203 292,609
62,203 392,609
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.
Statements of Revenue and Expenses (continued)

Expenses related to restricted grants

Computerized clinical simulation testing (CST) 1,750 119,980
Nurse information system (NIS) 217,165 118,241
218915 238,221

Revenue less than expenses—Restricted funds (156,712) 154,388
Revenue in excess of expenses $ 1,212.707 $320,858

See notes to financial statements.
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Fund balance at
October 1, 1992

Transfer to Board-
designated funds

Transfer to
undesignated funds

Revenue in excess of
(less than) expenses

Fund balances at
September 30, 1992

Transfer to Board-
designated funds

Transfer to
undesignated funds

Revenue in excess of
(less than) expenses

Fund balances at

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. >
Statements Of Changes In Fund Balance
Unrestricted Restricted
Designated for Designated for Designated Designated
Computerized Designated Computerized for CAT  for Nurse Designated Designated Computerized Nurse
Adaptive  Designated for Working Designated Clinical Designated =~ Member Information for Special for Total Clinical Information
Testing For Crisis Captial for Role Simulation for Self- Boards System Service  Chemical Unrestricted Simulation System
Undesignated (CAT) Mgmt. Reserve Delineation Testing (CST)  Insurance Computers (N1S) Division Dependency Fund Testing (CST) (NIS) Total
$2,110,775  $2,961,176 $121,836 $956,387 $182,0%9 $37732 $50,000 $334,800 $221875 $- s $6,754,745 $21,7%0 $- $6,776,475
(1,610,136) 248,948 - 138,338 - 922,196 50,000 - 250,654 - - - - - -
472250 - - - - - - (334,800) (137,450) . . - . . -
1,829063  (1,527,089) - - (30,568) (104,396) - . - - - 166,470 (19,980) 174,368 320,858
2,801,952 1,683,035 121,83 1,094,725 151,471 854,992 100,000 - 113,204 - - 6,921,215 1,750 174,368 7,097,333
(963,038) . - - - 108,038 - - - 600,000 255,000 - - - -
2252078  (935517)  (121,836) (1,094,725) {100,000) - - - - - - - :
2,409514 (747,518) (4,151) (260,428) - - (27,998) - - 1,369,419 (1,750) (154,962) 1,212,707
$6,500,506 s - s - I $147,320 $702,602 s - $- $85,206 $600,000 255,000 $8,290,634 s - $19,406 $8,310,040

September 30, 1993

See notes to financial statements,



National Council of State Boards of Nursing,
Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Revenue in excess of expenses
Adjustments to reconcile revenue in excess of expenses
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable and examination
fees due from Member Boards
Decrease (increase) in accrued interest, prepaid expenses,
inventories, and other
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in due to Member Boards
Increase in accrued salaries and payroll taxes
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities
Net additions to property and equipment
Increase in investments, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Decrease (increase) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See notes to financial statements.

Inc.
Year ended September 30
1994 1993
$1,212,707 $ 320858
240,394 113,949
(887,869) 326,564
81,881 200,476
765,487 774,296
(54,265) 224,077
(34,395) 53,409
(425,685) 71,079
898,255 2,084,708
(93,754) (362,966)
(634,380) (2,363,488)
(728,134) (2,726,454)
170,134 (641,746)
809,322 1,451,068
$ 979,443 $ 809,322

11
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National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Notes To Financial Statements
September 30, 1994 and 1993

1. Organization and Operation
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. (National Council) is a not-for-profit corporation organized
under the statutes of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The primary purpose of the National Council is to serve
as a charitable and educational organization through which state boards of nursing act on matters of common
interest and concem affecting the public health, safety, and welfare, including the development of licensing
examinations in nursing. The National Council is a tax-exempt organization under Intemal Revenue Code section
501(c)(3).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Examination Fees—Examination fees collected in advance net of processing costs incurred are deferred and
recognized as revenue at the date of the examination.

Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents consist of money market funds.

Services of Volunteers—Officers, committee members, the Board of Directors, and other nonstaff associates
assist the National Council, without remuneration, in various program and administrative functions. No value has
been ascribed for such voluntary services.

Pension Plan—The National Council maintains a defined-contribution pension plan covering all employees who
complete six months of employment. Contributions are based on employee compensation. The National Council’s
policy is to fund pension costs accrued. Pension expense was $161,630 and $129,325 for the years ended
September 30, 1994 and 1993, respectively.

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment are stated on the basis of cost. Provisions for depreciation
are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Investments—Investments are carried at cost. Investments consist of the following at September 30:

1994 1993
Market Market
Cost Value Cost Value
U.S. government and
govemment-backed obligations  $ 8,146,747 $ 8,015,311 $6,112,367 $6,167,514
Certificates of deposit and other 2,000,000 2,000,000 3.400.000 3.400.000
$10,146,747 $10,015,311 $9,512,367 $9,567,514

Board-Designated Funds—The Board of Directors has designated certain funds to be used for specific projects.
These projects include the development of a role delineation research study, computerized clinical simulation
testing (CST), nursing information system (NIS), special services division, and chemical dependency study. These
funds are reflected as designated unrestricted funds in the accompanying financial statements.

Restricted Funds—In 1993, the National Council received a restricted grant from the Robert Wood Johnson
Foundation to support the establishment of a national nurse information system. The grant, amounting to $530,110
will be will be fully received by December 31, 1994, Of this amount, the National Council has received $62,203
in fiscal year 1994 and $292,609 in fiscal year 1993,
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3. Commitments
The National Council leases office space under an operating lease arrangement.
Future noncancelable rental commitments as of September 30, 1994, are as follows:

1995 . $238,100
1996 ... 242,862
1997 ... 247,121
1998 ... 252,674
1999 ... 257,730

During fiscal 1990, the National Council entered into a software license and maintenance agreement with the
National Board of Medical Examiners. In consideration for the provision of this agreement, the National Council
is obligated to pay a base annual fee of $50,000, subject to inflation adjustments. The National Council has the
option of terminating this agreement provided that notice is given 18 months prior to termination.
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Report of the Area | Director

Fran Roberts, PhD, RN, Area | Director
Executive Director, Arizona State Board of Nursing

As Area I Director of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, I have attended and been active in all of
the Board of Directors’ meetings and conference calls. Additionally, I represented the National Council at the 1995
Annual Convention of the National Association for Practical Nurse Education and Service (NAPNES) held in
Scottsdale, Arizona, and the Ninth Annual Conference of the International Society of Psychiatric Consultation Liaison
Nurses, held in San Diego, California, on March 23-24, 1995.

The 1995 Regulatory Day of Dialogue and Area I Meeting were held in beautiful Couer d’ Alene, 1daho, on April
20-21, 1995. The agendas included a number of stimulating topics of particular interest to Area I jurisdictions,
including:

B The Emerging Role of Regulation as Health Care Reforms. This session included presentations on the Pew
Health Professions Commission and Ontario, Canada’s new form of regulation, “Controlled Acts.”

B Evolving Scopes of Practice: From Unlicensed to Advanced Practice. This session included panel
presentations on the current status of the unlicensed personnel movement, LPN/VN dilemmas due to the
expanded use of UAPs, the emerging role of registered nurses with case management and managed care, and
advanced practice and health care reform.

B A variety of National Council committee and task force reports and updates.
B An afternoon designated as an Area I roundtable for networking.

Thanks are extended to the Idaho Board of Nursing for their gracious hospitality and to the New Mexico Board
of Nursing for their invitation to Area I for the 1996 meetings.

Lastly, my personal thanks to all Area I jurisdictions for supporting me as their representative on the National
Council Board of Directors. And to my colleagues, both Board and staff, who helped make serving on the National
Council’s Board of Directors such a valuable experience. I now stand ready to assist whomever is elected during this
Delegate Assembly in their new role as Area I Director.
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Report of the Area Il Director

Linda Peterson Seppanen, PhD, RN, Area Il Director
Board Member, Minnesota Board of Nursing

As Area II Director of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, I participated in all Board of Directors
meetings and conference calls this past year. I participated in the Board task force which addressed issues related to
the research agenda. Iam representing the National Council at the American Nurses’ Association House of Delegates
in Washington, D.C., this summer.

The Area Il Meeting was held April 1, 1995, in Indianapolis, Indiana. There were 55 participants with all
jurisdictions except Michigan represented. Members and staff of the Indiana Board of Nursing graciously hosted the
meeting and provided a pleasant reception. Issues and topics discussed at the Area II Meeting included:

Liaison meetings, especially those with NLN

CAT implementation and NCLEX™ results

Advanced practice nursing and regulation

Disciplinary Data Bank

Role Delineation Study

NCLEX-PN™ test plan modifications

Trend Analysis and proposed Organization Plan revisions
Research agenda proposal

National regulatory environment and NAFTA
Prescriptive Authority rules and regulations

Overlapping roles, delegation, downsizing in clinical practice
Boundary violations in nursing practice

Presenters at the meeting included Marcia Rachel, President; Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director; Linda Waters,
Educational Testing Service; Mary Vonderheide, Sylvan Leaming Systems; Paulette Worcester, Examination
Committee; Lorinda Inman, Long Range Planning Task Force; Carolyn Hutcherson, Senior Policy Analyst; Rita
Pobanz, Task Force to Study Feasibility of a Core Competency for Nurse Practitioners.

The 1996 Areall Spring Meeting will be hosted by the Illinois Board of Nursing, with plans to hold it in the Chicago
area.

The Area II Regulatory Day of Dialogue was held on March 31, 1995, in Indianapolis, Indiana. The topic,
Standardization of Nursing Education, was covered in presentations, panels, and general discussions by Karen
Macdonald, Charlet Grooms, Linda Seppanen, Barbara Jean McClaskey, and Marilou Wasseluk. Registration
numbered 52, which included several from Indiana outside the National Council membership.

I'want to thank all the Area Il Board members, staff, and others who have participated in National Council activities
this past year; nearly all our jurisdictions are represented. Your efforts make this organization a dynamic and responsive
voice in regulatory matters.

Thank you for the opportunity to serve you as Area II Director in this challenging and stimulating role. 1 appreciate
your willingness to share ideas and opinions with me.
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Report of Area lll Director

Nancy Durrett, MSN, RN, Area lii Director
Assistant Executive Director, Virginia Board of Nursing

As Area I1I Director of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, I have participated in all Board of
Directors’ meetings and conference calls. I served as the Board liaison to the Long Range Planning Task Force,
attending one of its meetings and participating in the conference calls. It was alsomy privilege to represent the National
Council at the Institute for Hospital Clinical Nursing Education of the American Hospital Association in Seattle,
Washington.

The Area III Meeting and Regulatory Day of Dialogue were hosted by the Tennessee Board of Nursing at the
Opryland Hotel in Nashville, Tennessee, on April 6-7, 1995. We owe a special thanks to the Tennessee Board members
who were instrumental in securing this wonderful facility for the meeting.

The Regulatory Day of Dialogue featured a keynote address on advanced practice by Dr. Mary Fenton, Dean,
University of Texas, School of Nursing. Roundtable discussions followed on advanced practice and unlicensed
assistive personnel. The planning committee was chaired by Linda Murphy, AR; and included Sonja Moffett, AL;
Pamela Pitchford, MS; and Kathy Thomas, TX-RN.

The Area Meeting had 60 participants with all Area Member Boards represented. Reports were presented by
Marcia Rachel, President; Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director; Linda Waters, Educational Testing Services; and Mary
Vonderheide, Sylvan Leaming Systems. Chairs and members of several National Council committees and task forces
also presented reports of their activities. A discussion of Area-specific concerns and issues followed. Written reports
of the activities of the past year by each Member Board were distributed to all participants.

The 1996 Area Meeting will be hosted by the Texas Board of Nurse Examiners and Texas Board of Vocational
Nurse Examiners in Austin, Texas.

Area ITI board members and staff continue to make significant contributions to the National Council through their
participation in committees, task forces, focus groups and other activities. Your willingness to volunteer your time and
expertise are certainly appreciated.

Thank you for this opportunity to serve as the Area IIl Director. It has been a very exciting and rewarding
experience.
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Report of Area IV Director

Marie T. Hilliard, PhD, RN, Area IV Director
Executive Officer, Connecticut Board of Examiners for Nursing

It has been an exciting year representing Area IV on the Board of Directors of the National Council of State Boards
of Nursing. Itis a critical time in the history of health care and specifically, nursing. We are at a crossroad and difficult
choices must be made, impacting the future of public health and safety. The National Council of State Boards of Nursing
has been in the forefront of the prerequisite dialogue for sound decision-making. As Area IV Director, I have attempted
to provide the broadest base for such dialogue. Each jurisdiction has been of great assistance to me, as we engaged in
numerous telephone dialogues.

On behalf of the National Council, I have attended five professional meetings. All of these meetings have a direct
relationship to decision-making concerning health care redesign:

M Testimony Regarding Adequacy of Nurse Staffing Submitted to The Institute for Medicine, Washington, DC.
Most hearing participants indicated grave concerns for quality of patient care within new models of redesign of
nursing care delivery. The scarcity of research data was identified by many as problematic. The National Council
has on its agenda research on the utilization of unlicensed assistive personnel. Ongoing participation and
monitoring of these events is critical to the health and welfare of our citizens.

B The National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses, Inc., 45th Annual Convention, Orlando, Florida, “Caring
for America’s Health.”

W 1995 Nurse in Washington Internship, March 5, 1995 - March 8, 1995.
M Connecticut Nurses’ Association Annual Convention, October 20, 1994,
B Connecticut Licensed Practical Nurses’ Association Annual Convention, May 1, 1995,

The agendas of these meetings directly related to four of the seven significant issues identified by the Board of
Directors after the 1994 Annual Meeting: 1) relationships between levels of nursing personnel; 2) political/policy
aspects of health care reform; 3) health care system changes; and 4) nursing profession relationships. Input from the
National Council, and to the National Council from these activities, is critical to the development of sound public policy
recommendations. As we continue our dialogue within numerous forums, we will be better grounded in our policy
recommendations. A critical aspect of National Council policy development is the accuracy of information used in
decision-making. To this end, research policies, addressing priorities and procedures, need to be established. Iam
serving onaBoard of Directors committee which has been created to assist Member Boards to participate in this process.

The highlight of the year, for me, was the Area IV Meeting hosted by the Maine State Board of Nursing. The
Regulatory Day of Dialogue provided an excellent format for all of us to become better educated about “The Americans
with Disabilities Act: Implications for Practice and Regulation.” The guest speakers, provided by Member Boards,
were outstanding. The Area IV Meeting demonstrated the broad expertise of all of our members, who contributed to
our enhanced mutual understanding of the regulatory process, current issues, and potential resolutions.

While it has been a challenging year, it has been a very fulfilling year. The work we do is critical to public health
and safety. Working with Member Boards has made the challenge a pleasure,
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Report of the Director-at-Large

Roselyn Holloway, MSN, RN, Director-At-Large
Board Member, Texas Board of Nurse Examiners

Since the 1994 Delegate Assembly, as Director-at-Large, I have participated in the following activities:
B Attended all meetings of the Board of Directors and participated in Board conference calls
B Participated in the Board Retreat in Chicago, Illinois, ip October 1994

R Appointed by Board President to a committee to establish a process for development of the National Council's
continuing education programs

Throughout the year, I kept abreast of updates concerning the impact of regulation on nursing education and its
progress and changes as they occurred.

In April, I represented the National Council at the National Student Nurses’ Annual Meeting in Charlotte, North
Carolina. The theme was “NSNA: The Bridge to New Opportunities” and the keynote address was given by Hazel
Johnson-Brown, PhD, RN, FAAN, professor and director, Center for Health Policy, College of Nursing and Health
Science, George Mason University, Fairfax, VA. She was sponsored by the American Journal of Nursing company.
It was refreshing to see all of the interest in the policy of nursing by the youth of our profession. And I felt honored
to represent our National Council among such an erudite group at the opening ceremony.

1 do appreciate all of your support for the National Council and your efforts in the workings of the Board serving
as task force members and members of committees. It has been an honor to serve the National Council as Director-
at-Large.
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Report of Staff Activities

Jennifer Bosma, PhD, CAE, Executive Director

In its oversight of the affairs of the organization, the Board of Directors identifies tactics which will lead to
accomplishment of the mission, goals and objectives of the National Council. This report is an accounting of staff work
focusing on Board-assigned tactics for this past year. For ease of reading, it is organized by program area.

A staff organization chart (Attachment A) accompanies this report. Description of staff responsibilities is found
behind Tab 14, Orientation Manual, in this Book of Reports.

Testing Programs

National Councll Licensure Examinations (NCLEX™)

Program purpose: To provide a legally defensible, psychometrically sound, and progressive entry-level licensure
examination with timely and appropriate information flow; to anticipate Member Board support needs and provide
appropriate levels of support.

Supporting activities:

Monitored the first year’s implementation of computerized adaptive testing (CAT) for NCLEX™ to
approximately 187,000 candidates

Recruited, screened, and confirmed the attendance of 144 item writers and S0 item reviewers

Worked with ETS to plan for and publish NCLEX™ Program Reports

Worked with the Examination Committee to develop modifications to the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan based
on the 1994 Job Analysis

Worked with ETS to prepare for implementation of the new NCLEX-RN™ Test Plan

Worked with the CAT Evaluation Task Force to develop the framework for a full-scale NCLEX™
evaluation

Began work with the Canadian Nurses’ Association to explore areas of increased cooperation on
examination-related issues

Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP™)
Program purpose: To provide a legally-defensible, psychometrically sound nurse aide competency evaluation in
a competitive environment.

Supporting activities:

With The Psychological Corporation (TPC) and the NACEP™ Task Force, provided the NACEP™ tg 22
states and territories, including nine boards of nursing, for the testing of more than 64,000 nurse aides
primarily in long term care, and also home health care and acute care

Sponsored Sixth Nurse Aide/Assistant Conference in Baltimore, Maryland, which was attended by state
and federal regulators, educators and others who work with nurse aides/assistants

Published Insight: Newsletter on Nurse Aides and Assistive Personnel three times annually, with
circulation to over 800

Provided directory of nurse aide registries

Developed criteria to evaluate TPC performance and determine whether or not to issue an RFP for
NACEP™ testing services

Other services:

B Worked with the Task Force to Study the Feasibility of a Core Competency Exam for Nurse Practitioners to
develop recommendations to the Board of Directors and Delegate Assembly regarding the regulatory,
political, and fiscal ramifications of developing such an examination

B Worked with the research department to evaluate submitted information to keep the APRN Certification
Clearinghouse current

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



Nursing Practice and Education Programs

Licensure and Credentialing
Program purpose: To promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

Supporting activities:

B Monitored trends and issues in licensure and credentialing

B Worked with legal counsel to develop content for Emerging Issues on Heartland case

B Worked with the Task Force to Study Advanced Practice Mobility to develop a database of advanced
practice nursing requirements

M Participated in the evaluation of the NONPF core curriculum for advanced practice

Models and Positions
Program purpose: To provide resources for Member Boards which outline information, direction and support for

regulatory concepts and approaches.

Supporting activities:

B Published revised models which incorporated the advanced practice registered nurse legislative language
and rules

B Assisted the Nursing Practice and Education (NP&E) Committee to develop a process to evaluate the
usefulness of National Council models and positions

B Supported the NP&E Committee’s use of the collaboration model developed in FY94 to develop
strategies for promotion of professional accountability

8 Analyzed and compared National Council models to ANA’s draft model

B Promoted use of positions and models with Member Boards and other entities

Essential and Continued Competence

Program purpose: To develop resources regarding functional abilities (formerly termed non-nursing essential
competencies) that can be used by Member Boards to support decisions involving the Americans with Disabilities
Act(ADA); to develop resources regarding continued competence that can be used by Member Boards to establish
and/or reaffirm the expectation of continued competence as an element of licensure maintenance.

Supporting activities:

B Continued to collect ADA and competence resources

B Worked with the Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee (ECC) to define competence,
identify standards of competence and their application

B Presented program at FARB on continued competence

Discipline-reiated Services
Program purpose: To provide resources for Member Boards to assist in the investigation of nursing complaints
and to facilitate the exchange of information regarding nursing disciplinary actions taken nationwide.

Supporting activities:

Operated National Council Disciplinary Data Bank (DDB), including promotion of electronic access and
exploration of access by other entities

Implemented HRSA Discipline Project (study contracted with Health Resources and Services
Administration)

Worked with Disciplinary Investigators’ Education Programs Task Force to pilot healthcare investigators
program with CLEAR and subsequently to revise for a second pilot focused on nursing investigations

Developed background resources and supported Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual Misconduct
Cases Focus Group

Served as National Council representative on the NPDB Executive Committee

Moderated debate at CLEAR regarding approaches to dealing with the chemically dependent nurse
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Nursing Practice
Program purpose: To provide resources which assist and support Member Boards in the regulation of nursing

practice.

Supporting activities:

Monitored trends and issues in nursing practice
Assisted Member Boards and others through consultation regarding nursing practice issues

Nursing Education
Program purpose: To provide resources which assist and support Member Boards in the regulation of nursing

education.

Supporting activities:

Monitored trends and issues in nursing education

Coordinated task force efforts to finalize learning modules for nursing education program surveyors
Assisted focus group to identify education issues and plan session at Annual Meeting

Assisted Member Boards and others through consultation regarding nursing education issues

Assisted NP&E Committee to compare National Council models to NLN educational program criteria

Public Policy Programs

Policy Analysis
Program Purpose: To promote the mission of the National Council by providing ongoing analysis of health care,
health care reform, environmental and regulatory issues with primary focus on the impact on Member Boards.

Supporting activities:

Systematically reviewed documents and resources to ensure evaluation of most pertinent and current
information on health care reform; federal initiatives; state initiatives; regulatory reform; hospital
restructuring; and other policy issues

Reviewed summary of all state legislation affecting nursing regulation

Developed contacts with persons in comparable policy positions in other organizations

Conducted survey of other associations to collect information on governmental affairs programs in
similar organizations

Coordinated activities for internal public policy team to ensure collaborative review and problem solving
for a myriad of activities related to nursing, Member Board issues, documents produced by other
organizations, etc.

Unlicensed Assistive Personnel

Supporting activities:

Initiated systematic review of nursing and health care reform periodicals for resource documents related
to unlicensed assistive personnel (UAP)

Participated in several conferences preparing presentations or panel response on the role of the UAP and
relationship to the licensed nurse

Collected UAP documents from Member Boards to provide comprehensive resource data

Reviewed UAP literature to identify resource documents for subcommittee

Responded to calls from Member Boards with specific questions about delegation, supervision and the
role of the licensed nurse in working with UAP

Attended White House Mini-Conference on Aging to represent regulatory perspective on utilization of
unlicensed providers
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Nursing Regulation

Supporting activities:

Conducted literature review for articles on nursing regulation, specifically the costs and benefits of
nursing regulation

Initiated collection of a definitions of nursing with the ultimate goal of developing a succinct regulatory
definition of nursing

Collected information on the Ontario model, institutional licensure and other potential approaches to a
revised regulatory system

Facilitated review of information and disbursement of material from the Pew Health Professions
Commission to relevant individuals within National Council

Licensure Verification

Supporting activities;

Collected historical documents and coordinated initial teleconference with Electronic Verification Task
Force

Facilitated development of models for review by the Executive Officers at the Annual Meeting
Coordinated evaluation of computer needs and options to facilitate electronic transfer of licensure data
by Member Boards

NAFTA/Trliateral Linkage

Supporting activities:

Participated in international briefing on implementation of NAFTA and GATS

Coordinated collection of Member Board concerns related to licensure requirements and the reservations
process as specified by NAFTA

Met with staff of the U.S. Trade Representatives Office

Participated in development of paper on licensure/registration and standards of practice in the U.S. to
ultimately be consolidated with similar papers for Canada and Mexico on their licensing

Research Programs

Job Analysls Research
Program purpose: Support validity arguments for NCLEX-RN™, NCLEX-PN™, and NACEP™,

Supporting activities:

Completed PN/VN Job Analysis Study
Completed Nurse Aide Job Analysis Study
Exploring job analysis study methodology alteratives

Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CST)
Program purpose: Provide Member Boards with a state-of-the-art examination methodology that provides ameans
of assessing problem solving/critical judgment abilities with great fidelity to clinical nursing

Supporting activities:
See project report, Attachment B
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Nurse Information System (NIS)
Program purpose: To establish an unduplicated master list of all nurse licensees.

Supporting activities:

Received a grant of $499,995 from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation in continued support of the NIS
project

Continued to work with Member Boards to eacourage participation through contracts and letters of
agreements, and followed up with boards to complete negotiation process

Continued data collection from Member Boards that do not charge a fee or are using the NIS scan form,
and have received data from 35 Member Boards, to date. Will resume collections from all boards
beginning July 1995

Finalized and printed NIS scan form, which will be used by ten Member Boards; continued to work with
other Member Boards to determine if and when they plan on using the scan form

Continued to work with Strategic Technology Resources (STR) to develop the NIS database structure;
scheduled for completion in July 1995

Coordinated 25 Member Boards’ participation in the NIS user screen pilot test, conducted during May
1995

Reviewed all restrictions Member Boards have placed on National Council’s release of licensee data in
order to standardize the data release rules and compile in a supporting NIS database to form the basis of
the NIS data security plan

Began project to link all Member Board licensec data fields to standard NIS fields, and to match response
codes for all Member Board data fields and NIS standard fields

Developed detailed data completeness and logical consistency checks that will be used to maintain data
integrity within NIS

Analyzed results from the 1995 follow-up marketing research and used to develop preliminary NIS sales
forecasts

Conducted the NIS Technical Advisory Panel’s (TAP) fourth meeting on March 22, 1995, at which it
reviewed progress in the areas of data collection, contract negotiations, and database development
Followed up with Member Boards on the original Provider Identification Number survey conducted in
1994 to verify the board’s participation levels before sending information to nursing associations, which
may be able to provide state-level strategies to facilitate release of further data elements, where such
collaboration is desired by Member Boards

Chemical Dependency Regulatory Research
Program purpose: To provide Member Boards with data that informs jurisdiction-level policy decisions; to provide
National Council with data that informs development/provision of resources for Member Boards.

Supporting activities:

Obtained institutional approvals regarding protection of human subjects rights
Finalized data collection instruments

Worked with six Member Boards to obtain their participation/cooperation in the study
Completed sample selection with data collection to be initiated in June 1995

Uniicensed Assistive Personnel - Literature Review
See Atachment C

Literature Review Focus Group Topic Surveys
See Attachment D

Role Delineation Study
Analysis has been completed and a draft disseminated at Area Meetings. The final copy will be published and
disseminated to Member Boards in summer 1995.
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Communications Programs

Pubiications and interorganizational Communications
Program Purpose: To provide communications services and expertise for the National Council which constitute
the prime national resource of information and expertise regarding nursing regulation.

Supporting Activities

Introduced a regular column in the bi-weekly Newsletter that focuses on committee and special committee
news/activities, and expanded the Newslefter’s dissemination to include all volunteers

Published four editions of Issues, three editions of Insight: Nurse Aide News and Issues, and two editions
of Emerging Issues

Published, and made available for sale, a number of publications including the NCLEX-RN™ Test Plan,
Model Nursing Practice Act, Model Nursing Administrative Rules, 1994 Profiles of Member Boards, and
1994 Licensure and Examination Statistics

Published informational brochures regarding National Council’s volunteer program, the Resource
Network, and National Council as a resource on nursing regulation

Coordinated the supply to Member Boards of various NCLEX™ and “Master Key" brochures, for the
purpose of wide dissemination to nurse candidates, educators and other interested parties

Represented National Council at meetings of nursing practice, education, and research organizations, as
well as organizations concerned with regulatory, testing and consumer matters

Organized seven interorganizational liaison meetings and promoted the inclusion of National Council
viewpoints in relevant issues

Published articles in several nursing-related jowmnals and made invited presentations to a variety of related
professional groups

Represented National Council by invitation to several task forces and panels studying issues related to
nursing regulation

Exhibited National Council services at 13 meetings of nursing and regulatory groups

Meetings
Program Purpose: To provide opportunities for Member Boards to act and counsel together on matters of common
interest regarding the role of nursing regulation in public protection.

Supporting activities:

Planned and implemented the meeting logistics for the Annual Meeting, four Regulatory Days of
Dialogue, four Area Meetings, an advanced practice roundtable, and a national nurse aide conference,
including the submission of continuing education units when requested

Coordinated eight educational sessions and a poster session for the 1994 Annual Meeting; published and
distributed the 1995 Call for Papers to all 1994 meeting attendees and educators nationwide
Coordinated communications among National Council volunteers, travel agency, corporate hotel and
office staff regarding committee meetings

Negotiated and secured appropriate hotel contracts related to National Council’s 1995, 1996, and1997
Annual Meetings

Other services:

B Responded to requests from four Member Boards for services of the Resource Network

B Facilitated opportunities for new executive officers 1o make visits to other boards or the National Council for
orientation purposes

B Obtained a registered trademark for CST® (Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing)

Information Resources
Program Purpose: To provide Member Boards and others with valuable, readily accessible information related to
all aspects of nursing regulation.
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Supporting activities:

Designed and scheduled a summer 1995 implementation for a software program for electronic submission
of disciplinary data by Member Boards to the National Council

Secured all Member Board Nurse Practice Acts as well as Administrative Rules, and transferred them to
an electronic format, to be available to Member Boards via NCNET

Purchased and installed a new telecommunications system that includes pre-recorded information, an
accounting system, and conference calling

Initiated an on-line clearinghouse service for Member Boards, offering copies of national news releases
received at the National Council; responded to over 200 Member Board requests for copies

Refined the electronic irregularity reporting (EIR) system and designed a software program to internally
track and manage NCLEX™ issues, correspondence and calls

Established an NCNET Help Desk procedure and responded to all calls for NCNET assistance from
Member Boards .

Operational and Administrative Programs

Planning and Evaluation
Program purpose: To support the governance of the National Council in identification and accomplishment of
significant ends related to public protection through nursing regulation.

Supporting activities:

Maintained records of progress toward accomplishment of all FY95 tactics for the Organization Plan
Coordinated short-term planning with the aim of maintaining congruence with the Organization Plan
vision, and projected availability of resources

Coordinated long-term planning which will ensure focused movement over the next five years
Maintained a cumulative organizational assessment in four major areas: outcomes evaluation, performance
appraisal, structure/documents assessment, and future needs assessment

Fiscal Management
Program purpose: To provide a fiscal management system that will further the accomplishment of the National
Council’s program goals and objectives.

Supporting activities:

B Began financial statement reporting by organization plan objectives as well as by responsibility center.
B Issued comparison of National Council financial operation ratios to benchmark ratios.

Attachments

A National Council Administrative Staff and Organization Charts, page 8

B..... Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CST®) Project, page 17

C....... Unlicensed Assistive Personnel—Literature Review, page 30

D...... Literature Review Report, page 46
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Attachment A

National Council Administrative Staff

Jennifer Bosma, Ph.D., CAE. ......reerirrcecrienee e Executive Director

Doris Nay, MLA, RN v cvcvsnsissnac e svesens Associate Executive Director

Cynthia Bentel ........ccvvmiiinvnicinintiorsitnssesnisensssnsesessesssonnes Administrative Assistant (through April 1995)
Anna Bersky, PhD,, RN ...t nnsevsses CST Project Director

JOAi BOTZET ...ttt et se et seasssessrns e st esssansssnsans NCLEX™ Administrative Assistant

SaNdra Brooks ..........ccccevinenieieiieneemiiesineseesessesessesessessesisesensanes Administrative Assistant (beginning May 1995}
Delores Cartso ........ciceevrerereeseerecressenseressesesssessesssssssossssrssnseans Staff Accountant

Nancy Chomick, Ph.D., RN........cccccovvinrnrieninriinenecnviieserenrene Research Associate

Susan Davids, CM.P. ... Meetings Manager

Ellen Gleason, M.S.LR,, M.S.OD......crvmnvinicnincrerinene NACEP Program Manager

Barbara Halsey, M.B.A. .........ccooimiccinnneccreecne s NCLEX™ Administration Manager
Christopher T. Handzlik .............cccoceeemevecennvnninnnmrnicennsnserseens Editor

Carol Hartigan, MLA. ..ot cn reesenesens NCLEX™ Contract Manager

Linda Heffernan, J.D.,, M.S.IN,, R N. ..o, Nursing Practice and Education Associate
Carolyn Hutcherson, M.S,, RN ....c.c.cccvnmnccnnimiee e Senior Policy Analyst (beginning December 1994)
PEZEY IVEISON .....c.eueereirieiree e rireesestesies e sree s ssessn s seseeneseans NIS Administrative Assistant (beginning Nov. 1994}
Ellen Julian, Ph.D. ...t e e Psychometrician

June Krawczak, M.SIN, RIN. e CST Project Associate

Philip J. LaForge, M.B.A. ...t Marketing Manager (beginning June 1995)
Craig S. MOOTE ... rereeeenecstresiasrsseveesraes s assesenns Network Administrator

Melanie Neal, M A. ... NIS Program Manager

Bryan M. NEWSON ......c.occeeiireiiiereenersonenreesenssessesse s scnssnanns Computer Programmer

Kermy NOWICKI ....cccvvuierrininrenes s seasicssnere st eansesoes e sssesseaesraone Publications Manager

Larry SANKEY .....coccevreteneriestrnnereienessessiniesessasssseessenesasassssssssasnes Information Resource Manager (through March 1995)
Vickie Sheets, J.D., R.N. ..o Director for Nussing Practice and Education
Ruth Bernstein Spiro, MLB.A. ..o e, Testing Administrative Coordinator

Tom Vicek, M.BAA, CP.A. ... ste e Director of Operations

ANN WALKINS ....ocomviiiiirciieinie cnrceosiensscsse sresesosamssesanessvessvessans Executive Secretary

Anne Wendt, Ph.D,, RIN. ..o NCLEX™ Content Manager

Susan WOoOdWATQ ...........cocernriereeeeeciecnicene e cienesinassstese s eneeneesoane Director of Communications

Carolyn J. Yocom, Ph.D.,, RN, FAAN......cccviivnnnecnnn. Director of Research Services

Anthony R. Zara, PhD............ Feeetreee et st sbest s e st et be st nsraa s Director of Testing Services
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Attachment B

Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CST®)
Project

Staff
Anna Bersky, CST® Project Director
June Krawczak, CST® Project Associate

Relationship to Organization Plan

Goall............. Provide Member Boards with examinatious and standards for licensure and credentialing.

Objective C........ Conduct research and development regarding computerized clinical simulation testing for initial and
continued licensure.

Program Purpose
To research and develop a more authentic mechanism for assessing the clinical decision-making activities
(assessment and intervention) which are used in the management of client care.

Background

Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CST®) has been under research and development since 1988. It is
believed that CST permits a more authentic assessment of the decision-making activities used in the management of
client needs than traditional assessments such as multiple choice and essay questions because: it eliminates the
unnatural cuing of questions and answer options; it is interactive in that the nurse carries out nursing activities which
elicit a response from the client; and it is dynamic in that the client condition changes over time in response to nursing
action (or non-action) and as the underlying health problem unfolds. At the beginning of each clinical encounter, the
examinee is presented with a brief description of the client situation. The examinee then proceeds 1o the main work
screen where requests for nursing activities can be specified. From the main work screen, requests for chart review are
selected from a menu and requests for nursing assessments and interventions are specified through free-text entry.
When a free-text request is entered, a 25,000+ term nursing activity database is searched for a lexical match to the
request.

A primary focus of CST project work during FY9S5 has been the development of a series of interrelated databases
of nursing and medical information. The new simulation software system, being developed for CST by the National
Board of Medical Examiners (NBME) will use more efficient mechanisms for refining and managing the information
used by the CST system. To facilitate the efficient and flexible construction and delivery of CST cases and scoring keys,
a set of databases containing nursing and medical information is being linked through a simple coding scheme which
permits quick and efficient identification and capture of the numerous relationships which exist within and across
databases.

The accuracy and realism of cases depend on the careful construction, organization, and linkage of these databases
which will form the underpinnings of the new automated authoring system. Through automated CST case and scoring
key development, the databases will be accessed to prompt the CST case and scoring key authors regarding relationships
that should be considered when a certain patient condition exists or when a certain intervention or set of interventions
are defined as impacting the patient. This component of the CST system is referred to as the Nursing Information
Retrieval System (NIRS®).

Using the NIRS, a case author can start with one idea and work in any direction for developing a case. For example,
if a case author wants 10 build a case about a client requiring certain nursing interventions (i.e., irrigation of a wound,
dressing change, tube feeding, and intravenous feeding), these activities can be entered into the computer and all nursing
and medical information related to these activities can be quickly accessed and built into a case as desired. On the other
hand, an author may wish to build a case for a client with a particular nursing diagnosis or problem, or medical-surgical
condition. By entering these into the computer, all nursing and medical information related to any one or combination
of conditions can be accessed.

Itis anticipated that components of the databases will be tested during FY'95 and FY96 as NBME moves along with
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the programming of specifications for CST. The databases will, however, require continuous updating and maintenance
as new cases are developed, health care changes, and new roles or activities for nurses evolve. The number of terms
within each database will vacillate as the databases are restructured and new terms are added, or obsolete terms are

removed.
Highlights of Activities

Nursing Information Retrieval System (NIRS@)
This system contains several relational databases of nursing and medical information. Working drafts of several
databases are currently under review. The databases are described below.

Nursing Activity Database

This database contains over 1,100 discrete nursing activity parent terms. These are nursing assessment and
intervention terms stated in their broadest sense to capture the essence of all synonyms (all the different ways in which
free-text requests for a nursing action might be typed in, including terms that have the same meaning as the parent term
as well as terms that are subcategories of the parent term) which are connected to them. The total number of parent and
synonym terms exceeds 25,000. Included are nursing actions for both the patient and the family/significant other. The
terms are structured for compatibility with the CST search algorithms designed for recognition of free-text entries.

This nursing activity database has been in development since 1989. The original list consisted of approximately
250 to 300 discrete nursing activities with their synonyms resulting in approximately 750 terms. These terms were
developed by a cadre of nurse consultants representing a broad range of nursing practice areas. A series of CST field
and pilot studies, as well as further consultation with experts has contributed substantially to the growth of the CST
nursing activity database.

During field and pilot studies, nurses and nurse candidates work through cases by using free-text entries to specify
nursing assessments and interventions. All free-text entries that are not recognized by the system are captured and
provided in a report following the administration of the examination cases. After careful review, relevant terms are
added to the database. Results of CST field studies show that through this process, the system recognition of free-text
entries has increased from approximately 72 percent to 92 percent.

The nursing activity database terms are linked, using their unique identification numbers, to the nursing diagnosis/
client need database.

Nursing Diagnosis/Clisnt Need Database

This database contains the North American Nursing Diagnosis Association (NANDA) terms as well as other terms
which describe client needs or problems. The additional client need/problem terms are being developed to augment the
NANDA list and provide a set of database linkages comprehensive enough for CST development. To further facilitate
the manipulation and organization of these terms in a variety of ways useful to case and scoring key development as
well as to quality control, the terms were assigned to one or more of 33 different categories (e.g., psychosocial terms,
bowel function terms, teaching terms). Each of the 33 categories is further subdivided through the use of 16 different
codes which further refine the nature of nursing activity membership to a category.

This database is linked to a database containing medical diagnoses and medical/surgical treatments and procedures,
a defining characteristics (signs/symptoms) database, and to the nursing activity database.

Defining Characteristics Database

This database includes each defining characteristic (sign/symptom) term along with its unique identifying code
number. During the development of this database, signs and symptoms terms are being standardized by using the same
wording each time the term is used. For example, the term, chest pain, is broader than the term, angina, so the term, chest
pain, is used even when the word, angina, may seem more descriptive. If more flexible wording is needed, synonyms
may need to be developed for selected terms, e.g., a list of synonyms or sub categories (including the term, angina) may
need to be developed for the term, chest pain.

Medical Diagnosis and Medical/Surgical Treatment and Procedure Database

This database includes each medical diagnosis and medical and surgical treatment and procedure along with its
unique identifying (UMLS) code number. It is anticipated thar a list of some synonyms/subcategories will need to be
developed for selected medical and surgical terms.
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Client Outcomes Database

This database, which is currently in the planning phase, will include statements of desired client outcomes.
Resources which discuss and describe client outcome statements are being reviewed and potential linkages are being
identified. This database would assist case authors in determining desired client outcomes (case-specific responses to
nursing actions carried out during a case) and reasonable time frames for changes in client condition.

Default Client Response Database:

This database includes default or normal client (patient or family/significant other) responses for each of the 1,100+
parent terms. A default normal response is the client response that is given when the patient’s condition has no impact
on, or is unrelated to, the nursing activity requested. Each set of default normal responses represents one of 38 different
client response categories which are based on various combinations of attributes including age, gender, presence or
absence of pregnancy, and conscious state of the patient. The first draft of this database is complete and is currently
being reviewed for accuracy and consistency by CS T staff and consultants, This database is linked to the nursing activity
database and is critical to the efficiency of CST case authoring.

CST Case Library Database

This database consists of four tables of information about CST cases. Case identification numbers are connected
to their related: nursing diagnoses; medical/surgical conditions, treatments and procedures; demograpkhic descriptors;
and status descriptors which range from scenario and flowchart development and approval to the development of
scoring keys. It is anticipated that additional tables of CST case information will be developed.

Contacts with Outside Groups and Organizations Involved in the Development of Classification

or Database Systems of Health-related Terms

Staff have contacted other groups involved in the development of health and/or nursing information classification
and/or database systems. Those contacted include:; staff for the National Library of Medicine Unified Medical
Language System (UMLS) metathesarus; American Nurses' Association group on standardized nursing language;
Georgetown University’s Home Health Care Classification System (HHCCS); Omaha Visiting Nurse's Association
ClientManagement Information System for Community Health Nursing Agencies; Iowa Project on Nursing Intervention
Classifications; and University of Virginia’s Patient Care Database Project. The purpose of these contacts was to share
information about the NIRS being developed by the National Council and to collect available literature on other like
projects. Responses and literature have been received and are being reviewed. Staff from the National Library of
Medicine UMLS project and from the American Nurses’ Association group on standardized nursing language have
expressed an interest in seeing samples of, and learning more about, the CST NIRS.

CST Phase il Agreement with NBME

Phase Il of CST will include programming and testing of the new CST software system, adapted from the NBME's
completely redesigned computer-based examinations (CBX) software. NBME will begin Phase II programming in
August 1995,

Negotiation of the CST License Agreement Amendment

Amendments to the current CST license agreement were completed following approximately two years of
negotiation. The primary effect of the amendments is to create a more favorable financial environment relative to: 1)
the amount of royalties to be paid to NBME once CST is used in arevenue generating mode; and 2) the cost to National
Council for acquisition of CST source code.

Member Board use of CST
Initial plans for exploring and evaluating Member Board use of CST have been developed.

Refinement of CST Research Plan
The CST Research Plan is being refined based on input received from the CST External Research Review Panel
and National Council staff,
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CST Issues/Policy Issues Document

A draft document outlining issues (and plans and timelines for addressing the issues) which impact CST research
and development and/or a future implementation of CST as a component of the licensure exam has been drafted and
can be found on pages 13 to 21 of this report.

Future Activities

Tactic 1: Initiate CST case development and continue refinement of research plan and procedures for evaluating
the content validity of CST.

It is anticipated that programming of the new CST systemn will be completed during FY96. This will include: the
development of a new, more user friendly CST user interface; further refinement of and testing the use of the NIRS for
developing and delivering CST; transfer of four existing CST cases into the new system using NIRS; and, development
of a prototype for demonstration purposes.

Tactic 3: Plan for Exploring Member Board Use of CST.

Itis anticipated that during FY96 a CST Task Force will begin to provide input regarding potential regulatory uses
of CST by Member Boards (other than initial licensure examinations). By spring of FY96, the CST Task Force will
finalize the plan for exploring and evaluating Member Board use of CST. Itis anticipated that during FY97,a CST Task
Force would participate in planning investigating Member Board use of CST, assist in soliciting Member Board
participation in the investigation, provide input regarding the CST software to make available to participating Member
Boards, and facilitate the initiation of the investigation. Itis anticipated that the investigation and evaluation of Member
Board uses of CST would continue through FY98.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



S661/°2u] ‘Sutsanp o spioog s Jo 11ouno) [ouooN

CST ISSUES/POLICY ISSUES

WORKING DRAFT
TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Case 1. Level at which | 1. Cases would reflect | Review and input INTERNAL: April - Nov '95
Development | case written a situation that any into plan by relevant CST Task Force Review and input received from internal and

standard

nurse would encounter
2. Performance
expectations would be

determined by P/F

participants

Solicit input into
policy from relevant
participants

Draft policies to
guide case
development during
during research phase

Based on research
findings and input
from relevant
participants, make
regarding level at
which cases are to be
written
recommendations

Former CST chairs
Exam Committee
BOD

Board Members
NP&E staff
NP&E committee
Public Policy staff
NC Testing staff
NC Research staff
Legal Counsel

EXTERNAL:
Nurse Consultant
Group:
Nurses in practice
Nursing F aculty
Qualifications:
knowledgeable
regarding health
care and nursing
school curriculum
reform, and
anticipated
changes in
practice settings

external resources

Winter '96

Draft of proposed policy statements regarding
case level . Obtain final input and approval
from relevant participants

Summer '96
Implement proposed policies for research
phase

Summer '99

Based on research findings and input from
relevant participants, make recommendations
regarding level at which cases are to be written

17
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TOPIC [SSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Case 2. Case content & | 1. Method for Review and input INTERNAL: April - Nov '95
Development | characteristics determining and into plan by relevant CST Task Force Review and input received from internal and
assuring (for future) participants Former CST chairs external resources
importance/relevance Exam Committee
of case content Solicit input into BOD Winter '96
Current Method policy from relevant Board Members Draft of proposed policy statements regarding
CDC opinion participants NP&E staff assurance of importance/relevance of case
SKDC opinion NP&E committee content . Obtain final input and approval from
Expert Opinion Draft policy for Public Policy staft relevant participants
Documentation in | assuring importance/ NC Testing staff
relevant printed relevance of case NC Research staff Summer '96
resources content during Legal Counsel Implement proposed policies for research
research phase phase
EXTERNAL:
2. Method for Based on research 1. Nurse Consultant | Summer '99
determining and findings and input Group: Based on research findings and input from
assuring (for future) from relevant Nurses in relevant participants, make recommendations
appropriate participants, make practice
representation of client | recommendations Nursing Faculty
demographics and regarding procedures Qualifications:
practice settings for assuring knowledgeable
aCross cases importance and regarding health
Current Method relevance of case care and nursing
CDC opinion content school curriculum
SKDC opinion reform, and
Expert Opinion anticipated
Documentation in changes in
relevant printed practice settings
resources 2. Review
documents which
provide statistics
and projections for
nursing work

settings
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TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Scoring Key | 1. Level at which | 1. Scoring key Review and input INTERNAL: Spring '95 to Winter '96
Development | scoring key is specifies optimal client | into plan by relevant CST Task Force Review and input received from internal and
constructed management and entry- | participants Exam Committee external resources

level expectations
determined by P/F
standard

2. Determine whether
same scoring key can
be used across practice
levels

Solicit input into
policy from relevant
participants

Draft policy
identifying scoring
elements to be used
for scoring key
development during
research phase

Identify appropriate
research analysis
procedures for
determining whether
same scoring key can
be used across
practice levels (entry
level vs experienced
nurse)

Based on research
findings and input
from relevant
participants, make
policy
recommendations

BOD

NC Testing staff
NC Research staff
Legal Counsel

EXTERNAL:
1. Nurse Consultant
Group:
Nurses in
practice
Nursing Faculty
Qualifications:
knowledgeable
regarding
health care and
nursing school
curriculum
reform, and
anticipated
changes in
practice
settings

2. NBME
consultation

3. External Research
Review Panel

Spring '96
Policy for use during research phase drafted
and submitted for approval

Summer '96

Policy regarding level at which key
constructed in place

Policy regarding sample and methods of
analysis to be used to determine applicability
of single scoring key across levels of practice
in place

FY97 -FY99
Implement policy and identified research
analysis procedures during research phase

Summer '99

Based on research findings and input from
relevant participants, make policy
recommendations
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TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Scoring Key | 2. Sconing Current scoring Solicit, from relevant | INTERNAL: Spring '95 to Winter '96
Development | elements to be elements: participaScoring Key CST Task Force Review and input received from internal
used to determine BENEFITS Developmentnts, Exam Committee resources
ability estimate FLAGS mnput into plan for BOD
RISKS identifying and NC Testing staff Winter '96
INAPPROPRIATES | exploring the use of NC Research staff Convene Scoring Panel
several sets of Legal Counsel Solicit input from relevant internal and
1. Determine which | scoring elements external participants
scoring elements to  { during the CST EXTERNAL:
be included in key research phase 1. Scoring Panel: Spring '96
2.Determine which Panel discussion/ Draft policy regarding scoring elements to be
scoring elements Identify scoring symposium used during research phase
contribute to ability | elements and various presented by invited | Submit for approval
estimate analyses procedures experts with
3. Determine to be used during experience in Draft policy regarding analysis procedures to
whether and how research phase developing be used during research phase

scoring elements
will be weighted

Explore and evaluate
the use of the
identified sconing
elements and analysis
procedures

Based on research
findings and input
from relevant
participants, make
policy
recommendations

innovative scoring
procedures for
authentic
assessment;, to be
attended by selected
NC staff and
committee
members, and by
external research
review panel

2. External Research
Review Panel
attends scoring
symposium and
provides input intc
plan for exploring
and evaluating
various scoring and
research approaches

FY97 - Spring FY98

Implement policy related to scoring elements
during research phase

Continue to collect and evaluate information
regarding innovative analysis approaches to be
used during research phase

Summer FY98
Identify any additional research approaches to
be used (if any)

FY99

Based on research findings and mput from
relevant participants make policy
recommendations

v



S661/2u] ‘Suisin Jo spivog a3is Jo 119uno) touonoN

TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Scoring Key | 3. Criteria for Determine procedures | Solicit, from relevant | INTERNAL: Spring '95 to Winter '96
Development | evaluating vahidity | for evaluating validity | participants, input CST Task Force Review and input received from internal
of scoring key of scoring keys into plan for Exam Committee resources
identifying and BOD
exploring procedures NC Testing staff Winter ‘96
for evaluating the NC Research staff Convene Scoring Panel
validity of the scoring Legal Counsel Solicit input from relevant internal and
keys during the CST external participants
research phase EXTERNAL:
1. Scoring Panel: Spring '96
Identify validation Panel discussion/ Policy regarding key validation and research
approaches and Symposium procedures to be used during research phase
various research presented by invited | drafted and submitted for approval
procedures to be experts with
used during research experience in FY97 -FY99
phase developing Implement policy for research phase
innovative scoring
Explore and evaluate procedures for FY99
the use of the authentic Based on research findings and input from
identified validation assessment; to be relevant participants, make policy
and analysis attended by selected | recommendations
procedures NC staff and
committee
Based on research members, and by
findings and input external research
from relevant review panel

participants, make
policy
recommendations

2. External Research
Review Panel
attends scoring
symposium and
provides input into
plan for exploring
and evaluating
various scoring and
analysis approaches

ST
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TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Estimating 1. Statistical 1. Determine statistical | Solicit, from relevant | INTERNAL: Spring '95 to Winter '96
Examinee approach approach to be used participants, input CST Task Force Review and input received from internal
Ability for estimating into plan for Exam Committee resources
2. Combining examinee ability identifying and BOD

sconng elements

3. Arriving at an
estimate of
performance
4CTOSs Cases.

2. Determine how
scoring elements will
be combined to armive
at a score

3. Determine how
performance across
cases will be estimated

exploring various (2-
3) approaches for
estimating examines
ability during the
CST research phase

Identify approaches
to be used during
research phase

Explore and evaluate
the use of the
identified approaches

Based on research
findings and input
from relevant
participants, make
recommendations
regarding approaches
to adopt

NC Testing staff
NC Research staff
Legal Counsel

EXTERNAL:
1. Sconing Panel:
Panel discussion/
symposium
presented by invited
experts with
experience in
developing
innovative statistical
procedures for
authentic
assessment; to be
attended by selected
NC staff and
committee
members, and by
external research
review panel

2. External Research
Review Panel
attends scoring
symposium and
provides input into
plan for exploring
and evaluating
various approaches

Winter '96

Convene Scoring Panel

Solicit input from relevant internal and
external participants

FY97

Identify approaches to explore during
research phase,but continue to consider and
explore new developments in the area for
possible incorporation into research plan

FY97 -FY98

Continue to consider and explore new
developments in the area; implement identified
approach as field study data becomes available
during case debugging

FY98

Explore and evaluate the use of identified
approaches during analysis of data from large
scale study

FY99

Based on research findings and input from
relevant participants, make policy
recommendations

9%
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TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Construction | 1. Number of 1. Determine how Solicit, from relevant | INTERNAL: FY97
of cases/exam form | many cases to include | participants, input CST Task Force Input received from internal and external
Examination in an examination form | into plan for Exam Committee resources regarding construction of
Forms 2. Type of identifying number BOD examination forms
cases/exam form 2. Determine which and types of cases NC Testing staff
case/scoring key which should NC Research staff Approaches for construction of examination
variables to consider COMPOSE an Legal Counsel forms identified and implemented
when constructing an examination form
examination form during the CST EXTERNAL: FY99
research phase External Research Based on research findings and input from

3. Determine how

Review Panel

relevant participants, make policy

CST fits with NCLEX- | Identify approaches provides input into | recommendations
RN™Test Plan to be used during plan for assembling

resecarch phase examination forms
4. Identify which
components of test Explore and evaluate Data from field
plan are better covered | the use of the testing of CST cases
by CST and which arc | identified approaches
better covered by NBME Consultation
MCQ NCLEX™ Based on research

findings and input

from relevant

participants, make

recommendations

regarding approaches

to adopt

Z
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TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
Standard Process and 1. Identify process and | Solicit, from relevant | INTERNAL: FY97
Setting for procedures for procedures for setting participants, input CST Task Force Input received from internal and external
CST setting passing passing standard into plan for Exam Committee resources regarding setting a standard for CST
standard identifying process BOD
2. Determine passing and procedures for NC Testing staff FY98-FY99
standard for CST setting a passing NC Research staff Processes and procedures for setting passing
standard for CST Legal Counsel standard for CST identified and implemented
Identify approaches EXTERNAL.: FY99
to be explored Standard Setting Based on research findings and input from
Panel: relevant participants, make policy
Explore and evaluate Panel discussion/ recommendations
the use of the symposium
identified approaches presented by invited
experts with
Based on research experience in
findings and input developing
from relevant innovative standard
participants, make setting procedures
recommendations for authentic
regarding approaches assessment; to be
to adopt attended by selected
NC staff and
committee
members, and by
external research
review panel
External Research
Review Panel:

provides input into
plan

NBME Consultation
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TOPIC ISSUES CONSIDERATIONS | PROCESS FOR RESOURCES TIMELINES
ADDRESSING
P/F Decision | Process and Identify process and Solicit, from relevant | INTERNAL: FY97
for Exam procedures for procedures for participants, input CST Task Force Convene Standard Setting Panel
which combining results | combining results of into plan for Exam Committee
includes both | of CAT and CST | CAT and CST to identifying process BOD Input received from internal and external
CAT & CST | to determine determine overall and procedures for NC Testing staff resources regarding combining results and
overall candidate | candidate P/F status combining results of NC Research staff determining P/F status for a CAT and CST
P/F status CAT and CST to Legal Counsel exam
determine overall
candidate P/F status EXTERNAL: FY98-FY99
Standard Setting Processes and procedures for combining
Identify approaches Panel: results and determining P/F status for a CAT
to be used Panel discussion/ and CST exam identified and implemented
symposium
Explore and evaluate presented by invited | FY99
the use of the experts with Based on research findings and input from
identified approaches experience in relevant participants, make policy
developing recommendations
Based on research mnovative standard
findings and input setting procedures
from relevant for authentic
participants, make assessment; to be
recommendations attended by selected
regarding approaches NC staff and
to adopt committee

members, and by
external research
review panel

External Research
Review Panel:
provides input into
plan

NBME consultation
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Attachment C

Literature Review: Impact of Using Licensed and
Unlicensed Nursing Personnel on the Quality and Cost
of Patient Care

Staff
Frances Vlasses, Research Assistant
Carolyn J. Yocom, Director of Research Services

Relationship to Organization Plan

Goal Il................ Provide documents which provide guidance regarding the regulation of nursing practice.
Objective A ....... Develop documents which provide guidance regarding the regulation of nursing practice
Background

The 1994 Delegate Assembly directed that the National Council collect and analyze the results of current and past
studies of the utilization of licensed and unlicensed nursing personnel. The analysis should focus on the quality of
nursing care delivered to the consumer and cost effectiveness.

Highlights of Activities

An extensive search for published and unpublished reports of research and e valuation studies was undertaken using
electronic databases, wide dissemination of a call for information, and personal contact with other organizations and
groups. A total of 17 relevant documents were identified, 16 of which had been published. Of these 17, three addressed
aspects of the quality of care delivered, eight addressed both quality and cost of care, and six addressed the cost of care.
A major problem encountered in reviewing this body of literature was a lack of sufficient statistical data which could
be used to perform a meta-analysis. Therefore, a traditional approach to performance of a literature review was
undertaken. The final report of this review follows.

Literature Review: Impact of Using Licensed and Unlicensed Nursing Personnel on the Quality
and Cost of Patient Care

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to identify literature addressing aquestion which underpins the current work redesign
initiative in the health care industry; that is, how do changes in the mix of licensed and unlicensed nursing personnel
impact the quality and cost of nursing care.

Conceptual Framework

Although there “is no universally accepted definition of quality” (Carter, Mills, Homan, Blaesing, Heater, Stoll,
Momin and Corrigan, 1988, p.332), researchers are working to define the variables associated with quality nursing care.
Further, these variables are located within and interact with multiple variables within the total patient care system
(Carter et al., 1988).
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The complexity of relationships surrounding health care organizations, nursing practice, quality and cost is
represented in the literature in conceptual models put forth by O’ Brien-Pallas (1995); Lewin-VHI, Inc. (1995); and
Lengacher, Mabe, Bowling, Heinemann, Kent, and Van Cott (1993). The conceptual framework for this study (Figure
1) is based on these sources. This framework is based on the condition that quality of care and cost of care are dependent
upon adequate and appropriately skilled nursing personnel. The framework outlines basic components of quality and
cost as defined in the literature.

As outlined in Figure 1, quality of care is often assessed in terms of: (1) patient focused outcomes; (2) process of
care indicators, which generally reflect methods of monitoring what the nurse does; and (3) nurse indicators or the
nurse’s evaluation/perception of quality/satisfaction. While there is an extensive and growing literature on nurse
indicators (Huber, Blegen, & McCloskey, 1994; Shindul-Rothschild, 1994) and because these are more widely
distributed and self-evident, this study attempts to synthesize literature that addresses patient-focused outcomes and
process of care indicators.

Figure 1 also demonstrates that cost of care is related to both personnel costs and material consumption. Since skill
mix relates to personnel costs in this literature, costs related to materials are either addressed indirectly, since increased
material consumption is a by-product of increased length of stay (LOS) or, more commonly, is not addressed at all.

Figure 1. Conceptual Model

A. Quality of Care

Quality of Care
|

I T ]

atient-Focused Outc Process of Care Indicators Nurse Indicators
Mortality Rates Quality Assurance Indicators Nurse Satisfaction
Length of Stay 8 Chart Audit Nurse Perception of Quality
Adverse Incident Rates 8 Nursing Care Plan Audit
| Falls Documentation of:
8 Injury 8 Process of care
8 Medication Errors 8 Effective Performance of
Complication rates Nursing Care Delivery
8 Decubitus Ulcers 8 Nursing Activities to
8 Nosocomial Infections Prevent Complications

Patient/Family Satisfaction
Re-admission Rates
Emergency Room Visits Post
Discbarge
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Figure 1. Conceptual Model (continued)

B. Cost of Care

Cost ?f Care
i ]
Nursing Personnel Costs Material Resource Costs
RN/Patient Ratio Number of Inter-Unit Patient Transfers
LPN/Patient Ratio Length of Stay
Unlicensed Personnel/Patient Ratio Patient Care Supplies
RN/Total Nursing Staff Ratio Costs Related to Complications

Total Nursing Care Hours Provided
Per Patient, Adjusted for Acuity Level

m Licensed Hours/patient
m Unlicensed Hours/patient

Use of Temporary Personnel

Overtime Hours

Orientation Hours

Turnover Rates

Methods

The search for relevant work was directed towards an identification of research and/or evaluation studies using the
ratio of licensed to unlicensed nursing personnel as the independent variable and patient quality of care indicators or
cost of care as the dependent variable.

The search procedure incorporated published work, unpublished work and works-in-progress and included
community-based, long term care and acute care settings. Published articles from 1988 to the present were sought via
the following electronic databases: 1) CINAHL; 2) Health and ABInform; 3) World Cat; 4) HSTAR/HSTAT; §)
Dissertation Abstracts, and 6) Infotrac-General Business File and Expanded Academic ASAP. In addition, one journal,
Nursing Economics, was hand-searched because of its potential relevance to this project. Using ancestry method,
reference lists of relevant or related studies and review papers were examined to identify other related studies.

Search terms included but were not limited to: quality; quality/cost; licensed/unlicensed personnel; quality of
health care and providers; quality of care and economics; quality of nursing care, cost of nursing care, cost control in
health care, patient-focused care, labor costs in hospitals and statistical data; innovations/quality/cost; business process
re-engineering/cost; quality of service; and health care/cost/quality personnel. Redundancy was used as the criterion
for completeness.

Identification of Unpublished Work

In order to identify unpublished work, a call for information on the topic was published by the American
Organization of Nurse Executives and the University Hospital Consortium Nurse Executive Council. This request for
information was also sent to the deans of all nursing programs with a graduate school of nursing. An announcement
regarding the nature of the project was made at several meetings on case management and nursing worklife research
held in March 1995. Responses from these calls yielded a contact list of approximately 64 individuals. Each source
was called personally and asked about the nature of their study involvement, the availability of results and additional
referrals.

ource.

Deliberate efforts were made to contact individuals with a national perspective and/or knowledge of research
initiatives outside of the nursing discipline. As a result, 14 different groups were contacted (See Table 1) via phone
in an effort to expand the search to include interdisciplinary perspectives.
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American Nurses’ Association

American Organization of Nurse Executives

American Organization of Operating Room Nurses

American College of Health Care Executives

Association for Health Services Research

Center for Health Policy Studies, Columbia, Maryland
George Washington University Center for Health Policy Research
National League for Nursing

National Multi-skilled Health Practitioner Clearinghouse
Patient-Focused Care Association, Inc.

The Advisory Board Company

State of New York, Work Force Demonstration Project Group
Strengthening Hospital Nursing Project

Voluntary Hospitals of America

Selection Criteria

Over 135 published and unpublished documents were individually examined for possible inclusion in this study.
To be included in the study, documents bad to contain (1) data from project evaluation or research; (2) a skill mix
indicator that quantified the ratio of licensed/unlicensed nursing personnel; (3) patient-focused indicators of quality;

and/or (4) a measure(s) of cost.

Characteristics of Sample

Seventeen documents met these criteria. Of these, sixteen were published, one was in limited distribution; ten were
studies conducted by nurses; others were conducted by teams led by MB As, pharmacists, economists, physicians and
others. The studies were primarily conducted in acute care settings. One was conducted in a nursing home and one
focused on intensive care units. Table 2 lists the sample articles, categorized by dependent variable.

Table 2. Articles included in the sample, categorized by dependent variable

Quality of Care Quality of Care and Cost of Care Cost of Care
Beck, 1995 Burruss et al., 1993 Eastaugh, 1990
Carter et al., 1988 Fritz & Cheeseman, 1994 Eastaugh & Regan-Donovan,

Munroe, 1990 Helt & Jelinek, 1988
Kostovich et al., 1994
Neidlinger, Bostrum,
Stricker, Hild & Zhang, 1993
Powers, Dicky & Ford, 1990
Tidikis & Strasen, 1994
Bostrum & Zimmerman, 1993

1990

Garfink et al., 1991

Glandon, Colbert & Thomasma,
1989

Lengacher et al,, 1993

Pearson & Schwartz, 1991
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Results

The research problems associated with studying the costing out nursing services and outcomes of care have been
primarily addressed in studies about RN usage. Until recently, consideration of the use of unlicensed personnel has
not been a primary concern to nursing. In fact, research evaluating new models of care, which include unlicensed
assistive personnel as a variable, has been very limited (Bostrum and Zimmerman, 1993).

Studies in this section address the relationship between the mix of nursing staff and the quality of patient care from
different measurement perspectives. Carter et al., (1988) monitored process of care indicators based on chart and care
plan audits. While licensed and unlicensed personnel are listed as independent variables in this study, the authors report
the RN/LPN ratio is the most significant predictor of changes in quality indices. As the proportion of LPNs increases,
the quality of care decreases. In their conclusions, the authors cautioned that staff substitution should be done cautiously
as patient acuity increases.

Munroe (1990) examined the effect of staff configuration on nursing home quality. She argued that although 71
percent of nursing home care is provided by unskilled personnel (Munroe citing IOM, 1986), care must be taken to
increase the RN percentage within the skill mix in order to address increased patient complexity in long term care
settings. She reported a significant positive relationship between the ratio of RN to LPN hours of care per resident day
and facility quality. Itis notclear how or if data were collected on any other staffing configuration. Munroe notes that
she chose to accept a significance level of 0.10 or less because the project represents a new research area.

In 1995, Beck used a quasi-experimental, comparison group evaluation design to study a partnership relationship
between registered nurses and an unlicensed provider, called a Patient Care Apprentice (PCA), in a hospital setting.
By using a work sampling methodology, the researcher was able to document that nurses partnered with PCAs were
able to perform a greater percentage of professional activities (assessment, planning coordination, patient education/
support) (55%) than control nurses (32%). Control nurses reported more tasks that could be delegated (34%) compared
to PCA partnered nurses (23%). Significance levels were not reported. Beck concluded that the use of unlicensed care
partners increases the effective utilization of RNs by improving the amount of time RNs can spend on professional
activities. Beck also reported the use of short structured interviews to evaluate patients’ perceptions of quality. The
results suggest an improvement in patient perception of quality due to increased time available for personal care and
comfort interventions.

Burruss, Ashworth and Arikian (1993) report a study evaluating medication administration by unlicensed
medication administration technicians (UMAT). Medication errors were used as a quality indicator. Based on 7,140
reported doses where RNs were responsible for 39 percent of the doses and UMATS responsible for the remaining
doses, the RNs were responsible for 88 percent of reported errors or 11.38 times as many errors as UMATs. This
difference was statistically significant (p <.001).

Fritz and Cheeseman (1994) evaluated the use of nurse extenders in critical care. This project decreased the RN
staffing percentage from 100 percent to 75 percent through the addition of critical care technicians. Although no
statistics were cited, they report “a positive trend in the quality indicators of pressure sore management and patient
teaching” (p.329) and an improvement in patient/family satisfaction.

A pre/post-test randomized study to evaluate care delivery system redesign was conducted in a 600-bed tertiary
care facility by Bostrum and Zimmerman (1993). The planned change included the introduction of certified nursing
assistants; an increase in RN to patient ratio; the addition of an automated IV drug administration system; and the
addition of LPNs to the night shift personnel. Frequency of incident reports was used as a proxy for changes in quality.
There was no statistically significant difference between the frequencies of incident reports filed during the pre-and
post-test three-month data collection periods. Each unit stayed well below or close to the hospital incident report
average for the same time period. Patient satisfaction, a patient-focused outcome quality indicator in our conceptual
framework, was also monitored before and after the redesign intervention. No statistically significant changes in levels
of patient satisfaction were detected.
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The implementation of a new type of unlicensed assistant, the clinical technician, in one agency was discussed by
Kostovich, Mahneke, Meyers and Healy (1994). This new type of provider is a multiskilled worker functioning “at a
more advanced level” (p.52). Success was measured using structural process indicators of quality. Following
implementation, STAT blood work turnaround time improved 61 percent. In addition, the number of different hospital
employees seen by patients decreased from 54 to 19 for a three-day period, thus, indicating evidence of streamlining
hospital systems. Patients’ overall ratings of satisfaction with nursing care rose from 66 percent to 73 percent.

Neidlinger, Bostrum, Stricker, Hild and Zhang (1993) evaluated a pilot project using a nonrandomized, control
group, time series design to determine the effect of pairing nursing assistive personnel (NAP) with registered nurses
in a university hospital with a resistant RN vacancy rate of 68 per month. Nurse compliance with standards for
documenting patient care was the dependent variable. While statistical analysis data were not reported, the authors
report essentially negative findings for indicators collected before the change and one year after. The experimental units
reported a decline in compliance with documentation standards from 97 percent to 81 percent after implementation of
NAPs. The control units averaged acompliance rate of 84 percentbefore and 87 percent afterwards. Patient satisfaction
improved slightly from 92.9 10 95.6 on the experimental units. However, the control units stayed stable at the bigher
rating of 95.6.

The use of unlicensed assistants working in partnership with RNs was evaluated by Powers, Dickey, and Ford
(1990) in the implementation of a RN/co-worker model in a university hospital setting. The MDAX Patient
Classification System (*MDAX, Nursing Information Systems is a trademark of MDAX Corporation) was used to
measure staffing and quality. When compared to the national database, the authors report a downward trend in quality
indicators for care planning (9 point decrease), physical needs (12 point decrease), and documentation (21 point
decrease). The scores for physical needs and documentation were 12 and 14 points below the national database scores.
The decrease in documentation also was felt to be related to a hospital-wide change in its documentation system. No
tests of statistical significance were reported.

The use of unlicensed and/or multiskilled personnel is often integrated within a workplace restructuring process
known as “patient-focused care.” Improving both quality and cost outcomes are the basic objectives of patient-focused
care delivery models. However, it is difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of the changes in skill mix in this body of
literature since these changes are usually taking place simultaneously with implementation of a variety of other
structural changes.

A study by Tidikis and Strasen (1994) is representative of the type of data currently available from a patient-focused
care implementation project using pre/post implementation satisfaction surveys. No statistical analysis data are
reported. The patient satisfaction rate was essentially unchanged; 87 percent satisfaction in July 1992 and 88.6 percent
in May, 1993. Other quality indicators included length of stay, which decreased from 7.1 to 6.6 days; total number of
contacts with different staff members, which decreased from S0 to less than 20 per hospital stay; and a nosocomial
infection rate of 2.9 in FY93 compared to 2.2 in FY94. This study also demonstrated a 5.6 percent increase in response
rate to call lights and an improvement in the average time needed to administer the first dose of antibiotics (i.e., from
2.5 hours to <30 minutes).

An earlier study on quality by Heltand Jelinek (1988) clairns that an increase in RN hours contributes to both quality
and productivity but is not necessarily as expensive as salary costs suggest. Their conclusion was based on the results
of four separate studies, conducted between 1983 and 1985, which used Medicus data from 46 to 72 hospitals. The
researchers used length of stay (LOS) and the Medicus Nursing Productivity and Quality (NPAQ)* System to generate
health care outcome measures. Although statistical analysis data were not included, they reported a decrease in LOS
from 9.2 to 7.3 days even though there was a concurrent increase in patient acuity levels. Although the specific quality
indicators used were not listed, Helt and Jelinek reported that quality scores for the six objectives of the Quality
Monitoring Methodology showed consistent improvement across the time period with the percentage of scores
improving greater than those staying the same or declining.

The literature reported in this section represents different types of quality indicators, staff configurations,
measurement approaches and care settings. Based on data reported in this body of literature, it is impossible to draw
a conclusion as to the impact of changing the ratio of licensed to unlicensed nursing personnel on quality of care
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outcomes. It will continue to be difficult to generalize conclusions about how the use of licensed and unlicensed
personnel impacts quality of care until research in each of these areas develops in quantity and depth,

Studies in this section address the relationship between the mix of nursing staff and the cost of delivering nursing
care. Eastaugh’s (1990) productivity study supports the claim that the use of nurse extenders can improve the utilization
of RNs. He argues from essentially a personnel cost perspective and uses productivity measures to justify staffing
changes. Of 29 hospitals studied, the five with the highestlevels of productivity made extensive use of nurse extenders.
In these cases the nurse extender/RN ratio ranged from .71 10 .79 and did not vary by the type of nursing care delivery
model that was in place.

In another study, Eastaugh and Regan-Donovan (1990) reported similar cost efficiency gains by adding nurse
extenders to the staff mix. They reported a nursing budget reduction of 9.3 percent, even with a 12.5 percent RN salary
increase, while achieving a 28 percent improvement in the amount of time spent on care tasks. These two studies
acknowledge that organization of work is an essential co-variate along with skill mix in improving patient care. Huber,
Blegen, and McCloskey (1994) suggest that Estaugh’s conclusions need to be viewed cautiously since minor changes
in the data analysis approaches used to analyze this type of data can result in different outcomes.

Garfink, Kirby, Bachman, and Stark (1991) evaluated implementation of a university hospital’s nurse extender
program and provided preliminary data on costs. Although no statistical data were reported, study units had lower
average hourly wages than the control units while providing more hours of direct care. However, these savings were
not realized because patient costs per day increased due to the impact of multiple other hospital variables.

Glandon, Colbert, and Thomasma (1989) examined costs related to the type of nursing care delivery model in place
and skill mix. Team, modular, total patient care and primary care delivery models were compared using a variable set
which included nursing dollars per patient day, RN dollars per patient day, nursing dollars per unit of workload, the
percent of RN staff, average patient acuity level and number of beds. Cost comparisons of the four nursing care delivery
models demonstrated statistically significant differences relative to nursing dollars per patient day and RN dollars per
patient day. The primary care and total patient care units were the most expensive and had higher patient acuity levels.
Team nursing units had the lowest costs per day and also had the lowest patient acuity levels. This study identified that
specific variables (i.e., number of patient beds, reliance on registered nurses and type of nursing care delivery model)
each had asignificant influence on nursing labor costs. The results of this study may be confounded by interrelationships
between and among a number of variables. Because differences in quality of care are not accounted for in this study,
further research is needed to explain the relationship between nursing care delivery systems, quality and cost. The
results of this study raise the question: Can an evaluation of personnel costs, in isolation, serve as an adequate indicator
of economic efficiency?

Lengacher et al., (1993) looked at one model, Partners in Patient Care, to evaluate the effect of its implementation
on personnel costs. Because this model is less RN dependent, the number of RN full-time equivalents (FTEs) can be
reduced while increasing the number of unlicensed FTEs. They reported that the results of their study indicated the
model was budget neutral since staffing changes in other departments allowed nursing to assume additional
responsibilities and acquire additional FTEs,

Personnel cost savings due to conversion of RN positions to nursing assistant positions were examined by Pearson
and Schwartz (1991) in an evaluation of the impact of implementing a primary practice partner model. They reported
one hospital saved $832,688 in the first five months of 1991 and projected savings in excess of one million dollars when
all conversions are completed. Savings were also reported as a result of decreases in orientation costs for nursing
assistants versus those for registered nurses and to a decreased use of agency personnel and overtime.

Labor costs were also examined by Bostrum and Zimmerman (1993). Following introduction of certified nursing
assistants, acuity adjusted costs per patient day on three units were reduced by $8, $13, and $88 for an annualized savings
of more than $750,000. However, the authors qualified the $88 savings as being artificially large due to the introduction
of additional staffing changes on the unit under study.
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Burruss et al., (1993) gathered personnel expense data in their study of non-RN medication technicians. They
considered hourly wage, shift differential, benefits and an adjustment for training and supervision costs for unlicensed
medication administration technicians. Their analysis predicts an annualized savings of $174,136 for a 300-bed acute
care medical-surgical facility with moderate patient acuity levels.

Fritz and Cheeseman (1994) evaluated the fiscal impact of changing the staff mix, in a critical care setting, from
100 percent RN to 75 percent RN and 25 percent nurse extender. When viewed from the perspective of personnel
expenses, this change in staff mix is reported to be a “deliberate step towards cost savings” (p. 326). This staffing
pattern, with concurrent task redefinition resulted in a reduction in hours per patient day from 22.4 to 19.3. Because
their evaluation of cost implications are preliminary, actual cost savings are not reported.

The study by Helt and Jelinek (1988) was completed at a time when hospitals were reducing overall numbers of
staff. However, since the RN category was reduced the least, the result was a skill mix with a higher RN/patient ratio.
They reported that RNs, as a percentage of direct care staff, increased almost 10 percent in this time period. Furthermore,
the authors claim that, because the RN performs the widest range of tasks, the change in skill mix explains a concurrent
increase in productivity despite staff reductions. For example, even with RN’s salary levels 75 percent higher than
those of an LPN or aide, the increase to a 60 percent - 70 percent RN staffing level resulted in only a 5 percent increase
in labor costs. Since the actual hours of nursing care per patient workload decreased from 4.1 to 3.7 (representing
increased productivity), a 10 percent savings in nursing hours was realized. Statistical analysis of these data was not
reported. Although Helt and Jelinek are reporting data from a time period not generally included in this study, it is
included because it represents an example of a study that considers the impact of staffing on both productivity and cost.

Kostovich etal., (1994) reported outcomes associated with attempts to introduce a multiskilled worker into patient
care units. For every job that was eliminated in a support department, two clinical technicians were added to the nursing
unit. Because of the transition expenses involved and the difficulty experienced in re-aligning work responsibilities,
hospital-wide implementation was discontinued. The authors predicted that it would take about two years following
implementation of the clinical technician program for the hospital to achieve budget neutrality.

Unexplained increases in personnel costs per patient day occurred in both experimental and control units in a study
by Neidlinger et al., (1993). Work sampling demonstrated that RNs spent more time performing treatment-related
procedures and assessments following introduction of nursing assistive personnel (NAP). Provision of patient hygiene
became the major activity of NAPs’. However, 21 percent of the NAPs’ time was categorized as “idle”; this also has
implications for cost. In general, the outcomes of this study were equivocal. The authors felt that perhaps the outcome
measures were not sensitive enough to detect the direct impact of the intervention.

In astudy by Powers et al., (1990), the initial costimplications of implementing an RN/co-worker model was based
on the notion that one RN FTE could be converted to two nursing assistant positions. However, the occurrence of an
increase in sick time hours, which was attributed to the non-professional co-worker group, required an increase in
overtime and on-call hours in order to maintain adequate staffing complements. Also, because the study unit was staffed
with the minimum number of RN, any loss of RN time had to be covered with overtime or on-call hours. These factors
resulted in additional unexpected personnel costs. However, with the addition of the co-workers, changes in workload
hours made it possible for the average RN patient load to increase from four to six or seven. This translates to a financial
savings in RN salaries. The authors also reported a significant cost benefit due to lost revenue avoidance (2.2 million
dollars in six months) since, due to inadequate staffing, 13 beds would have been closed if the co-worker model had
not been implemented.

Tidikis and Strasen (1994) report cost data for a patient-focused care unit introduced in a 211-bed community
hospital. Training costs exceeded budgeted amounts by $47,000 for the first two units due to the extensive training
needs of unlicensed staff. Labor costs (not broken out by nursing) after less than a full year of implementation, showed
a 4 percent increase in FY93 as opposed to the anticipated 12 percent increase. They also report salaries, wages and
benefits at 10 percent below budget for FY93.

The use of licensed and unlicensed nursing personnel and the exploration of more efficient work designs has been
driven by economic forces in health care. This literature suggests that, in addition to personnel costs, there are more

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



38

complex factors to consider in future research in order to realize the cost savings potential associated with the
introduction of changes in staff mix.

Additional Literature

In order to answer questions about the use and impact of unlicensed providers, research design methodology must
address the measurement of quality, patient outcomes and nursing costs. Although not yet at an optimal level, research
strategies to address each of these areas is progressing. This is demonstrated by abody of existing research on the impact
of RN staffing on quality and cost. Although this literature, as exemplified by the studies summarized below, does
not specifically address the use of nurse extenders, it informs our understanding of the issues surrounding an evaluation
of the impact of changes in skill mix. It does this by addressing questionsgenerated from the perspective of evaluating
the impact of the most highly skilled and knowledgeable nurse provider rather than the least skilled.

Hartz, Krakauer, Kubn, et al. (1989) used regression analysis to study the association between hospital
characteristics and the dependent variable, mortality, for 3,100 hospitals. They report significantly lower mortality
rates (p<0.01) when a higher percentage of the total nursing staff are registered nurses. The independent variable is
defined as the ratio of RNs to all nurses. For the hospitals included in this study, the RN population comprised 45 percent
to 75 percent of all the nurses. It is unclear as to whether the term “all nurses” includes unlicensed nursing personnel.

Aiken, Smith, and Lake (1994) provide the most recent information in a study of mortality rate within magnet and
non-magnet hospitals. This study was not included in the sample for this study because the skill mix ratios are not
defined. However, the study does suggest that the relationship between RN staff levels and mortality is a function of
a set of complex, interacting variables derived from organizational structure and nursing care delivery system.

In her review of the literature, Prescott (1993) identified several trends in research findings related to cost and
quality. She cites the positive influence of RNs on decreased length of stay and on cost savings based on the outcomes
of studies on case management, short staffing, discharge planning and increased percentages of RNs to total nursing
staff. She also cites an extensive literature demonstrating nursing’s impact on decreasing hospital mortality rates.
Prescott concludes, “Itis clear that nurse staffing levels and skill mix make a difference in the outcomes of hospitalized
patients” (p. 196). What is lacking is a gold standard for skill mix in relation to patient outcome to guide staffing
decisions.

Studies that demonstrate direct salary cost savings may be misleading because they fail to acknowledge the
importance of staff changes in productivity and quality. Again, Prescott (1993) identifies a research trend that
demonstrates how the use of RNs is economical when considered in light of broader models which include overall
productivity, turnover, morale and patient outcomes.

Summary

This study demonstrates the sparseness of research literature which addresses how changes in the mix of licensed
and unlicensed nursing personnel impact the quality and cost of nursing care. From a research perspective, redesign
of the health care delivery environment is still relatively new since the current focus on designing and implementation
change, and the pace of these changes does not lend itself to doing the type of in-depth, longitudinal research necessary
to address these types of questions. Consequently, the available literature focuses, primarily, on single site
implementation studies. As described in preceding sections of this report and summarized in Table 3, the results are
equivocal for both dependent variables. Therefore, itis difficult to draw strong conclusions about the impact of changes
in skill mix until additional studies are completed.

Three projects, currently underway, are of particular intzrest to this topic. The Strengthening Hospital Nursing
Program, funded by The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and by the Pew Charitable Trust, has encouraged the
development of creative, collaborative health care redesign initiatives with a focus on quality and efficiency. This
program, which funded 211 projects for one year and 20 in-depth projects for five years, will conclude in 1995. The
results of these innovations will add to our understanding of nursing care delivery systems, staff configuration and
outcome measurement.
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Author Independent Vanable Dependent Variable Findings
A. Quality of Care
Beck, 1995 Patient Care Apprentice 1. Performance of profes- RNs partnered with PCAs
(PCA) introduction sional activities had :
2 Delegation of activities 1. Higher % of pro-
3. Patient perception of fessional activities per-
quality formed by RNs
2. Decreased identifica-
tion of additional
delegatable activities
3. Increased perception of
quality
(No statistical significance
data reported)
Burruss et al., 1993 Unlicensed Medication Medication errors Higher % of errors by RNs
Administration Techni- (p <0.001)
cians (UMAT) introduc-
tion
Bostrum & Zimmerman, Certified nursing assistant 1. Frequency of incident No statistically significant
1993 introduction reports changes
2. Patient satisfaction
Carter et al., 1988 Use of licensed and unli- Process of care -- as identi-  Most significant predictor
censed personnel fied in chart and care plan was RN/LPN ratio; as the
audits proportion of LPNSs in-
creased, quality decreased
(No statistical significance
data reported)

Fritz & Cheeseman, 1994

Helt & Jelinek, 1988

Critical care technician
introduction

Hours of direct care pro-
vided by RNs, LPNs, and
Nurse Aides

1. Pressure sore manage-
ment
2. Patient teaching

1. Length of stay
2. Medicus quality indica-
tors

Positive trend in pressure
sore management and pa-
tient teaching

(No statistical significance
data reported)

1. Decreased length of stay
associated with increased
percent of RNs on direct
care staff

2. Consistent improvement
in quality scores

(No statistical significance
data reported)
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Table 3 (cont.). Summary of studies included in the literature review

Author Independent Variable Dependent Variable Findings
A. Quality of care (cont.)
Kostovich et al., 1991 Clinical technician 1. Turn around time 1. 61% improvement
introduction re: STAT blood work in turn around time
2. Number of person- 2. Number of person-
nel in contact with pa- nel decreased from 54
tient to 19 in 3-day period
3. Patient satisfaction 3. Increased patient
satisfaction
(No statistical signifi-
cance data reported)
Munroe, 1990 Nursing staff configu- Number of patient Positive relationship
ration (ratio of RN health related deficien- between quality and
hours per patient day cies number of RN hours of
to LPN hours) care (p <0.10)
Neidlinger et al., 1993 Nursing assistive per- 1. Compliance with 1. Decreased compli-

Powers et al., 1990

Tidikis & Strasen,
1994

sonnel introduction

Unlicensed co-worker
mtroduction

Patient-focused care
introduction

standards for doc-
umenting care
2. Patient satisfaction

1. Documentation of
patient care
2. Patient satisfaction

1. Length of stay

2. Number of person-
nel in contact with pa-
tient

3. Patient satisfaction
4. Nosocomial infec-
tion rate

ance

2. Slight increase in
satisfaction

(No statistical signifi-
cance data reported)

1. Compliance rate
declined from 97% to
81% on experimental
units; slight increase
on control units

2. Slight improvement
in satisfaction on ex-
perimental units (from
92.9% t0 95.6% )

(No statistical signifi-
cance data reported)

1. Length of stay de-
creased from 7.1 t0 6.6
days

2. Number of staff pa-
tient in contact with

3. No change in satis-
faction

4. Infection rate de-
creased from 2.9
(FY93)to 2.2 (FY94)
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Author Independent Variable Dependent Variable Findings
A. Quality of care (cont.)
Tidikis & Strasen, 5. Response rate to 5. 5.6% increase in
1994 (cont.) call lights response rate to call
6. time required to lights
administer first dose of 6. Time to administer
antibiotics decreased first dose decreased
from 50 to < 20 per from 2.5 hours to < 30
day minutes
(No statistical signifi-
cance data reported)
B. Cost of Care
Burruss, 1993 Unlicensed Medication Cost (hourly wages, Predict annualized
Administration Tech- shift differential, bene- savings of $174,136
nicians (UMAT) intro- fits, and train-
duction ing/supervision costs)
Estaugh, 1990 Nurse extender intro- Productivity Of 29 hospitals, the 5

Estaugh & Regan-
Donovan, 1990

Fritz & Cheeseman,

1994

Garfink et al., 1991

Glandon et al., 1989

Helt & Jelinek, 1988

duction

Nurse extender intro-
duction

Critical care technician
introduction

Nurse extender intro-
duction

Type of nursing care
model and skill mix

Hours of direct care
provided by RN,
LPNs, and Nurse
Aides

1. Productivity
2. Cost savings

Cost savings

Hourly wages

Cost (RN dollars /day,
nursing dollars/unit of
workload)

Labor costs

with highest levels of
productivity used
nurse extenders

1. 28% increase in
productivity

2. 9.3% budget reduc-
tion

Positive step towards
cost savings (no data
reported)

Lower wages on study
units (no data re-
ported)

Primary care and Total
Patient Care models
more expensive than
Team and Modular
models (p <0.05)

Increase in RN staff
levels resulted in 10%
savings in labor hours
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Table 3 (cont.). Summary of studies included in the literature review

Author Independent Variable Dependent Variable Findings

B. Cost of care (cont.)

Kostovich et al., 1991 Clinical technician Labor costs Will take 2 years to
introduction achieve budget neu-

trality

Lengacher et al., 1993) Partners in patient care Personnel costs Budget neutrality
introduction

Neidlinger et al., 1993 Nursing assistive per- 1. Labor costs 1. Increased labor

Pearson & Schwartz,
1991

Powers et al., 1990

Tidikis & Strasen,
1994

sonnel introduction

Primary practice part-
ner model introduction

Unlicensed co-worker
introduction

Patient-focused care
introduction

2. Productivity

Labor costs

Labor costs: overtime
and on-call hours,
RN:patient ratio

Labor costs

costs (unexplainable)
2. RNs spent more
time performing
treatment-related pro-
cedures and assess-
ments; 21% of
assistive personnel's
time was "idle"

Savings of $832,688
in S months

1. Increased need for
RN overtime and on-
call hours due to sick
time — increased
costs

2. RN:patient ratio
increase from 1:4 to
1:6 or 7 — decreased
costs

8% decrease in costs
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In 1993, the Congress of the United States, in response to hearings on nurse staffing in hospitals and nursing homes,
directed that a study be done by the Institute of Medicine (IOM). This 22-month study focuses on the “overall question
of the adequacy of the numbers and mix of nurses in hospitals and nursing homes” (IOM, Committee on the Adequacy
of Nurse Staffing). Two papers have been commissioned by IOM to synthesize research in long term care, under the
guidance of Drs. M, Mass and K. Buckwalter and in acute care settings, under the guidance of Dr. J. Verran. These
results will not be available until the report is released (hopefully in 1996) (G. S. Wunderlich, personal communication,
February, 1995).

The last project of particular interest is taking place in New York State. In 1990, a state authorized initiative, the
Hospital Workforce Demonstration Project, provided three years of funding for studies in 25 different agencies. Many
of these address cross-training, case management and redesign issues. Evaluation models include attention to cost,
quality, productivity and outcomes. Unfortunately, these reports are not yet available (B. Balicki, R. Martiniano,
personnel communication, March 1995). Additionally, in 1994, the State of New York initiated a new funding cycle
in support of additional health care innovation projects that are also relevant to this topic.

The current re-engineering movement in health care is a popular and powerful management innovation which
underscores the need to understand how skill mix impacts quality and cost of care. The difficulty in evaluating this
innovation is described by McCloskey, Mass, etal., (1994). Innovations such as patient-focused care are often complex
and poorly defined. They are often part of a system of changes so that the directimpact of one aspect, nursing, is difficult
to capture. Since innovations are often introduced via implementation projects involving a few pilot units or a single
institution, a large sample size is difficult to obtain. In summary, “studies are site specific, are not based on the results
of prior research and do notemploy experimental designs with controls to identify the effect of innovation” (McCloskey
etal, 1994, p.41).
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Attachment

Literature Review Report

Staff
Nancy Chomick, Research Associate

Relationship to Organization Plan
GoalIl................ Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing practice.
Objective D ....... Provide for Member Board needs related to disciplinary activities.

Background

During the 1993 Delegate Assembly, a Literature Review Focus Group was formed as a result of a resolution
submitted by the Washington State Board of Nursing. The charge to the focus group was: “...establish and maintain
a central repository of reviews of literature of common nursing practice issues which bring nurses before Boards of
Nursing for disciplinary action. Inthe first year, six reviews shall be produced and shall be available to Member Boards
upon request.”

The Focus Group metin spring 1994. Following the group’s charge, members identified six common issues which
the group believed were currently of concern to Member Boards. They are: 1) dishonesty/ethics, 2) abandonment, 3)
abuse (physical/verbal), 4) sexual misconduct, 5) psychiatric disorders, and 6) practice outside of scope. The focus
group compiled a summary report on the available literature as well as an analysis of the literature. Following this
process, it was the consensus of the group that the literature reviews, per se, would not be a valuable resource to Member
Boards because there is very little published literature on the discipline topics.

Information about the activities of other Member Boards regarding common practice issues, which bring nurses
to their boards for disciplinary action, was identified by the group as the most useful type of information for Member
Boards. However, this type of information is very time consuming for Member Boards to obtain.

In its report to the 1994 Delegate Assembly, the Literature Review Focus Group recommended that the National
Council conduct a survey on Member Board actions, decisions, positions and opinions on the six commnon issues
identified by the focus group and to request information on the common practice issues which bring nurses to their
boards for disciplinary action. This recommendation was adopted by the 1994 Delegate Assembly.

Highlights of Activities

A survey requesting information on the six common issues identified by the focus group was sent 10 Member
Boards during the first week of February 1995. Member Boards were requested to provide positions statements, board
opinions, rules and regulations, policy statements, attorney general opinions and other documents which related to the
topics. Member Boards were also asked to identify other disciplinary topics of current concern. The focus group felt
that by asking about disciplinary topics about which Member Boards were currently concerned, that early identification
of trends could be identified.

Completed surveys were received from 32 Member Boards. Two additional Member Boards reported that they
were not able to respond due to time constraints. Information about the activities of 32 Member Boards regarding the
six topics of concern is shown in the following table. The table indicates documents that pertain to the six topics of
concemn by state. Rules and regulations were the most frequently reported source of information for the six topics of
concem. Position statements exist in all topics. The topic, ‘Practice Outside of Scope,” contained the most varied scope
of information ranging from specific methods of medication administration to decision-making models. An asterisk
(*) indicates those documents that have been submitted to the National Council and are available upon request i
Member Boards.

The foremost right column in the table lists those topics identified by Member Boards as being current concerns.
Documents that have been developed regarding these topics are also listed. Nine Member Boards identified additional
concerns. Only one topic, ‘Felony Convictions,” was identified by more than one Member Board.
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Conclusion
No future activities related to this project are anticipated. The report is submitted in its entirety.
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LITERATURE REVIEW SURVEY RESULTS

 MB Identified Topics

AR - - . - - Policy Statement -
-IV conc sed.
AZ NPA* R&R* NPA* - NPA* NPA* -
R&R* Board Opinion R&R*
-Abandonment* Board Opinion

-Decision-making model*

CA-RN Other* Position Statement | R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R*

-Guide for -Abandonment* Policy Statement | Other Other

Educational -Failure to report | -Disciplinary -Disciplinary

Programs on child abuse* Guidelines* Guidelines*

Ethics
CA-PN R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* -
cO - - - - - - -
CT - Position Statement - NPA* NPA* Declaratory Ruling

-Abandonment* -LPNs

-RN Ist assistant
-Advanced practice

FL R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R*
GA-PN . R&R* R&R* - R&R*
1A R&R* - ~ - : Other
Other -Delegation to UAPs in
-Ethics statement community settings
for board
members

P M PO NI

*

* A listing of available opinion statements, by topic, 1s available.

Indicates that the document is available from the National Council
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R&R*
Policy Statement
-Abandonment*
IL - - . -
KY! - Board Opinion - -
-Responsibility &
accountability of
nurses*
MD R&R* Policy Statement - School Health Nursing
-Abandonment* Guidelines*
ME R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R*
Position Statement
-Abandonment*

MN - - - -

MO Position - Board Opinions Teaching UAPs Nursing
Statement Functions
-Participation in Position Statement
capital - Delegation to UAPs*
punishment*

MT R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* -

ND Other Position Statement - Duty to Report
-Conlflict of -Temporary
interest policy resignment policy

NE - Position Statement - .

-Abandonment*
NM - R&R* R&R* R&R* -

! A listing of available opinion statements, by topic, is available.

* Indicates that the document is available from the National Council.
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NV R&R* Other R&R* R&R* R&R* -
-Newsletter
Article*
OH R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* Verbal Abuse
OR R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* Boundary Issues
Position Position Statement Declaratory Ruling
Statement - Abandonment* -UAP role in school setting
-Criminal
conviction*
PA - - - Mental/Physical Health
Challenges
SD Other Other R&R* Other Felony Convictions
-Ethics self-study | -Informal position -Practice decision-making
learning module to guide actions on model*
used in disciplinary
disciplinary cases | complaints*
(RN&PN)*
™ R&R* R&R* R&R* R&R* NPA* R&R* Licensure Applicants with
Convictions

* A listing of available opinion statements, by topic, 15 available.

* Indicates that the document 15 available from the National Counail
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R&R*
AG opinions

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*

Position Papers
-PAs*
-RNs*

-Education mobility*
-Standing orders*
-Epidural & intrathecal
medication*

-IV conscious sedation*
-Laser therapy*

-Board jurisdiction*
-Delegated medical acts*
-DSM-II (R) diagnoses*
-School nurse*

R&R*

AG opinions

TX-PN

Position Statement
-Abandonment*

Position Statement
-General statement*
-IV therapy*
-Epidural catheter*

R&R*

R&R*

g

R&R*

Board Opinion
-Abandonment*

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*

Position Statement
-Medication administration
by UAPs*

Delegation

Position statement
-Delegation*®

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*

R&R*
Position Statements

Impaired Nurse

Position Statement
-Impaired nurses*

WV-PN

R&R *

R&R*

R&R*

Policy Statements
-Guidelines*

! A listing of available opinion statements, by topic, is available.

* Indicates that the document is available from the National Council.
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Report of the Examination Committee

Committee Members
Paulette Worcester, IN, Area II, Chair
Susan Boone, OH, Area Il
Betty Clark, ME, Area IV
Cora Clay, TX-VN, Area I
Constance Conell, AZ, Area |
Belle Cunningham, AK, Area I
Louisa Gomez, CA-RN, Area I
Renatta Loquist, SC, Area III
Carol McGuire, KY, Area III
Milene Megel, NY, ArealV
Kara Schmitt, MI, Area Il
Carol Silveira, MA, Area IV

Alternate Committee Members
Joan Bouchard, OR, Areal
Shirley Brekken, MN, Area II
Karen Brumley, CO, Areal
Rosalyn Cousar, VA, Area III
Teofila Cruz, GU, Areal

Terry DeMarcay, LA-PN, Area III
Donna Dorsey, MD, Area III
Sheila Exstrom, NE, Area II

Faith Fields, AR, Area III

Harriet Johnson, NJ, Area IV
Helen Kelley, MA, Area IV
Sandra MacKenzie, MN, Area II
Toma Nisbet, WY, Areal

Lynn Norman, AL, Area III

Carol Osman, NC, Area II1
Cynthia Purvis, SC, Area III
Richard Sheehan, ME, Area IV
Rosa Lee Weinert, OH, Area Il

Staff

Jodi Borger, NCLEX™ Administrative Assistant
Barbara Halsey, NCLEX™ Administration Manager
Carol Hartigan, NCLEX™ Contract Manager

Ellen Julian, Psychometrician

Anne Wendt, NCLEX™ Content Manager

Anthony Zara, Director of Testing Services

Relationship to Organization Plan

GoalI ................. Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.
Objective B........ Provide examinations that are based on current accepted psychometric principles and legal
considerations.

Recommendation(s)
1. That the Delegate Assembly adopt the proposed revisions of the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan (Attachment A).

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



Rationale
A subset of the Examination Committee (EC) reviewed the results of the 1993-94 PN Job Analysis. Empirical

evidence provided by the Research Department from job incumbents, the professional judgment of the committee
members in collaboration with National Council and Educational Testing Service (ETS) staff and legal counsel,
a survey of Member Boards regarding PN/VN practice, and feedback from Member Boards, garnered through
survey and Area Meeting reports, supports revision in the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan (Attachment A).

Implementation Timing for New NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan

After consulting with ETS and legal counsel, the committee determined that the new NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan could
be implemented no sooner than October 1996. This timeline would enable the National Council, Member Boards and
ETS to effectively plan for and communicate the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan changes to all appropriate individuals and
agencies. In addition, this timeline will enable a Panel of Judges to use the newly approved NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan
in its criterion-referenced standard setting process in February 1996. Any changes in the PN/VN passing standard will
be implemented with the test plan change. This timeline will allow information about a new PN/VN passing standard
to be communicated to all the relevant individuals and agencies.

Highlights of Activities
ltem Development

B Developed and Monitored Policies and Procedures
The committee reviewed, revised and monitored the effectiveness of numerous new examination-related
policies and procedures which were revised and developed particularly for computerized adaptive testing
(CAT) in the interim proceeding CAT implementation.

B Conducted Committee Item Review Sessions

Of particular interest to the committee was the desire to preserve consistency in the manner in which
NCLEX™ items are reviewed before becoming operational. Previously, all newly developed items and one-
fourth of the existing item pools have been reviewed by the committee each year over five meetings. To
accommodate the large numbers of new items being produced, initially the committee formed small groups
of three or four members with one National Council staff and one or two ETS staff to review items. Later in
the year, the committee decided to review items only after they have been tried out and carry accompanying
statistics, and to do so at its May meeting. The comunittee expects this change in item review to enhance the
consistency of the process.

B Evaluated Item Development Process and Progress

The committee evaluated the ETS item writing and item review sessions for process and productivity.
From July 1994 through March 1995, RN item writers produced 1,428 items and PN item writers produced
2,037 items. From July 1994 through March 1995, RN item reviewers approved 1,594 items and PN item
reviewers approved 1,424 items. Although the number of items produced by panel members is somewhat less
than estimated by ETS, the committee noted improvement in the quality of tryout items over the course of the
year. Committee representatives monitored 18 of the 20 item development sessions. Feedback was provided
to ETS and improvement in the item development s¢ssions was noted.

From August 1994 to July 1995, the commiittee made 271 appointments to the NCLEX test development
panels and twelve appointments to the RN Standard Setting Panel of Judges. This is the largest number of
appointments made to item development panels since the inception of the current item development process
in 1985. To improve the recruitment of NCLEX panel members and reduce the workload of Member Boards,
the National Council continues to process NCLEX panel applicants and solicit Member Board approval of
applicants prior to contacting the applicant to serve at a session.

To facilitate the item development process, the committee reviewed and approved revised Guidelines for
NCLEX-RN™ Item Writers and Guidelines for NCLEX-PN™ [tem Writers, and approved additions to the
Operational Definitions during the Item Review section of each meeting.

As part of its activities, the committee responded to Member Boards’ questions and concerns regarding
NCLEX items and examinations. For example, the cormmittee reviewed RN and PN items that were designated
by Member Boards as inconsistent with state statutes and/or not reflective of entry-level practice. The
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committee directed ETS to develop a cumulative list of those concepts which were designated as inconsistent
with state statutes.

Psychometric Issues

B Monitored Examination Analysis
The committee periodically evaluated the NCLEX by reviewing ETS reports on item and candidate
performance, including item exposure rates, overlap among the items seen by different candidates, non-test-
plan content coverage, questioned or challenged items, precision of competence estimates and pass/fail
decisions, and passing rates and examination-completion rates for many subgroups of candidates. These
reports support that the NCLEX meets National Council and industry-wide quality standards.

B Monitored the Operational Item Poois

The committee monitored the process for the configuration and implementation of two parallel RN and
PN item pools. After consideration of the implications of quarterly vs. semi-annual rotation of item pools, and
review of research reports pertaining to creating the item pools based on simulations conducted by ETS, the
committee decided that both the RN and PN pools be rotated semi-annually for the period of April 1995
through March 1996, as they were during the first year of CAT. Discussion was held regarding methods to
change pools at all sites at the same time, and the determination was made to suspend testing for a few days
while the pools are rotated. The committee affirmed that no candidate will test with the previous pool on or
after the designated item pool rotation date.

B Monitored Differential Item Functioning

The committee reviewed reports from ETS regarding differential item functioning (DIF) analyses and of
the DIF Panel convened to review items flagged by the statistics. Concern was expressed about the number
of items which could not be evaluated for DIF due to the small number of candidates being adminisiered some
items, and the complicating factor of missing ethnicity/gender information for almost one third of the
candidates, due to differing application methods and data transmittal used by Member Boards. Two optional
questions, one on ethnicity and one on gender will be added at the end of the examination and before the
Candidate Exit Evaluation to solicit demographic data from each candidate. DIF analyses are used to detect
potential item bias and to remove differentialing content not directly related to assessment of nursing
competence.

NCLEX Administration

M Monitored Procedures for Longitudinal Candidate Tracking; Candidate Matching Algorithm

As there have been individual cases of candidates being able to elude the matching algorithm and test more
frequently than is allowed, and test without previous items being blocked, the committee worked with ETS
to remedy the problem. An automatic rematch procedure was implemented in January 1995 as well as new
procedures for handling missing Social Security numbers and dates of birth.

The data system has also been changed to edit incoming data more stringently such as reasonableness of
birth and graduation dates, and zip code-state correspondence. In addition, the committee determined that
whenever a registration form sent to ETS does not contain data for the required (as stated in Candidate
Bulletin), that registration will be rejected until the missing data is obtained by ETS.

When implementing the automatic re-matching system, it was discovered that the MBOS system did not
correctly count an individual candidate’s examination attempts for those candidates who were repeating the
computerized adaptive NCLEX. This problem was communicated to ETS and has been remedied. The status
and effectiveness of the candidate matching algorithm will be a standing agenda item for the Examination
Committee.

B Directed MBOS Fixes and Enhancements
As Member Boards, committee members, National Council staff and ETS staff identify problems with
the MBOS system, or enhancements which would improve the ease of use and accuracy, these recommendations
are submitted to the Examination Committee for action. National Council keeps a running list of the fixes/
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enhancements requested prioritizes the requests, and asks ETS staff to estimate the cost of each enhancement
(if any), and the date that the enhancement could be implemented. Each request is also considered with respect
to its effects on non-MBOS boards. Requests are fulfilled based on priority and available funds.

Monitored Electronic Irregularity Reports and Site Compliance

The committee reviews Electronic Irregularity Report (EIR) data, sitle compliance reports filed by
Member Boards and National Council staff as well as written or telephone complaints from candidates,
Member Boards, schools of nursing, legislators, and other stakeholders to determine if the Sylvan Leaming
Systems (SLS) sites are in compliance with existing procedures and security requirements.

Based on this information, the committee has directed additional compliance investigation at one site and
has closely monitored the progress of the start-up of the testing centers in the island jurisdictions. Testing was
interrupted for a period of time at the Virgin Islands sites, and has not yet begun in American Samoa. The
committee has made recommendations to ETS and SLS to ensure site compliance.

Monitored Testing Compliance According to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)

The committee approved a policy to route all approved requests for ADA modifications to one individual
at the SLS National Registration Center (NRC) so that these candidates can be carefully monitored to prevent
scheduling noncompliance or legal complaints. This has provided more consistency in the scheduling of
candidates and the provision of modifications as requested, and the committee hopes to further improve on
these processes in the coming year.

Facilitated Development of SLS Quality Assurance Plan

A subcommittee of the examination committee met three times this year by conference call to assist in
the development and refinement of a comprehensive: quality assurance plan for Sylvan Corporate and its test
centers as relates to NCLEX administration. In addition, the subcommittee held a meeting by conference call
to develop and evaluate NCLEX Administration Stabilization Criteria as directed by the Board of Directors,
which was subsequently approved by the total committee at its May meeting.

Considered Requests for Candidate Rescheduling Policy Change

At the requests of several Member Boards and candidates, the committee re-examined the issue of the
three-day reschedule policy at each of their meetings. After much discussion, the committee decided to
maintain the current policy which states that changes in appointments can be made up to three business days
in advance of the appointment by calling the local test center or the 800 number. Changes made less than three
business days in advance of the appointment will result in forfeiture of the registration fee. This policy will
be considered again at the committee’s July meeting.

Future Considerations

Large scale item development will continue for FY96 to move toward the creation of three optimal NCLEX-RN™

and NCLEX-PN™ item pools. Using the CAT Master Plan and the work of the CAT Evaluation Task Force as guides,
the committee will contribute to the evaluation of all aspects of the NCLEX. The finalization of a comprebensive
quality assurance plan for SLS, further improvements in procedures for meeting the needs of ADA candidates,
separation of the PN/VN Quarterly Reports by type of degree awarded, further enhancements to MBOS, improvement
in the quality of the candidate database, and the accuracy of the matching algorithm remain high priority items for the
commitice in the coming year.

Meeting Dates

October 23-28, 1994

December 8-13, 1994

February 10-15, 1995

March 10, 1995, telephone conference call
May 7-12, 1995

July 7-12, 1995
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Recommendation(s)
1. That the Delegate Assembly adopt the proposed revisions to the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan (Antachment A).

Attachments
A....... Proposed Revisions to the NCLEX-PN™ Test Plan, page 6
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Attachment A

Test Plan for the National Council

Licensure Examination for Practical Nurses
NCLEX-PN™

Entry into the practice of nursing in the United States and its territories is regulated by the licensing authorities in
the jurisdictions. Each jurisdiction requires a candidate for licensure to pass an examination that measures the minimum
competencies needed to perform safely and effectively as a newly licensed entry-level practical nurse. An entry-level
practical nurse is defined as a newly licensed practical nurse who has been employed for six months orless. Throughout
this document the term “practical nurse” will be used to denote a licensed practical and/or vocational nurse. The
National Council Licensure Examination for Practical Nurses (NCLEX-PN™) developed by the National Council of

State Boards of Nursing, Inc., is the examination used by those jurisdictions whose boards of nursing are National
Council members.

The initial step in developing the NCLEX-PN is preparation of the test plan to guide selection of content and
behaviors to be tested. The plan provides for an examination reflecting entry-level nursing practice as identified by the
1994 Job Analysis Study of Entry Level Licensed Practical/Vocational Nurses (Chornick, Yocom and Jacobson, 1994).
The activities identified in the job analysis study were analyz:d in relation to the frequency of their performance, their
impact on maintaining client safety and the various settings where they were performed.

This analysis resulted in the identification of a framework for entry-level performance thatincorporates the nursing
process and specific client needs. The basic framework is similar to that used in the test plan for the National Council
Licensure Examination for Registered Nurses (NCLEX-RN™), which reflects the continuum of nursing practice. The
NCLEX-PN Test Plan is distinguished from the NCLEX-RN Test Plan by the scope of practice as defined by member
jurisdictions, by the practical nurse job analyses, and by the tested levels of cognitive abilities. The test plan derived
from this framework provides a concise summary of the content and scope of the examination, and serves as a guide
for candidates preparing to take the examination as well as for those individuals involved in its development.

Based on the test plan, each NCLEX-PN examination reflects the knowledge, skills, and abilities essential for
application of the nursing process to meet the needs of clients with commonly occurring bealth problems having
predictable outcomes. The following sections describe beliefs about nursing and clients, the levels of cognitive ability
that will be tested in the examination, definition of terms, and the specific components of the NCLEX-PN Test Plan.

Beliefs

Beliefs about the nature of people and nursing underlie the test plan. The profession of nursing has a unique concern
toward helping clients to achieve an optimal state of health. The clientis an individual in need of assistance that involves
the maintenance of life and promotion of health, coping with health problems, adapting to or recovering from the effects
of disease or injury, and/or supporting dying with dignity. People are viewed as finite beings with varying capacities
to function in society. They are unique persons defining their own systems of daily living which reflect values,

lifestyles, and culture. Additionally, individuals are viewed as having the right to make decisions regarding their health
care needs and to participate in meeting those needs.

The nature of nursing isdynamic and evolving. Nursing is perceived as deliberate action of a personal and assisting
nature. The goal of nursing is to promote health and to assist individuals in attaining an optimal level of functioning.
To assist individuals in attaining an optimal level of health, nurscs respond to the needs, conditions, or events that result
from actual or potential health problems (American Nurses’ Association, 1981). The domain of nursing and the relevant
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knowledge, skills and abilities exist along a continuum and are organized and defined by professional and legal
parameters.

Practical nurses “utilize specialized knowledge and skills which meet the health needs of people in a variety of
settings under the direction of qualified health professionals” (NFLPN, 1991). The practical nurse collects and
organizes relevant health care data and assists in the identification of the health needs/problems of clients throughout
the clients’ life span and in a variety of settings. In addition, the practical nurse, under appropriate supervision,
contributes to planning nursing interventions to meet identified client needs and participates in evaluating the extent
to which identified outcomes are achieved. The practice of practical nursing requires essential knowledge of: (1) the
phases of the nursing process; (2) the coordination of a safe and effective care environment; (3) the physiological
integrity needs of a client; (4) the psychosocial needs of a client; and (5) the promotion and maintenance of health.

Levels of Cognitive Ability

The examination includes test questions at the cognitive levels of knowledge, comprehension, and application
(Bloom et al., 1956).

Definition of Terms

Client an individual within a family and/or group

Essential ..........cceievrencanans fundamental, basic, initial and/or necessary

Framework .....oeeseereenneses @ Systematic set of relationships

Nursing diagnosis .......... aclassification of client needs and/or problems according to presumed natural relationships,
e.g., use of North American Nursing Diagnosis Association (NANDA) approved nursing

diagnosis

Practical nurse ............... alicensed practical and/or vocational nurse
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COMPONENTS OF THE TEST PLAN

Within the framework of the test plan, two components are addressed:

1) Phases of the Nursing Process
2) Client Needs

These two components are detailed in this publication.

STRUCTURE OF TEST PLAN

The following grid illustrates the inter-relatedness of the two test plan components. Each examination question
represents a phase of the nursing process (component #1) and a client need category (component #2).

PHASES OF NURSING PROCESS

Data Collection Planning Implementation Evaluation
(27-33%) (17-23%) (27-33%) (17-23%)

Safe, Effective
Care Environment
(16-22%)

Physiological
Integrity
(49-55%)

Psychological

Integrity
(8-14%)

Health Promotion
and Maintenance
(15-21%)
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The percentage of test questions in the client needs categories and phases of the nursing process categories is based on
an analysis of the results of an LPN/LVN job analysis study completed in 1994 (Chornick, Yocom & Jacobson, 1994).

Phases of the Nursing Process

The practical nurse uses the following four phases of the nursing process: data collection, planning, implementation
and evaluation. The practical nurse acts in a more dependent role when participating in the planning and evaluation
phases of the nursing process and acts in a more independent role when participating in the data collection and
implementation phases of the nursing process.

The four phases of the nursing process include:
L Data collection: Participate in establishing a data base.

A. Gather information relative to the client:
Collect information from the client, significant others, and/or health care team members; and current and
prior health records.
Recognize significant findings.
Determine the need for more information.

B. Communicate information gained in data collection:
Document findings thoroughly and accurately.
Report findings to relevant members of the health care team.

C. Contribute to the formulation of nursing diagnoses:
Assist in organizing relevant health care data.
Assist in determining significant relationships between data and client needs and/or problems.

II. Planning: Participate in setting goals for meeting client’s needs and designing strategies to achieve these
goals.

A. Assist in the formulation of goals of care:
Participate in the identification of nursing interventions required to achieve goals.
Communicate client needs that may require alteration of the goals of care.

B. Assist in the development of a plan of care:
Involve the client and health care team members in selecting nursing interventions.
Plan for the client’s safety, comfort and maintenance of optimal functioning.
Select nursing interventions for delivery of client’s care.

IIL. Implementation: Initiate and complete actions necessary to accomplish the defined goals.

A. Assist with organizing and managing the client’s care:
Implement the established plan of care.
Participate in a client care conference.

B. Provide care 1o achieve established goals of care:
- Use safe and appropriate techniques when administering client care.
Use precautionary and preventive interventions in providing care to client.
Prepare client for procedures.
Institute nursing interventions to compensate for adverse responses.
Initiate life-saving interventions for emergency situations.
Provide an environment conducive to attainment of goals of care.
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Provide care in accordance with client’s needs and/or preferences.

Encourage client to follow a treatment regime.

Assist client to maintain optimal functioning.

Reinforce teaching on principles, procedures and techniques for maintenance and promotion of health.
Monitor client care provided by unlicensed nursing personnel.

C. Communicate nursing interventions:
Record actual client responses, nursing interventions and other information relevant to implementation

of care.
Provide complete, accurate reports on assigned client(s) to relevant members of the health care team.

IV. Evaluation: Participate in determining the extent to which goals have been achieved and interventions have
been successful.

A. Compare actual outcomes with expected outcomes of client care:
Assist in determining the client’s response to nursing care.
Assist to identify factors that may interfere with the client’s ability to implement the plan of care.
Assist to determine the extent to which identified outcomes of the care plan are achieved.

B. Communicate findings:
Document client’s response to care, therapy, and/or teaching.
Report client’s response to care, therapy, and/or teaching to relevant members of the health care team.

Client Needs
The four categories of client needs are described as follows:

A. Safe and Effective Care Environment.
The practical nurse participates as a member of the health care team to meet the client’s need for a safe
and effective care environment by providing nursing care that meets the following client needs:

Coordinated care - collaborate with other health care team members to facilitate integrated client care,
including activities related to ethical and legal issues.

Environmental safety - assist in managing the health care delivery setting to protect clients and healith
care personnel.

Safe and effective treatments and procedures - prepare and/or care for clients undergoing diagnostic
procedures and various therapies.

Knowledge, Skills and Abilities
To meet the client’s need for a safe and effective care environment, the practical nurse should possess
essential knowledge, skills, and abilities that include, but are not limited to, the following:

Advance directives B Client rights
Communication skills B Spread and control of infectious agents
Confidentiality B Team participation

Continuity of care

Environmental and personal

Expected outcomes of various treatments

General and specific protective interventions

Informed consent

Knowledge and use of equipment used to provide nursing care
Legal accountability

Quality assurance
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B. Physiological Integrity.

The practical nurse participates as a member of the health care team by providing nursing care to meet
the physiological integrity needs of clients with acute and chronic health problems that occur throughout the
life span and have predictable outcomes. The practical nurse assists the authorized health care provider in
caring for clients with more complex health problems. The practical nurse provides nursing care that meets
the following client needs:

Physiological adaptation - provide care during the acute and chronic phases of existing conditions,
including emergency situations.

Reduction of risk potential - reduce the client’s potential for developing complications and/or health
problems, including monitoring changes in client status and the administration of medications.
Provision of basic care - assist the client to perform activities of daily living including those that have
been modified because of health deviations.

Knowledge, Skills and Abilities
To- meet the client’'s need for physiological integrity, the practical nurse should possess essential
knowledge, skills and abilities that include, but are not limited to, the following:

Activities of daily living

Basic pathophysiology

Body mechanics

Comfort interventions

Effects of immobility
Emergency interventions
Expected response to therapies
Fluid balance

Invasive procedures
Medication administration
Normal body structure and function
Nutritional therapies
Pharmacological actions

Skin and wound care

Use of special equipment

C. Psychosocial Integrity
The practical nurse participates as a member of the health care team to meet the client’s need for
psychosocial integrity throughout the life span by providing nursing care that meets the following client needs:

Psychosocial adaptation - provide for needs of the client with emotional and mental health problems.
Coping/Adaptation - promote the client’s ability to cope, adapt and/or problem solve situations related
to illness, injury, or stressful events.

Knowledge, Skills and Abilities
To meet the client’s need for psychosocial integrity, the practical nurse should possess essential
knowledge, skills and abilities that include, but are not limited to, the following:

Behavior norms

Chemical dependency

Common treatment modalities

Cultural, religious and spiritual influences on health
Mental health concepts

Therapeutic communication
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D. Health Promotion and Maintenance
The practical nurse participates as a member of the health care team to meet the client’s need for health
promotion and maintenance throughout the life span by providing nursing care that meets the following client
needs:

Growth and development through the life span - assist the client through the stages of normal growth
and development.

Self-care and support systems - (1) promote client self-care; (2) provide support to families in order to
enhance client care; and (3) reinforce teaching related to self-care.

Prevention and early treatment of disease - provide for the needs of the client in the prevention and early
detection of health problems and disease.

Knowledge, Skills and Abilities
To meet the client’s need for health promotion and maintenance, the practical nurse should possess
essential knowledge, skills and abilities that include, but are not limited to, the following:

Community resources

Concepts of wellness

Death and dying

Disease prevention

Growth and development through the life span
Human sexuality

Parenting

Principles of immunity

Reproductive cycle

Teaching appropriate to the scope of practice
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Report of Educational Testing Service/Sylvan Learning
Systems

Introduction -

April 1, 1995, marked the one-year anniversary of NCLEX™ using computerized adaptive testing (CAT). Overall,
the move to CAT has been very successful, a compliment for the Members Boards and the National Council. The
number of major problems encountered has been minimal considering the testing volume. The retest rate is less than
0.05 percent of all candidates tested. Reasons for retest are attributable to human errors, acts of nature such as loss of
electrical power during a storm, and hardware/software malfunctions. In all cases, candidates are offered retests as
quickly as possible.

Though challenges and surprises are still present, daily testing via computer has become relatively routine for
candidates. There has been a noticeable change in the level of understanding of CAT methodology of candidates calling
the ETS 800 telephone number. Whereas a year ago candidates typically called ETS to question the methodology of
CAT and its faimess, now they are calling more with logistical questions.

From the viewpoint of ETS and Sylvan, Members Boards have made a remarkable adjustment to the demands that
daily testing have brought to their offices. The Member Board Office System (MBOS) Hotline, which one year ago
had regular and heavy volume, now sits idle waiting for the few calls that are received weekly. ETS and Sylvan receive
relatively few inquiries per week from Member Boards about candidate concerns.

Over 200,000 nurse licensure candidates have now taken NCLEX using CAT. However, despite the overall
volume, the number of foreign-educated candidates who have tested, particularly in the large volume states of New
York and California, has fallen far short of the predicted numbers based on historical volume. Explanations for this
vary, with the most plausible, perhaps, being lack of job opportunities for these candidates.

ETS and Sylvan staff have enjoyed working with the members of the former Examination Committe-Team One
and Examination Committee-Team Two, as well as the current Examination Committee members. The issues discussed
at cach meeting have clarified the challenges in designing and implementing a new testing program. The committees’
members have provided sound advice, encouragement, and support.

Candidate Bulletins

The NCLEX™ Candidate Bulletin was revised and approximately 250,000 copies were distributed to Member
Boards in late December 1994 and early January 1995. On the basis of input obtained at last year’s Area Meetings and
discussions with the Examination Committee, information was combined for PN/VN and RN candidates into one
bulletin for 1995. The listing of education program codes for PN/VN and RN programs was printed as a separate
document that will enable revisions more often. Extraregistration forms and envelopes were also sent to each Member
Board.

Scheduling and Taking Your NCLEX™, the bulletin sentby ETS to candidates along with the Authorization to Test,
has been revised and will be printed in late spring 1995. Based on input from Member Boards, the Examination
Committee, and National Council staff, this bulletin has been expanded to include new sections on results reporting,
questions about a candidate’s test session, and information on the methodology of computerized adaptive testing for
the NCLEX. Copies of the revised bulletin will be provided to each Member Board and the National Council.

Joint Research Committee

The purpose of the Joint Research Committee (JRC) is to sponsor research to address current NCLEX operational
issues as well as long-term research issues related to further improving testing for NCLEX and other related computer-
based testing programs. The first meeting of the Joint Research Committee took place on December 10, 1994, The
committee is composed of eight members, three each representing the National Council and ETS, and two extemal
researchers jointly selected by the National Council and ETS. Dr. Suzanne Lane from the University of Pittsburgh and
Dr. Gage Kingsbury from Portland Public Schools are the 1994-1995 external members. Representing the National
Council are Ellen Julian, Carolyn Yocom, and Anthony Zara while Eric Bradlow, Linda Waters, and Denny Way are
representing ETS.

Two JRC research projects are currently in progress and scheduled to be completed by late June 1995: standard
setting research and item calibration rescarch. In addition, a proposal for a study to investigate factors that affect item
difficulty was submitted to the JRC and will be funded. National Council and ETS staff are in the process of writing
proposals for two additional research projects. One of these projects will investigate alternative pass/fail decision rules
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for candidates who run out of time before completing the NCLEX. A second project proposal will examine methods
of detecting unusual (or aberrant) item responses on CAT. Plans for the second meeting of the JRC are currently
underway. This meeting will take place in June or July in Princeton, New Jersey.

NCLEX™ Program Reports

The first edition of the NCLEX™ Program Reports was produced and mailed to 560 educational program
subscribers in two cycles: at the end of December 1994 and, for late subscribers, at the end of January 1995. (The
NCLEX™ Program Reports replace the CTB Summary Profiles in providing information to nursing programs about
performance of their candidates on the NCLEX.) The first production cycle covered the period of April through
September 1994,

The second edition of program reports, mailed in late April 1995, covered the test dates of October 1, 1994, through
March 31, 1995. More subscribers were added for a total subscriber volume of approximately 650 educational
programs. The cover letter that accompanied this edition of the NCLEX™ Program Reports called attention to the errors
that have occurred with gridding of the education program codes. If a candidate grids an incorrect code for the school
from which they graduated yet the code is a legitimate code that is in the database, the NCLEX database has no way
of recognizing that as incorrect information. Several subscribers called following receipt of the first edition of the
NCLEX™ Program Reports to question why the numbers of graduates reported did not match the numbers of graduates
from the school. In each case information was gathered from the program and compared against the NCLEX database.
Program code errors combined with some graduates not yet taking the NCLEX accounted for all candidates. The second
edition of the program reports was enhanced with the addition of the education program code to the program name
heading in the program reports with the goal of reminding programs of the code number candidates should use when
registering for the NCLEX.

Included in each edition of the NCLEX™ Program Reports is a 13-item, Likert-type evaluation form that
subscribers are asked to complete and retum. Space is also provided for narrative comments to be added. To date, 22
completed forms have been received. While this number represents only a small sample of the total subscribers, the
responses and comments have been “very positive.”

Graduate Record Examination Publicity
In late December 1994, ETS was informed by the Kaplan organization that Kaplan was in possession of items from

the Graduate Record Examination (GRE) General Test. Kaplan indicated that over a three-week period in late 1994

they had sent operatives into testing centers for the purpose of memorizing test questions, supposedly to demonstrate

a potential security weakness of computer-based test delivery.

Kaplan's activities are believed to have been prompted both by its antipathy toward computer testing and by its
desire for publicity in its competition with other major commercial test preparation firms, particularly Princeton
Review.

ETS, the Graduate Record Examination Board, and Sylvan Leaming Systems have filed suit in federal district court
in Maryland. The four counts in the complaint are:

1. Copyright Infringement - Based on taking copyrighted questions from a computer screen and reproducing these
questions without authorization.

2. Breach of Contract - Based on the terms and conditions in the GRE Bulletin which are legally binding. The test
taker is informed that unauthorized use of the test questions is prohibited. Also, prior to taking the examination
the test taker agrees (by signing a printed statement and by clicking on the computer to proceed with the testing)
to maintain the confidentiality of the test questions.

3. Common Law Fraud - Based on the test takers' deliberate misrepresentations in their agreement to maintain the
confidentiality of sccure test questions when they intended to break that confidentiality by memorizing these
questions for Kaplan's use.

4. Violation of the Federal Stored Electronic Communications Record Access Act -Based on the test takers’
violations of the conditions of access to secure materials delivered via an electronic format.

Currently, ETS and Kaplan have a “standstill” agreement which prohibits Kaplan from this type of activity. Agreed
upon in lieu of a temporary sestraining order, this agreement has been in effect since the beginning of January.
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Managing Data about Candidates and Transmitting Data between Member Boards and ETS

ETS has made the Member Board Office System (MBOS) available to all boards. This software, which runs on
the personal computers provided by the National Council, maintains an NCLEX candidate database and permits
Member Boards to retrieve and view candidate records, make candidates eligible to test, correct or change information
about candidates and print a variety of reports about candidates. Part of the MBOS package is a program called
Expedite/PC which takes data from MBOS and transmits it to the Data Center (via the IBM Advantis network) and takes
data from the Data Center and sends it to MBOS.

Fifty-two Member Boards use MBOS and Expedite/PC to perform the daily tasks of candidate processing and the
nightly communication with the Data Center. Nine boards have developed their own unique systems: California-RN,
California-VN, Florida, Illinois, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New York, North Carolina and Virginia. All of these nine
except North Carolina use Expedite/PC to perform the nightly communications with the Data Center. In addition, the
California Boards continue to use MBOS to supplement their internally developed system. LGR, the vendor providing
operational services to New York and Massachusetts, uses both their own system and MBOS. Massachusetts also
maintains and operates MBOS at the board offices. Florida, Illinois, Minnesota and Virginia operate their internally-
developed systems in lieu of MBOS but use Expedite/PC for the nightly communications with the Data Center.

From May 1, 1994, through April 15, 1995, five updates to MBOS which provided enhancements to the system
have been released to Member Boards.

Although MBOS is functioning accurately in allowing candidate data to be exchanged between boards of nursing
and the ETS Data Center, several Member Boards, the Examination Committee, and National Council staff have
requested that changes and/or enhancements be made. Both National Council and ETS staffs maintain a running list
of MBOS changes suggested by the Examination Committee, by Member Boards, or by staff. When a suggested change
is added to the list, the entry contains a brief description of the change, the source of the suggestion, and an initial
estimate of level of effort required to implement the change. The Examination Committee reviews the suggested
changes at each meeting and assigns a priority. ETS staff then provides a cost estimate for all high and medium priority
entries. The Examination Committee and Council staff identify funds to implement the most desirable changes and
authorize ETS to proceed. ETS staff schedules the change and informs National Council staff and the Examination
Committee of the planned release date. This new procedure seems to be working well.

MBOS Hotline

The level of activity of the MBOS Hotline has decreased steadily as Member Boards have become experienced
MBOS users. In general, approximately twenty calls are received per week, except immediately following an MBOS
release when the call rate increases.

Operations

NCLEX Operations staff answer the toll-free 800 candidate inquiry and telephone registration line; respond to
requests from candidates, Member Boards, and the National Council; monitor and report NCLEX Data Center activity;
perform quality control of all systems output; resolve rejected candidate registration records due to gridding errors or
other system-established reject reasons; prepare mailings to jurisdictions and candidates; maintain the database for
candidates requesting special testing accommodations; staff the MBOS hotline; assemble and mail the NCLEX™
Program Reports, and resolve daily electronic irregularity reports (EIRs).

Telephone Activity

For the year ending March 31, 1995, over 158,000 calls were answered by NCLEX Operations Customer Service
Representatives; telephone registrations accounted for approximately 12 percent of those calls. Figure 1 displays the
numbers of calls per month. A total of 211,925 original Authorizations to Test (ATTs)and 5,571 duplicated ATTs were
produced for this period and mailed to candidates.

Analysis of phone activity for the first year revealed some interesting findings. Mondays are peak call days while
the fewest calls are received on Fridays. Phone activity is highest during the lunch hour and the early morning hours
in each respective time zone and after 4 p.m. Eastern Time. Calls received the first day immediately following a major
boliday increase dramatically. Phone activity was extremely high following Memorial Day, Christmas, and New
Year’s Day.
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Figure 1

Customer Satisfaction Survey

To determine the level of customer satisfaction with the NCLEX Operations activities, surveys are mailed to
randomly selected NCLEX callers and are summarized on a quarterly basis. Overall, the results have demonstrated a
very high approval rate of the services provided by the customer service group in NCLEX Operations. The free-form
comments in general are highly complimentary of both the telephone staff and the quality of the service.

Candidate Matching

As part of the planned review of processes and procedures for delivering NCLEX and based on feedback from the
Examination Committee, ETS has conducted retrospective studies on the process by which registrations for the same
person are matched to create a single database record. The first study began in mid-October 1994, by searching the
database for pairs of records that appeared to represent the same person. Three different search routines were used in
the scans to increase the likelihood of detecting unmatched candidate records. This process yielded 13 pairs of
unmatched records, each representing a candidate who had tested twice. Since the records did not match, the system
treated them as different people. These findings were reported to National Council staff and to the Examination
Committee.

Based on an analysis of the findings and recognition of where problems occurred, changes were identified to
eliminate these causes of unmatched records. For example, many of the records that did not match were later corrected
either at ETS or by the candidates’ boards of nursing. As a result, a change was made so that the system now attempts
to match again any record to which changes have been made to the fields critical for matching. In that way, as fields
such as name or date of birth are corrected, the corrected data are “recycled” in an attempt to match the candidate against
other records.

Another factor noticed was thatin many cases the failure to match was caused by inaccurate identifying information
about the candidate. As a result, anumber of new edit routines were implemented to identify the erroneous information
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so that it can be corrected before the attempt to match is made. In addition, edits for education program codes and
graduation dates have been tightened. These edits have doubled the number of cases that are reviewed by staff prior
to being loaded into the database. On the assumption that candidates who make errors that are detected by the edit
routines are also likely to make errors that cannot be detected by the routines, ETS staff now visually inspect the entire
record that is displayed for error resolution. Staff then corrects obvious errors in other fields in addition to the error
that caused the record to be displayed. These changes should enhance the quality of the information contained in the
NCLEX database.

A second full database scan was recently completed which yielded five pairs of unmatched records, mostly
attributable to errors in Social Security numbers as reported in candidates’ registration data. The scan of the database
for pairs of records that may represent the same person will continue. If cases where matches have not occurred are
found, the circumstances for non-match will be analyzed and steps taken to cause similar cases to match in the future.
The effectiveness of these changes will be evaluated by yet another scan of the database. The process of scanning the
database, analyzing the findings, and adjusting the system will continue until the results are satisfactory.

Quarterly Reports

Quarterly Reports, formerly “green sheets,” are distributed to each Member Board approximately three weeks
following the end of the quarter. Over the past year, each version of the Quarterly Reports has been slightly different
as improvements or edits suggested by Member Boards have been included. The report produced in April 1995 was
the first report to display data for the first full year of testing via CAT.

A new table has been requested that will provide passing rates by type of education program for PNs/VNs.
Currently, the PN/VN education programs have not been coded for type of program. The Quarterly Reports will be
maodified to include this table after National Council staff have determined a coding structure.

There has also been discussion of two issues related o Quarterly Reports: 1) concems about the accuracy of
candidate-reported program codes and graduation dates; and 2) a desire by many boards to have access to data about
candidates educated within the jurisdiction who have sought a license in another jurisdiction.

In response to the issue of the accuracy of candidate-reported data, edits have been added to procedures to identify
and correct the most serious errors (e.g., amissing or invalid program code). However, legitimate data that are incorrzct
(e.g., areasonable but incorrect graduation date is provided by a candidate) cannot be detected. After discussion of this
issue, several boards have adopted procedures to verify the accuracy of the program code and graduation dates when
candidate eligibility is recorded. Exploration is continuing about ways in which MBOS screens may be modified so
that program code and graduation date can be readily displayed.

The privacy regulations of several states do not permit the reporting of examination results to third parties without
the consent of the candidate. Therefore, data about candidates seeking licensure outside the jurisdiction in which they
were educated cannot be routinely supplied to the educating jurisdiction. The Examination Committee and National
Council staff are exploring the possibility of providing that information for all states willing to share it.

Testing Candidates Requesting Special Accommodations

For the testing period of April 1, 1994, through March 31, 1995, a total of 264 candidates (209 RN candidates and
55 PN/VN candidates) requesting special accommodations tested. The most frequently requested accommodations
were extended time (either time-and-one-half or double-time), separate room, reader, and testing over multiple days.
Other accommodations requested less frequently were calculator, recorder, screen magnification, and modifiable
screen colors. It was not unusual for candidates to request several accommodations for one test session. Special
accommodation candidates tested in every month of the testing year with the volume varying with the overall testing
volume.

The average test time for these candidates was approximately three hours and 19 minutes. The average difference
between allocated test time and actual test time was about five hours and five minutes. Taken together, this means that
most candidates used less than one-half of the time they were allocated. For example, candidates who were given seven
and one-half hours to test took an average of three hours and 25 minutes, while candidates who were allocated 11 hours
to test averaged four hours and ten minutes. Only a small percentage of the candidates (2.3 percent) timed out after five
hours.

All ADA scheduling is now being performed by Sylvan’s National Registration Center (NRC). In January 1995,
Sylvan developed and staffed a new position of Special Conditions Coordinator at the NRC. All ADA appointments
are scheduled through this person, who then sends notification to the applicable center defining the candidate’s Member
Board and National Council-approved special accommodations and the written procedures to follow when conducting
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the session. Center staff are contacted by phone the week before the scheduled event to ensure that the documentation
has been received and is understood. Procedures detailing the most typical accommodations are on file at the NRC
and are revised on an “as needed” basis. Occasionally, unique accommodations are approved and candidate-specific
documentation must be developed. When this occurs, Sylvan’s Program Manager contacts ETS for gnidance and then
writes the documentation. All ADA events are tracked by the Sylvan Program Manager from the time that approval
is granted by the Member Board and National Council through completion of the testing session. A listing of all
candidates who have been approved for special accommodations is forwarded weekly to the Special Conditions
Coordinator, Client Inquiry, and Technical Support Departments. The Program Manager tracks 30/45-day compliance
weekly based on the appointments scheduled the week prior. When a candidate’s initial request cannot be
accommodated within the 30/40-day schedule, Sylvan works with the candidate to identify other testing centers that
would be available. All non-compliant appointnents are noted in the monthly 30/45-day compliance report which is
submitted to the National Council.

National Council, ETS, and Sylvan staff are evaluating the services provided to candidates requesting special
testing accommodations determining where process and systems changes are needed. A meeting is scheduled for mid-
May.

Test Centers

Sylvan Technology Centers

The test center network presently includes 218 active technology centers housing 1,690 workstations. While
the expectation is that the total number of centers in the network will increase over time, Sylvan will continue to
analyze the utilization levels at each site to determine whether centers and workstations should be increased,
reduced, or eliminated. During the last year, two centers were closed in California due to significant underutilization
of the sites in the Los Angeles market. One center in the Northeast was closed for contractual reasons. The center
in the U.S. Virgin Islands discontinued service abruptly. Delays were encountered in establishing a new center.
In the interim period of approximately three months, candidates testing for the U.S. Virgin Islands were flown to
Puerto Rico. Overall, the market continues to be adequately served by the remaining centers in these areas. Three
new centers were added, one each in Indiana, Jowa, and North Carolina. Approximately 10 percent of the centers
have relocated within the same market area during the last year.

ETS Institutional Sites

Six ETS Institutional Centers are used for NCLEX™ testing. These sites are situated within colleges in
Hawaii, Nebraska, New Mexico, Michigan, Washington, and Wisconsin in locations that are not served by a Sylvan
Technology Center. To date, these centers have administered less than one percent of the total NCLEX
examinations delivered. Each center is operated under the same security, procedural, and staffing specifications
as Sylvan Technology Centers. Because of an unplanned move, one institutional center failed to meet all
compliance requirements. This deficiency was discovered during a visit to the center by ETS staff and staff from
the Member Board. The center was instructed to correct the deficiency immediately. When this corrective action
did not occur, testing was suspended until all compliance requirements were met.

Sylvan Quality Assurance Plan

A comprehensive Quality Assurance (QA) Plan for the Sylvan Technology Centers was reviewed by a
subcommittee of the Examination Committee in three conference calls and was reviewed by the Examination
Committee in May 1995. The QA Plan outlines quality assurance procedures currently in use.

Test Center Administrator’s Manual

The Test Center Administrator’s Manual is updated annually by ETS, Sylvan, and National Council to reflect
the most current policies and procedures. A copy of the manual is provided to each test center, Member Board,
and the National Council. The 1995 manual will be distributed when all revisions are completed, now scheduled
for late spring. Exploration is now underway to allow computerized “on-line” access of selected manual contents
to center staff.

Capacity Issues
Toaddress potential concerns regarding specific center capacity, reports are run daily, Any centers with higher
than 80 percent utilization for the next 30 days are identified and notification is sent to National Council of these
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centers. Any centers with greater than 70 percent utilization are identified and notification is sent to franchise
consultants who work with the sites to open additional hours and days beyond the contracted operating hours. Past
history has shown that centers are typically responsive to these requests. Monthly reports are provided to the
National Council regarding compliance with 30/45-day scheduling. Utilization in the national network over the
last testing year averaged in the 25 percent range with the highest capacity, not surprisingly, in June and July.

Analysis of projected volumes for June and July 1995 has provided assurance that compliance will not be a
general problem. Capacity in specific sites may be a challenge depending on how registrations and eligibilities
are received this year. Last year was the first year for scheduling and may not have been representative of
subsequent years. It was anticipated that capacity problems might exist in Califomia, for instance, but did not
occur. Further analysis of peak period utilization is under way and may result in specific recommendations to
assure candidates’ satisfaction with their scheduling options. Communiques have been sent to Sylvan Technology
Centers advising how to best set hours for the peak NCLEX testing period in June and July so that centers are able
to respond to the need for third shifts when required. Analysis is being done on which centers are most likely to
experience high fill rates and specific plans are being developed with these centers to meet anticipated candidate
requirements.

Examinee Exit Evaluations

From April 1, 1994, through March 31, 1995, all candidates completing the NCLEX were asked to provide
anonymous responses to a 16-question on-line Examinee Exit Evaluation. These questions were designed to solicit
information from the candidates about scheduling their NCLLEX appointments as well as their experiences at the test
centers. The results of these evaluations are summarized in several ways. Data from all centers across the test center
network are provided monthly to National Council, ETS, and Sylvan staff. Quarterly summaries of responses network-
wide, by jurisdiction, and for each individual test center are produced and distributed to the appropriate Member Board
as well as National Council, ETS, and Sylvan. The results of these Examinee Exit Evaluations are reviewed by staff
to detect any differences in performance in selected centers or by state. In addition, these evaluations are examined
when problems have been identified at specific centers or when Member Boards have received complaints from
candidates.

As of April 1, 1995, the Examinee Exit Evaluation was revised based on revisions provided by the Examination
Committee and National Council staff. Questions were rephrased and reordered and additional questions added.
Member Boards will receive the first summaries of the revised Examinee Exit Evaluations following the end of testing
quarter in June 1995. Exploration is currently underway to determine different ways in which this information may
be shared with Member Boards.

Candidate Comments

In addition to the information gathered in the Examinee Exit Evaluation, candidates are also provided the
opportunity to submit narrative comments about their testing experiences. These comments, reported verbatim, have
generally been positive and supportive of the move to computer-based testing.

Electronic Irregularity Reports

Electronic Irregularity Reports (EIRs) are filed by Sylvan Technology staff whenever an “unusual” event occurs
at the test center. These events range from the very serious (¢xaminee misconduct or hardware failure) to information
exchange (candidate did not bring the Authorization to Test and was admitted after a secondary match was performed).
Each EIR received may affect more than one candidate depending on the number of candidates present when the event
occurred. Since testing began in April 1994 through April 15, 1995, Sylvan Technology Center staff have filed 5,260
Electronic Irregularity Reports (EIRs), a rate of 2.7 percent of the testing events delivered. This represents a
dramatically lower-than-expected rate based on predictions from the 1993 Beta Test.

Currently, EIRs are transmitted electronically from the test centers to Sylvan Corporate, ETS, and the National
Council. At the National Council, the EIRs are sorted by jurisdiction of licensure for each testing candidate affected
and transmitted via NCNET to the appropriate Member Boards. Two transmissions per EIR occur. The first
transmission provides the EIR as filed by the test center staff; the second transmission provides a closing comment
detailing the resolution of that EIR and may indicate that the EIR was miscoded.

EIRs are tracked by category and by site at ETS and Sylvan to identify trends or patterns of performance at test
centers, possible abnormalities in test results, and the need for center staff retraining.
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Operational Pool Rotations

Under current procedures approved by the Examination Committee, operational item pools are currently scheduled
for rotation twice annually in April and October. Pool rotation throughout the entire Sylvan network cannot be assured
to occur within a 24-hour period because communications systems are not sufficiently robust to guarantee that all
centers can receive the new operational pool simultaneously. Communication failures may occur because of natural
occurrences (thunderstorms), human error (failure to set the computer system to receive transmissions), and
commaunication errors (transmission interruptions while files are being transmitted).

At the December 1994 meeting, the Examination Committee provided direction to ETS and Sylvan regarding
scheduling NCLEX operational pool rotations to occur simultaneously, so that all centers would be administering
NCLEX with the same operational pools throughout the network.

To accomplish this objective, the committee approved a phase-in process that was first implemented for the April
1995 pool rotation. This process resulted in a three-day interruption of testing at most centers. There was a one-day
suspension of all NCLEX testing and limited testing for two days at selected centers to allow time to confirm that all
test centers made the switch to the new operational pool and to confirm that the software performed as expected. This
process was successfully implemented for the April 1995 operational pool rotation.

Test Development Activities

Item Writing Workshops

The third phase of item writing workshops began in July 1994 and will conclude in May 1995. For NCLEX-
RN, four workshops were held through March 1995 with a total of 48 item writers. The total number of items
written was 1,428. For NCLEX-PN, five sessions were held with a total of 63 writers producing 2,037 items. For
RN, 21 of the item writers had attended workshops during earlier phases of item development, and for PN, 30
writers bad participated previously.

The sessions were conducted by members of the Princeton-based and Atlanta-based ETS test development
staff at ETS offices in four locations: Princeton, New Jersey; Tucker, Georgia; Evanston, Illinois; and Emeryville,
California. Representatives from each of the four National Council geographic areas attended each of the
workshops. For this phase, the major area of content expertise of the item writers was medical/surgical nursing.
Members of the National Council Examination Committee and National Council staff also audited the workshops.

Selecting Item Writers

Potential workshop participants who have met National Council criteria for item writers are asked to complete
an item writing exercise. This prescreening instrument includes a letter of explanation and a booklet with
information about NCLEX and creating accurate and well- constructed items that are appropriate for entry level.
The potential writers are asked to develop three items that are linked to specific components of the respective test
plans and supported in current nursing texts. The test development team reviews the items and validations for
content and technical appropriateness and then recommends to the National Council staff and the Examination
Committee writers who meet the criteria. Panel members are then approved for attendance at workshops by the
Examination Committee.

Over the last year, recruitment efforts by National Council have been intensified to help ETS meet the goals
for the large numbers of items needed as tryouts for the pretest pools. The responses from potential PN item writers
fell short of the goal for phase three of item development, which would have enabled ETS to have a larger pool
of applicants from which to screen and then recommend item writers. We believe that the combined efforts of staff
and the Examination Committee will lead to the identification of additional well-qualified, potential item writers
for the year ahead.

Item Review Meetings

The six NCLEX-RN Item Review Panels that met between May 1994 and March 1995 approved 1,594 of the
1,816 items reviewed, while five NCLEX-PN Item Review Panels that met between June 1994 and March 1995
approved 1,424 of the 1,589 items reviewed. These meetings were also conducted at the four ETS sites used for
the item writing workshops, with representation from each of the four National Council geographic areas at each
session. Examination Committee members and National Council staff also audited these meetings.
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item Review at the Examination Committee Meetings

Newly developed items approved by the Item Review Panels at the meetings held between March 1994 and
January 1995 were presented to the Examination Committee for review at four meetings held between May 1994
and February 1995. Atotal of 1,621 NCLEX-RN and 1,643 NCLEX-PN items of the 1,856 RN and 1,796 PN items
available for review were approved by the Examination Committee for use as “tryout” items.

Targeting item Difficuity

The ETS/NCLEX test development team has intensified its efforts in targeting item difficulty for the NCLEX
pools. Several complementary approaches have been initiated. These include the following: expanding discussion
of item difficulty during the didactic portion of item writing workshops and item review meetings, with numerous
item exemplars; using a more systematic approach for evaluating distracters and revising any that panel members
feel a minimally qualified or unqualified candidate would eliminate; rewriting items that are based on appropriate
content but which have not met NCLEX statistical criteria; and providing National Council staff with
recommendations for extending invitations to experienced item writers for retuming to subsequent workshops.

The statistical analyses of the most recent tryout pools (October 1994) indicated an increase in the mean
difficulty of the items in comparison to the tryout pools from the first two quarters.

Monitoring

Retaining the currency of items over time for the NCLEX CAT pools is of critical importance. The ETS/
NCLEX testdevelopment team performed ongoing monitoring of items in the existing RN and PN pools for content
accuracy, currency, and appropriateness prior to the transmittal of the CAT pools for the October 1994
administration and again prior to the start of the April 1995 administrations. Items that were flagged for content
and sensitivity concerns were presented to the Examination Committee for disposition and removed from the
relevant pools as needed over the course of the year.

Additionally, items that contain references to time-sensitive content, such as tuberculosis and AIDS, have
been coded in the ETS item-banking system for more frequent reviews, and content, such as heat lamps and double-
bagging, has been identified as “outdated” and removed from the active pool.

Construction of 1995 CAT Pools

A summary of the source of items for the “base” pools from which the parallel pairs of CAT pools for 1995
were configured is provided in Table 1.

Table 1. “Base” Pools for Construction of 1995 CAT Pools

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995

Potentially Useable Items RN PN

April and October 1994 CAT pools 3596 2968
April 1994 pretest pools (EC approved 10/94) 260 277
July 1994 pretest pools (EC reviewed 2/95) 433 458
Additional 792 tryouts (EC approved 10/94) 43 NA
294 tryouts from paper-and-pencil exam 454 NA
(EC approved 12/94)
Pretest "anchor” items from April and 42 48
July 1994 pretest pools (EC approved 10/94
and 12/94

(Total) 4828 3751
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After the items for the “base” pools were identified, items in a number of different categories had to be excluded. The
numbers of items excluded by category are provided in Table 2. Please note that a total is not provided here because
some of the excluded items were flagged in more than one category (e.g., case-linked items/flagged by Statistical
Analysis staff). :

Table 2. Items “Excluded” From 1995 CAT Pools

Categories of Items Excluded from RN PN
the "Base" Pools for 1995

Items flagged for disposition by EC 129 69
Case-linked items in April 1994 pool 175 204
not approved by EC
Case-linked items in October 1994 pool 232 189
Items flagged by Statistical Analysis in April 205 159
1994 CAT pool
Pretest "anchor” items from April and July 18 22
1994 pretest pools
1995 anchors for pretest pools 70 70
Borderline point biserial 23 0

Progress Towards Optimal Pools

Atthe February 1995 meeting of the Examination Committee, ETS staff presented a report titled, * Assessment
and Analysis of the Item Pools.” This document provided an up-to-date description of the available items used to
construct two parallel CAT item pools for the 1995-96 testing year, as well as an accounting of items that were
excluded from these pools for a variety of reasons (see Tables 1 and 2). As part of this document, a discussion of
optimal item pools was provided which included specific proposed criteria for defining optimal item pools.
National Council and ETS staffs are currently working together to refine these proposed criteria.

ETS staff will use computer simulations research to determine the numbers and characteristics of items that
are necessary to satisfy the optimal pool criteria. An update on this work will be provided in a report to the
Examination Committee at the July 1995 meeting.

Face Valldity Reviews

The ETS/NCLEX test development team routinely reviews “real” and simulated CAT examinations based on
criteria established by the Examination Committee. The criteria include non-test plan content areas such as
maternal/child, infection control, medications, pediatrics, and geriatrics that are not controlled by the CAT
selection algorithm. The review also includes the identification of items based on similar content within a CAT
examination.

The actual candidate and simulated CAT examinations reviewed for face validity are generated at five ability
levels: low ability, moderately low ability, borderline (pass/fail) ability, moderately high ability, and high ability.
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The face validity review of the actual CAT examinations from the October 1994 CAT pools revealed that for
both NCLEX-RN and NCLEX-PN, no similar content (i.e., overlap) was noted in three of the five CAT
examinations. For RN, the most significant overlap was noted in a 250-item examination of middle ability for a
failing candidate. There were four content areas represented by two to three items. For PN, a 144-item examination
of moderately low ability for a failing candidate contained the most significant overlap, with three content areas
being tested by two to three items.

For the simulated CAT examinations, no overlap was noted in six of the ten RN and PN CAT examinations.
Again, content overlap was most noticeable in the examinations containing the largest numbers of items. The two
250-item RN CAT examinations contained five pairs of items testing similar content. For PN, one of the 180-item
CAT examinations contained two pairs of overlapping items and the other 180-item CAT contained four pairs of
items with overlap in content.

In both the actual candidate and simulated CAT examinations, the Test Plan subcategory for both NCLEX-
RN and NCLEX-PN that was not consistently covered was the Client Need entitled “Prevention and Early
Treatment of Disease.” This subcategory is listed under the broad category of “Health Promotion/Maintenance,”
which also includes the subcategory that contains items based on matemal/newborn content.

Sensitivity Reviews

In-house sensitivity reviews are required for all tests generated at ETS. The reviews are based on item-level
and test-level concerns and are conducted by trained individuals drawn from across the (non-NCLEX) ETS staff,
Using guidelines reviewed by the Examination Committee, the new items for the NCLEX pools undergo a
sensitivity review as they are processed for meetings with the Item Review Panels.

To address test-level concerns such as gender balance and juxtaposition of items, sensitivity reviews are done
on the simulated CAT examinations generated for the respective CAT pools. The review of the April 1995 CAT
poolsindicated that the pools are generally in accord with ETS sensitivity guidelines. Two potential problem areas
noted by the sensitivity reviewers were the references to “elderly” clients instead of clients with specific ages, and
gender references which at times were unnecessary. As the Examination Committee proceeds with its planned
systematic review of the existing pool, these sensitivity issues can be easily resolved as editorial changes are made
to address these concerns.

NCLEX Differential Iltem Functioning (DIF) Review Panel Meeting

The first NCLEX-DIF Review Panel Meeting was held on January 26, 1995, at ETS in Princeton, New Jersey. In
preparation for the meeting, ETS staff had previously identified individuals to serve on the panel who met the criteria
approved by the Examination Committee and forwarded the names of the nominees to National Council staff for
approval. The criteria for the NCLEX DIF Review Panel are:

1. Size: five members

2. Gender: at least one male

3. Ethnic/Cultural representation: at least one representative of three of the ethnic focal groups of NCLEX test
takers

4. DIF Experience: at least one individual with prior experience on a DIF Review Panel

5. Linguistic Experience: at least one individual with a general linguistic background

6. Educational Background: at least one currently licensed registered nurse

DIF statistics are computed comparing the performance of males with females, and of Whites with other ethnic/
focal groups: Blacks, Hispanics, Asian Indians, Asian Others, Native Americans, and Pacific Islanders. Items are
categorized as A, B, or C depending on the level of demonstrated DIF, with category C items containing moderate to
large DIF. The category C items were reviewed at the January 1995 panel meeting.

The source of the items to be analyzed for DIF prior to the meeting included the April 1994 CAT pool, which
contained 1,798 RN and 1,484 PN items, and the July 1994 tryout pool, which contained 684 RN and 718 PN items.
Because of the interaction of the adaptive testing methodology and sample-size requirements for DIF analyses, only
about one-half of the operational items and almost none of the tryout items had analyses reported. Fewer than ten
percentof the RN items analyzed and 14 percent of the PN items showed significant DIF for at least one group of interest.

The panel members reviewed a total of 85 RN and 102 PN items from the April 1994 CAT pools and 15 PN items
from the April 1994 tryout pool. The panel recommended the: referral of 12 RN and nine PN items from the April 1994
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CAT pools for consideration by the Examination Committee. The reasons for referral included idiomatic use of
language, assumptions regarding the nuclear family and dominant culture, and judgments related 1o “role-playing” by
the nurse in hypothetical situations.

At the February 1995 meeting, the committee reviewed the referred items and made decisions regarding their use
in the future. Items were either approved for reuse in the operational pools, put on “hold” for revising, or removed from
the pool.

Other attendees at the first NCLEX DIF Review Panel meeting included members of the ETS test development
team, the chair of the Examination Committee, and the NCLEX Content Manager from National Council. The next
meeting of the panel is planned for August 1995.

Readability Levels of CAT Pools

The Fry method of determining readability levels was used to calculate the reading levels of the NCLEX-RN and
NCLEX-PN CAT pools for October 1994 and April 1995. This method calculates readability based on non-medical
terminology. According to the Fry index, the estimated reading levels of the October 1994 and April 1995 RN CAT
pools are 6.9 and 7.2, respectively, and the estimated reading levels of the October 1994 and April 1995 PN CAT pools
are 6.6 and 6.7, respectively. These levels are below the National Council policy for a maximum reading level of tenth
grade for NCLEX-RN and of eighth grade for NCLEX-PN.

Member Board Reviews

Each spring and fall, Member Boards have the opportunity to conduct item reviews at Sylvan Technology Centers.
Since CAT was implemented in late spring 1994, the first Member Board review session was held in July/August before
moving to the planned March/April and October/November schedules. Member Boards can review on-line newly
developed items (i.e., tryouts) and/or simulated CAT examinations for high, medium, and low achievers for both
NCLEX-RN and NCLEX-PN.

To date, 23 Member Boards have attended a review session with three boards attending all three sessions held, six
boards attending two sessions, and 14 boards attending one.

All comments received from Member Board reviews are forwarded from the National Council to the ETS test
development staff for review, with any question about nursing practice and/or appropriateness for entry-level practice
referred to the Examination Committee.

Candidate Review and Challenge

Eight candidates have participated in review and challenge sessions since the start of NCLEX testing last year. Of
those eight candidates, seven sessions have been delivered to test takers from one jurisdiction, with three of those
sessions occurring at the same center on the same day.

An item challenge form received for one RN item in January 1995 was forwarded to ETS. A recommendation on
the disposition of the item was forwarded by the Examination Committee to the Board of Directors, which upheld the
validity of the item during a March 1995 conference call.

Standard Setting

The passing standard for the NCLEX is set every three years. The implementation of NCLEX using CAT requires
new approaches to standard setting. Previous standard setting studies for NCLEX applied a modified- Angoff method
to a specific test form. With CAT, the concept of an item pool replaces the concept of a test form, and the numbers of
items in the pool far exceed the limit of what can be reasonably judged by a group of judges.

The NCLEX-RN standard setting workshop took place on February 22-26, 1995, in Princeton, New Jersey. There
were 12 judges who participated in the workshop. All judges were registered nurses with clinical backgrounds in
medical-surgical, maternity, neurological, gerontological, psychiatric, and pediatric nursing. Two of the judges were
members of ethnic minority groups. One of the judges was a recently licensed registered nurse. The 12 judges were
selected to equally represent the four National Council geographic areas.

There were three different standard setting methods utilized in the standard setting workshop: 1) amodified Angoff
standard setting where a 200-question “reference form™ was examined; 2) a standard setting approach called
“comparative judgements,” where judges evaluated sets of ten questions that were homogeneous in difficulty; and 3)
a “standard setting via CAT" approach, where judges evaluated items “on-line” by taking aCAT examination as if they
were a “minimally competent” candidate. Considerable data were obtained using the first two approaches, however,
computer hardware problems severely limited the standard setting data that could be collected using the last approach.
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Because of the use of multiple methods, the results of the RN standard setting provided several different
perspectives on an appropriate passing standard that were reported to the National Council Board of Directors for
consideration at the May meeting.

Summary of NCLEX Results for Aprii 1, 1994, through March 31, 1995

Tables 3 and 4 (at the end of this report) provide a technical summary of the NCLEX results from April 1994
through March 1995. Summary statistics for the total group of candidates and for the reference group of candidates
(first-time, U.S. educated candidates) are presented in Table 3 for the NCLEX-RN and in Table 4 for the NCLEX-PN.
Table 3 indicates that 124,151 NCLEX-RN candidates were included in the statistical analyses for the testing year. Of
these, 94,245 were reference group candidates. The passing rates were 81.6 percent for the total group and 90.0 percent
for the reference group. These passing rates are consistent with historical passing rates for paper-and-pencil NCLEX-
RN.

Table 3 also indicates that for the testing period, 54.3 percent of the total group, and 58.9 percent of the reference
group, completed testing after a minimum of 75 items were administered. In contrast, 11.5 percent of the total group,
and 9.8 percent of the reference group, were administered the maximum number of 265 items. The average number
of items taken by the total group was 117. The average time needed to take the NCLEX-RN during the testing period
was 2.12 hours (or two hours seven minutes) for the overall group, and 1.95 hours (one hour 57 minutes) for the reference
group. Approximately 32 percent of the candidates took the mandatory break which occurs after two hours of testing,
and less than three percent of the candidates elected to take the optional break. Overall, 3.2 percent for the total group,
and 1.9 percent of the reference group ran out of time before completing the test. These statistics reflect the
characteristics of the candidates testing during the testing interval and provide continued evidence that CAT
administration is psychometrically sound.

Table 4 indicates that 68,358 NCLEX-PN candidates were included in the statistical analyses for the testing year.
Of these, 54,644 were reference group candidates. The passing rates were 81.9 percent for the total group and 89.8
percent for the reference group. Table 4 also indicates that during the testing interval, 59.6 percent of the total group,
and 63.7 percent of the reference group, completed testing after a minimum of 85 items were administered. Incontrast,
15.8 percent of the total group, and 13.0 percent of the reference group, were administered the maximum number of
205 items. The average number of items taken was 113. The average time needed to take the NCLEX-PN was 1.97
hours (one hour 58 minutes) for the overall group and 1.83 hours (one hour 50 minutes) for the reference group. About
29 percent of the total group and 24 percent of the reference group took the mandatory break which occurs after two
hours of testing. However, less than two percent of the PN candidates elected to take the optional break, and less than
one percent of candidates ran out of time before they could complete the test. The NCLEX-PN summary statistics for
the testing interval indicate that CAT administration is psychometrically sound.

Statistical Analysis Reports

ETS staff completed several reports that were requested by and shared with the Examination Committee. These
included reports on the statistical performance based on CAT of converted case-bound items and items that previously
appeared in paper-and-pencil test forms where breaches of security were reported. The reports indicated that
performance on these items in CAT was not adversely affected.

Diagnostic Profiles

The format for the Candidate Diagnostic Profiles was revised in early 1995, The main revision consisted of
removing the numbers indicating “Percentage of the Test Plan Mastered.” These numbers were part of a graphical
depiction of performance as indicated by an “X"* within a rectangular box. Although this scale was intended to provide
failing candidates with a numerical indication of “how close” they were to passing, many candidates appeared to be
confused by the numbers. To eliminate this confusion, the Examination Committee and National Council staff
requested that the numbers be removed from the diagnostic profiles. After the revision, the diagnostic profiles provided
“Overall Performance Assessment” as indicated by an “X” within the rectangular box which was labelled as “failing

range.

Quarterly Technical Reports

Quarterly Technical Reports defining characteristics of test takers and examination items are produced and
provided to the National Council. Quarterly reports were completed for the April through June, July through September,
October through December, and January through March testing periods, respectively.
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DIF Reports

ETS staff provide reports to the National Council summarizing statistical analyses of Differential Item Functioning
(DIF). These reports include analyses of both tryout items and operational CAT items. DIF analyses are routinely
completed after operational CAT item pools are rotated out of the field (twice per year), although ETS staff completed
a special report for the National Council based on the first quarter of operational CAT testing.

Simulations Report

ETS staff provide reports to the National Council summarizing the statistical characteristics of operational CAT
item pools based on computer simulations. These simulations document the expected statistical properties of the CAT
item pools before the pools are rotated into the field. As documented in the 1995 simulations report, computer
simulations were used toreduce the size of the CAT item pools by identifying items that were infrequently administered.
These simulations provided evidence that removing infrequently administered items would not adversely affect the
exposure of the remaining items in the pools.

Meetings Attended
ETS and Sylvan staff attended the following meetings over the past year:

Examination Committee

B October 23-28, 1994, Chicago

B December 8-13,1994, Chicago
B February 10-15, 1995, Chicago
B May 7-12, 1995, Chicago

Examination Committee-Team One
B May 5-6, 1994, Chicago
B August 21-25, 1994, Chicago

Examination Committee-Team Two
B May 24, 1994, Chicago
N July 6-7, 1994, Princeton

Area Meetings

B Areal, April 21, 1995, Coeur D’ Alene, ID
B Areall, April 1, 1995, Indianapolis, IN

B Arealll, April 7, 1995, Nashville, TN

W ArealV, April 28, 1995, Portland, ME

Delegate Assembly
B August 3-6, 1994, Chicago

ETS hosted the following meetings in Princeton:

N Examination Committee-Team Two, July 6-7, 1994

B NCLEX DIF Review Panel, January 26, 1995

B NCLEX Standard Setting Meeting, February 22-26, 1995

Staff Meetings
B September 13-14, 1995, staff retreat in Baltimore, Maryland
M December 14, 1995 in Chicago, Illinois
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4 0 4 8
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% Timing Out 0.7 0.3 0.7 0.4 1.0 0.6 12 0.7 0.9 0.5
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Annual Report of The Psychological Corporation (TPC)

This report provides a summary of The Psychological Corporation’s activity for the Nurse Aide Competency
Evaluation Program (NACEP™) of the National Council from March 1994 through February 1995.

Highlights of Activities

B Psychometrics

For this report year, five forms of the Written Evaluation and nine Manual Skills situations were available
throughout the year. This included the two additional situations assessing catheter care and perineal care that
were first administered in November 1993. The response from client states using the new skills has been
positive and we have not experienced any problems with sites not having the necessary additional equipment
to test these particular skills.

The annual summary statistics between the 1994-1995 and 1993-1994 periods indicate stable passing
rates. For the Written Evaluation, the 1994-1995 passing rate is 85.7 percent; the Manual Skills Evaluation’s
passing rate is 92.8 percent. Reliability coefficients (KR20s) ranged from .82 to .84 for the Written
Evaluations, consistent with prior data. There was an increase in the number of candidates taking the oral
version of the examination with Colorado having a significantly higher rate of oral administration requests
than any other client state.

During the November NACEP Task Force meeting, Lucille Dungan gave a presentation of psychometric
concepts and terms including the concepts of validity, reliability, passing standards, and Item Response
Theory (IRT) equating from materials prepared by Dr. Ellen Julian of the National Council staff.

Final revisions for the first published NACEP™ Technical Report (reporting 1993 data) were reviewed
with Dr. Julian and the TPC psychometric staff via a telephone conference call in August 1994. Minor
revisions were incorporated into the 1993 Technical Report. More substantial revisions were written into the
new NACEP Technical Report for 1994 data which were received in April 1995.

For the new National Council study guide, rationale for the correct answers for the written practice test
were finalized and forwarded to the National Council. Camera-ready copy for the new practice test was
completed and sent in January 1995.

M Operations

In 1994, NACEP™ QOperations scored 39,690 Written Evaluations and 32,736 Manual Skills Evaluations,
a drop of approximately 10 percent from the previous year. The July candidate survey showed a good level
of satisfaction. Lorie Lopez, who has been with TPC in the NACEP program for a number of years, was
promoted to a new position as liaison between users and the TPC operational area. This has worked extremely
well, to the benefit of both TPC and the user states.

A scoring issue in Colorado was uncovered in the last quarter of 1994, This was the result of continuation
of scoring of the reading comprehension section of the Written Evaluation’s oral administration which was
in conflict with the Colorado requirements. The six candidates who were incorrectly scored were notified, as
was the Colorado Board of Nursing. Revised score reports and refunds were issued as appropriate. Changes
were immediately made in the scoring system to permanently correct the problem.

A visit in San Antonio with two staff from the Oregon Board of Nursing’s Nurse Aide Program resulted
in a better understanding by Oregon of how TPC’s internal operations functions and what processes could be
streamlined to better meet the needs of Oregon. Some summary reporting changes were initiated by TPC,
resulting in much more useful information for the Oregon Board of Nursing.

Improvements in the operations area were discussed by Sue Traweek at the November NACEP Task Force
meeting. These included the new telephone system and reorganization of the operations area. The changes
have been successful, resulting in faster, more accurate response to candidate and client inquiries. Additional
changes such as a voice-activated registry system are planned for the near future.

Ongoing discussions and research continue into alternative methods of test delivery using new technologies.
We anticipate decisions on the direction TPC will be taking by the fall of 1995, after consulting with the
National Council and the NACEP™ Task Force.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995
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Marketing

For the period of this report, contract renewals were approved for Colorado, Delaware, [daho, Maryiand,
North Dakota, Oregon, South Dakota, Virginia, Rhode Island, and the District of Columbia. Maine aisosigned
acontract in which they changed from Co-op level to Full Service level. Wyoming is in the process of renewing:
their contract and deciding the level of service that best meets their needs. We are also awaiting the sigmng
of a new contract by the Virgin Islands.

The first comprehensive written marketing plan since the beginning of the NACEP™ program was
presented to the National Council in July 1994, This wrilten report summarized results from a national
marketing survey, trends in the nurse aide industry, and action plans for TPC. A significant saies initiative:
was undertaken with the utilization of TPC’s clinical sales representatives throughout regions of the 7.5 fox
NACERP direct sales. A full-day training session for the clinical sales representatives was scheduled in January
1995. Ellen Gleason attended this session which included presentations on all aspects of the NACEP™
program. The representatives found this very successful. The clinical representatives have already visuted a
number of states including California, Wyoming, Kansas, Tennessee, Texas, Oregon. Washington, and ¢ liai:
as well as attending several pre-proposal meetings.

Significant progress was made in mecting the action plans as outlined in the marketing report. Tho
primary focus was on the design and development of marketing brochures for use by the clinical representatives
in direct mail and conference exhibits. In addition, a sponsor survey (of the long-term care facilities and
training institutions) was developed and distributed,

Another highlight was a well-planned trip in December to Florida to do a presentation on the NACEPT™
We were delighted when Florida then approved TPC as the sole vendor for their nurse aide testing This wiii
increase our candidate volume by approximately SO percent. In addition, we were awarded the contract for
the state of Washington. All staff has been heavily involved in strategizing and planning for getling these new
clients up and running.

Staff was also very busy responding to numerous REFPs during the beginning of 1995. They included
Minnesota, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts and Connecticut. Pennsylvania has awarded its contract (o its
current vendor, Assessment Systems, Inc. (ASI), and Massachusetts went with the Red Cross and Educationai
Testing Service (ETS). Vermont (a former TPC state) awarded their contract to the Red Cross in the {all of
1994,

Meeting Dates

B Delegate Assembly, August 3-5, 1994

B NACEP Task Force Meeting, November 10, 1994
B NACEP Task Force Meeting, June 6-7, 1995

Attachments

Table 1 - NACEP Number Tested and Percent Passing Rate, Written/Oral, page 19
Table 2 - NACEP Number Tested and Percent Passing Rate, Manual Skills, page 20
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Table 1. NACEP Written/Oral Evaluation
Number Tested and Percent Passing by State
March 1, 1994 - February 28, 1995

Written/Oral

State Number Percent

Tested Passing
Alabama 3,591 81.2
Alaska 248 93.5
Arizona 3,684 914
California 62 9.8
Colorado 3,928 90.7
Delaware 928 3
District of Columbia 751 74.4
Idaho 1,940 958
Louisiana 741 735
Maine 430 49
Maryland 3,388 803
Nevada 920 910
New Hampshire 66 970
North Dakota 1,466 96.7
Oregon 3,143 94.6
Rhode Island 1,987 86.5
South Carolina 4,648 T1.6
South Dakota 1,006 92.0
*Vermont 363 94.5
Virgin Islands o4 8.1
Virginia 6,638 85.0
Wyoming 1,053 9.5
Total 41,333 86.6
a No oral evaluations administered
b Includes Spanish
*Partial year only

Table prepared 04/26/95

Written

Number
Tested

3,510
248
3,582
61
3,739

1,009

Percent
Passing

822
935
925
9.7
924
80.7
744
96.1
749
94.9
81.0
9.5
970
970
953
811
788
922
952
85.1
85.7
96.6

87.4

Oralb

Number
Tested

Percent
Passi

370

520
100.0
56.6
475
69.6
455
368
100.0

688
490
349
422
842
66.7

436
80.0

46.7
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Attachment B

Table 2. NACEP Manual Skills
Number Tested and Percent Passing by State
March 1, 1994 - February 28, 1995

Alabama
Alaska

Arizona
California
Colorado
Delaware
District of Columbia
Louisiana
Maine
Maryland
Nevada

New Hampshire
North Dakota
Oregon

South Carolina
South Dakota
*Vermont
Virgin Islands
Virginia
Wyoming

*for partial year only

State

Total

Table prepared 04/26/95

Number
Tested

3,260

1,991
58
3,698

863
647
443
2,972

65
1,468
2,964
4,117
1,329

357

6,262
1,099

33,693

Number
Passing

3,032
236
1,837
57
3,513
804
it
593
403
2,845
879
62
1,409
2,735
3,654
1,268
346
69
5,803
1,053

31,370

Percent
Passing

93.0
98.3
923
983
95.0
956
89.3
915
91.0
95.7
93.6
95.4
96.0
92.3
88.8
954
96.9
89.6

95.7

93.1
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Report of the Finance Committee

Committee Members

Charlene Kelly, NE, Area ll, Treasurer and Chair
Barbara Morvant, LA-RN, Area III

Jo Elizabeth Ridenour, AZ, Area |

Richard Sheehan, ME, Area IV

Lawrence Stump, MI, Area II

Stafft
Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director

Thomas Vicek, Director of Operations

Relationship to Organization Plan

Goal V ............... Implement an organizational structure that uses human resources efficiently.
Objective B ........ Maintain a fiscal resource management system.,
Recommendation(s)

Recommendations are made throughout the year to the Board of Directors regarding fiscal impact of proposed
activities.

Highlights of Activities
B Reviewed FY9S5 budget adjustments resulting from Delegate Assembly action.

B Reviewed the committee’s responsibilities based on the contents of a publication, The Financial Responsibilities
of Nonprofit Boards, and interacted with auditors and staff relating to those responsibilities.

B Reviewed all funding proposals, provided feedback and made recommendations regarding designated funds as
deemed appropriate.

B Monitored quarterly financial reports, including significant variances from budget.

8 Met with the auditors and reviewed the FY94 audited financial statements and staff response to the management
letter.

N Monitored insurance coverage, investments, all expenditures over $15,000, and financial policies.
8 Approved the FY96 budget assumptions and FY96-FY00 financial forecast assumptions.

B Reviewed the FY96 budget by responsibility center and by Organization Plan objective, including capital
acquisitions, and presented a tentative budget to the Board at its June meeting. The final budget, with any budget
adjustments resulting from Delegate Assembly action, will be approved by the Board for implementation October
1, 1995.

Meeting Dates

8 October 21, 1994
B January 20, 1995
B April 14, 1995

W June 1-2, 1995

Recommendation(s)
Recommendations are made throughout the year to the Board of Directors regarding fiscal impact of proposed
activities.
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Report of the Nursing Practice and Education
Committee

Committee Members

Karen Macdonald, ND, Area II, Chair
Betty Hunt, NC, Area III

Dula Pacquiao, NJ, Area IV

Jan Zubieni, CO, Areal

Staff
Linda F. Heffernan, Nursing Practice and Education Associate
Vickie R. Sheets, Director for Nursing Practice and Education

Relationship to the Organization Plan

Goall ... Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.

Objective E ........ Promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

Goal II................ Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing practice.

Objective B......... Develop documents regarding health care issues which affect safe and effective nursing practice.

Bylaws................ Provide general oversight of nursing practice and education regulatory issues by coordinating related
subcommittees.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

B Process for Evaluation of Usefulness of National Council Documents

A tactic under Goal I states, “develop a process for evaluation of usefulness of models, practice actions and
other position documents.” The Nursing Practice and Education Committee developed a process which involves
obtaining feedback on each document distributed. The document user will be asked to provide information about
how the document was used and if it met the needs of the user.

A schedule for periodic review of documents is included to provide for regular evaluation of documents’
timeliness and currency. Factors involved in document re view include: volume of distribution; number of requests;
feedback from Member Boards and other users; and internal staff feedback. A recommendation will be made to
the Board of Directors as to the disposition of each doccument.

The evalunation process will be piloted on selected Nursing Practice and Education documents during FY96.
A report on the pilot will be submitted to the Board of Directors.

B Development of Strategies to Promote Professional Accountability

A tactic under Goal II states, “identify and articulate board of nursing strategies in promoting professional
accountability in licensed nurses.” The Nursing Practice and Education Committee hosted a collaborative meeting
with educators, practitioners and regulators on the issue of professional accountability. The group identified the
critical elements of professional accountability and the behaviors that demonstrate these elements. The meeting
was modeled on the collaborative model that was developed by the Nursing Practice and Education Committee
during FY94. A full report of the meeting is found in Attachment A.

The Nursing Practice and Education Committee planned the second part of the professional accountability
project, a qualitative study of selected discipline cases looking for evidence of behaviors that demonstrate a lack
of professional accountability. This information will be used to develop proactive strategies to promote
professional accountability for Member Boards to use.
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B Coordination Role

The Bylaws of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing state that the Nursing Practice and Educati:
Committee “provides general oversight of nursing practice and education issues by coordinaiing relates
subcommittees.”

The Nursing Practice and Education Committee coordinated four subcommittees: Essentai ang Continges
Competence Subcommittee; Nursing Regulation Subcommittee; Member Board Education Needs Subcommities
and Unlicensed Personnel Subcommittee. A member of the committee was designated as hiaison with each
subcommitiee. The committee reviewed reports of the subcommittees and provided feedback.

The committee met with the chair of the Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee, providing s
direction for the subcommittee. In addition, the Nursing Practice and Education liaison was included in severai
conference calls. The Nursing Practice and Education Committee responded 1o the framework for the concep
paper from the Unlicensed Personnel Subcommittee providing detailed commentary. The Nursing Practics and
Education Committee met by conference call with the staff of the Nursing Regulation Subcommittee responding
to the various regulation models, e.g., Ontario Plan, institutional licensure. The Nursing Practice and Educauon
liaison for the Member Board Education Needs Subcommittee met via conference call with the subcommutiee 1
assist in selecting the topic of focus for the subcommitiee’s activities.

In June, the Nursing Practice and Education Committee will be reviewing the final reports from each of e
subcommittees and providing a response to the Board of Directors along with any recommendations. This repor
will be included in the supplement to the Book of Reports.

Future Activities

Evaluation of National Council Positions and Documents
A pilot project evaluating the usefulness of National Council positions and documents wili be conducted and
a report prepared for the Board of Directors in FY96.

Professional Accountability

The elements of professional accountability and the behavioral indicators identified by the Nursing Practice
and Education Committee will be used as the basis for a qualitative study of selected discipline cases. The data
obtained will be used to develop proactive strategies for boards of nursing to use in order to promote professional
accountability.

Meeting Dates

B November 14-15, 1994
B February 26-27, 1995
B June 4-5, 1995

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Attachment

Professional Accountability - Using the Collaboration Model for the Identification of Strategies ior the
Promotion of Professional Accountability, page 3
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Attachment A

Professional Accountability—Using the Collaboration
Model for the Identification of Strategies for the
Promotion of Professional Accountability

Background

The work of the Nursing Practice and Education (NP&E) Committee in developing strategies to promote
professional accountability among licensed nurses builds upon two previous committee activities. First was the NP&E
Committee’s Paradigm Shift Regarding Competence paper of 1993, when the committee began to consider the whole
of competence, including elements such as professional accountability. Second, in 1994, in response to a 1993
resolution by the Washington Board of Nursing for a pilot study to develop proactive strategies to prevent common
nursing practice deficiencies, the NP&E Committee conducted a pilot study focusing on collaboration among nursing
education, service and regulation to identify strategies for prevention of common nursing practice deficiencies. The
Collaboration Model applied to the topic of professional accountability includes the following:

B Phase One: Literature Review of Selected Topic
B Phase Two: Selection of an Expert Panel
- Assessment of nurses recognized as being highly professionally accountable - when, how did the nurse learn
and incorporate as practice priority? Why is it a practice priority?
- Identification of roles of nursing educators, nursing service and regulatory boards in promoting professional
accountability
- Identification of innovative strategies to promote professional accountability
Development of plan for implementation and evaluation
| Phase Three: Report Findings
B Phase Four: Evaluation

Phase One: Literature Review

Professional accountability is a fundamental value and forms the foundation for the development of a professional.
The American Nurses’ Association Code of Ethics is based on the accountability of the professional. (see for example,
Kozier, 1991) Nursing texts contain chapters on legal and cthical considerations in professional practice. Literature
dealing with competence and continued competence emphasize the role of professional accountability in the
maintenance of competence. Inherent in the literature is the underlying obligation to be accountable and to participate
in activities to maintain that competence.

The need to emphasize professional accountability in nursing education was highlighted in a study of academic
misconduct among nursing students. The study was conducted because of the concerns regarding the potential risks
of graduating inadequately prepared health care professionals. (Daniel, 1993) It was noted the “academic misconduct
among nursing students in clinical settings is not merely an esoteric concern, but rather adisplay of intentional disregard
for patient’s needs.” (Daniel, 1993)

Nursing Practice Acts include professional accountability among the Standards of Practice. Failure to meet the
standards of practice is a ground for discipline. In addition, some practice acts specifically include the failure to accept
responsibility for decisions and actions as a ground for disciplinary action. (National Council, 1994)

The Ontario College of Nurses revised its Standards of Nursing Practice and placed a strong emphasis on the
individual’s responsibility and accountability for the maintenance of professional competence. A process of “reflective
practice” is an important aspect of professional competence. The individual nurse selects an approach for maintaining
professional competence: he/she may participate in activitics such agency assessment, formal education, developing
aprofessional improvement profile, or building a professional portfolio. (McCrone, 1994) Professional accountability,
or professional attitude, is a key component of Ontario’s ongoing efforts to promote quality assurance.
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Phase Two: Selection of the Work Group

A. Creating the Work Group

The committee identified the type of consultants that members believed would be needed to work with this
topic. Selected participants represented nursing education (an undergraduate nursing instructor and a graduate-
level educator), nursing service (licensed practical nurse from an acute care setting and a family nurse practitiones
from the community) and public health (an urban department of public health nursing). Committee members
represented boards of nursing. It was desirable to have representation from a variety of settings and nursing areas
within the constraints of the model and time frame. Strong representation from education reflected the important
role education plays in estabiishing professional values.

B. Pre-panel Assignment

The consultants were asked to identify nurses in their practice area who they believed regularly and routinely
incorporated the following elements (from the National Council Model Nursing Administrative Rule Standards})
into their nursing practice:
1. The nurse functions within the legal framework and scope of nursing practice set forth in the jurisdiction's
Nursing Practice Act and Rules.
The nurse accepts responsibility for actions, competence and behavior.
The nurse retains accountability for delegated tasks.
The nurse respects client rights and property, and the property of others.
The nurse respects client confidentiality.
The panel members were instructed not to select individuals currently experiencing change in values (e.g.,
practicing nurses involved in current formal education). In addition to the responses to questions, demographic
data were obtained about each nurse.

n kW

C. Moeeting of the Expert Panel

After introductions and further explanation of the purpose of the meeting, the pilot group discussed the
responses of the nurses interviewed. The information and experience that each panel member brought to the work
group and the responses from the interviewed nurses contributed to identification of roles and innovative strategies
to promote professional accountability.

Phase Three: Report Findings

A. Work Product

Professional accountability was defined by the work group as an obligation or willingness to accept
responsibility. It provides a gestalt for practice, a structure that allows the integration of other elements of nursing
practice. Professional accountability is being answerable for decisions and actions (external authority), and is the
stimulus that compels a professional to deliver high quality services (internal conscience).

Each individual has a personal world view, thus a different starting point for considering aspects of
professional accountability. As a nurse grows in knowledge, experience and judgment, the nurse moves from a
“black or white” perspective toward the ability to see shades of gray. The nurse develops the ability to prioritize
and recognize when the group’s need prevails over an individual’s, but also when the individual’s need may take
precedence over the group. Professional accountability involves both conscious thought and automatic response.
Many aspects of accountability require careful consideration. Others, especially as they become internalized (e.g.,
response in an emergency situation) are automatic.

Maintaining flexibility in the interest of the client while learning to identify professional boundaries is an
important aspect of professional accountability. Nurses strive in each contact to make a positive impact on the
client. The complexity of each client, each decision, and each situation brings a richness to nursing practice. It
is important that professional accountability be evaluated in the situation at hand, and not taken out of context.

B. Identification of Roles of Education, Service and Regulation

B Nursing Education—Obviously, nursing educators have the first chance to offer students knowledge, to
provide role models and the opportunity to discuss and analyze challenging situations, and to begin to
incorporate professional accountability as a practice value and priority.
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C.

Nursing Service—The consultants involved in nursing service emphasized that professional accountability
can be promoted by expecting professional attitude and behavior from nurses. Role modeling is also an
important strategy in the practice setting.

Nursing Regulation—The regulators indicated that the failure to be professionally accountable is often a
factor in disciplinary cases. They believed that boards of nursing could take amore proactive role in promotion
by drawing attention to the importance of professional accountability, educating students and licensed nurses
as to expectations of the board, and involving the public in dialogue regarding this topic.

Identification of critical elements of professional accountability
The panel members conducted a total of seventeen interviews. The interviews were based upon elements of

the standards related to professional responsibility in the National Council’ s Model Nursing Administrative Rules.
Based the responses and ensuing discussion, the following critical elements of professional accountability were
identified:

D.

1. The nurse is responsible for actions, practice and decisions.

This elementreflects the need for any professional to accept responsibility for knowing the legal, ethical,
and professional parameters of practice, maintaining those boundaries, and acknowledging when a decision
or action has not been in the best interest of a client while taking corrective action in the client’s behalf.

2. The nurse demonstrates honesty and integrity.
This element reflects the fundamental values needed by a professional that permeate all aspects of nursing
practice.

3. The nurse knows and incorporates professional standards into nursing practice.
This elements reflects the need to achieve the necessary knowledge, skills and abilities, so that
professional decisions are based on that knowledge and the expectations delineated in professional standards.

4. The nurse maintains continued competence.
This element reflects the need to continually learn and apply to practice new knowledge and techniques
in the client’s interest.

5. The nurse is self-reflective, critically reviewing actions, practice and decisions.

This element reflects the need for the nurse to “know thyself”—to be self-reflective, to review critically
decisions, actions, and practice. The nurse needs o know what she/he knows, know what she/he does not
know, recognize when it matters to know, and seek appropriate assistance, supervision and/or counsel.

Behaviors Which Evidence Professlonal Accountability
The panel members held a brainstorming session to identify behavioral indicators for each critical element of

professional accountability. Those indicators are the collective work of the panel and are listed below. The

categorization of the behavioral indicators represent a work in progress and may change upon further investigation
of the critical elements.

1. Responsibility

The nurse performs competently, achieving desired outcome and intended effect.

The nurse demonstrates knowledge of Nursing Practice Act and the professional standards related
to practice.

The nurse utilizes knowledge to govern actions, decisions and practice (knowledge based actions).
The nurse meets responsibilities based on professional standards.

The nurse advocates for clients.

The nurse internalizes professional standards.

The nurse intervenes as a response to an unexpected outcome.

The nurse admits mistakes and takes any necessary action to safeguard clients.
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The nurse monitors performance of delegated tasks.

The nurse consults with other nurses and other health care teain members,

The nurse establishes policies and guidelines reflective of legal and professional standards.

The nurse works within identified parameters (Nursing Practice Act, professional standards, ageney
policies and guidelines).

2. Honesty\Integrity
M The nurse demonstrates honesty and integrity in practice by:
a. documenting accurately, completely and in a timely manner;
b. presenting reports congruent with first rounds (allowing for clinical instability);
¢. having what is documented and reported by nurse correspond to what is observed by others (again,
allowing for clinical instability).
B The nurse “owns” her/his own actions.
M The nurse demonstrates a willingness to pursue solutions.
B The nurse initiates actions.

3. Professional Standards
M The nurse exhibits behavior consistent with professional standards.
® The nurse knows limitations and understands the framework provided by professional standards.
B The nurse is ethical.

4. Continued Competence

The nurse assesses self, using Nursing Practice Act and standards of practice as guide.

The nurse plans and initiates the necessary strategies to maintain and advance competence.

The nurse evaluates the effectiveness of strategies.

The nurse shares outcomes of self-assessment and professional development with others to promote
similar actions by others,

The nurse keeps current.

The nurse provides leaming opportunities for others.
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The nurse acknowledges herself/himself in behaviors and actions; articulates that, “I bad a part in that.. ™
and uses o a) build on the positive experience or b) learn from the negative experience.

The nurse is open to receive other perceptions, new knowledge, feedback.

The nurse recognizes standards and other perspectives - “there’s something bigger out there than me.”
The nurse asks for assistance appropriately.

The nurse identifies her/his role within the community of the group (unit culture) as evidenced by
communicating information to appropriate health team members.

The nurse differentiates between “positive” and “negative” accountability: “positive” accountability is
triggered by concerns for client; “negative” accountability is triggered by fear for reputation, self.

The nurse recognizes that she/he is not the only accountable member of the health care team, and trusis
appropriately.

The nurse tracks and documents professional development and growth (portfolio, other means).

These elements and indicators are the first step toward articulating standards and guidelines that can be used
in a variety of nursing settings.

Phase Four: Evaluation
Panel members were enthusiastic about the critical elements and behavioral indicators identified. The
educators plan to use these concepts in teaching and evaluating nursing students. The nurses in practice plan to
use them to reinforce leaming and to promote professional accountability among staff.
The Nursing Practice and Education Committee members plan to use the critical elements and behavioral
indicators to develop a framework to guide a retrospective review of disciplinary cases. The committee's
hypothesis is that the behavioral indicators, thus the critical elements of professional accountability, may be
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missing in these cases. The Nursing Practice and Education Committee proposes to develop this project in FY96.
The evaluation of the usefulness of the critical elements and behavioral indicators can be addressed when other

NP&E documents are reviewed by the NP&E Committee next year. In addition, follow-up is planned with panel

participants regarding how they used the material in their respective areas of education and practice.

Conclusion

The committee again found the collaboration approach very effective. The model is straightforward and simple.
It is envisioned that any of the parties in the collaborative process could activate the process. The model is designed
so that it could be used as a part of a board meeting or a day workshop or as a conference. The cost of implementation
of the model will vary dependent upon the complexity of the nursing practice deficiency identified. The costs of
implementing identified strategies would depend upon the complexity of the topic considered.

The NP&E Committee members believe that the Collaborative Model provides a flexible framework for dealing
with a variety of nursing practice issues. The literature review step adds breadth to the discussion, the approach of
identifying positive practice models rather than deficient models was interesting and innovative. A side product of the
process with the interaction between the nursing educator, the nursing service representatives and the NP&E Committee
members. It was an opportunity for the NP&E Committee members to educate about regulation and the role of boards
of nursing. It was an opportunity for the NP&E Committee members to be educated about the education and service
roles and environments represented.

Nursing is not just a job—it is a profession. Being a member of a profession requires accepting the responsibility
of being accountable to professional, legal and ethical standards. The critical components of professional accountability
can be used by educators, nurses in practice and regulators to promote competence and quality assurance.
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Report of the Essential and Continued Competence
Subcommittee

Committee Members

Shirley Brekken, MN, Area II, Chair
Teresa Bello-Jones, CA-VN, Area |
Marjorie Bronk, TX-VN, Area III
Janet Fairchild, WV-RN, Area II
Judith Ann Mayer, MD, Area IV
Ann Yankovich, VA, Area III

Staff
Linda F. Heffernan, Nursing Practice and Education Associate
Vickie R. Sheets, Director for Nursing Practice and Education

Relationship to the Organization Plan

GoalI................. Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.
Objective F ........ Investigate mechanisms for evaluating continued competence.
Goal I1................ Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing practice.

Objective A ....... Develop documents which provide guidance regarding the regulation of nursing practice.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

B Development of Definition of Competence and Standards for Competence

A tactic under Goal I states, “identify continuing competencies that cross all areas of practice.” The Essential
and Continued Competence Subcommittee determined that in order to identify continuing competencies or
continuing competence, competence must be defined.

The subcommittee re viewed the prior work of various National Council committees in the area of competence
and continued competence, the Non-Nursing Essential Competencies Study, the Role Delineation Study, and a fax
survey of Member Boards regarding the Americans with Disabilities Act. A review of the literature was also
conducted.

The subcommittee identified the elements of competence and articulated a definition of competence
(Attachment A). The subcommittee also developed Standards for Competence which can be used by individuals,
boards of nursing, employers, nursing educators and the public as a guide in the evaluation of professional
competence (Attachment A). A complete discussion of the definition of competence and the Standards for
Competence is contained in Attachment B, “Developing a Model for Nursing Competence: A Working Draft.”

R Application of Standards for Competence

The Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee posits that the Standards for Competence may be
applied by the individual nurse as a self-assessment of competence. A Draft Model for Individual Competence
Evaluation was developed based on the Standards for Competence (Attachment C). This model serves as the guide
for an organized, periodic, focused and reflective assessment of competence by an individual nurse measured
against the Standards for Competence. The Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee considered how
the Standards for Competence may be used by the individual nurse, Member Boards, employers, educators and the
public.

The subcommittee identified the regulatory responsibilities related to competence. The development of a
regulatory model must consider the role of a board of nursing in assuring competence of licensees as well as what
a license conveys to the public regarding the nurse’s competence. A consideration of the subcommittee is that the
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public perceives that “a current license means current competence” while the current reality is closer to “a current
license means that at the point of entry the nurse demonstrated competence (through education and NCLEX™) and
has maintained an unencumbered license.” Continued competence mechanisms, e.g., continuing education, may
be involved in maintaining a license, but does this equal competence assurance? The subcommittee recognizes
public education is needed to bridge this cognitive dissonance. In addition, movement by boards to a more
proactive stance regarding competence is needed. The subcommittee proposes that the individual nurse is
responsible for competence, and a board’s role is to adopt standards and to educate various publics regarding this
responsibility.

Functional Abillties Valldation Study

A tactic under Goal 11 states, “develop a list of essential nursing competencies to assist Member Boards in the
interpretation of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Begin a list of non-nursing essential competencies.” The
Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee has identified functional abilities (formerly termed “non-
nursing essential competencies’”) which are essential for nursing practice, e.g., reading competence, hearing,
analytical thinking. The subcommiittee developed descriptive statements and some indicators for each identified
functional ability. The subcommittee met with research staff to plan a study to validate the identified functional
abilities. The subcommittee requested that the validation study be completed by January 1, 1996.

Future Activities

Application of Standards for Competence

The subcommittee acknowledges that further development of the application of the Standards for Competence
to the regulatory, practice and educational domains is needed. The next major step is to refine the regulatory model
for competence, which includes assisting boards of nursing to promote the Draft Model for Individual Competence
Evaluation, and identifying strategies for disciplining those who fail to maintain competence. In addition, a
methodology for the assessment of the competence of the nurse with a disability must be incorporated into the
model.

Validation Study of Functlonal Abliities
Research staff will be conducting a validation study of functional abilities. Following evaluation of results,
recommendations will be formulated.

Meeting Dates

November 16-17, 1994

February 23-24, 1995

April 10-11, 1995

April 25, 1995, telephone conference call

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Attachments

......... Definition of Competence and Standards for Competence, page 10
......... Developing a Model for Nursing Competence: A Working Draft, page 11
......... Draft Model for Individual Competence Evaluation, page 18
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Attachment A

Definition of Competence and Standards for
Competence

DEFINITION

The ability of a nurse to apply interpersonal, decision-making, and psychomotor skills at the level of knowledge
expected for the nurse’s current nursing practice role.

STANDARDS FOR COMPETENCE

1. Apply knowledge and skills at the level required for a particular practice situation.

2. Implement personal guidelines reflective of professional, ethical, and legal standards of practice.

3. Assure that clients’ welfare prevails, and empower clients to participate in health care decisions and outcomes.
4. Implement professional development activities needed for nursing practice decisions and actions.

5. Demonstrate responsibility and accountability for nursing practice decisions and actions.

6. Exercise sound nursing judgment.

7. Use collaborative and interdependent activities to coordinate client health care.

8. Acknowledge the effect of a nurse’s cognitive and functional abilities on the nurse’s practice.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.
April 1995
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Attachment B

Developing a Model for Nursing Competence:
A Working Draft

Abstract

Increasingly, consumer advocates challenge licensing bodies to assure the public that continuing competence is
an attendant factor in continuing licensure. This paper proposes a working draft of a Model for Nursing Competence
and specifies the components of the model: a definition of competence, standards for competence, and the application
of the standards to the nursing regulatory domain. The draft model is in the early stages of development but is offered
to Member Boards for review and response because discussion of the model is essential to facilitate its maturation.
Evaluation and research are necessary for further development.

Introduction

The issue of competence has become one of the most controversial topics in meetings, forums, classrooms, health
care settings, and legislatures around the country. Several aspects of competence have provided the focus for these
debates. Competence has been discussed in relation to consumer protection, guality assurance, continued competence,
the effects of disability on practice, and the disciplinary process. For boards of nursing, the driving force underlying
this debate is the obligation to protect the public through the development and enforcement of reasonable and uniform
standards for nursing education and practice.

Background

In the 1960s and 70s, the consumer movement raised the issue of the continued competence of licensees which led,
in part, to the passage of Sunset legislation. As an outcome of the Sunset review process, many professional and
occupational boards, including nursing, were mandated to establish mechanisms for assuring the continued competence
of their licensees. The most common measure adopted was continuing education: however, the effectiveness of
continuing education as a means to assure competence is much debated.

In 1985, the National Council published a position paper on continued competence. The paper described the status
of continued competence across the country; defined continued competence; outlined general regulatory implications;
provided guidelines for their establishment by jurisdictions; and recommended strategies for validating continued
competence.

In 1991, the National Council published a Conceptual Framework for Continued Competence. The paper
considered the measurement of competence from empirical and standard-setting perspectives. The 1985 premises were
reviewed and new ones were added. Mechanisms for assessing competence and strategies to achieve or maintain
competence were discussed. A model for continued competence depicting the processes of assessment, the
identification and correction of deficits, and reassessment was developed for use by boards of nursing, employers and
professional associations. The licensee’s accountability for individual competence was not evident in the model.

In 1993, the Nursing Practice and Education Committee presented a Paradigm Shift Regarding Competence. The
basic assumption in the new paradigm was the acknowledgernent that “licensees, not the regulatory body, are primarily
responsible for their own competence.” A Board’s envisioned role in the assurance of competence changed from that
of the primary entity responsible for assuring competence to that of a collaborator with licensees and employers. Boards
of nursing were identified as being responsible for enforcing compliance with statutory requirements or mandates.

The paradigm shift envisions a positive plan for competence to facilitate the collaboration between boards,
licensees and employers. The focal point of the plan is the individual licensee’s responsibility for self assessment and
self limitation. The plan includes consideration of a nondisciplinary process that would enable the licensee who either
has or acquires a disability to practice through accommodation rather than sanction.

In 1994, the Nursing Practice and Education Committee incorporated some of the concepts proposed in the
Paradigm Shift into the Model Nursing Practice Act and Model Nursing Administrative Rules. A “Special License”
section was included in the model which authorizes a license that requires the individual nurse to practice only within
a modified scope of practice or with accommodations or both, as specified by the board of nursing. The model rules
procedure for granting a special license is a nondisciplinary process.
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In 1994, the Board of Directors directed the Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee i wenufy
continuing competencies that cross all areas of practice and to develop a list of essential nursing competencics and non
nursing essential competencies. The subcommittee’s initial step was to exainine the foundations of prior work  the
area of competence, the responsibilities of boards of nursing regarding competence and the meaning of licensure

identified Challenge

The public expects practitioners to be competent to practice nursing, and, further, believes that a board of nursing
is responsible to assure the competence of every nurse. This expectation poses a significant challenge to the individual
nurse and to the board. The development of a model for competence enhances the ability of a board o meet the
challenge.

Developing a model for nursing competence requires: articulating a definition, including the elemenis of
competence; setting the standards to compare and evaluate the competence of individual nurses; and determining how
individual nurses, boards of nursing, the public, nursing educators, and employers apply the standards.

Board of Nursing Responsibility

Boards of nursing exercise their inherent police power to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public by
regulating nursing practice. Traditionally, boards of nursing have met this responsibility by licensing qualified
individuals to practice nursing and by disciplining those individuals who are incompetent, negligent or violating the
nurse practice act.

The usual qualifications for licensure are educational preparation and passing the licensure €xamination. When
a board of nursing issues a license to a new practitioner or renews or restores a nurse’ s authority to practice, the board
is authorizing the individual to practice nursing because the individual has met these pre-determined qualifications. The
public, however, recognizes the license as assurance that the practitioner is competent.

Boards of nursing have, in the past, set the parameters for the scope of practice of nursing based on a traditionai
model for the delivery of nursing care. Specifically, the focus has been on clinical nursing using a process approach;
however, the health care delivery system has changed dramatically. To articulate the knowledge, skills and abilities
required of every nurse in every nursing care situation is unrealistic. A more credible expectation is to identify the
criteria for evaluation of a nurse’s ability to practice safely and competently. Boards of nursing now must focus broadly
on the expected competencies of every nurse across every setting across every practice dimension.

The literature has reflected much study and discussion related to whether or not a license that is issued to a
beginning practitioner has the same meaning as the subsequent continued renewal of that authorization to practice. A
model of competence which bases its foundation on standards for competence provides the board with adynamic means
to measure the competence of every nurse. The model would remain applicable despite changes in the health care
delivery system and changes in the roles and responsiblities of licensed nurses.

Defining Competence

Defining competence is a difficult undertaking because of the complexity of the concept. A beginning or novice
practitioner is a generalist. An experienced practitioner has focused on a particular area of practice. Is the expectation
of competence the same for both? Should the definition of competence be inclusive of both?

Black’s Law Dictionary defines competent as being “duly qualified; answering all requirements; having
sufficientability or authority; and possessing the requisite natural or legal requirements.” Webster provides a similar
definition: “having requisite or ability or qualities; legally qualified or adequate; having the capacity to function or
respond.” The National League for Nursing Council of Practical Nursing Programs defines competency as “‘cognitive,
affective, and/or psychomotor capability demonstrated by the licensed ... nurse in various roles in the practice settings.”
(NLN, 1989) Kane, in The Assessment of Professional Competence, states that professional competence is “the degree
to which an individual can use the knowledge, skills and judgment associated with the profession to perform effectively
in the domain of possible encounters defining the scope of professional practice.”

The elements of competence are a specific knowledge base, awareness of practice standards, psychomotor skills,
decision-making skills, communication skills, experience and attitude. The idea of “wholeness” may be used w
envision competence as more than the sum of many individual elements. If one element is missing, the nurse is not
considered to be competent. For example, a nurse may be knowledgeable, technically proficient, experienced, and
caring but is unable to relate to the client in a therapeutic and supportive manner. A synthesis of the elcments of
competence results in a definition: the ability of the nurse to apply interpersonal, technical and decision-making skills
at the level of knowledge expected for the nurse’s current nursing practice role.
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Elements of Competence

Competence requires that the nurse have a knowledge base of sufficient breadth and depth for safe and effective
nursing practice. The knowledge base essential for competence includes principles of nursing science, as well as
principles from the humanities, and the biological, physical and social sciences. The knowledge base provides the nurse
with the fundamental information necessary to make sound decisions.

Providing care for clients involves many kinds of nursing skills. A second element of competence is having the
psychomotor skills needed to collect the information about a particular client and to perform the interventions required
for the particular nursing situation. The knowledge base and psychomotor skills enable the nurse to gather the
information necessary to make nursing decisions about nursing problems and desired client outcomes.

Decision-making is the ability to process information prudently to determine a logical, deliberate and well-
grounded conclusion. The information used must be accurate and collected appropriately. The outcome of decision-
making is choosing the right action, at the right time, using the right resources.

Previous experience is an essential element of a nurse’s knowledge base, skills and decision-making. Experience
is the transference of learning from previous nursing situations where the nurse had direct observation and participation.
Experience assists the practitioner to make astute observations and judgments, learn new skills more quickly and
process new information more easily.

The gathering and processing of information is pointless unless the practitioner communicates that information
accurately, appropriately, and in a timely manner. Communicatjon is the ability to interact therapeutically and
exchange information with clients, families and other health care professionals.

The concept of competence encompasses the adherence to standards of practice expected of the professional.
These standards include professional standards of practice, specialty practice standards, institutional standards, as well
as ethical codes and legal standards.

Competence includes professional attitude. Attitude is the mental posture of the practitioner. It is the manner
in which the professional interacts, the way the nurse attaches to responsibility and the behavior of the professional.
It is also the integrity of the nurse to acknowledge personal limitations in knowledge and skills, i.e., to know what one
knows and does not know, and to remediate those limitations. Personal and professional values form the core of
professional attitude. ,

The elements of competence are bound together by the responsibility and accountability of the practitioner to
practice nursing safely and effectively.

Standards for Competence

Competence is universal in concept but is specific in application. Standards for Competence must address the
universal concepts with application in the specific. The Standards for Competence must reflect the essential behaviors
necessary for safe and effective practice of nursing. They must be applicable to every nurse in every nursing dimension,
but they must also be applicable to a specific nurse in a specific nursing situation. The standards must address the
elements that cross all practice arenas. The standards must state clear expectations so that they are easily understood
and applied. Standards for Competence should be used by individual nurses, boards of nursing, employers, educators
and the public.

B Standard 1: Apply knowledge and skills at the level required for a particular practice situation.

Rationale: A nurse is expected to have a base of knowledge and skills that can be transferred from setting
to setting, client to client. In addition to the transfer of knowledge and skills is the ability to apply and adapt
the knowledge and skills to the particular nursing dimension. Care in the hospital and care in the home require
particular application of the same skills. Two clients with the same condition may require different
assessments and skills. In addition, the nurse is expected to possess the knowledge and skills that are particular
to a specific area of practice. This expertise must also be maintained at the level required for safe and effective
nursing practice.

B Standard 2: Implement personal guidelines reflective of professional, ethical and legal standards of
practice.

Rationale: A nurse is expected to know and understand the standards of practice that govern and guide
nursing. These guidelines should be incorporated into the practice of the individual nurse to promote safe and
effective nursing practice.
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B Standard 3: Assure the client’s welfare prevails and empower clients to participate in health care
decisions and outcomes.

Rationale: The client’s interest must come before the nurse’s interests. This does not mean that the clien:
is always right. A nurse must respect the client’s position and provide the client with the knowledge and
resources necessary for the client to make informed health care decisions and direct outcomes.

B Standard 4: Implement professional development activities needed for nursing practice decisions and
actions.

Rationale: A nurse must keep knowledge and skills current to maintain safe nursing practice. Nursing is a
dynamic profession which is changing rapidly in response to the changing health care delivery system.
Therefore, a practitioner is required to participate in activities which will maintain or increase knowledge base
and skills.

B Standard 5: Demonstrate responsibility and accountability for nursing practice decisions and actioms.

Rationale: A nurse is responsible for the safe performance of skills; accurate assessments; careful decision-
making; and execution of duties associated with the nurse’s particular role. A nurse is accountable for the
consequences of actions and decisions to self, the client, the profession, the employer, the board of nursing,
and to society at large.

M Standard 6: Exercise sound nursing judgment.

Rationale: Nursing judgment is based on careful assessment and analysis of data. The nurse must know what
information is needed to make a sound nursing judgment and how to gather that information. The nurse
employs decision-making skills to process the information. Nursing judgment implies that adecision is made
regarding nursing interventions and outcomes that are appropriate to the particular client situation. The
decision is made after an analysis of the effectiveness and efficiency of the interventions in relation to the
desired outcomes.

M Standard 7: Use collaborative and interdependent activities to coordinate client health care.

Rationale: A nurse is part of a health care team. The nurse must contribute information that will assist the
team to plan and provide comprehensive care to the client. The nurse must be aware of the services available
to clients and obtain the services required or make the proper referrals.

M Standard 8: Acknowledge the effect of his or her cognitive and functional abilities on his or her practice.

Rationale: The Americans with Disabilities Act has encouraged nurses, educators, employers and regulators
to identify the essential abilities needed by nurses to practice safely. The nurse must be aware of the abilities
required for safe nursing practice and of any personal limitations with respect to these abilities. The nurse
should either make or request the accommodations needed to practice nursing safely.

The subcommittee has identified a list of functional abilities (formerly known as “non-nursing essential
competencies), a descriptive statement and behavioral indicators for each. These functional abilities support nursing
competence. Without these functional abilities, the nurse cannot practice safely. These functional abilities cross ali
areas of nursing practice.

Application of Standards
The final component of the Model for Nursing Competence is the determination of how individual nurses, boards
of nursing, the public, nursing educators, and employers use the Standards for Competence.
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Individual

A standard may be used as a measure for competence assessment, i.e., to compare and evaluate the
competence of an individual nurse. Included in the proposed Model for Competence is a Draft Model for
Individual Competence Evaluation based on the Standards for Competence. The individual nurse is expected
to conduct a periodic, focused and reflective assessment to determine individual knowledge and identify
learning needs required of the nurse’s specific practice role. Inherent in the evaluation process is the
practitioner operationalizing the responsibility for learning and development as a continual part of the nursing
life. A method for demonstrating accountability that is useful and applicable to all dimensions of nursing is
the professional portfolio.

Regulatory

Setting competence standards is a method boards can employ to identify the responsibility of every nurse
to be accountable for individual competence. Competence standards reflect the elements that the board
determines are essential for the safe and effective practice of nursing. Since standards are compared to actual
performance, a board identifies a model for evaluation that the individual nurse, the employer and the public
can use to determine the competence of a practitioner.

Once a board of nursing has determined the standards for competence, the board communicates the
standards for competence to the public, nurses, nursing educators, and employers. That communication
should emphasize the individual responsibility of every nurse to be accountable.

Boards of nursing are obligated to take appropriate measuses against a practitioner who is incompetent,
i.e., fails to meet the standards, and to determine what provisions are necessary for the nurse to become
competent. Discipline remedies are fashioned to relate to the standards not met. Boards should also consider
nondisciplinary provisions for disabled practitioners that relate to the standards not met.

Public

A particular challenge to the development of the Model for Nursing Competence is the responsibility to
identify use of the Standards for Competence by the consumer of the nurse’s services. Assurance of
competence requires assessment of the nurse’s practice in relation to those standards. The development of a
consumer-use survey which facilitates the consumer to objectively compare the actual outcomes to the
expected behaviors identified in the standards is an intriguing consideration.

Educators

The Model for Nursing Competence requires nursing educators to incorporate the Standards for
Competence into curriculum requirements of basic education programs, continuing education and refresher
courses. The outcome of socializing nursing students to the expected behaviors will serve as a core for the
acceptance of the personal responsibility which is the primary requisite for assurance of continuing
competence throughout a nurse’s career.

Employers

Employers may apply the Standards for Competence 10 develop a competence appraisal system. Such
asystem could provide the framework for ongoing practitioner improvement activities and the establishment
of a mechanism to document competence in a specific nursing dimension. The model purports that it is the
responsibility of employers to provide opportunities for nurses to facilitate their continued competence.

Conclusions and Future Directions

The increasingly complex health care environment, rapid advances in health care science and growing public
sophistication create an expectation that boards of nursing provide assurance that the licensed nurse is competent. The
unique characteristic of the proposed Mode!l for Nursing Competence is its universality of application. The model may
be applied to every nurse in every dimension. The standard-setting approach addresses the continuum of practitioner
experience, i.e., competence to practice at entry, continuing competence and restoring competence upon reentry o
practice. User application has a wide scope. The model may be operationalized by the individual nurse to determine
learning and development needs. Boards of nursing may apply standards to address licensee remediation or
accommodation. Nursing educators and staff developers may develop educational strategies based on the Standards
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Jor Competence. In addition, the model may provide a basis for researchers to develop reliable and valid instruments
and to examine relationships within the model.

The Mode! for Nursing Competence is based on identified standards for competence which must be validated in
all dimensions of nursing. The operationalization of the model requires further development of the application of the
standards to the regulatory, practice, educational, and public domains. The essential functional abilities which have
been identified must be validated through research.
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Attachment C

Draft Model for Individual Competence Evaluation*

The nurse:

1.

Conducts an organized, periodic, focused and reflective assessment to understand the knowledge and skills
required for his or her current or prospective practice role.

a.

Identify role expectations (determine the knowledge and skills needed for the role)
Sources: position description

review of literature

networking (talk to someone doing the role)

observe and/or shadow another nurse (mentor, preceptor)

Self evaluation (determine individual level of knowledge and skills needed for the role)
Sources: skill inventory

assessment test

cogniltive appraisal

peer review

Identify strengths and learning needs
Source: cognitive comparison of role expectations and individual abilities.

Develop and implement a leamning plan (identify and carry out learning activities needed by the learner)
Sources: orientation

formal or continuing education

independent study

refresher course

precepted learning experience

simulated learning experience

other experiential learning

Evaluate the effectiveness of learning and its impact on the practice role
Sources: reassessment (formal or informal)

testing

peer review

performance evaluation

Articulates an awareness of regulatory, professional and ethical standards.

Sources: Nursing Practice Act
American Nurses’ Association Code of Ethics

Demonstrates a respect for client individualism.

a.
b.
c.

Articulates a respect for the social, cultural and spiritual diversity of clients

Maintains therapeutic boundaries

Facilitates client decision-making by providing information, identifying choices and possible outcomes, and
supporting client decisions

4. Develops professional growth and development criteria recognizing the individual level of experience.
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5. Accepts the legal and ethical obligations of the profession and answers for one’s own actions and decisions.
6. Demonstrates critical thinking by:

Synthesizing knowledge and skills relevant to client needs in carrying out the nursing role
Delegating nursing activities appropriately

Identifying cause and effect relationships

Recognizing limits of knowledge and skills

Using resources appropriately

L R

7. Evaluates the effectiveness of collaborative efforts by:

a. Differentiating nursing functions from functions of other providers

b. Communicating with the health care team

c. Assessing the effectiveness of referrals

d. Assessing the impact of collaboration on health promotion, maintenance, illness prevention for the client

8. Limits nursing practice and/or implements accommodations for practice because of cognitive, mental, or physical
disabilities to ensure that such disabilities have no detrimental impact upon client safety.

*Based on “Standards for Competence,” National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc., April 1995.
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Report of the Member Board Education Needs
Subcommittee

Committee Members

Harriet Johnson, NJ, Area IV, Chair
Alice Enderlin, IL., Area II

Mary Anne Hanley, TX-RN, Area III
Michael McCleery, WY, Area [

Staff
Linda F. Heffeman, Nursing Practice and Education Associate

Relationship to the Organization Plan
Goal III .............. Provide Information, analysis and standards regarding the regulation of nursing education.
Objective A ....... Provide documents which provide guidance regarding the regulation of nursing education.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

B Community-Based Education Program Planned

A tactic under Goal IT1, Objective A, states, “based on a review of Member Board role in the regulation of
nursing education, identify needs and plan strategies for assisting Member Boards.” The Member Board Education
Needs Subcommittee reviewed the Trend Analysis Study, Standards for Nursing Education from the Model
Nursing Administrative Rules and the feedback from the Education Staff Networking Session at the 1994 Annual
Meeting. The subcommittee identified community-based education as a major issue in education. The
subcommittee reviewed literature on the subject prior to the meeting.

The subcommiittee elected to present a discussion of the issues involved in the use of community based settings
for leaning as a special interest group at the 1995 Annual Mecting. The discussion will emphasize strategies to
facilitate the movement of education out of institutions into community settings.

Meeting Dates
M November 30, 1994, telephone conference call
B March 6, 1995

Future Activities
M If approved by the Board of Directors, the Member Board Education Needs Subcommittee will assist the Board

of Directors in identification of Member Board needs related to the regulation of nursing education.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.
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Report of the Nursing Regulation Subcommittee

Committee Members

Libby Lund, TN, Area IlI, Chair
Cheryl Graves, NE, Area II

Sr. Teresa Harris, NJ, Area IV
Ann Torres, AZ, Area |

Staff
Carolyn Hutcherson, Senior Policy Analyst

Relationship to Organization Plan
Goall ................. Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.

Objective E ........ Promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

The Nursing Regulation Subcommittee of the Nursing Practice and Education Committee held three meetings and
one conference call. The specific charge to the subcommittee was to develop a methodology to identify the benefits
and costs of nursing regulation. Concurrent with the subcommittee’s initial exploration of strategies to accomplish this
directive, a number of documents were distributed by the Pew Health Professions Commission (Pew) describing their
goals, strategies for state initiatives and proposed healthcare provider competencies. Grants were awarded by Pew in
at least eight jurisdictions to study educational and regulatory reform. The approach to these projects reflecied the Pew
philosophy that workforce changes would impact both the educational and regulatory system at the state level. Among
the questions raised by Pew were concerns about the usefulness and efficiency of state level regulation. The
subcommittee identified foundational principles of current nursing regulation and considered at length problems
arising from consumer expectations of the regulatory community. Numerous surveys were reviewed which validated
consumer confusion and uncertainty about what role various regulatory entities play in the overall healthcare delivery
picture.

A brainstorming session was held identifying what boards of nursing do, why they should do what they do, and
whether any other entity could perform this function. Additionally, the subcommittee identified a number of
fundamental beliefs about nursing regulation and developed a comprehensive list of functions which currently fall
within the regulatory domain. From this list, a questionnaire was developed for completion by Member Boards.
Respondents were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed with specific philosophical statements about
nursing regulation. A second portion of the survey asked boards to select the five most crucial regulatory functions and
the five least essential regulatory functions from an identified list. Responses to the survey will be utilized as a
component of comparison and analysis of the various regulatory approaches. Five potential regulatory approaches were
identified: a) the current state board system; b) institutional licensure; ¢) the Ontario model (controlled acts); d)
regulation by professional associations (other Canadian provinces); and e) national licensure/regulation. Based on
subcommittee recommendations to the Board of Directors, dialogue was initiated between the Pew Health Professions
Commission and National Council. Additionally, a speaker was recommended for the Annual Meeting with managed
care experience as well as knowledge of the regulatory implications emanating from managed care implementation.

Area Meetings provided a forum for subcommittee members to glean updates on state activities about proposals
for modification in board function and/or structure. Subcommittee members unanimously affirmed their perceptions
from the Area Meetings that boards are committed to maximize the opportunity for exploration and evaluation of new
ideas. The subcommittee encourages National Council to assume a leadership role in designing a regulatory system
for the future which ensures safe and effective nursing care.

Future Activities
The Nursing Regulation Subcommittee will prepare a report based on the survey on regulatory philosophy and the
essential function of regulation, prior to the 1995 Annual Meeting. Additionally, an analysis of the various regulatory
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models will be provided based on the identified essential functions of regulation. A comprehensive approach wili be
presented for development of a regulatory description of nursing within a reformed healthcare delivery system as weli
as for proposal of an ideal regulatory model for the future. Review of emerging data on the benefits and costs of various
restructuring initiatives and development of a method for identifying the benefits and costs of nursing regulation should
occur during FY 96,

Meeting Dates

B December 13-14, 1994

B January 19-20, 1995

B  March 14, 1995, relephone conference call
B May 1-2, 1995

Recommendations
No recommendations.

Attachments
A Nursing Regulation Questionnaire and Results (to be mailed in late June)
B . Draft Criteria for Evaluation of Proposed Regulatory Approaches (t0 be mailed in late June )
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Attachment A

Nursing Regulation Questionnaire and Results

Rank Ordered Member Board Survey Results
Fundamental Beliefs About the Regulation of Nursing

Average
Rating

3.00 1. Consumers have a right to expect nurses to meet ethical, professional and legal standards.
2.98 2. Nursing regulations should be administered in a fair, ethical and impartial manner.

295 3. A license to practice nursing is a privilege; nurses must be accountable for obeying all laws governing
practice.

293 4. Nursing regulations should be based on rationality as opposed to being arbitrary or capricious.

2.84 5. Nursing regulations should be administered in a cost effective and cost conscious manner.

2.77 6. Professional regulation encompasses the enforcement of laws governing practice.

2.72 7. Nursing regulations should be at the least restrictive level needed to ensure public safety.

2.67 8. Protection of the public includes dissemination of information about disciplinary action within the
jurisdiction.

2.67 9. Protection of the publicincludes provision of information about disciplinary activity across jurisdictional

boundaries.

2.59 10. Consumer participation in the regulatory process is valuable in assuring greater responsiveness to the
public’s needs.

2.56 11. Nursing regulators must rely upon research findings, experience and collaboration with others to

improve the regulatory system.
249 12. Nursing regulation should exist solely to protect/benefit the health, safety and welfare of the public.
2.31 13. Nursing regulation should include provisions which ensure protection of the rights of the nurse.
231 14. The profession being regulated should bear the cost of its regulation.

2.07 15. Nursing regulation should facilitate rehabilitation of nurses within the boundaries of safe and effective
nursing care.
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Average
Rating

2.5
273
2.57
2.39
232
2.16
2.09
1.77
1.77
1.68
1.68
1.57
1.50

1.50

10.

11.

12,

13.

14.

Rank Ordered Member Board Survey Results

Essential Functions of Regulation

Administer the Nurse Practice Act as passed by the state legislature.
Discipline nurses who have violated the Nurse Practice Act.

Set minimum standards for safe and effective nursing care.

Determine requirements for initial licensure.

Set standards for approval/accreditation* of nursing education programs.
Participate in development of regulatory policy at the state and national level.
Investigate nurses who (may) have violated the Nurse Practice Act.

Establish standards for continuing competence.

Establish standards for professional conduct.

Determine standards for license renewal.

Serve as an information resource about laws, rules and regulations pertaining to nursing.
Process licenses for applicants who meet licensure requirements.

Monitor and/or provide for rehabilitation for nurses who have been disciplined.

Provide for public access to information about disciplinary action taken against licensees.

*use term indicated by state 10 denote state process
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Attachment B

Criteria for Evaluation of Proposed Regulatory
Approaches

NURSING REGULATION...
Exists to protect/benefit the health, safety and welfare of the public.
Requires adherence to ethical, professional and legal standards.
Is administered in a fair, ethical and impartial manner.
Requires anyone practicing nursing to be accountable for obeying all laws governing practice.
Is based on sound reason as opposed to being arbitrary or capricious.
Is administered in a cost effective and cost conscious manner.
Encompasses the enforcement of laws goveming practice.
Is at the least restrictive level needed to ensure public safety.

Ensures licensed nurse has demonstrated the knowledge, skills and abilities to provide safe and effective nursing
care. ¥

Provides for protection of the public by dissemination of information about disciplinary action within the
jurisdiction.

Includes provision of information about disciplinary activity across jurisdictional boundaries.
Includes participation in development of regulatory policy at the state and national level. *
Includes setting and monitoring of standards for nursing education. *

Ensures consumer participation in the regulatory process.

Is based upon research findings, experience and collaboration with others.

Includes provisions which ensure protection of due process for all parties.

Provides for costs to be born by those regulated.

Provides for remediation of nurses within the boundaries of the laws governing nursing.

* From Essential Functions survey
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Report of the Unlicensed Personnel Subcommittee

Committee Members

Harriett Clark, CA-RN, Area I, Chair
Edna Fannin, LA-PN, Area III

Marie Fisher, ME, Area IV

LaRee Rowan, MN, Area II

Staff
Carolyn Hutcherson, Senior Policy Analyst

Relationship to Organization Plan
GoalIl................ Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing practice.
Objective A ....... Develop documents which provide guidance regarding the regulation of nursing practice.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Highlights of Actlivities

The initial charge to the Unlicensed Personnel Subcommittee was to develop strategies for addressing issues
related to the provision of nursing care by unlicensed assistive personnel (UAP) by monitoring trends, analyzing public
benefit of unlicensed assistive personnel, and studying role delineation data. Additionally, the subcommittee was asked
to explore the benefits of a comprehensive study on the effects of nurse aide/assistant training on care provided in
nursing homes.

After review of background documents from National Council, OBRA, NACEP, and Member Boards related to
the role and utilization of unlicensed providers, the subcommittee decided to prepare a comprehensive outline of issues
impacting the UAP, the licensed nurse, the practice setting and the regulatory system. Among the concerns expressed
most frequently by Member Boards were issues related to delegation, supervision and accountability. The Unlicensed
Assistive Personnel Issues Outline was distributed to Member Boards for feedback and comment. Comments
accompanying responses to the outline verified the pressure Member Boards are experiencing as they attempt to
respond to very complex questions while developing policies which ensure public safety related to utilization of
unlicensed assistive personnel. Several major themes emerged from review of Member Board comments on the outline:

quality and safety concerns are the same for the client, regardless of the qualification of the provider
preparation and training for all UAPs should be augmented and standardized

only persons with authority to perform nursing can delegate and supervise nursing

delegation must be based on sound clinical judgment and regulatory principles

consumers are confused about qualifications of providers

research data must be gathered to ascertain the impact of substitution of unlicensed providers for licensed providers
protection of the public must be paramount in all decisions regarding patient care

By consensus, the subcommittee accepted the fundamental premise that when the unlicensed person is performing
a nursing task, performance of that task must meet the same standard as if the task were performed by a licensed nurse.
Since proliferation and variation in titles used to describe the unlicensed provider are adding to the confusion in the
health care system, the subcommittee suggested that unless otherwise required by external regulations such as OBRA,
the term Unlicensed Assistive Personnel (UAP) should be used for any non-licensed provider who assists with nursing
activities.

Future Activities

The Unlicensed Personnel Subcommittee has identified a number of resources which could assist Member Boards.
The Concept Paper on Delegation will be revised and updated to reflect changes in the healthcare delivery system as
well as the impact of restructuring/redesign proposals. The Delegation Decision Model (a component of the Concept
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Paper on Delegation) will be based on a compilation of processes identified in Member Board position statements and
declaratory rulings on delegation and utilization of unlicensed assistive personnel. The purpose for preparation of thc
decision model is to assist Member Boards by providing a resource for the nurse in clinical practice who is expecied
tomake sound delegatory decisions. InFY 96, preparation of documents should be undertaken to assist Member Boards
who have statutory authority for regulation of UAPs as well as for those Member Boards that do not regulate the UAFP.
but must respond to questions and inquiries about the relationship of the licensed nurse to the unlicensed assistive
provider.

Meeting Dates

B December 15-16, 1994

B January 13, 1995, telephone conference call
B March 17-18, 1995

B May 15-16, 1995

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Attachments
A Working Draft, Concept Paper on Delegation (to be mailed in late June)
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Attachment A

National Council of State Boards of Nursing
Delegation Decision-Making Process

Introduction

In considering the number and complexity of issues related to delegation, it was determined that the most
immediate need was for practical guidelines to direct the process for making delegatory decisions. These guidelines
are consistent with National Council’s 1990 Concept Paper on Delegation.

Purpose

The purpose of this paper is to provide a resource for Boards of Nursing on delegation and the roles of licensed
and unlicensed health care workers. This paper emphasizes and clarifies the responsibility of Boards of Nursing for the
regulation of nursing, including nursing tasks performed by unlicensed health care workers, and the responsibility of
licensed nurses to delegate nursing tasks in accord with their legal scopes of practice. Each person involved in the
delegation process is accountable for his or her own actions or inaction and is potentially liable if competent, safe care
is not provided.

Premises

1. Alldecisionsrelated todelegation of nursing tasks be based on the fundamental principle of protection of the health,
safety and welfare of the public.

2. Boards of Nursing are responsible for the regulation of nursing. Any activity labeled as nursing or provision of
any care which constitutes nursing is a regulatory responsibility of Boards of Nursing.

3. Boards of Nursing should articulate clear principles for delegation, augmented by clearly defined guidelines for
delegation decisions.

4. The licensed nurse is responsible and accountable for the provision of nursing care.
5. The licensed nurse should be involved in all decisions related to the provision and delegation of nursing care.

6. While nursing tasks may be delegated, the practice-pervasive functions of assessment, evaluation and nursing
judgment must not be delegated.

7. Whenanursing task is delegated, the task must be performed according to the same level of skill as if the task were
performed by a licensed nurse.

8. Thelicensed nurse determines and is accountable for the appropriateness of delegated nursing tasks. Inappropriate
delegation may lead to disciplinary action by the Board of Nursing and criminal prosecution for the unlicensed
person.

9. Thereis aneed and a place for competent, appropriately supervised, unlicensed assistive personnel in the delivery
of affordable, quality health care. However, it mustbe remembered that unlicensed assistive personnel are to assist-
-not replace--the nurse. Thus, unlicensed assistive personnel should be assigned to assist the nurse rather than to
patients.

10. A task delegated to an unlicensed assistive person cannot be redelegated by the unlicensed assistive person.

11. Nursing is a process discipline and cannot be reduced solely to a list of tasks. The licensed nurse’s specialized
education, professional judgment and discretion are essential for quality nursing care.
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Definitions

Accountability: ......... Being responsible and answerable for actions or inactions of self or others in the context of
delegation.

Delegation: ............... Transferring to a competent individual authority to perform a selected nursing task in a selected
situation. Each person involved in the delegation process is accountable for his or her own
actions or inaction.

Delegator: ................. The person making the delegation.

Delegatec: ................. The person receiving the delegation.

Supervision: .............. The provision of guidance or direction, monitoring, evaluation and follow-up by the licensed
nurse for accomplishment of a nursing task delegated to unlicensed assistive personnel.

Unlicensed

Assistive

Personnel (UAP): ..... Any unlicensed personnel, regardless of title, to whom nursing tasks are delegated.

Regulatory Perspective

Boards of Nursing have the legal responsibility to regulate nursing and provide guidance regarding delegation.
Registered nurses (RNs) may delegate certain nursing tasks to Licensed Practical Nurses/Licensed Vocational Nurses
(LPNs/VNs) and unlicensed assistive personnel (UAPs). In some jurisdictions, LPNs/VNs may also delegate certain
tasks within their scope of practice to unlicensed persons. The licensed nurse has a responsibility to assure that the
delegated task is performed according to the same level of skill as if the task were performed by a licensed nurse. The
nurse who delegates retains accountability for the task delegated.

The regulatory system should serve as a framework for managerial policies related to the employment and
utilization of licensed nurses and unlicensed assistive personnel. It is the nurse who assesses and determines the clients’
nursing needs and plans appropriate nursing care. It is the nurse who should decide and is accountable for delegation.
If the nurse decides that delegation may not appropriately take place, but nevertheless delegates, that nurse may be
disciplined by the Board of Nursing.

Acceptable Use of the Authority to Delegate

The delegating nurse is responsible for an individualized assessment of the patient and circumstances, and for
ascertaining the competence of the delegatee before delegating any task. Thepractice-pervasive functions of assessment,
evaluation and nursing judgment should not be delegated. Supervision, monitoring, evaluation and follow-up by the
nurse are crucial components of delegation. The delegatee is accountable for accepting the delegation and for his/her
own actions in carrying out the task.

The decision to delegate should be consistent with the time-honored and well established nursing process, i.e.,
appropriate assessment, planning, implementation and evaluation by the nurse delegator. This necessarily precludes
alist of nursing tasks that can be routinely and uniformly delegated for all patients in all situations. Rather, the nursing
process and decision to delegate must be based on careful analysis of the patient and circumstances. The authority and
qualifications of the proposed nurse delegator are critical to delegation decisions. Two guidelines that may help to
facilitate appropriate delegation decisions are provided: 1) the Five Rights of Delegation; and 2) the accompanying
Delegation Decision Process.
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The Five Rights of Delegation

RIGHT TASK
One that is delegable for a specific patient.

RIGHT PERSON
Right person is delegating or assigning the right task to the right person to be performed on the right person.

RIGHT DIRECTION/COMMUNICATION
Clear, concise description of the task, including its objective, limits and expectations.

RIGHT SUPERVISION
Appropriate monitoring, evaluation, intervention, as needed, and feedback.

RIGHT CIRCUMSTANCES
Appropriate patient setting, available resources, etc.

Once the decision to delegate has been made, the nurse must ensure appropriate planning, implementation and
evaluation, a continuous process which is described by the following delegation model.

The decision to delegate should be based on the following:
Delegation Decision Process

I.  Assessment
A. Needs of the patient identified
B. Circumstances/setting considered
C. Adequate resources (including supervision) available

II. Identify specific task(s) to be delegated
A. Nature of task(s)
B. Implications for patient
C. Implications for other patients

II. Delegation criteria

A. Nursing Practice Act

1. Permits delegation

2. Authorizes task(s) to be delegated or authorizes the nurse to decide on delegation
B. Delegator qualifications

1. Within scope of anthority to delegate

2. Appropriate education, skills & experience

3. Documented/demonstrated evidence of current competency
C. Delegatee qualifications

1. Appropriate education, training, skills & experience

2. Documented/demonstrated evidence of current competency

IV. Accountability
A. Qualified delegator accepts accountability for performance of the task(s)
B. Qualified delegatee accepts the delegation and performs task(s) correctly
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V. Performance/supervision of the task

Provide directions and clear expectations of how the task(s) is to be performed
Monitor performance of the task(s)

Intervene if necessary

Assure compliance with established standards of practice/policies and procedures
Document performance of the task(s) in the patient record

moow»>

VI. Evaluate entire process
A. Evaluate patient
B. Evaluate performance of task(s)
C. Obtain and provide feedback

VII. Reassessment--adjust overall plan of care as needed
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Supplemental Report of the Nursing Practice and
Education Committee

Committee Members

Karen Macdonald, ND, Area II, Chair
Betty Hunt, NC, Area III

Dula Pacquiao, NJ, Area IV

Jan Zubieni, CO, Area ]

Staff
Linda F. Heffernan, Nursing Practice and Education Associate
Vickie R. Sheets, Director for Nursing Practice and Education

Relationship to the Organizational Plan

Goall ................ Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.

Objective E ........ Promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

GoalIl................ Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing practice.

Objective B ........ Develop documents regarding health care issues which affect safe and effective nursing practice.

Bylaws ............... Provide general oversight of nursing practice and education regulatory issues by coordinating related
subcommittees.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

W Comparison of National Council Standards for Education with National League for Nursing
Criteria and Guidelines

Representatives of the National League for Nursing (NLN) reported at aliaison meeting with National Council
representatives their plans to work with selected Boards of Nursing to present workshops for educators and others
comparing the roles and criteria for state education program approval and the NLN Criteria and Guidelines. In
anticipation of these upcoming workshops, the Nursing Practice and Education (NP&E) Committee compared the
Education Standards from the Model Nursing Administrative Rules with the NLN Criteria and Guidelines from
each educational level council. The comparison data will be the basis for additional work regarding educational
program criteria.

B Coordination Role - Recominendations to the Board of Directors regarding Subcommiitees

Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee

The NP&E Committee believes that the Essential and Continued Competence Subcommittee has made
significant progress by developing a definition of competence, identifying Standards for Competence, and
developing a Draft Model for Individual Competence Evaluation. The NP&E Committee supports the Board of
Directors’ decision that this subcommittee continue its work on competence as well as proceed with planned
research regarding functional abilities and the development of a regulatory model for competence.

Nursing Regulation Subcommittee

This subcommittee was charged with developing a methodology for a benefit/costs analysis of regulation. The
NP&E Committee provided input into the key elements of regulation identified by the subcommittee. The NP&E
Committee recommends that this subcommittee continue its work, but believes this issue is broader than the
nursing practice and education domain. The cost/benefit analysis is sorely needed to deal with challenges to
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regulation and legislative control. Because of the potentially controversial and broad implications of this group’s
work, the NP&E Committee suggested that it be assigned as a Task Force that reports directly to the Board of
Directors. The NP&E Committee finds the topic interesting and is most willing to assist this group in a consultive
role regarding particular nursing practice and education related issues.

Unlicensed Personnel Subcommittee

The NP&E Committee provided written comments as to the original outline developed by the subcommittee
as well as reviewed a draft of an updated delegation paper. One of the NP&E Committee’s major concerns was
the use of the title “unlicensed assistive personnel” or “UAP.” This may well be the best category that can be
identified for such a large, diverse group, and the NP&E Committee recognizes that in some settings, the decision
to not use the title “nursing assistant” or other name reflecting a nursing component can be a deliberate mechanism
to avoid dealing with nursing regulation and nursing principles. However, the NP&E Committee suggests that any
title designated for unlicensed assistive personnel should receive discussion on the floor of the Delegate Assembly
rather than be assumed by default as the term used by the National Council. The NP&E Committee chair provided
comments regarding the draft paper related to delegation, sharing a concemn regarding titling and suggesting that
an important premise to include in the paper is that “unlicensed does not necessarily mean unregulated.”

Member Board Education Needs Subcommittee

The NP&E Committee had concems regarding this subcommittee’s use of the term “community-based
education,” suggesting that in the subcommittee’s report itis not well defined. Community-based education could
be either clinical experiences in the community, or could be community as a focus of care. The NP&E Committee
requested the subcommittee make this clarification prior to the networking group planned for the Annual Meeting.

Future Activities

B Nursing Education Program Approval Criteria

The NP&E Committee plans to compare each jurisdiction’s education approval rules with the education
standards in the Mode! Nursing Administrative Rules. A preliminary survey will be conducted to identify those
Member Boards that have already completed such comparisons. An individual state’s comparison with the model
education standards will be shared with that Member Board as well as a document comparing the model education
standards to the NLN criteria and outcomes. Each Member Board would be encouraged to also compare their
requirements the NLN criteria and outcomes.

The NP&E Committee plans to develop strategies to identify the elements of nursing education approval that
are essential for the protection of public health, safety and welfare. The report of this group could be used by each
Member Board, but also provide the basis for ongoing work to promote a consensus as to the essentials for
education program approval as well as facilitating mobility of nurses from state to state.

Recommendation(s)
No recommendations
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Report of the Board of Directors

Board Members

Marcia M. Rachel, MS, Area I11, President

Tom Neumann, W1, Area I, Vice-President

Cindy VanWingerden, V1, Area IV, Secretary

Charlene Kelly, NE, Area Il, Treasurer

Fran Roberts, AZ, Area I Director

Linda Seppanen, MN, Area Il Director

Nancy Durrett, VA, Area 11l Director

Marie Hilliard, CT, Area IV Director

Roselyn Holloway, TX-RN, Area Ili, Director-at-Large

Staff
Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director
Doris Nay, Associate Executive Director

Under the National Council’s Organization Plan, the Board of Directors is responsible for tactics relating to planning
and govemance, including:

reach organizational consensus on future direction;

implement a process for long range planning which will ensure focused movement toward attaining the vision over
the next five years;

identify needs for and create tasks forces and other committees to address specific topics important to the National
Council’s mission;

review and evaluate articles of incorporation, bylaws, and policies to promote an appropriate organizational
framework; and

assess organizational coordination and effectiveness.

The recommendations and activities which follow stem from the Board's fulfillment of those responsibilities during
the past year.

Recommendations
1. That the Delegate Assembly adopt the revisions to the National Council’s goals and objectives as proposed by the
Long Range Planning Task Force (see report of task force, Tab 10-N).

Rationale

The Board concurs with the Long Range Planning Task Force’s report and conclusions (see Tab 10-N), and
supports the proposed changes as based on Member Board input communicated through the Trend Analysis study
and at Spring 1995 Area Meetings.

2. That the Delegate Assembly authorize the National Council to proceed with the development of a core competency
examination for Nurse Practitioners which is separate and distinct from specialty content examinations (see report
of task force, Tab 10-C, Model 1).

Rationale

The Board concurs with the analysis of the Task Force to Study the Feasibility of a Core Competency Examination
for Nurse Practitioners (see Tab 10-C) and with the conclusion that this would be an effective response (o an
identified need of a number of Member Boards. While there are risks (political, financial), the potential benefit
in terms of enhancing Member Boards’ resources to carry out their regulatory responsibilities seems to outweigh
those risks.

3. That the Delegate Assembly adopt the NCLEX™ Administration Stabilization Criteria and authorize the Board
of Directors to apply the criteria to specific geographic sites as the need arises.
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Rationale

The NCLEX™ Administration Stabilization Criteria are founded upon an approved and operational Sylvan
Quality Assurance Plan. The Plan, a working version of which is currently being implemented, does or will include
measurable criteria in all of the areas listed below:

Security is maintained in accordance with established criteria

Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) accessibility requirements

Compliance with ADA-approved accommodations and procedures

Test center staff training, certification and retraining/recertification are conducted using approved materials
and examinations within timelines specified by the QA Plan and Contract

A minimum of one operational testing site is located in each jurisdiction

Sufficient sites exist in each jurisdiction to enable NCLEX™ candidates to be tested in accordance with the
30/45-day compliance requirements

Island jurisdiction service levels are consistent with all policies and procedures

Number of restarts consistently decreasing

Percentage of candidates responding negatively to e¢ach exit evaluation question consistently decreasing to
under 5 percent

Quality assurance documentation is forwarded to the National Council according to the approved timelines
Test Center Administrators (TCAs) are administering the NCLEX™ according to requirements and procedures
listed in the Contract and TCA Manual

When all of the above criteria are consistently maintained for all Member Board jurisdictions, the Board of
Directors believes that administration stability will have been achieved. After this point, the Board would consider
on a case-by-case basis situations representing opportunity to utilize testing centers in non-Member Board
jurisdictions in order to better serve needs of Member Boards and their applicants for licensure. The primary
consideration would be whether or not the stability of NCLEX™ administration would be maintained not only in
the additional centers, but in all other operational centers as well.

Responses to Special Committee Recommendations

Task Force to Study Advanced Nursing Practice Mobility

The Board concurred that a publication containing jurisdictional regulatory requirements for Advanced
Practice Registered Nurses (APRNs) be prepared and distributed to all Member Boards. The Board directed that
the data be provided as aresource to appropriate groups for related work in the future, and that the communications
department of the National Council incorporate promotion of this information in appropriate vehicles. The Board
also noted that the Model Nursing Practice Act and the Model Nursing Administrative Rules described ideal
approaches to APRN regulation which would also enhanice consistency and, thereby, facilitate mobility.

Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual Misconduct Cases Focus Group

The Board of Directors authorized the focus group to continue in FY96 to complete work outlined in the focus
group’s recommendations #1 and #2, i.e., develop a Member Board education packet regarding the continuum of
sexual misconduct and develop a pamphlet/fact sheet regarding boundary and sexual misconduct cases. After
review by the Research Advisory Panel, the Board directed staff to implement the study described in recommendation
#3. Recommendations #4, #5, and #6 will be carried out. by the Board of Directors.

Continuing Education Offerings Task Force

The Board directed that a block of informational forum time be set aside at future Annual Meetings for
discussion of trends impacting nursing regulation. The Board also decided to establish an ongoing process for
providing educational offerings for Member Board members and staff to expand and enhance knowledge of issues
and activities that impact the regulation of nursing.

Long Range Planning Task Force
See recommendation #1 above.
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Task Force to Study the Feasibility of a Core Competency Examination for Nurse
Practitioners

See recommendation #2 above.

Major Accomplishments of the Board of Directors in FY95

Goal I. Licensure and Credentialing

Monitored the first-year computerized adaptive testing (CAT) implementation of NCLEX™ and ETS/Sylvan
performance, including assessment of administration stability

Re-evaluated the NCLEX-RN™ passing standard, and after consideration of the Panel of Judges’
recommendation and other data, decided to raise the standard slightly [from -.48 to -.42 (on the NCLEX™
measurement scale)] effective October 1995

Monitored the launch of NCLEX™ Program Reports, subscription service for nursing education programs
Monitored NAFTA “reservations” process and supported participation in various tri-country information
exchanges

Created special committees to deal with licensure and credentialing issues, including essential and continued
competence, nursing regulation, CAT evaluation, NACEP™, Advanced Practice Nurse mobility, feasibility
of a core competency examination for Nurse Practitioners, and licensure verification

Goal ll. Nursing Practice

Approved the conduct of two pilot educational programs for discipline investigators

Surveyed Member Boards regarding access to data from the Disciplinary Data Bank, and directed staff to
prepare a detailed plan for access by governmental entities and nurse certifying bodies to disciplinary data
Created special committees on practice issues, including sexual misconduct, chemical dependency, unlicensed
assistive personnel, and educational programs for disciplinary investigators

Goal lil. Nursing Education

Monitored the completion and publication of educational self-study modules for nursing education program

surveyors

Created special committees to consider Member Board education needs and educational programming for
education program surveyors

Goal IV. Information

Represented the National Council at 17 meetings of organizations with related areas of concern

Met with chief elected and staff officers of American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Nurses’
Association, American Organization of Nurse Executives, Commission on Graduates of Foreign Nursing
Schools, National Association for Practical Nurse Education and Service, National Federation for Licensed
Practical Nursing, National League for Nursing, and National Organization for Associate Degree Nursing for
liaison purposes

Provided direction for the development of a prograrn for shaping policy related to nursing regulation on the
national level

Directed monitoring of issues related to Provider Identification Numbers (PINs) and other information
technology issues on the national level, including production of an Emerging Issues on telecommunications
use in nursing practice

Directed analysis of implications of the Supreme Court decision regarding LPNs as supervisors, resulting in
a publication of Emerging Issues

Created special committees to consider continuing education offerings for Member Boards, to select
educational programs to be conducted at the 1995 Annual Meeting, to develop policies for the Nurse
Information System, and to identify core competencies for nurse practitioners
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Established a process for determining issues to be included in the National Council’s research agenda, and for
determining who should perform the research; the process includes a research advisory panel which will
provide input regarding the research agenda, assist representatives of Member Boards in framing researchable
issues and identifying timelines, provide input to the Resolutions Committee and delegates regarding
proposed resolutions, and provide consultation to staff regarding methodological issues

Goal V. Organization

Focused on the National Council’s Organization Plan (mission, goals and objectives) as guidance for
governing the organization throughout the year

Appointed 121 individuals representing 50 boards of nursing to 23 committees and special groups o
accomplish 32 tactics

Maintained the coordination and accountability of all committees, task forces, focus groups, and staff for
performance of tactics assigned through quarterly reviews of progress

Based on information supplied by members participating in a “future directions” session at the 1994 Annual
Meceting, trend analysis results, and recommendation of the Long Range Planning Task Force, designed a five-
year long range planning process and decided to use as an internal working statement of the National Council’s
vision: “The National Council will be a worldwide leader in the regulation of nursing”

Planned agendas for and conducted Area Meetings and Annual Meeting

Maintained general oversight of the development of the Special Services Division

Approved and monitored current year fiscal operations and the implementation of the annual budget
Based on the recommendation of committees and staff, approved policies for Regulatory Day of Dialogue,
President’s duties, reporting relationship for committees, and administrative guidelines for Special Services
Division

Assessed the effectiveness of orientation and development programs for National Council leadership based
on feedback of participants, and identified approaches for board and committees

Assessed the organization’s performance in terms of outcomes, processes, structure, and future needs
Evaluated the performance of major contractors, committees, the executive director, and the Board itself

Meeting Dates

August 7, 1994

September 12, 1994, telephone conference call
October 27-28, 1994

February 1-3, 1995

February 28, 1995, telephone conference call
May 3-5, 1995

June 21-23, 1995
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Supplemental Report of the Board of Directors

Board Members

Marcia M. Rachel, MS, Area I1I, President

Tom Neumann, WI, Area II, Vice-President

Cindy VanWingerden, VI, Area IV, Secretary

Charlene Kelly, NE, Area Il, Treasurer

Fran Roberts, AZ, Area I Director

Linda Seppanen, MN, Area II Director

Nancy Durrett, VA, Area 11l Director

Marie Hilliard, CT, Area IV Director

Roselyn Holloway, TX-RN, Area III, Director-at-Large

Staff
Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director
Doris Nay, Associate Executive Director

During its June 21-23, 1995, meeting, the Board of Directors further discussed issues related to the feasibility of a core
competency examination forNurse Practitioners. Following this discussion, the Boardrescinded its prior recommendation
to the Delegate Assembly which supported a particular model (see recommendation #2 on page 1). The Board believes
that, in view of the Delegate Assembly’s origination of the resolution in 1994, a full discussion of the report of the Task
Force and the models described therein, by the delegates and attendees at the Annual Meeting, is the most effective
means to support decision-making regarding a future course(s) of action. There will be opportunities for this discussion
during the Advanced Practice Forum, the Feasibility of Core Competency Examination Forum, and the Board of
Directors’ Forum, all on Thursday, August 3, 1995.
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Report of the CAT Evaluation Task Force

Task Force Members

Deborah Feldman, MD, Area IV, Chair
Joan Bouchard, OR, Area I

Faith Fields, AR, Area III

Lori Scheidt, MO, Area Il

Rosa Lee Weinert, OH, Area Il

Staff
Carol Hartigan, NCLEX™ Contract Manager
Anthony Zara, Director of Testing Services

Relationship to Organization Plan

Goall ................. Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.
Objective B ........ Provide examinations that are based on current accepted psychometric principles and legal
considerations.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

The CAT Evaluation Task Force was appointed by the Board of Directors to complete planning for and implement
post-CAT implementation NCLEX evaluation and follow-up. The task force conducted an in-depth brainstorming
session to identify major areas of NCLEX program evaluation as well as primary and secondary evaluators. Primary
evaluators of the NCLEX program included Member Boards, candidates, and the National Council. Secondary
stakeholders identified were nursing educators, nursing service, health care consumers, the regulatory community, the
testing service, legal counsel, the psychometric community, legislators, and the general public. The task force was
particularly interested in the dual role played by Member Boards and the National Council who are primary evaluators,
as well as participants who will be evaluated due to their responsibility for key areas of the NCLEX program.

The task force began validation of the elements of its proposed evaluation plan by surveying Member Boards
through use of a nominal listing process of the positive and negative aspects of the total NCLEX program. The task force
adopted a conceptual model for program evaluation, developed a matrix model of continuous program evaluation for
NCLEX, and constructed an outline for use in establishing evaluative criteria. Atits April 1995 meeting, the task force
reviewed the instruments returned by Member Boards and found that much useful input was obtained both by adding
critical areas of evaluation not considered by the task force, as well as prioritized problem areas in the NCLEX program
for careful evaluation and follow-up.

National Council staff added to the original framework of the conceptual model for program evaluation by using
the Test Service Contract, Testing Policies and Procedures, and specific manuals to supply evaluation criteria and
evaluation frequency in some areas. Many of the key areas of evaluation hinge on the completion and acceptance by
the Examination Committee of a comprehensive Quality Assurance Plan for Sylvan Leaming Systems.

Future Activities

The task force suggests that similar input be obtained from other stakeholders as mentioned above, such as
educators, employers, etc. The task force also believes that once more than one year of CAT testing is completed, some
problems which have arisen in the transitional phase of the program will have been resolved, thus eliminating the need
to continuously evaluate some elements. The report on these and other aspects of the continuous evaluation program
will coincide with the large-scale, formal test service evaluation, also scheduled to be completed during FY96.

Meeting Dates
B January 19-20, 1995
B April 10-11, 1995
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Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.
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Report of the Task Force to Identify Core Competencies
for Nurse Practitioners

Task Force Members

Carla A. Lee, KS, AreaIl, Chair
Mary Pat Custis, MS, Area ITI
Genevieve Deutsch, CA-RN, Area I
William Greiner, NY, Area IV
Barbara Hatcher, DC, Area IV
Melodie Olson, SC, Area III
Pamela Randolph, AZ, Areal

Ida Rigley, ND, Area II

Staff
Carolyn J. Yocom, Director of Research Services
Ann Sossong, Research Assistant

Relationshlp to Organization Plan

Goal IV .............. Promote the exchange of information and serve as a clearinghouse for matters related to nursing
regulation.
Objective E ........ Conduct and disseminate research pertinent to the mission of the National Council.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

As a result of action taken by the 1994 Delegate Assembly, the task force was charged with the responsibility of
identifying the core competencies of Nurse Practitioners (NPs). The task force began its work by reviewing numerous
background documents compiled by staff. These included curricular materials provided by educational programs
offering various types of NP programs, relevant documents from other groups (e.g., National Organization of Nurse
Practitioner Faculties, National Association of Boards of Pharmacy, National Institute for Nursing Research, American
Association of Colleges of Nursing), and National Council documents (e.g., position paper on regulation of advanced
practice registered nurses, Model Nursing Practice Act, role delineation study results), and published journal articles.
Based on this foundation and their own experiences as NPs, the task force identified key characteristics, roles and
functions of all types of NPs working in all types of settings.

Using the above materials, the task force generated a list of 26 competency statements grouped within three
categories: 1) health assessment and management, 2) roles and relationships, and 3) health care policy and systems. In
addition, the group drafted introductory text addressing the NP’s social contract with society, roles and functions of
NPs, and definitions.

External validation of the list of competencies was sought from NPs and from Member Boards. The directors/
chairs of 107 NP educational programs were requested to ask a key faculty member and two additional NPs employed
full time in practice, to each complete a questionnaire requesting information about their level of agreement that each
core competency statement, as proposed by the task force, represented a core competency essential for NPs to possess
in order to fulfill their role requirements within legal and professional scopes of practice. Responses were received from
147 individuals, representing 64 programs (60% response rate) and all types of NP specialty areas. A similar
questionnaire was mailed to the 56 Member Boards regulating registered nurse practice. Responses were received from
41 (73% response rate).

Based on input from Member Boards, NP faculty, NPs in full-time practice, and others, the task force revised the
list of core competency statements and accompanying text. A total of 21 competency statements were identified,
categorized within three domains: management of client care, management of health care delivery systems, and
management of professional relationships. The completed document is provided as Attachment A. During the process
of developing the core competency statements, this task force’s work was shared with the Task Force to Study the
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Feasibility of a Core Competency Examination for Nurse Practitioners for use in completing its charge. In addition, the
Task Force to Identify Core Competencies for Nurse Practitioners believes that the core competency document can be
used by Member Boards when evaluating the educational preparation of NPs applying for legal recognition (licensure,
certification, etc.) within a jurisdiction.

Meeting Dates

B November 29-30, 1994

B December 19, 1994, relephone conference call
B February 24-25, 1995

B March 13, 1995, telephone conference call

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.

Attachment
A Nurse Practitioner Core Competencies, page 3
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Attachment A

Nurse Practitioner Core Competencies

Introduction

The explication of essential knowledge, skills and abilities is crucial to the development of a professional
discipline. Furthermore, a determination of the roles and functions of a profession is guided by the social contract with
the client or society served. Essential services that are responsive to public health, safety and general welfare determine
the core competencies of the provider of the societal service. These core competencies define the essence of the
profession and set the standard for accountability or social contract with society.

Full utilization of a professional’s capabilities to meet client and societal needs entails the development of unique
roles and functions. From a regulatory perspective, the core role of the nurse practitioner is as a health care provider
who is accountable for practicing within accepted professional and legal standards. This role encompasses the
management of client care, health care delivery systems, and professional relationships.

Assumptions

Preparation for nurse practitioner practice is based upon the knowledge, skills, and abilities acquired through basic
nursing education and previous registered nurse practice. Therefore, it is assumed that the registered nurse desiring to
prepare for advanced practice as a nurse practitioner has previously mastered the following:

M knowledge of professional and legal components of nursing practice

M demonstration of clinical and technical competencies including those of communication, teaching, problem-
solving, and leadership

W ability to modify practice based on appropriateness for the client and the milieu
M understanding of and ability to apply research findings to practice
M demonstration of competence in caring for ethnically and culturally diverse populations

Definition: Nurse Practitioner

The practice of nursing by a nurse practitioner is based on the knowledge, skills and abilities acquired during
advanced educational preparation preferably leading to a graduate degree with a major in nursing or a graduate degree
with a concentration in the advanced nursing practice category. The practice of the nurse practitioner includes the use
of advanced knowledge, skills and abilities in nursing and the bio-psycho-social sciences as they apply to health
assessment; differential diagnosis; therapeutics, including pharmacological and technological interventions; and
management of health care (National Council, 1994).

Core Competencies

The nurse practitioner must demonstrate attainment of essential core competencies to fulfill role requirements. A
core competency is defined as a knowledge-based skill and/or ability which forms the basis of safe and effective care
and which is common to all those practicing in a role, regardless of population or setting. Therefore, the competencies
are not dependent upon delivery of care in primary, secondary and/or tertiary care settings. The core competencies are
categorized into three domains: management of client care, management of health care delivery systems, and
management of professional relationships.

Domain: Management of client care

The management of client care encompasses functions of assessment, planning, intervention and evaluation. Nurse
practitioner decision-making and clinical judgment are supported by information derived from the analysis and
synthesis of data and the integration of multiple theories. The essential core competencies in this domain are:
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Elicits a comprehensive health history

Performs a comprehensive physical examination

Orders diagnostic tests

Analyzes client data to determine bealth status

Formulates a list of differential diagnoses

Verifies diagnosis(es) based on findings

Determines appropriate pharmacological, behavioral, and other non-pharmacological treatment modalities in
developing a plan of care

8. Designs a plan of care to attain/promote, maintain, and/or restore health

9. Executes the plan of care

10. Evaluates client outcomes in relation to the plan of care

11. Modifies the plan of care when indicated

12. Uses principles of ethical decision-making in selecting treatment modalities

13. Promotes principles of client advocacy in client interactions and in the selection of treatment modalities
14. Incorporates risk/benefit factors in developing a plan of care

Nk W=

Domaln: Management of health care delivery system

The management of a health care delivery system encompasses use of accountability mechanisms that ensure safe
and effective health care. The nurse practitioner has the essential business ability, incorporating entrepreneurial and
socialization skills, to function as an independent health care provider. The essential core competencies in this domain
are:

15 Maintains clinical records that reflect diagnostic and therapeutic reasoning

16. Applies knowledge of the regulatory processes to deliver safe, effective client care

17. Develops a quality assurance/improvement plan to evaluate and modify practice

18. Delivers cost-effective care which demonstrates knowledge of client payment systems and provider reimbursement
systems

Domain: Management of professional relationships

The management of professional relationships assumes the nurse practitioner is a key member of the health care
team. The nurse practitioner uses comprehensive and complex strategies to interact with the health care environment.
The essential core competencies in this domain are:

19. Articulates the nurse practitioner role and scope of practice
20. Collaborates with health care professionals to meet client health care needs
21. Refers clients to other health care professionals when indicated by client health care needs
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DEFINITIONS
CHENL .......ooviinecevrerinernrreereesneesevesssenss

Core Competencies .........eecvveeereenirenenss

Health Care Team ........cceccvveeernvircnnanne

Ethnic/Cultural Diversity ......................

Population..........cccoeeniiiniereicvinmraesinenes.

Individual, family, group or community which serves as the focus of care.

Those knowledge-based skills and abilities which form the basis of competent
nurse practitioner care and which are common to all those practicing in the
role, regardless of population or setting.

The client and those professional caregivers who coordinate and render care
and direct non-professional caregivers for the purpose of attaining, maintaining,
or regaining optimal health.

The ethical and moral behavior, mores and customs of population groups that
represent varied ethnic and cultural backgrounds and practices.

Specific groups of clients who are the focus of care. A group may be defined
based on adistinguishing characteristic such as developmental stage, diagnosis,
or type of care or program required.

The day-to-day operations of a practitioner in any type/level of setting.

Place in which initial care, or care-related education is delivered, such as
ambulatory clinics, offices, industry or other community settings.

Place where care requiring specialist input and/or specialized technology can
be provided, such as in a hospital or surgical setting.

Amajor referral center forhighly specialized care, such as a neonatal intensive
care unit.
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Valiga, T. M. (1988). Curriculum outcomes and cognitive development: New perspectives for nursing education.
Curriculum Revolution: Mandate for Change, (pp. 177-200). New York, NY: National League for Nursing.

White, J. E., Nativio, D. G., Kobert, S. N. & Engberg, S.J. (1992). Content and process in clinical decision-making
by nurse practitioners. IMAGE: Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 24(2), 153-158.

Wilbur, J. (1987). Evaluation of health assessment skills. The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing, 20(5),
212-216.

Wilbur, J., Zoeller, L. H., Talashek, M. & Sullivan, J. A. (1990). Career trends of master’s prepared family nurse
practitioners. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, 2(2), 69-78.
B. Curriculum materials supplied by Nurse Practitioner Programs in the following colleges and

universities

Arizona State University: Adult Health, Child Care/Pediatrics, Community Health, Family Health and Women'’s
Health Nurse Practitioners

Catholic University of America: Adult and Pediatric Nurse Practitioners
Georgia Southern University: Rural Family and Family Nurse Practitioners
Fort Hays State University: Family Nurse Practitioner

Husson College: Family and Community Nurse Practitioners

John Hopkins University: Adult and Pediatric Nurse Practitioners
Marshall University: Family Nurse Practitioner

Medical University of South Carolina: Family Health and Neonatal Health Nurse Practitioners, Nurse Midwifery.
and Nurse Anesthesia

Northwestern State University of Louisiana: Family Nurse Practitioner
Rocky Mountain Planned Parenthood: OB/GYN Nurse Practitioner
Rush University: Family Nurse Practitioner

Seton Hall University: Adult, Gerontological, Pediatric, School and Women’s Health Nurse Practitioners
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Simmons College: Adult, Gerontological, Occupational Health, Pediatric, School and Women’s Health Nurse
Practitioners

Stanford University School of Medicine: Family Nurse Practitioner

University of California, Los Angeles: Pediatric, Occupational Health, Family, and Gerontological Nurse
Practitioners

University of California, San Francisco: Occupational Health, Adult, Pediatric, Gerontological, Women’s Health,
Family, Adult Psychiatric, Neonatal and School Health Nurse Practitioners

University of Connecticut: Primary Care Adult Nurse Practitioner

University of Hawaii at Manoa: Family, Pediatric, and Women's Health Nurse Practitioners

University of Kansas: Family Nurse Practitioner

University of Kentucky: Family, Adult and Geriatric Nurse Practitioners

University of Maine: Rural Family Nurse Practitioner

University of Mary: Gerontological Nurse Practitioner

University of Michigan: OB/GYN, Adult, Family, Pediatric and Occupational Health Nurse Practitioners

University of Mississippi Medical Center: Family and Adult Health Nurse Practitioners

University of Nebraska Medical Center: Rural Family and Family Nurse Practitioners

University of New Mexico: Family Nurse Practitioner

University of North Dakota College of Nursing: Family Nurse Practitioner

University of Pennsylvania: Pediatric Critical Care, Adult Critical Care, Home Care, Neonatal, Women's Health
Care, Pediatric Acute/Chronic Care, Tertiary, Occupational Health, Perinatal, Gerontological, and Adult
Nurse Practitioners

University of Rochester: Adult, Med/Surg, Cardiopulmonary, Critical Care, Oncology, Family, Women's Health
Care Nurse Practitioners

University of San Diego: Family Health, School Health, and Adult/Gerontological Nurse Practitioners
University of Vermont: Adult Nurse Practitioner

University of Washington: Family, Pediatric, Women’s Primary Care, Adult/Older and Adult Psychosocial Nurse
Practitioners

University of Wyoming: Rural Health Family Nurse Practitioner
Vanderbilt University: Family Nurse Practitioner

Yale School of Nursing: Adult, Family, and Pediatric Nurse Practitioners
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Report of the Task Force to Study the Feasibility of a
Core Competency Exam for Nurse Practitioners

Task Force Members

Katherine Thomas, TX-RN, Area III, Chair
Kathy Apple, NV, Areal

Genevieve Deutsch, CA-RN, Area 1

Carla Lee, KS, Area Il

Doris Nuttelman, NH, Area IV

Rita Pobanz, OH, Area Il

Staff
Anthony R. Zara, Director of Testing Services

Relationship to the Organization Plan
Goall .......cocceee Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.
Objective E ........ Promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors

1. That the National Council proceed with the development of an entry-level core competency examination for nurse
practitioners under Model 1 (National Council develops and offers to Member Boards a core competency
examination; the specialty groups continue to develop and offer their specialty content examinations).

Background

The 1994 Delegate Assembly directed “that the National Council perform a study exploring the regulatory, fiscal,
and political implications of developing a “core” competency examination for nurse practitioners (NPs) with a report
to the 1995 Delegate Assembly.” The task force was convened by the Board of Directors and met during January 25-
27, 1995, and March 28-30, 1995, to meet its charge. The task force discussed the issues thoroughly and reached the
following conclusions in terms of the current and desired regulatory situations:

Current Regulatory Reality:

1) NP certification examination quality is unknown, uneven, generally not targeted to entry;

2) There are non-standard education requirements for NPs;

3) The NP population is increasing;

4) The number of NP educational programs is increasing;

5) Most Member Boards do not accredit NP programs;

6) Member Boards do not require integrated experience (internship) prior to NP recognition;

7) The NP scope of practice is increasing, with more independent practice;

8) There is fragmentation of interest groups within the NP domain; and

9) Although the current effort is focused on NPs, there will be a need to apply regulatory requirements to all
advanced practice groups (e.g., CNSs, CNMs, CRNAs).

Desired Regulatory Reality Includes:

1) A valid, legally-defensible measure of entry-level minimal competence for advanced practice;
2) Standard educational requirements for advanced practice; and

3) Interstate mobility (facilitated by a standard credential).

Based on feedback and discussion with the task force charged with developing the core competencies for nurse
practitioners, there are a set of identifiable core competencies which nurse practitioners must manifest. Based on this
year’s work, the task force has concluded:

1) There is enough content to produce measurable core competencies for nurse practitioner practice.
2) To optimally accomplish their regulatory roles, Member Boards need entry-level core competency measurement
and entry-level specialty content measurement; (the specialties identified as of March 30, 1995, include family,
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pediatrics, psych, adult, gerontology, school, women’s, neonatal, ER/trauma). In a survey conducted by the task
force, 30 of 39 Member Boards responded that a core competency examination for nurse practitioners would
facilitate regulation. Twenty-two of 38 boards also responded that entry-level specialty content examinations
would facilitate regulation of nurse practitioners.

3) Interms of a realistic development scheme, it would be acceptable to create a core competency measurement, then
make a subsequent determination regarding the development of specialty measurements.

4) There are a number of alternative development models for accomplishing #1 - #3 to a greater or lesser degree. The
task force wants to emphasize that although its charge only included investigating the feasibility of a core
competency examination for nurse practitioners, the issues surrounding regulation of clinical nurse specialists and
other advanced practitioners must also be dealt with.

Potential Examination Development Models

Potential development models discussed by the task force included: 1) National Council develops (and offers/
administers) a core examination separate from the specialty groups who continue to develop the specialty content
examinations; 2) National Council develops both the core and entry-level specialty examinations; 3) National Council
develops the core test plan, distributes it to the specialty groups and atempts to influence them to incorporate the
necessary content in their examinations; 4) National Council develops the core content and offers it for sale to specialty
groups to incorporate into their examinations; and 5) National Council develops the core test plan, distributes it to the
specialty groups, and evaluates their examinations to determine whether they adequately measure the necessary content
(similar to a “Good Housekeeping seal of approval”).

The task force believes that the levels of fiscal commitment, political implications, and meeting the regulatory need
are dependent on the model of examination development chosen. The task force discussed the potential political
implications of National Council development of a core competency examination in some detail. The political issues
were framed by a matrix describing potential stakeholders as organizations and individuals both within and outside of
nursing. This 2 x 2 conception provided a method for evaluating the entire political environment and not overlooking
key stakeholders.

The following is a summary of the development models considered by the task force in terms of their corresponding
regulatory, fiscal, and political implications:

Mode! 1: National Council Develops Core Examination

Regulatory Strengths:

1. Uniformity across states would be enhanced.

2. It would provide a psychometrically sound examination.

3. Enhancement of practitioner mobility.

4. The examination would fill a currently unmet need by measuring minimal entry-level competence to enhance
public safety.

The examination would provide validation data for evaluation of NP education programs.

Regulation defines scope of practice; therefore, regulation should also define the competencies required o
perform the scope.

SANNg]

Regulatory Weaknesses

1. A core examination would lack specialty content.

2. Currently, there is no generalist nurse practitioner role, the credential is generally based on specialty. A core
examination is necessary but not sufficient.

3. Other advanced practice groups are not included (NP only).

Fiscal Implications

The cost to National Council of activities needed to administer eight forms of a core competency examination
are estimated to be $1,208,657 (with National Council conducting item development and a test service providing
application and administration services). With a test service providing all the needed services, the cost is rough-
estimated to be $1,800,000. Also, this type of examination is not currently required by Member Boards prior to
legal recognition of nurse practitioners, so the prospect for revenue to cover these expenses is somewhat uncertain.
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Report of the Task Force to Study the Feasibility of a
Core Competency Exam for Nurse Practitioners

Task Force Members
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Staff
Anthony R. Zara, Director of Testing Services

Relationship to the Organization Plan
Goall ................. Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.
Objective E ........ Promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors

1. That the National Council proceed with the development of an entry-level core competency examination for nurse
practitioners under Model 1 (National Council develops and offers to Member Boards a core competency
examination; the specialty groups continue to develop and offer their specialty content examinations).

Background

The 1994 Delegate Assembly directed “that the National Council perform a study exploring the regulatory, fiscal,
and political implications of developing a “core” competency examination for nurse practitioners (NPs) with a report
to the 1995 Delegate Assembly.” The task force was convened by the Board of Directors and met during January 25-
27, 1995, and March 28-30, 1995, to meet its charge. The task force discussed the issues thoroughly and reached the
following conclusions in terms of the current and desired regulatory situations:

Current Reguiatory Reality:

1) NP certification examination quality is unknown, uneven, generally not targeted to entry;

2) There are non-standard education requirements for NPs;

3) The NP population is increasing;

4) The number of NP educational programs is increasing;

5) Most Member Boards do not accredit NP programs;

6) Member Boards do not require integrated experience (internship) prior to NP recognition;

7) The NP scope of practice is increasing, with more independent practice;

8) There is fragmentation of interest groups within the NP domain; and

9) Although the current effort is focused on NPs, there will be a need to apply regulatory requirements to all
advanced practice groups (e.g., CNSs, CNMs, CRNAs).

Desired Regulatory Reality Includes:

1) A valid, legally-defensible measure of entry-level minimal competence for advanced practice;
2) Standard educational requirements for advanced practice; and

3) Interstate mobility (facilitated by a standard credential).

Based on feedback and discussion with the task force charged with developing the core competencies for nurse
practitioners, there are a set of identifiable core competencies which nurse practitioners must manifest. Based on this
year’s work, the task force has concluded:

1) There is enough content to produce measurable core competencies for nurse practitioner practice.
2) To optimally accomplish their regulatory roles, Member Boards need entry-level core competency measurement
and entry-level specialty content measurement; (the specialties identified as of March 30, 1995, include family,
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pediatrics, psych, adult, gerontology, school, women’s, neonatal, ER/trauma). In a survey conducted by the task
force, 30 of 39 Member Boards responded that a core competency examination for nurse practitioners would
facilitate regulation. Twenty-two of 38 boards also responded that entry-level specialty content examinations
would facilitate regulation of nurse practitioners.

3) Interms of arealistic development scheme, it would be acceptable to create a core competency measurement, then
make a subsequent determination regarding the development of specialty measurements.

4) There are a number of alternative development models for accomplishing #1 - #3 to a greater or lesser degree. The
task force wants to emphasize that although its charge only included investigating the feasibility of a core
competency examination for nurse practitioners, the issues surrounding regulation of clinical nurse specialists and
other advanced practitioners must also be dealt with.

Potential Examination Development Models

Potential development models discussed by the task force included: 1) National Council develops (and offers/
administers) a core examination separate from the specialty groups who continue to develop the specialty content
examinations; 2) National Council develops both the core and entry-level specialty examinations; 3) National Council
develops the core test plan, distributes it to the specialty groups and attempts to influence them to incorporate the
necessary content in their examinations; 4) National Council develops the core content and offers it for sale to specialty
groups (o incorporate into their examinations; and 5) National Council develops the core test plan, distributes it to the
specialty groups, and evaluates their examinations to determine whether they adequately measure the necessary content
(similar to a “Good Housekeeping scal of approval”).

The task force believes that the levels of fiscal commitment, political implications, and meeting the regulatory need
are dependent on the model of examination development chosen. The task force discussed the potential political
implications of National Council development of a core competency examination in some detail. The political issues
were framed by a matrix describing potential stakeholders as organizations and individuals both within and outside of
nursing. This 2 x 2 conception provided a method for evaluating the entire political environment and not overlooking
key stakeholders.

The following is a summary of the development models considered by the task force in terms of their corresponding
regulatory, fiscal, and political implications:

Model 1: National Council Develops Core Examination

Regulatory Strengths:

1. Uniformity across states would be enhanced.

2. It would provide a psychometrically sound examination.

3. Enhancement of practitioner mobility.

4. The examination would fill a currently unmet need by measuring minimal entry-level competence to enhance
public safety.

5. The examination would provide validation data for evaluation of NP education programs.

6. Regulation defines scope of practice; therefore, regulation should also define the competencies required to
perform the scope.

Regulatory Weaknesses

1. A core examination would lack specialty content.

2. Currently, there is no generalist nurse practitioner role, the credential is generally based on specialty. A core
examination is necessary but not sufficient.

3. Other advanced practice groups are not included (NP only).

Fiscal Implications

The cost to National Council of activities needed to administer eight forms of a core competency examination
are estimated to be $1,208,657 (with National Council conducting item development and a test service providing
application and administration services). With a test service providing all the needed services, the cost is rough-
estimated to be $1,800,000. Also, this type of examination is not currently required by Member Boards prior to
legal recognition of nurse practitioners, so the prospect for revenue to cover these expenses is somewhat uncertain.
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Political Implications

Although it is difficult to predict the specific reactions of stakeholders, based on previous reactions to National
Council actions, the task force attempted to evaluate the potential political effects of developing acore competency
examination. The task force surmised that organizations could be educated that the core examination is
complementary to, and not in competition with, existing specialty exams. Some groups, however, will likely see
this as a competitive examination. Some specialty organizations will contend that their examinations do measure
entry-level. Some organizations may argue that this type of examination will be a costly barrier to practice and
that there is little data available to support the need for an entry-level examination. Organizations that have
developed competency lists will contend that the National Council-developed core competencies are not exactly
congruent with theirs. An entry-level core competency examination will move the process for legal recognition
more into the regulatory realm, rather than relying on certification in many cases. No matter which examination
development model, if any, is chosen, it will provide an opportunity to unearth the professional arguments that
boards shouldn’t be regulating this class of practitioners. Also, many Member Boards have expressed that to
require a core examination, they will need to change laws or rules or regulations.

Model 2: National Councll Develops Core and Speclalty Examinations

Regulatory Strengths

1. Same as all of Model 1.

2. The examinations would provide a comprehensive assessment of entry-level specialty competence which
would be linked to credential offered by most Member Boards.

3. These examinations would provide both necessary and sufficient information for optimal regulation of nurse
practitioners.

Regulatory Weaknesses

1. These examinations would only target NPs and not other classes of advanced practice.

2. Developing this number of examinations would limit flexibility in responding to emerging nurse practitioner
specialties.

Fiscal Implications

The fiscal implications for Model 2 entail all the expense of Model 1, plus the expense for developing eight
additional specialty examinations. The same concern about these examinations not being currently required by
Member Boards prior to legal recognition of nurse practitioners is again true here, so the prospect for revenue to
cover expenses is even more uncertain. Also, the candidate volume for each specialty will be very small relative
to the fixed costs of examination development.

Political Implications

The task force hypothesized that this development model would entail all the potential political problems of
Model 1. It would, though, provide a user-friendly, one-stop examination process for Member Boards. It may be
perceived as being more directly in competition with specialty certifying groups. Also, based on the survey
responses, there appears to be less Member Board support for National Council development of specialty content
nurse practitioner examinations (22 of 38 boards vs. 30 of 39 boards for a core examination).

Model! 3: Natlonal Councli Develops Core Test Plan

Regulatory Strengths
1. National Council’s beliefs about necessary core competencies will be distributed to organizations developing
certification examinations.

Regulatory Weaknesses

1. There is no guarantee that the certification organizations would incorporate the needed core competency
content into their examinations.

2. The validity of the certification examinations for measuring entry-level competence as a basis for legal
recognition is still questionable.
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3. The quality of the test development process cannot be assured.

Fiscal Implications
National Council would incur the costs of developing the test plan, estimated at $44,866.

Political Implications
Most of the hypothesized political issues concerning stakeholders would not be alleviated by this model.

Model 4: National Councll Develops Core Test Plan and Examination Content

Regulatory Strengths

1. National Council’s determination of necessary content (examination items) would be available for certification
organizations to purchase.

2. The quality of the content would be assured.

Regulatory Weaknesses

1. There is no guarantee that the certification organizations would incorporate the needed core competency
content into their examinations.

2. The validity of the specialty certification examinations outside of the National Council-developed core items
could not be assured.

Fiscal Implications

National Council would incur the costs of developing the test plan, estimated at $44,866, and the large item
development costs estimated to be (for eight forms) $381,233, totalling $426,099. There would be no guarantee
that National Council would sell the content to any organizations, thus potential revenue is very uncertain.

Political Implications
Mostof the hypothesized political issues conceming stakeholders would notbe alleviated by this model. Costs
of the specialty examinations would likely increase.

Model 5: National Councll Develops Core Test Plan and Evaluates Certlfication Examinations

Regulatory Strengths

1. National Council would provide a determination whether the necessary content was included in the
certification examinations.

2. The quality of the content of evaluated/approved examinations would be assured.

Regulatory Weaknesses

1. There is no guarantee that the certification organizations would incorporate the needed core competency
content into their examinations.

2. The accountability for the examinations would be very complicated when proffering National Council
“approval.”

3. Significant legal hurdles would need to be crossed to permit this model.

Fiscal Implications

National Council would incur the costs of developing the test plan, estimated at $44,866. Costs for evaluating
the specialty examinations could be offset with charges for the service. There would be no guarantee that National
Council would sell the review process to any organizations, thus potential revenue is uncertain.

Political Implications
Most of the hypothesized political issues concerning stakeholders would not be alleviated by this model. In
fact, it may be more volatile to offer National Council “approval” of other organizations’ examinations.

Potential Strategies for the Political Implications
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The task force discussed potential strategies for working through the potential political effects of developing a core
competency examination for nurse practitioners. The task force believes that information sharing will be a key to
communicating the regulatory need for this type of assessment and for clarifying National Council’s activities. Early
contact with the stakeholder groups would be helpful. Face-to-face meetings, such as the National Council’s Annual
Advanced Practice Roundtable, could provide important opportunities for candid give-and-take and demystification
of the process. The use of stakeholder groups for consensus building for content input (e.g., the job analysis design,
test plan development) can help to alleviate misunderstandings. The task force believes that the regulatory need is
sufficiently compelling that open communications and invitations for input will be very effective in building allies.

Conclusions

In formulating conclusions, based on the Delegate Assembly request and this year’s work, the task force
determined that Member Boards do believe that additional leadership from National Council would be assistive in their
roles regulating nurse practitioners. With this in mind, the different models for approaching the issue of nurse
practitioner core competencies each have different strengths and weaknesses. The task force’s evaluation of the
regulatory issues, suggests that Model 2 would provide Member Boards with the best service. A significant drawback
to Model 2, though, is the very high cost of developing the examinations. The task force’s analysis of the political
implications suggests that Model 3 would provide the least disruption to the stakeholder entities, but would also provide
relatively weak regulatory assurances for Member Boards. Based on the fiscal implications of costs vs. potential
revenues, it appears that Model 5 would be the most conservative, although the regulatory assurances also would be
weak and the political issues are potentially volatile. The fiscal realities and projected candidate volumes suggest that
Model 1 would provide a better opportunity for National Council to produce a self-sustaining service to Member Boards
than Model 2, yet also provide important regulatory assurances.

All considered, the task force supports development of a core competency examination for nurse practitioners.
Conceptually and considering regulatory implications, Model 2 is best, but from a pragmatic and feasibility standpoint,
Model 1 is recommended to the Board of Directors. A suggested timeline for development includes: FY96 - complete
alogical job analysis process through the development of a test plan, begin item writing, and begin contract negotiations
with states and vendors; August 1996 - Delegate Assembly approval of NP Test Plan; FY97 - continue item
development, prepare to administer examination; Summer 1997 - begin administering examinations; FY99 - initiate
formal evaluation of program; August 2000 - Delegate Assembly decision on program continuation.

Meeting Dates

B January 25-27, 1995

B March 28-30, 1995

W April 13, 1995, telephone conference call

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors

1. That the National Council proceed with the development of an entry-level core competency examination for nurse
practitioners under Model 1 (National Council develops and offers to Member Boards a core competency
examination; the specialty groups continue to develop and offer their specialty content examinations).
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Report of the Task Force to Study Advanced Nursing
Practice Mobility

Task Force Members

Judi Crume, AL, Area IIl, Chair
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Relationship to Organization Plan
Goall........ccc.. Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing.
Objective E ........ Promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors

1.

That the information contained in the Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) database of state-by-state
requirements for the regulation of APRNs be referred to the appropriate committees.

Rationale

The information obtained from Member Boards by this year’s survey and the information already available
in the Profiles of Member Boards provide the most complete assessment of the regulation of APRNS in the United
States. This information can be used to support other activities of the National Council related to advanced nursing
practice, and should be the foundation of work done by the other relevant groups.

That the Board of Directors promote Member Board use of the APRN database information for the purposes of
facilitating the mobility of APRNSs and as a basis for examining their requirements in relationship to those of other
jurisdictions.

Rationale

The survey results confirm that there is still a “crazy quilt” of approaches and requirements for the regulation
of advanced nursing practice. The task force members believe that having a resource of specific state-by-state
requirements will assist Member Boards in evaluating the credentials of an APRN who is/was practicing in another
jurisdiction. Having this information readily available will facilitate identification of states which have
comparable requirements.

The task force identified two categories of barriers or perceived barriers to APRN mobility. The first are
statutory requirements that need legislative action to change, and must be planned and timed carefully. A second
type is a more procedural, “red tape” process that may be written in rules or board procedures. Member Boards
should be encouraged to conduct periodic evaluations of their APRN requirements, to identify what elements are
needed for public protection and those elements which may be out-dated, and to articulate the rationale for this
determination. In addition, Boards of Nursing should be encouraged to review their jurisdictional requirements to
determine if greater consistency with other jurisdictions is desirable and feasible.

Highiights of Activities

The task force worked with staff to design a survey of information to supplement the Profiles of Member Boards

and provide more specific information regarding the stale-by-state requirements for APRN practice. The task force
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determined to compile a database of state-by-state requirements for the regulation of APRNs. This compilation wiii
be distributed this summer to Member Boards.

Future Activities
The task force will provide a summary of the survey results in the supplement to the Book of Reports.

Meeting Dates
M December 12-13, 1994
W April 25, 1995, telephone conference call

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
1. That the information contained in the Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) database of state-by-state
requirements for the regulation of APRNs be referred to the appropriate commilttees.

2. That the Board of Directors promote Member Board use of the APRN database information for the purposes of
facilitating the mobility of APRNSs and as a basis for examining their requirements in relationship to those of othex
jurisdictions.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



Attachment A

Advanced Nursing Practice Mobility
Executive Summary

There is no doubt about it: lack of uniform regulation between states and strict guidelines for
reimbursement, prescriptive authority, and physician supervision can be harmful both to the public
who demands access to cost-effective primary health care and to the practitioners who wish to
provide it. (Wilken, 1995)

The 1994 National Council of State Boards of Nursing Delegate Assembly adopted a resolution directing the National
Council to establish a task force to: 1) develop a data base of advanced practice credentialing requirements (licensure,
recognition, certification, authority to practice, etc.) for each Member Board with enough specificity for other Member
Boards to make credentialing decisions; and 2) study whether additional mechanisms could be developed to facilitate
interstate mobility of advanced practice nurses. Wilken’s statement reflects the concerns of the Member Boards that
led to the resolution. The Board of Directors established the Task Force to Study Advanced Nursing Practice Mobility
to implement this resolution.

A survey of information to supplement the Profiles of Member Boards was conducted on behalf of the task force. The
results of this survey will be published this summer. [A summary of survey results is presented in this report.] The
task force chose to limit the survey to the most widely statutorily recognized Advanced Practice Registered Nurse
categories of Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists, Certified Nurse Midwives, and Nurse Practitioners. The survey
questionnaire was designed to obtain current information about these categories. Specific questions addressed the
elements of minimum education requirements, curriculum (including pharmacology, physical assessment and other
content requirements), preceptors, practice characteristics and certification requirements for each category. This
survey, when combined with the information in the Profiles of Member Boards, will provide an overall view of the
regulatory environment for individuals beginning practice as Advanced Practice Registered Nurses (APRN) in the
categories of Certified Registered Nurse Anestbetists, Certified Nurse Midwives, and Nurse Practitioners. Brief
capsules of the responses regarding these APRN categories are provided in this executive summary.

The task force members believe that having a resource of specific state-by-state requirements will assist Boards of
Nursing in evaluating the credentials of an APRN who is/was practicing in another jurisdiction. Boards are encouraged
to identify jurisdictions which bave comparable requirements and use this information to facilitate endorsement of
Advanced Practice Registered Nurses. The database can facilitate networking between boards, by identifying states
which may have dealt with particular issues. In addition, studying other jurisdictions’ approaches can either validate
a board’s requirements or provide suggestions for new approaches when designing rules and regulations.

Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists
Thirty-four Member Boards answered the questions pertaining to the regulation of Certified Registered Nurse
Anesthetists.

Minimum Education - The majority of responding boards have minimum educational requirements for a post
basic program taken after completion of an associate degree, a diploma or a baccalaureate degree. Six boards
required that the anesthesia program be completed after completion of a baccalaureate degree. Three boards stated
that a masters program was required for nurse anesthesia. Seven boards specified program length. These
requirements ranged from one board which required 225 hours theory with 480 hours clinical/preceptor to four
boards which required at least an academic year to one board specifying masters.

Curriculum - Advanced pharmacology was not specifically required by a majority of the boards answering these
questions. One board specified content relating to specialty area. Only seven boards indicated that advanced
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pharmacology was required for CRNAs to have prescriptive authority. The majority of boards recogmize ific
requirements established by the national certification body.

Only one state indicated that advanced physical assessment was required for CRNAs. One board commented
that this content is inherent in nurse anesthesia programs. The majority of respondents indicated that the boarii
recognizes the requirements established by the national certification body and/or educational prograin.

Preceptors - Twelve boards responded that preceptorships must be completed. The majority of boards indicated
that preceptorships were part of the educational program. Those few boards that specified the type of preceptor
indicated that either aphysician or an experienced CRNA was acceptable in this role. The timing of the preceptore«
experience varied greatly, ranging from concurrent with didactic to one board saying that a future requirement will
be preceptorship after the completion of all didactic elements. Most respondents accepted the timing specified by
the educational program and/or national certification body.

Practice Characteristics - One board required previous Registered Nurse experience prior to legal authorization
to practice asa CRNA. One board required a physician sponsor before a nurse can be legally authorized asaCRNA.
Seven boards require identification of a collaborating/cooperating physician at the time CRNA begins practice.
Four boards require identification of a collaborating/cooperating physician as a prerequisite for renewal/
continuation as a legally authorized CRNA.

Certification - The majority of responding boards require professional certification by a national certification
body as a requirement for legal recognition as aCRNA. Half of the responding boards require that the certification
body meet specified board of nursing requirements.

Cettified Nurse Midwives
Thirty-five Member Boards answered the questions pertaining to the regulation of Certified Nurse Midwives.

Minimum Education - The majority of responding boards have minimum educational requirements for a post
basic program taken after completion of an associate degree, a diploma or a baccalaureate degree. Four boards
required that the nurse midwifery program be completed after completion of a baccalaureate degree. Four boards
stated that masters program is required for nurse midwifery. Eleven boards specified program length, typically
one academic year.

Curriculum - Advanced pharmacology was not specifically required by majority of the boards answering these
questions. Two boards specified content relating to specialty area. Thirteen boards indicated that advanced
pharmacology was required for CNMs to have prescriptive authority. The majority of boards recognize the
requirements established by the educational program and/or national certification body.

Three states indicated that advanced physical assessment was required for CNMs. Seven boards specified
content specific to the practice area. The majority of respondents indicated that the board recognizes the
requirements established by the national certification body and/or educational program.

Only a few other curriculum elements were identified, including psychosocial assessment, transmittal
prescriptions, legal/ethical, role alignment and advanced pathophysiology. The majority of respondents indicated
that the board recognizes the requirements established by the national certification body and/or educational

program.

Preceptors - Fourteen boards responded that preceptorships must be completed. The majority of boards indicated
that preceptorships were part of the educational program. Those few boards that specified the type of preceptor
indicated that either a physician or an experienced CNM were acceptable in this role. One board would also accept
an osteopathic doctor in the preceptor role. The timing of the preceptor experience typically was concurrent with
didactic and as determined by the educational program and/or national certification body.

Practice Characteristics - One board requires previous Registered Nurse experience prior to legal authorization
to practice asa CNM. Eightboards require a physician sponsor before anurse can be legally authorized as aCNM.
Thirteen boards require identification of a collaborating/cooperating physician at the time the CNM begins
practice. Ten boards require identification of a collaborating/cooperating physician be identified as a prerequisite

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



for renewal/continuation as a legally authorized CNM.

Certification - The majority of responding boards require professional certification by a national certification
body as a requirement for legal recognition as a CNM. Half of the responding boards require that the certification
body meetspecified board of nursing requirements.

Nurse Practitioner
Thirty-eight Member Boards answered the questions pertaining to the regulation of Nurse Practitioners.

Minimum Education - The majority of these boards have minimum educational requirements for a post basic
program nurse practitioner taken after completion of an associate degree, a diploma ora baccalaureate degree. Four
boards required that the nurse practitioner program be completed after completion of a baccalaureate degree. Eight
boards stated that a masters program was required for a nurse practitioner. Twenty boards specified program
length, ranging from one board which required 30 semester hours (12 hours clinical 18 hours theory) to the 15
boards which required at least one academic year.

Curriculum - advanced pharmacology was not specifically required by majority of the boards answering these
questions, while thirteen boards did require. One board specified content relating to specialty area, one board
required content relating to the specialty area plus state prescriptive laws and recordkeeping, and one board
specified evidence of pharmacological interventions/content. Fifteen boards indicated that advanced pharmacology
was required for prescriptive authority, with ten boards setting a number of required hours or number of required
credits.

‘While six boards required advanced physical assessment, the majority of boards did not specifically require
this content. Four boards specified the content be related to the scope of practice or the specialty area. The majority
of board recognized the requirements established by the educational program and/or the national certification body.

Responses regarding other specific curriculum requirements sct by boards were scattered among elements
such as advanced psychosocial assessment, advanced nursing intervention and management, history taking,
communications and interviews, health teaching/counseling, ethical/legal, diagnostic procedures, and advanced
pathophysiology. Three boards require curriculum addressing roles and role alignment.

Preceptors - The use of preceptors was required by a majority of responding boards. Only seven boards specified
preceptorship length, indicating varying durations. The timing of preceptor work varied from concurrent with
didactic to after completion of didactic. The majority of respondents indicated approval of the timing specified
by the educational program and/or national certification body.

Practice Characteristics - Only one board requires previous Registered Nurse experience prior to legal
authorization as a Nurse Practitioner. Five boards require a physician sponsor before a nurse can be legally
authorized as a Nurse Practitioner. Eight boards require identification of a collaborating/cooperating physician at
the time Nurse Practitioner begins practice. Eight boards require identification of a collaborating/cooperating
physician as a prerequisite for renewal/continuation as a legally authorized Nurse Practitioner,

Certification - The majority of responding boards require professional certification by a national certification
body and require that the certification body meet specified board of nursing requirements.

Conclusion
Specific elements related to the regulation of Advanced Practice Registered Nurses which vary greatly from jurisdiction
to jurisdiction include: prescriptive authority (or the lack thereof); the scope of practice authorized for an Advanced
Practice Registered Nurse category; whether physician supervision, collaboration and/or back-up is required; the
criteria for national certification used in the regulatory process; and requirements for continued competence
maintenance.

Reference

Wilken, M. (1995). Non-physician providers: How regulation affects availability and access to care. Nursing
Policy Forum, 1 (2), 28-37.
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Report of the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation
Program (NACEP) Task Force

Task Force Members

Cindy Lyons, OK, Area III, Chair
Dorothy Fulton, AK, Area |

Patricia Hill, ND, Area II

Mary Kinson, NH, Area IV

Orpha Swiger, WV-PN, Area II

Anna Yoder, MA, Area IV

Sarah Greene Burger, DC, Consultant

Staff
Ellen Gleason, NACEP Program Manager

Relationship to Organization Plan
Goall................. Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for licensure and credentialing
Objective D ....... Provide a competency evaluation for nurse aides.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

Psychometrics

An activity under Objective D, Tactic 1 of Goal I states, “Maintain and enhance the Nurse Aide Competency
Evaluation Program.” The task force reviewed the results of the nurse aide job analysis which was conducted in
the Fall of 1994, Results were used in determining areas of the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program
(NACEP™) blueprint which need to be modified to reflect changes in the roles and responsibilities of nurse aides.
The task force will review the blueprint and make recommendations for modifications in the blueprint (if
necessary) to the Board of Directors in the Fall of 1995.

The task force reviewed semi-annual statistical reports which were presented by the test service at the June
meeting. The passing rate for the written evaluation has remained stable over the past year at 85.7 percent. The
passing rate for the manual skills evaluation has increased slightly, from 90.5 percent to 92.8 percent. The number
of oral administrations increased from 541 to 931.

Marketing

The test service presented the completed NACEP marketing package to the task force at its June meeting. The
marketing package consists of a NACEP folder with stand-alone informational sheets on the NACEP, brochures
describing the NACEP and the NACEP practice test, overhead transparencies describing the NACEP, and table
top displays and wall posters describing the NACEP. The marketing materials were developed in conjunction with
National Council staff and were developed for use by the test service clinical sales representatives and others who
might make NACEP presentations.

In December, National Council staff and test service staff made a presentation to the Florida Bureau of
Professional Regulation. In February, Florida selected The Psychological Corporation, and thus the NACEP, as
the sole vendor for the state of Florida. In February, the state of Washington awarded a contract to The
Psychological Corporation to provide NACEP. Candidate volumes in Florida and Washington are projected at
20,000 candidates/year and 8,400 candidates/year, respectively. Addition of these states will double the total
annual NACEP volume to over 64,000 candidates/year.

User Survey
The results of the 1995 user survey were reviewed and discussed by the task force (see Attachments A and B). The
survey indicated an increase in the overall satisfaction lzvel of users over last year. Strategies to further enhance
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user satisfaction, particularly satisfaction with day-to-day activities, were discussed by the task force, the test
service and National Council staff. Action plans for further enhancement of the NACEP include: use of technology
to expedite operations processes such as scoring and reporting of results; frequent contact with users; and continued
informal surveys of users.

Communications

The Sixth Nurse Aide Conference was held in Baltimore, Maryland, on May 8-9, 1995, and was attended by
over 60 individuals. Nurse aide training, recertification, the nurse aide registry and the disciplinary process were
discussed. In addition, the enforcement rules for the survey process in long term care facilities were discussed by
representatives from the Health Care Financing Administration. The conference concluded with a discussion on
unlicensed assistive personnel and the ramifications of using unlicensed assistive personnel for those who
supervise and regulate nurse aides.

The NACEP Study Guide was completed in April 1995. Distribution of the study guide, which contains the
sample written evaluation used by the test service, rationale for correct answers on the written evaluation, asample
manual skills scenario with rationale for correct answers and a listing of all manual skills, began in June 1995.

Insight--Newsletter on Nurse Aides and Assistive Personnel entered its third year of publication. In the Fall
of 1994, the title of Insight was changed from Insight—NACEP News & Issues to Insight—Newsletter on Nurse
Aides and Assistive Personnel to reflect the interests of a broader audience. Insight is distributed to more than 800
individuals in a wide variety of settings including long term care facilities, home health agencies, training facilities,
etc.

Future Activities

The task force will begin to revise the NACEP Evaluation Blueprint based on information obtained from the nurse
aide job analysis. Both the manual skills evaluation and the written evaluation will be revised. The manual skills
evaluation will be revised in 1995-1996 and the written evaluation will be revised in 1996-1997, as it is estimated that
it will take the task force a year to complete the revision of the manual skills evaluation.

Meeting Dates

B November 10, 1994

B March 9, 1995, telephone conference call
B June 5-6, 1995

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.

Attachments
A 1995 User State Agency Survey, Cumulative Results, page 3
B .. Comparison of Cumulative Results, page 5
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Attachment A

NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE BOARDS OF NURSING, INC.
NURSE AIDE COMPETENCY EVALUATION PROGRAM
FEBRUARY 1995 USER STATE AGENCY SURVEY - CUMULATIVE RESULTS
N =21
SA A D SD Other*

The Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program 9 10 1 1
(NACEDP) is a psychometrically sound and legally
defensible evaluation of nurse aide competence.

The NACEP written evaluation is a valid measure of the 6 13 1 1
knowledge, skills and abilities a nurse aide needs to
perform competently on the job.

The NACEP manual skills evaluation is a valid measure of 6 12 2 1
the knowledge, skills and abilities a nurse aide needs to
perform competently on the job.

NACEP meets all the legal requirements in this
jurisdiction:

a. for aides employed in long term care. 9 1 1

b. for aides employed in home health (when used

with the Home Health Aide Supplemental 6 7 2 1 5
Checklist).

c for aides employed in acute care settings
(hospitals). 5 9 3 1 3

The quality of the NACEP as an evaluation of nurse aide 5 14 2
competence is high.

The contractual relationship between The Psychological 7 10 2 1 1
Corporation and this agency is satisfactory.

The test service provides accurate and necessary 6 14 1
information regarding the NACEP.

The test service answers inquiries from this agency in a 4 15 2
reasonable amount of time.

Evaluation materials from the test service arrive: on time 4 11 3 3
at test sites.

Candidates receive score reports within the time period 2 13 2 1 3
specified by your contract.
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11.

14.

16.

17.

18.

The state agency score reports have been received in a 4 12 2
timely manner.

Any implementation problems which occurred were 4 14 1
resolved satisfactorily with the test service.

NACEDP security measures are cffective. 6 14

Feedback on the NACEP from nurse aides has been 3 13 1 1
positive.

Feedback on the NACEP from facilitics has been positive. 1 15 3 1

The application process is easy for candidates and 3 14 1 2
sponsors (o compete.

NACERP is an cffective evaluation for home health ajdes 3 9 3
(when used in conjunction with the Home Health Aide

Supplemental Checklist) as well as long term care aides.

The Nurse Aide Practice Test has been useful. 5 11 1

Yes No Other*

In your jurisdiction, are you currently using
NACERP to evaluate:

a. aides employed in long term care settings 18 1
b. aides employed in home health settings 12 6

c aides employed in acute care (hospital)

settings 11 8

Low Med High Very
High

Overall, how satisfied is this agency with the Nurse Aide 1 3 13 5
Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP) offered by the

National Council of State Boards of Nursing and The

Psychological Corporation . Please respond on a scale of

1 to 5, with 1 indicating a very low level of satisfaction.

SA = Strongly Agree
A = Agree

D = Disagree

SD = Strongly Disagree

*Other includes responses such as no answer given, not applicable, perhaps, eic.

Responses to open-ended questions (19-21 and 23-25) are available upon request.
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Attachment B

NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE BOARDS OF NURSING, INC.
NURSE AIDE COMPETENCY EVALUATION PROGRAM
USER STATE AGENCY QUESTIONNAIRE
COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE RESULTS

1995 1994 1993
1. The Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program 3.40 327 3.60
(NACEP) is a psychometrically sound and legally
defensible evaluation of nurse aide competence.
2, The NACEP wrilten evaluation is a valid measure 325 3.00 343
of the knowledge, skills and abilities a nurse aide
needs to perform competently on the job.
3. The NACEP manual skills evaluation is a valid 3.20 276 325
measure of the knowledge, skills and abilitics a
nurse aide needs to perform competently on the
job.
4, NACEP meets all the legal requirements in this
jurisdiction:
a, for aides employed in long term care. 3.45 345 350
b. for aides employed in home health (when 313 325 3.06
used with the Home Health Aide
Supplemental Checklist).
c. for aides employed in acute care settings 3.00 276 3.19
(hospitals).
5. The quality of the NACEP as an evaluation of 3.14 3.05 324
nurse aide competence is high.
6. The contractual relationship between The 3.15 290 335
Psychological Corporation and this agency is
satisfactory.
7. The test service provides accurate and necessary 324 314 3.09
information regarding the NACEP.
8. The test service answers inquiries from this 3.10 3.09 2.86
agency in a reasonable amount of time.
9, Evaluation materials from the test service arrive 283 2.94 3.00

on time at test sites.

Averages calculated - highest possible score = 4.00, lowest possible score = 1.00
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10. Candidates receive score reports within the time 289 278 275
period specified by your contract.

11 The state agency score reports have been reccived 279 2.76 2.59
in a timely manner.

12, Any implementation problems which occurred 265 2.86 3.04
were resolved satisfactorily with the test service.

13. NACEP security measures are effective. 3.00 3.09 3.18

14. Feedback on the NACEP from nurse aides has 3.00 2.76 3.19
been positive.

15. Feedback on the NACEP from facilitics has been 295 2.70 3.14

16. The application process is casy for candidates and 290 278 290

sponsors to complete.

17, NACEP is an effective evaluation for home health 3.00 292 320
aides (when used in conjunction with the Home
Health Aide Supplemental Checklist) as well as

long term care aides
18. The Nurse Aide Practice Test has been useful. 33 33 3.47

*Other includes responses such as no answer given, not applicable, perhaps, etc. This type of response was not used
in calculating the results for questions 1 through 18.
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Report of the Task Force on Chemical Dependency
Issues

Task Force Members

Jean Sullivan, WA, Area I, Chair

Maggie Johnson, SC, Area III

Marsha Straus OH, Area I

Emmaline Woodson, MD, Area IV

Mary Haack, Consultant, The George Washington University

Staff
Carolyn J. Yocom, Director of Research Services

Relationship to Organization Plan
GoalIl................ Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing practice.
Objective C........ Conduct research on regulatory issues related to disciplinary activities.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.

Highlights of Activities

The primary activity of task force members has been to provide consultation and assistance to staff relative to
obtaining Member Board participation in a research study and content validation of data collection instruments.
Approved in August 1994 by the Board of Directors, the purpose of the study, A Comparison of Two Regulatory
Approaches to the Management of Chemically Impaired Nurses, is to provide Member Boards with comparative
information about the effectiveness and costs of two different regulatory approaches to the management of chemically
impaired nurses. It employs a longitudinal, quasi-experimental, cross-section design to compare the effectiveness and
costs of a traditional disciplinary approach and a nondisciplinary alternative approach to the regulatory management
of chemically dependent nurses. The three Member Boards agreeing to represent jurisdictions using a disciplinary
approach are Ohio, South Carolinaand Virginia. The Member Boards in Florida and Maryland have agreed to represent
jurisdictions using an alternative, nondisciplinary approach. Although the board in Washington has agreed to
participate, the necessary approvals by other governmental agencies are still being obtained. Sample selection
(approximately 40 individuals from within each jurisdiction) is scheduled for May 1995 with data collection occurring
between June and December. The protocol for protecting study participants’ rights has been approved by the
Institutional Review Board of The George Washington University, Washington, DC, and by the executive director of
the National Council of State Boards of Nursing.

The task force also reviewed and provided input relative to the development of a pre-proposal submitted to The
Robert Wood Johnson Foundation in May 1998, in response to an announcement of funding availability for research
and evaluation projects producing policy-relevant information about ways to reduce harm caused by the use of tobacco,
alcobol and illegal drugs.

Future Activities

Following completion of data collection in FY96, the task force will assist with interpretation of study findings.
It is anticipated that selected preliminary findings will be available during the Spring 1996 Area Meetings. A more
comprehensive report of findings will be provided at the 1996 Annual Meeting.

Meeting Dates
April 13, 1995, telephone conference call

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors
No recommendations.
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Report of the Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing
Sexual Misconduct Cases Focus Group

Focus Group Members

Jean Stevens, WA, Area I, Chair
Judith Ryan, MD, Area IV
Neysa Somple, OH, Area Il
Betty Ann Taylor, FL, Area III

Staff
Vickie Sheets, Director for Nursing Practice and Education

Relationship to the Organization Plan
Goal Il................ Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the regulation of nursing practice.
Objective D ....... Provide for Member Board needs related to disciplinary activities.

Recommendation(s) to the Board of Directors

1.

Develop a Member Board education packet to include information regarding the continuum of sexual misconduct
(boundary crossings to sexual misconduct), with materials prepared for use with specific audiences, €.g., board
members, board professional staff, attorneys, investigators and board support staff.

Develop a pamphlet/fact sheet for nurses regarding boundary and sexual misconduct cases that may be used by
Member Boards to educate their licensees regarding the continuum of sexual misconduct (could be usedin Member
Board newsletters as articles, or handouts when Member Board representatives speak to nurses).

Rationale (1 and 2)

A review of the number of nursing discipline cases involving sexual misconduct reported to the National
Council Disciplinary Data Bank (DDB) between March 1, 1994, and March 31, 1995, was 43 cases (23 RNs and
20 LPN/VNs), a small percentage (0.6 percent) of the 6,931 total cases (3,920 RNs and 3,011 LPN/VNs) reported
during that time period. Although such cases are few in number, one sexual misconduct case is likely to cause great
harm to the victim, may consume extraordinary resources for a board of nursing to pursue, and damage may result
to the credibility of a board of nursing that fails to pursue such cases.

The focus group’s charge was to study the issue of sexual misconduct as it relates to nurses’ practice and to
develop model(s) to assist Member Boards in making decisions regarding disciplinary action. Early in their
discussions, focus group members became convinced that boards of nursing need to promote education of students,
nurses and consumers as well as Board members and staff. There are proactive measures that can be undertaken,
education being the most important.

Conduct a prospective study of sexual misconduct cases for recidivism after Board action, using a modification
of the methodology used to perform a disciplinary effectiveness study.

Rationale

The recommendation for aresearch study would look at recidivism among sexual misconduct cases after board
action. Cases would be identified quarterly from reports submitted to the DDB and Member Boards contacted to
obtain the public documents related to those cases. After two years, the cases would be analyzed to identify the
relationships between the disciplinary action imposed, the process used toarrive at the action, and recidivism rates.
This method would allow using very timely cases and wculd be less burdensome for Member Boards than having
to produce multiple case documents at one time.

Promote a collaborative educational effort with the National Council and other professional organizations (FARB,
ANA, Tri-Council) to encourage dialogue for collaboration on the education of nurses on the nurse-client
relationship and boundary issues/violations.
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Rationale

The focus group members believe that the Board of Directors and organization leadership would be in the best position
to promote a collaborative educational effort with National Council and other professional organizations. Dialogue
regarding collaboration to promote nurse understanding of the nurse-client relationship and boundary issues would be
another proactive approach (o prevent problems before they rise to the level of requiring board intervention.

5. Promote the availability of focus group members as resources (speakers) on the topic.

Rationale

Because of the vast reading and preparation that the focus group members completed to fulfill their charge, they
are each a resource for their state and Area. They are all willing and able to speak on the topic for various audiences,
and would hope that the Board of Directors would consider promoting their availability to present on this topic.

6. Suggest boundary issues/violations and sexual misconduct as one of the topics for 1996 Regulatory Days of
Dialogue.

Rationale

The focus group suggests that boundary issues/violations and sexual misconduct be considered as a topic for the
1996 Regulatory Days of Dialogue. The regulatory days could provide an established educational forum for
Member Board members and staff, as well as an opportunity to discuss the challenges and possible approaches for
managing these difficult disciplinary cases. This suggestion will be presented to the Area Directors for discussion
at the Area Meetings held during the 1995 Annual Meeting.

Background

Board of nursing concemns about discipline cases involving sexual misconduct resulted in the 1994 National
Council Delegate Assembly adopting a resolution to study and develop guidelines to manage this type of allegation.
The Board of Directors appointed the Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual Misconduct Cases Focus Group
to study this topic and develop guidelines as a resource for Member Boards dealing with complaints of this nature.

Itis difficult to think that nurses are sometimes involved in sexual misconduct. But the very nature of the care that
nurses provide creates an opportunity for the naive as well as the unscrupulous nurse to take advantage of clients who
trust. It is a topic that warrants careful consideration.

The focus group found this to be a complex phenomenon that tends to be avoided until something terrible occurs.
While the focus group focused its attention on complying with the Delegate Assembly charge, to study professional
sexual misconduct and to develop guidelines for use by boards of nursing in managing this type of disciplinary case,
members believe there is a great need for education of nurses, educators, students, employers, legislators and consumers
regarding the topic. Therefore, the focus group recommends that the Board of Directors reappoint this group of
volunteers to continue efforts focused on developing educational resources as a proactive approach.

Highlights of Activities

B Literature Review
Assisted by Research Assistant, Carol Ritchell, the focus group conducted an extensive literature review,
looking not only at nursing resources but broadening intc other health care disciplines. The nursing articles on the
topic were limited, but as expected, a wealth of information was available regarding psychologists and psychiatrists.
The focus group members believe that much of the experience of psychotherapists can be applied to nursing.

B Case Review
The focus group conducted an e-mail survey of Member Boards to determine which jurisdictions had taken
action in cases involving sexual misconduct. Thirty-one states responded yes; approximately two-thirds of that
group provided public documents regarding the actions. The focus group reviewed these cases, focusing on the
types of actions taken.

B State Approaches
The focus group also reviewed the approaches that Lhave been developed by several jurisdictions to deal with

sexual misconduct cases.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



Consultation

The focus group spent the first day of their meeting working with an expertin the assessment and rehabilitation
of professionals who have admitted sexual misconduct. Gary Schoener is a psychologist from Minnesota, Director
of the Minneapolis Walk-In Clinic, who is nationally and internationally recognized for his work in this area.

Concept Paper and Guidelines
Based on all the information studied, the focus group has prepared a concept paper which includes guidelines
for Member Boards in the management of sexual misconduct cases (see Attachment A).

Recommendations
The focus group developed recommendations for future National Council activities to promote education and

research efforts regarding this topic.

Recommendations

1.

Develop a Member Board education packet to include information regarding the continuum of sexual misconduct
(boundary crossings to sexual misconduct), with materials prepared for use with specific audiences, e.g., board
members, board professional staff, attorneys, investigators and board support staff.

Develop a pamphlet/fact sheet for nurses regarding boundary and sexual misconduct cases that may be used by
Member Boards to educate their licensees regarding the continuum of sexual misconduct (could be used in Member
Board newsletters as articles, or handouts when Member Board representatives speak to nurses).

Condauct a prospective study of sexual misconduct cases for recidivism after Board action, using a modification
of the methodology used to perform a disciplinary effectiveness study.

Promote a collaborative educational effort with National Council and other professional organizations (FARB,
ANA, Tri-Council) to encourage dialogue for collaboration on education of nurses on the nurse-client relationship
and boundary issues/violations.

Promote the availability of focus group members as resources (speakers) on the topic.

Suggest boundary issues/violations and sexual misconduct as one of the topics for 1996 Regulatory Days of
Dialogue.

Future Activities
B Develop a Member Board education packet, including a pamphlet/fact sheet regarding boundary and sexual

misconduct cases.

Meeting Dates

8 January 31, 1995
H March 16-18, 1995
B April 12, 1995

B April 27, 1995

Attachment

.......... Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual Misconduct Cases, page 4
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Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual
Misconduct Cases

Executive Summary

The 1994 National Council Delegate Assembly adopted a resolution to study and develop guidelines to manage
nursing disciplinary cases involving sexual misconduct, The focus group conducted an extensive literature search,
reviewed cases which have been brought before Boards of Nursing in a number of jurisdictions, looked at approaches
already developed by several states, and consulted with a nationally recognized expert in the assessment, treatment and
selective rehabilitation of professionals who have admitted to sexual misconduct.

The review of nursing literature found mostly anecdotal reports of individual nurses’ cases. Only two studies were
found involving nursing and sexual behaviors. Both studies confirmed that professional sexual misconduct does occur
and pointed out the need for additional research. The majority of the work studying the phenomenon of professional
sexual misconduct has addressed psychiatrists and psychologists and provided much information relevant to the
nursing profession. Public and professional awareness of professional sexual misconduct has been raised in states
which have passed legislation to criminalize this offense.

Professional sexual misconduct is about power. For a nurse, it is an abuse of the nurse-client relationship. Itis
putting the nurse’s needs first. Itis using the position of being a nurse to access privileged client information, to seek
opportunity and to use influence over the client to obtain sexual gratification, romantic partners or sexually deviant
outlets. Itis a breach of trust. Any behavior by anurse that is seductive, sexually demeaning, harassing or reasonably
interpreted by a client as sexual is an example of sexual misconduct.

Professional sexual misconduct is extraordinarily complex and diverse. It happens in a variety of settings and
situations. It can develop gradually, over a period of time and circumstances. It can begin gradually and suddenly
intensify. It can happen in a moment of opportunity seized by a predator. Authors have found it helpful to describe
categories of professional sexual misconduct, which have been used to convey the nature of the offense, and some
examples of categorizations are provided in this paper. FPost-termination relationships, professional boundaries,
boundary crossings and boundary violations are also discussed, including a conceptualization of a continuum of
professional behavior.

Specific guidelines are provided to assist Boards of Nursing in the management of disciplinary cases involving
sexual misconduct. Sample legislative language is provided, as well as other resources regarding the phenomenon of
professional sexual misconduct. The guidelines include suggestions for communicating with victim/complainants
when complaints are received and throughout the discipline process. The investigation section addresses investigative
plans, interviews (victims, identified nurses and other witnesses), specific suggestions for other evidentiary resources,
and the investigative report.

Indicators that may assist to confirm probable cause for a complaint as well as factors which may disconfirm
allegations are provided. Factors are also identified to assist determination of whether or not there is an immediate need
for emergency action to remove a nurse from practice in order to protect the public from imminent harm. Suggestions
for case prosecution are discussed, as well as approaches to working with other licensing boards to identify well-trained
professionals to serve as mental health evaluators in these cases.

Finally, the role of the Board of Nursing in disciplinary decision-making is reviewed. Considerations to guide the
Board’s review of sexual misconduct cases are listed as well as sanctioning guidelines for Boards. The Boards’
challenge when making rehabilitation and reentry decisions is discussed, including suggestions for reentry provisions.

While the focus group directed most attention on completing its charge to develop guidelines for use by Boards
of Nursing in managing this type of disciplinary case, focus group members believe strongly that there is a great need
for education of nurses, educators, students, employers, legislators and consumers regarding the topic. A proactive
educational approach may increase sensitivity to the issue, and several education approaches are suggested.
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Attachment A

Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual
Misconduct Cases

Introduction

It is late afternoon, and only one patient remained in the Recovery Room. An operating room (OR) nurse entered
the area and observed a male nurse up on a stretcher straddling an unconscious 15-year-old female patient. The male
nurse’s pants are down to his knees and he is naked from his waist down. From his position and the thrusting motion
of his pelvis toward the patient’s pelvis, the OR nurse believed that the male nurse was having intercourse with the
patient. This sensational Florida case also involved several other patients who came forward after recognizing the
licensee’s picture in a newspaper article. The Florida Board of Nursing revoked this nurse’s license to practice.

This horrific case has drawn national media attention. It is the type of incident that can cause irreparable harm to
the victim, liability for the employer, and discredit to the profession. Although reported cases are few in number, when
it happens, sexual misconduct poses a terrible threat to vulnerable clients. Sexual misconduct cases are likely to
consume extraordinary resources for a board of nursing to investigate and prosecute, yet can be very damaging to the
credibility of a Board of Nursing that fails to pursue such cases. Investigating and managing sexual misconduct cases
demand knowledge and strategies that have not been within the traditional nursing education experience.

Professional sexunal misconduct is a breach of trust. It is a specific type of professional misconduct that involves
the use of power, influence and/or knowledge inherent in one’s profession in order to obtain sexual gratification,
romantic partners and/or sexually deviant outlets. Any bebavior by a nurse that is seductive, sexually demeaning,
barassing or reasonably interpreted by aclient as sexual is a violation of the nurse’s fiduciary responsibility to the client.
If the client consents, even if the client initiated the sexual contact, it is still considered sexual misconduct because it
is an exploitation of the nurse-client relationship.

While it is difficult to think that nurses would be involved in sexual misconduct, the nature of the care that nurses
provide creates an opportunity for the naive and/or uninformed nurse as well as the unscrupulous nurse to take
advantage of those who trust them. Increasing client vulnerability to abuse parallels the growing elderly population,
changes in family structure, and changing social mores. Rising numbers of reported cases may reflect increased societal
awareness and willingness to come forward with complaints. Many Boards of Nursing bave had limited experience
or knowledge in the management of this type of disciplinary allegation. Itis a topic that warrants careful consideration.

The difficulty experienced and need for further information and education by Member Boards in dealing with
sexual misconduct disciplinary cases resulted in the 1994 National Council Delegate Assembly adopting a resolution,
proposed by the Maryland Board of Nursing, to study and develop guidelines to manage this type of allegation. The
National Council’s Board of Directors appointed the Disciplinary Guidelines for Managing Sexual Misconduct Cases
Focus Group to complete this charge.

The focus group conducted an extensive literature search, reviewed cases which have been brought before Boards
of Nursing in a number of jurisdictions, looked at approaches already developed by several states, and consulted with
Gary R. Schoener, a psychologist who is nationally recognized as an expert in the assessment, treatment and selective
rehabilitation of professionals who have admitted sexual misconduct.

This paper includes a description of what was found in the literature, a review of selected state cases/approaches
and a discussion of the phenomenon of professional sexual misconduct in nursing. Guidelines are presented to assist
Boards of Nursing dealing with these cases as well as recommendations for future activities by the National Council.
In addition, a glossary of terms and an extensive bibliography are included for readers needing further information on
the subject.
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Literature Review

Nursing

Most of the nursing articles reviewed focused on anecdotal reports of individual nurses’ cases and did not provide
research-supported work in the area of professional sexual misconduct by nurses. Only two studies were found
involving nursing and sexual behaviors. The first was a 1974 ethics survey, conducted by Nursing '74, thatwas
answered by over 11,000 nurses. The survey questionnaire incorporated a few questions regarding sexual behavior.
One in 170 nurses reported having had intercourse with a patient, one in 30 had responded to a patient’s sexual overtures
but without sex play or intercourse, and one in eight reported being secretly tempted. (Nursing *74)

The only other research study found was published in the Journal of Psychosocial Nursing. Over 500 psychiatric
hospitals were surveyed about suspected, alleged or verified sexual interactions between staff and patients over a two-
year period. The authors reported a 57 percent response rate, which they attributed to high interest in the topic. One
hundred sixty-nine hospitals reported 629 events. However, the events were not categorized by whether an event was
suspicious, alleged or verified. The study also didnot identify the level or type of staff involved in the event. The authors
concluded that staff-patient sexual interaction occurs, and that much more research is needed. (Munsat & Riordan,
1990)

Gallop, a nursing faculty member at the University of Toronto, has also written regarding sexual contact between
nurses and patients. She observed that patient exploitation by nurses can and does occur because of the power
differential that exists. The nurse has access to privileged information and the opportunity to exploit patient
vulnerability. Gallop noted that the patient’s relationship with the treatment facility was affected when a staff member
has sexual contact with the patient. Chronic patients may be particularly vulnerable. Setting clear boundaries prevents
the patient from confusion, exploitation, and keeps the facility available for future patient use. Although Gallop focused
on psychiatric settings, she opined that the questions and dilemmas can be generalized to other practice settings.
(Gallop, 1993) Other settings where a client resides for an period of time, such as a physical rehabilitation center, or
requires repeated episodes of care, such as a renal dialysis unit, are examples of extended nurse-client relationships
where the nurse must carefully delineate professional and personal boundaries. As more health care is provided in
community and home settings, with less supervision and more potential exposure for clients, nurses need to consider
the types of concems, problems and dilemmas that may be presented.

Gafner, who with his colleagues developed a workshop (o assist Veterans Administration (VA) nurses deal with
boundary issues, reported a strong resistance to boundary discussions, particularly from nurses in psychiatric and
chemical dependency settings. For some nurses, this topic secined to strike at the heart of caring. However, the negative
consequences of inadequate boundaries range from misunderstandings and hurt feelings to impaired therapeutic
relationships; from poor public relations tolitigation resulting from client injuries. The workshopis usedin VA settings
to raise awareness, anticipate possible negative consequences and identify ways to extricate from a situation.
(Pennington, Gafner, Schilit, & Bechtel, 1993)

Misconduct by professionals is not a new phenomenon. From the time of Hippocrates, examples of abuse of
professional power and authority can be found. Although there were few nursing articles regarding this topic, much
can be learned from the work of psychotherapists. The majcrity of work studying the phenomenon of professional
sexual misconduct has addressed psychiatrists and psychologists. The focus group members found many of the
principles and approaches of psychotherapy to be relevant to nursing.

Psychotherapy

The intimate, one-to-one, and frequenty long-term psychotherapeutic relationship can result in therapists being
drawn into inappropriate relationships. Ina 1986 survey conducted by Gantrell of over 1,400 psychiatrists, 7.1 percent
of the males and 3.1 percent of the females acknowledged sexual contact with a patient. A third of that group, all males,
reported repeated contact. (Gartrell, 1986) Surveys of psychologists reflected similar percentages. (Pogrebin, 1992)

Films and television programs, long intrigued with the topic, deliver plots involving professional indiscretions.
Books and articles have focused on sexual involvement of clients and professionals. Some authors have expressed
concem that professionals look the other way, failing to report to appropriate agencies. “But the conspiracy of silence
is fast breaking. A spate of widely publicized cases, a series of tell-all books and Hollywood’s growing infatuation with
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the topic are forcing the profession to take strongeraction.” (Beck, Springen & Foote, 1992) Zelen attributes increasing
awareness of the problem to the rise in consumerism, the changes in psychotherapeutic practices and the feminist
movement. (Zelen, 1985)

During the last decade, the professional literature in psychology and psychiatry has undergone a veritable
explosion. An annotated bibliography published by Lerman in 1984 had 373 reference listings. The second edition
which came out in 1990 contained over 2,000. Sexual misconduct has been a leading source of licensure complaints
in psychology and psychiatry for two decades, and in psychology it accounts for 53 percent of dollars paid in defense
and awards in malpractice actions against psychologists. (ILerman, 1990)

Review of Cases and State Approaches

The number of disciplinary cases reported to the National Council Disciplinary Data Bank involving sexual
misconduct were reviewed for the period beginning March 1, 1994, and ending March 31, 1995, This time period was
selected to provide a year of data using revised report forms which include a specific section for sexual misconduct.
Forty-three cases (23 RNs and 20 LPN/VNs) listed grounds for sexual misconduct, a small percentage (0.6%) of the
6,931 total cases (3,920 RNs and 3,011 LPN/VNs) reported during that period. (National Council, 1995) A curious
aspect of the reporting of cases was the distribution. Many jurisdictions reported no cases at all, while a few states
reported several cases.

The Minnesota Experience

One of the few states that reported several cases is Minnesota, where statutes specifically include, as a ground for
disciplinary action by the Minnesota Board of Nursing, “...¢ngaging in conduct with a patient that is sexual or may
reasonably be interpreted as sexual or in any verbal behavior that is seductive or sexually demeaning to a patient, or
engaging in sexual exploitation of a patient or former patient.” (Minnesota Statutes Section 148.261, Subdivision 1,
1992) In addition, Minnesota state law requires the inclusion of a summary of each discipline case involving possible
sexual contact (complaint or other communication) in a Biennial Report to the governor and legislature. The Minnesota
Legislature monitors both the incidence and Minnesota professional licensing boards’ response to these cases.

The Minnesota Board of Nursing Biennial Report for July 1, 1992, through June 30, 1994, listed a total of 25
complaints involving possible sexual contact, ten of which were pending from the previous year. Of these 25 cases,
the Minnesota Board reported the following outcomes: one stipulation to cease practice, three suspensions, three
limited and conditional licenses, seven conditional licenses, three warnings, two dismissals, one case closed (and
referred, individual was not a nurse) and five cases remained pending. Since 1986, Biennial Reports have identified
between ten and thirty cases each two-year period. (Minnesota Biennial Reports)

The National Council’s focus group hypothesized that professional sexual misconduct was not occurring more
frequently in Minnesota, but that consumers and professionals alike were sensitized to the issue. A Minnesota Board
of Nursing member had chaired the Task Force on Sexual Exploitation by Counselors and Psychotherapists which was
created by the state legislature to study the problem and recormend changes in Minnesota laws and policies. Public
and professional awareness was raised considerably by these efforts, and mandatory reporting was added to the Nursing
Practice Act, mirroring changes in the Medical Practice Act.

Selected Cases From Other Jurlsdictions

Fourteen other Boards of Nursing provided the public documents relating to 32 sexual misconduct cases in
response to the focus group’s request for public documents. In this small sample, the sexual encounters involved a
variety of settings (e.g., hospitals, mental health facilities, correctional institutions, a mortuary, an office, and homes).
Twenty-six cases involved male nurses and six involved female nurses. The majority of the victims were females. The
types of behaviors ranged from obscene phone calls and mailing sexually explicit letters, to verbal suggestion; from
inappropriate hugging and kissing, to sexual grooming, indecent exposure; from oral sex, to sexual assault and rape.

State Approaches to Sexual Misconduct Cases
Several states bave studied professional sexual misconduct and developed their own approaches for dealing with
these cases. The focus group found the following documents to be informative.
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M Filorida
The Florida Board of Nursing, faced with some sensational cases, studied amodel developed by Richard Irons,
M.D. and workshop materials developed by that state’s Physician’s Professional Network. The Intervention
Program for Nurses (IPN) in Florida has developed requirements for referral/monitoring of nurse applicants/
licensees with history of psychosexual disorders/sexual addiction. Some of their approaches have been incorporated
into the guidelines developed by the focus group. (B. Taylor, personal communication, March 17, 1995)

B Kentucky
As afollow up to work done in the area of child sexual abuse, the Kentucky legislature amended licensure laws
for health professionals, including nurses, to require boards to investigate stringently and punish sexual
misconduct. An Attorney General's task force is developing guidelines to assist licensing boards. The focus group
reviewed a draft of these guidelines which provided assistance in the areas of investigation and sanctioning by
Boards. (Jordan & Walker, 1995)

B Washington

In 1992, each health care professional board was directed by the Secretary of Health to develop a policy on
sexual misconduct. The purpose of the policy developed by the Washington State Board of Nursing (nowithe
Washington State Nursing Care Quality Assurance Commission) was to define what is sexual misconduct by a
nurse as it related to the Washington Uniform Disciplinary Act. The policy identified factors to be considered in
the termination of the nurse-client relationship, defined sexual contact, and discussed appropriate nursing
assessment and intervention. The policy emphasized that a client’s consent “...does not change the nature of the
conduct nor lift the statutory prohibition.” (Washington Board of Nursing, 1994) The Board also provided
recommendations to guide nurses in the compliance with the policy. See Table 1.

Table 1. Washington State Board of Nursing (now Washington State Nursing Care Quality
Commission) Recommendations to Guide Nurses

1. Nurses should be aware of any feelings of sexual attraction to a patient, and should discuss such feelings with a
supervisor or trusted colleague. Under no circumstances should anurse act on these feelings or reveal/discuss them
with the patient.

2. Nurses should transfer the care of a patient to whom the nurse is sexually attracted to another nurse. Recognizing
that such feelings in themselves are neither wrong or abnormal, nurses should seek help in understanding and
resolving them.

3. Nurses mustbe alert to signs that a patient may be interested in or encouraging a sexual relationship. All steps must
be taken to ensure that the boundaries of the professional relationship are maintained. This could include
transferring the care of the patient.

4. Nurses must respect a patient’s dignity and privacy at all times. They should be particularly aware that
examinations and treatments involving the sexual or private parts of the body can [increase the patient’s
vulnerability and take steps to] prevent or minimize any such trauma.

5. Nurses should provide a professional explanation of the need for each of the various components of examinations,
procedures, tests, and aspects of care to be given. This can minimize any misperceptions a patient might have
regarding the nurse(‘s] intentions and the care being given.

Nurses’ communications with patients should be clear, appropriate and professional.

7. Nurses should never engage in communications with patients that could be interpreted as flirtatious, or which
employ sexual innuendo, off-color jokes, or offensive language.

8. Nurses should not discuss their personal problems, or any aspects of their intimate lives with patients.
Note: Adapted from Washington Board of Nursing, 1994
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Professional Sexual Misconduct in Nursing

What s it?

Professional sexual misconduct is about power. For a nurse, it is the abuse of the nurse-client relationship. Itis
putting the nurse’s needs first. It is using the position of being a nurse to access privileged client information, to seek
opportunity and to use influence over the client to obtain sexual gratification, romantic partners or sexually deviant
outlets. It is exploitation. It is about impairment and irresponsibility. A nurse with a psychological disorder fails to
seek help and instead engages in harmful contact with clients. It is an extremely serious type of professional
misconduct, a violation of a fiduciary responsibility. Itis a breach of trust. Any behavior by a nurse that is seductive,
sexually demeaning, harassing or reasonably interpreted by a client as sexual is an example of sexual misconduct.

Parallels to Incest

The abused client’s experience parallels the experience of a incest victim. Like a trusted parent, a professional is
trusted to be working only in the client’s best interest. When a professional sexually abuses the client, that trust is
violated. There are analogous dynamics between the incestuous relationship and the professional sexual encounter.
Both are characterized by secrecy, isolation, lack of restraint, breakdown of sexual privacy and denial. The incest
analogy addresses the “love-hate” relationship seen in both. There may be a significant age difference between the
professional and the client. There is inherent unequal power, with authoritarian qualities attributed to the professional
and the psychological vulnerability of a client. The client may exhibit an extreme desire to please the professional.
(Luepker, 1989)

Who is at Risk? The Client

Authorities do not agree as to whether there is a victim profile that can help predict which clients may be at greater
risk. In psychotherapy, some writers observe that clients with certain histories, such as incest victims or borderline
personality disorders, may be more vulnerable. (Pope, 1994) Kluft posits a “sitting duck syndrome” in which clients
with a history of victimization may be revictimized. (Kluft, 1994) However, Schoener and colleagues have notdetected
any client characteristics which predict abuse in their experience with over 3,000 cases and focus on the characteristics
of the offending professional as the only predictors of who may be abused. (G.R. Schoener, personal communication,
May 5, 1995) Abuse may happen when it happens because of opportunity and pure chance.

The impact of professional sexual misconduct varies by individual. The harm may be complicated by the rauma
of cessation of the sexual involvement. The client’s response may range from embarrassment, humiliation and a sense
of exploitation to depression and suicidal crises. The breach of trust is usually far more serious than the actual sexual
contact. Working with a support group (to know that they are not alone) and taking action against the abusing
professional may be better than therapy in helping the victim recover from the experience. Confronting the abuser often
assists in the healing process. (G.R. Schoener, personal communication, March 16, 1995)

The Public

It is difficult for the colleagues of professionals who have been charged or found guilty of sexual misconduct to
understand the complex dynamics at play, let alone the public. The perception of a silent conspiracy among some health
care professionals has aggravated public concerns. Repercussions may include the erosion of confidence in health care,
and may lead some clients to avoid needed care. Recognition of the seriousness of professional sexual misconduct has
led some legislatures to enact criminal sanctions in addition to regulatory penalties. Wisconsin criminalized therapist-
clientsex in 1984 and Minnesotafollowed in 1985. Atthe time of this report, eleven others have also done so: Colorado,
North Dakota, South Dakota, California, Iowa, Maine, Florida, New Hampshire, Georgia, New Mexico, and Texas.
Several states have legislative task forces studying the problem and others are considering bills. (G.R. Schoener,
personal communication, May 5, 1995)

The Professional

There have been efforts toidentify those psychotherapists who become involved in professional sexual misconduct.
Gabbard sorts offenders into four groups: 1) psychotic disorders; 2) predatory psychopathy and paraphilias; 3)
lovesickness; and 4) masochistic surrender. The first two correspond to the Schoener/Gonsiorek categories described
below, and masochistic surrender refers to the professional who responds to frustration over patient resistance to
treatment by becoming intimately involved. His “lovesick” category includes a variety of situations, including:
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unconscious re-enactment of incestuous longings; a wish for mnaternal nuturance is misperceived as a sexual overture;
fantasy that love in and of itself is curative; manic defense against mourning and grief at termination; conflicts around
sexual orientation; and a number of other dynamics. (Gabbard, 1995)

Epstein and Simon devised an Exploitation Index to serve as an early warning indicator of boundary violations in
psychotherapy. This tool is divided into several subcategories, and poses questions for clinicians to ask themselves
about their practice. The subcategories include general boundary violations, eroticism, exhibitionalism, dependency,
power seeking, greed, and enabling. Questions are answered on ascale of never, rarely (yearly), sometimes (quarterly),
or often (monthly). Many of the questions used in the index are relevant to nursing. Examples are included in Table
2.

Table 2. Selected Epstein/Simon Exploitive Index Questions Related to Nursing

Do you seek social contact with patients outside of clinically scheduled visits?

Do you tell patients personal things about yourself in order to impress them?

Do you feel a sense of excitement or longing when you think of a patient or anticipate her/his visit?
Do you take pleasure in romantic daydreams about a patient?

When a patient has been seductive with you, do you experience this as a gratifying sign of your own sex appeal?

Do you disclose sensational aspects of your patient’s life to others? (even when you are protecting the patient’s
identity?)

B Do you find yourself talking about your own personal problems with a patient and expecting her/him 0 be
sympathetic to you?

B Do you accept gifts or bequests from patients?

Note: Adapted from Epstein & Simon, 1990

This leaning inswument for psychotherapists could be adapted to address similar aspects of nurse-client
relationships and used to increase awareness of boundary issues as well as to help identify problems early rather than
later. (Epstein & Simon, 1990)

Authors have found it helpful to describe categories of professional sexual misconduct, which have been used to
convey the nature of the offense. Schoener and Gonsiorek have classified six categories of offenders in their typology.
Either actual cases or hypothetical examples are included to illustrate the six categories.

1. Psychotic or Severe Borderline Personality
These individuals exhibit impulsivity due to poor controls; sexual contact due to bizarre belief systems or
theories; poor social judgment concerning actions and words. This category includes manic states, acute psychosis
secondary to drug reactions and organic or neurological problems. These persons are seriously disturbed with very
questionable reality perception, so are often readily detected. (Schoener & Gonsiorek, 1989)

A hypothetical example of this category would be a nurse suffering from severe schizophrenia who hears
voices telling her that she can save the male patients entrusted to her care by having their babies. She attempts to
initiate sex so that she can act upon those voices’ commands.

2. Sociopaths and Severe Narcissistic Character Disorders
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These individuals are self-centered and gratification-oriented. Their sexual acting out varies and they are often
good at manipulating themselves outof trouble. They have no concern for harm to others. These persons are more
cunning, intimidating and concealing to cover multiple abuses. (Schoener & Gonsiorek, 1989)

The nurse profiled in the introduction of this paper is an example of this category. This nurse had victimized
several clients and managed to avoid detection before being caught in the act.

Impulse Control Disorders

These individuals have longstanding, ingrained impulsiveness. They may or may not be addicted. These
disorders include both sexual impulse control disorders and general impulse control disorders. These persons may
harass staff members as well as clients, and may frequently be detected because of poor judgment. (Schoener &
Gonsiorek, 1989)

An example of an impulse control disorder is the notorious case involving a nurse, licensed in seven states,
who volunteered to assist in a mortuary. He used that opportunity to take photos of the genitalia of corpses. The
nurse’s attoney challenged the Oregon Board of Nursing’s revocation of the nurse’s license, saying that the nurse’s
sexual stimulation obsessive-compulsive disorder would not harm patients because the nurse was preoccupied with
dead bodies and paraphilia. The Oregon Board of Nursing successfully argued that the nurse, a Certified Registered
Nurse Anesthetist (CRNA), regularly sees patients undressed and lifeless-like under anesthesia, and that the
nurse’s significant chronic disorder places patients at risk for invasion of their privacy.

Severely Neurotic and/or Socially Isolated

These individuals suffer from longstanding problems, are emotionally unfulfilled and overinvested in work.
These persons are typically overly involved with clients emotionally. Sexual contact develops secondary to
emotional involvement, but can become a repetitive pattern. (Schoener & Gonsiorek, 1989)

A hypothetical example of this category would be a nurse, a workaholic immersed in the emotional lives of
herclients. She engagesin a personal relationship with aclient, that includes giving a personal loan and progresses
to intimate sexual contact.

Mildly Neurotic and Situational Breakdown in otherwise Healthy Person

These individuals have had more serious pathologies ruled out. They are usually remorseful one-time
offenders who yielded to temptation under the stress of the situation, the situational factors and timing having
played a major role (the “distressed practitioner”). (Schoener & Gonsiorek, 1989)

A hypothetical example would be a nurse, going through a difficult separation, missing his children and home
terribly. The nurse has always been considered an excellent staff member. He begins to spend extended periods
of time with a young woman client in the mental health facility where he works. Although the client consents to
firsta dating and then an intimate relationship, her psychiatrist became aware and concerned because of the client’s
history of repeated involvement with married men and the nurse’s inappropriate relationship with his client.

Uninformed/Naive

These individuals have had more serious pathologies ruled out. These persons are unaware of professional
boundaries, ethics, responsibilities. A lack of training and good organizational structure and supports may have
set the stage for the involvement. To be considered as uninformed or naive, the individual must be a non-predator,
there should be remorse, and explanations cannot be rationalizations or excuses. This person may have a distorted
view of the professional helping relationship, not distinguishing it from friendship. (Schoener & Gonsiorek, 1989)

A hypothetical example of this category would be a graduate nurse who develops a personal relationship with
an older adolescent client who is terminally ill. The nurse decides to do something about the client’s fear of dying
a virgin, not thinking about the ethical implications of her behavior.

Irons’ Archetypal Categorization has six categories very similar to Schoener and Gonsiorek’s Professional
Sexual Misconduct Categories. (Irons, 1991) A comparison of the models is found in Table 3.
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Table 3. Comparison of Irons’ Archetypal Categorization to the Schoener-Gonsiorek’'s
Professional Sexual Misconduct Categories

The Naive Prince or Princess—poor training/judgment
Compares to 1. Uninformed/Naive-—person who is unaware of professional boundaries, ethics, responsibilities.

The Wounded Warrior—situationally impaired professional
Compares to 2. Healthy/Situational Breakdown—person who yields io temptation under the stress of the
situation, usually a remorseful one-time offender.

The Self-serving Martyr—neurotic, lonely
Compares to 3. Severely Neurotic and/or Socially Isolated—person suffering from longstanding problems,
emotionally unfulfilled and overinvested in work.

The False Lover—impulsive character disorders
Compares to 4. Impulsive or Compulsive Character Disorder—person may sexually harass staff members
and others, frequently detected rapidly because of poor judgment.

The Dark King or Queen—exploiters
Compares to 5. Sociopathic or Narcissistic Character Disorder—person is more cunning, intimidating,
concealing to cover multiple abuses.

The Wild Card—serious reality-testing problems
Compares to 6. Psychotic or Borderline Personality—person is seriously disturbed, reality orientation very
questionable, often readily detected.

Note: Adapted from Irons, 1991 and Schoener & Gonsiorek, 1989

Most of the work on offenders bas concerned male offenders since they have predominated to date. However,
Schoener and colleagues report that about 25 percent of their offenders are female, with the majority involved in female-
female sexual contact. They report that offenders fall into all of the categories presented earlier, with the only difference
being that a large percentage are to be found in substance abuse and criminal justice related work. (G.R. Schoener,
personal communication, May 5, 1995) Benowitz, who studied female-female cases, reports considerable similarity
to the heterosexual male-female relationships. (Benowitz, 1995; Gartrell, 1992) Guntheil describes two types of
situations he has seen in cases involving female therapists, and one of the four cases described by Strean in his book
on treating professional offenders is that of a female therapist. (Edelwich & Brodsky, 1992; Strean, 1993) Gabbard
describes several situations which might involve female practitioners in particular: where a sexual identity struggle
in the practitioner leads her to experiment with a patient, and the situation where the rescue fantasies tied to the cultural
myth that even the most character-disordered man can be “fixed” by the “right woman.” (Gabbard, 1994)

The Profession

Sexual misconduct cases are often high profile and headline grabbing. They may involve lengthy proceedings
which pit one person’s word against another. They make public potentially embarrassing and distressful information.
The victim, the Board of Nursing, and the alleged perpetrator are put in very uncomfortable circumstances. These cases
consume considerable human and fiscal resources. Given the human proclivity to focus on what is bad, a few cases
of professional sexual misconduct can color the profession’s self perception as well as the public’s perception of the
profession. Those inclined toward seeing situations as black or white may question the system that allowed such an
individual to practice. Those who are more attuned to the gray in all human interactions may question their own
practices and professional identities. Rutter and Gabbard remind us that almost any professional may be capable of
abuse, given an extreme combination of circumstances and opportunity. (Rutter, 1989; Gabbard, 1994}

After exploring how sexual misconduct relates to the client, the public, the professional, and to the profession itselt.
it is important 10 examine the active unfolding of sexual misconduct—how it happens.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1995



13

How It Happens—Opportunity

Nursing is a unique field with possibly the greatest challenges in setting appropriate boundaries. In long-term,
sustained relationships, with intimate and personal therapeutic activities, nurses cannot help but become close to their
clients. Continuity of care frequently contributes to nurse effectiveness with clients, but the same continuity that
supports care can be a factor leading to misconduct. In the institutional setting, the nurse is with the client for long
stretches of time over a given shift. The community or home setting presents less public, less supervised, even more
personal circumstances where nurses and clients interact. Consider, for example, the increasing use of home care
nurses, where the nurse spends extended periods of time in the client’s home.

The client may experience an idealization of the nurse who is providing support and assistance and/or the
psychological phenomenon of transference, an unconscious transfer of emotions and beliefs about significant others
onto the therapist. Clients do experience transference with nurses. Nurses are human, too, and may experience counter-
transference, reciprocal feelings. Health professionals must be sensitized to these dynamics, and delineate clear limits
on the relationship. The establishment of treatment boundaries is the responsibility of the professional, not the client.
(Simon, 1995)

These challenges are complicated further by where a nurse lives and works. In a small community, be it a rural
village or an urban ethnic center, nurses sometimes cannot avoid involvement with clients outside the therapeutic
setting. Everyone knows everyone, and often almost everything about everybody. The nurse must learn to distinguish
professional and personal interactions.

Predators go hunting for victims, and nursing can provide vulnerable clients as well as opportunity. Like the milieu
of psychotherapy which creates a “slippery slope,” where the dynamics of therapy may contribute toward the
occurrence of misconduct (Strasburger, Jorgenson & Sutherland, 1992) nursing can also be a “slippery slope” where
the slope may be paved with good intentions waiting to trip naive or uninformed nurses.

Post-termination Relationships

Post-termination relationships pose thommy questions that have been dealt with differently by a variety of
professional groups struggling with them. Setting appropriate standards in this area is very difficult - if the standards
do not fit into real life, they do not work and undermine authority. If a standard is disregarded, it will be disobeyed and
unreported. (G.R. Schoener, personal communication, March 16, 1995)

The American Medical Association standard requires termination with referral of the client to another physician,
and a discussion with the client about implications. The Task Force on Sexual Abuse of Patients of the College of
Physicians & Surgeons of Ontario recommended no sexual contact for two years after the last professional contact.
Psychiatrists have taken a much stricter approach. In 1993, the American Psychiatric Association adopted an absolute
prohibition - no relationships with clients, ever. Ontario psychiatrists have a similar ban. (Schoener, 1995)

Recently, the American Psychological Association, after many years of debate, created an absolute prohibition for
two years following the termination of therapy. In relationships beginning after the two years, the burden of showing
that there has been no exploitation is upon the psychologist, and certain clients, such as those with a history of sexual
abuse, are forever excluded. The American Association of Marriage and Family Therapists adopted a two-year post-
termination waiting period in 1986, but the National Association of Social Workers has aless precise prohibition against
a post-termination relationship which arose out of the therapy relationship. (Schoener, 1989)

The Ontario College of Nursing has included guidelines regarding post-termination relationships in published
expectations for professional behavior. Nurses may initiate or engage in a relationship with a client if it is anticipated
that the client will not require future care from the nurse. However, if the nature of the nurse-client relationship was
psychotherapeutic, the nurse must not engage in a romantic or sexual relationship for one year post termination, and
then only if in the nurse’s judgment the relationship would not have a negative impact on the client’s well-being.
(Schoener, 1989)

The American Nurses Association (ANA) Code of Ethics does not specifically address post-termination
relationships, although there is a reference to private ethics. Gafner and his colleagues recommend that the ANA Code
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be amended to make explicit the prohibition of sexual misconduct as well as warn to other boundary issues. (Pennington
etal., 1993)

Important criteria to consider when discussing post-tennination relationships include the type of therapy received
and the length/nature of the nurse-client relationship. Clients witha known history of child abuse and severely disturbed
clients are very vulnerable to exploitation. The issue “when clients may need additional treatment” becomes “has the
nurse-client relationship really terminated?” Anytime a nurse could use knowledge of a patient to meet the nurse’s
needs, a red flag should be raised by the power imbalance.

Boundaries

Most authors agree that sexual misconduct often begins with boundary violations. “Boundaries are the limits that
allow for a safe connection {with the client] based on the client’s needs. When these limits are altered, what is allowed
in the relationship becomes ambiguous. Such ambiguity is often experienced as an intrusion into the sphere of safety.
The pain from a violation is frequently delayed, and the violation may not be recognized or felt until harmful
consequences occur.” (Peterson, 1992) Itis the duty of the professional to establish and maintain treatment boundaries
consistent with the provision of good clinical care. “Boundary violations, and even sexual misconduct, are occupational
hazards of the mental health professional.” (Simon, 1995) Simon identified five principles regarding the establishment
of boundaries, noting that the first question to ask is “...whether the treatment intervention is made for the benefit of
the therapist or for the sake of the patient’s therapy.” (Simon, 1995) Simon’s principles are:

the rule of abstinence—a professional must abstain from personal gratification at the client’s expense;
the duty to neutrality, not to interfere in a client’s personal relationships;

the promotion of client autonomy and self determination;

the fiduciary relationship, which requires the professional to act in the best interest of the client; and
the respect for human dignity, which underlies all of the above. (Simon, 1995)

Problems develop with boundaries when too many of them are crossed, so that the relationship begins to resemble
a personal one rather than a professional one. However, the difference between a caring professional relationship and
seduction is narrow. At the present time, there is not clear evidence that professionals who are looser with boundaries,
¢.g., touch more frequently, get into trouble more. Neither does the data suggest that rural practitioners are more of a
problem than urban practitioners. (G.R. Schoener, personal communication, May S, 1995)

Boundary Crossings

There is a gray area of clinical decisions where the best course of action is not readily apparent. A decision to
deviate from an established boundary, a “boundary crossing,” may enhance the therapeutic alliance, especially if
properly examined within therapy. Frick gives examples of boundary crossings as appointment changes, extension of
payments, small gifts to the therapist, or requests (from the client) for disclosure of bits of personal information (by the
therapist). (Frick, 1994) Boundary crossings may be trivial. The danger may arise ifthere is an increase in the frequency
and severity of the crossings. (Simon, 1995)

Boundary Violations

“Boundary crossings” can be distinguished from “boundary violations.” Boundary violations are characterized
by a reversal of roles, secrecy, the creation of a double bind for the client and the indulgence of personal privilege by
the professional. (Peterson, 1992) Often, the first step down that slippery slope is excessive personal disclosure by the
professional. There is a confusion of the professional’s needs with the client’s needs and the use of rationalization to
justify the behavior. (Schoener,1989) The professional may fantasize that love, in and of itself, will be curative.
Frequently, there may be re-enactment of incestuous involvements from the client’s past. (Gabbard, 1991)

One approach to analysis of boundary violations is suggested by the Florida Physicians Professional Network,
which describes five stages of boundary infringement. Applied to nursing, Stage I involves inadvertent crossing, where
a nurse failed to set limits with the client. Stage II begins when the nurse attends to the client in special ways. In Stage
I11, the nurse provides secrecy for special favors, the client becomes significantly enmeshed and the nurse may cause
actual harm to patients. Stage IV involves overt exploitation, active involvement of the client and the exchange of gifts
and other activities with each other. By Stage V, a rationalized delusional system has developed which justifies and
permits sexual misconduct. These rationalizations can lead to secret meetings and affairs. (Physicians Professional
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Network, 1994) The real danger in stages I and Il may be the tendency to progress to other stages that truly exploit the
client. These stages help to conceptualize the variations of boundary problems. Not all boundary violations lead to
sexual misconduct, however. Serious sexual misconduct can occur suddenly, without progressing through the stages,
when opportunity presents itself to a disturbed professional.

One common form of boundary violation is the dual role, where the professional assumes an additional role in the
life of the client, e.g., friend. Even nonsexual dual relationships are potentially exploitive. The practitioner’s influence
and the client's vulnerability carry over into the second relationship. “The practitioner is in a position to subordinate
the client’s interest to his or her own.” (Kagle, 1994) Conflicts between roles occur when expectations and
responsibilities of one role conflict with another. The incompatibility of the role expectations and the divergence of
the professional’s obligations combined with the authority of the professional conflict with the client’s need for help.
Such situations may result in lost objectivity of the professional and neglect of the well-being of the client.

Sexual Misconduct

Sexual misconduct by professionals, as discussed on page one of this paper, means the use of the power, influence
and/or knowledge inherent in one’s profession in order to meet one’s own sexual needs. The most extreme types of
sexual misconduct involve actual sexual contact, intercourse and rape. It could be the action of a predator, such as the
Florida example. It could be the action of a more cunning predator who carefully manipulates over time to seduce. It
could be the love-sick, one-time offender who yields to temptation.

Conceptualization of a Continuum

The focus group found it helpful to visualize a continuum of behavior, illustrated in Table 4. The continuum has
under-involvement on one extreme, over-involvement on the other, with a center zone of helpfulness. Every nurse-
client interaction can be plotted on the continuum. The majority of nurse-client interactions occur within the zone of
helpfulness. The continuum helps to conceptualize that harm can be done on either end of the continuum, although at
the present we are focused on the over-involvement end of things.

Table 4. A Continuum of Professional Behavior Suggested by Schoener
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